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Final Determination-· JEl:LStern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

INTRODUCTION 

Administrative History. 

Administrative History of the Proposed Finding. The B~reau of Indian Affairs (BIA or Bureau) 
received a request for Federal Acknowledgment from the Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 
(EP) on June 28, 1978 (EP Letter of Intent 612811978), which was assigned #35. After 
consideration and lI1otification of#35 and other petitioners on the "ready, waiting for active 
consideration" list" at the request of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut (PEP, 
petitioner #113), the Assistant Secretary - Indian Affairs (AS-IA) on April 2, 1998, waived the 
priority provisions of 25 CFR 83.1 O( d) in order to consider PEP simultaneously with this 
petition, under th~ authority granted to the Secretary in 25 CFR 1.2, and delegated to the AS-IA 
in 290 DM 8.1, IHse:d on a finding that the waiver was in the best interest of the Indians. The 
proposed finding for this case in favor of acknowledgment was signed March 24, 2000. The 
administrative hi~;tory of the petition to that date was presented in the Summary under the 
Criteria for the proposed finding (EP PF) and summarized in the notice of the proposed finding 
published in the Federal Register on March 31, 2000 (65 FR 17299-17304). 

Administrative History since the Proposed Finding 

Extensions. From the date of issuance of the proposed findings, the comment period under the 
regulations expired September 27, 2000. At the request of the State of Connecticut (Blumenthal 
to Gover 8115/20)0), the comment period was extended to March 26,2001 (Bird Bear to 
Blumenthal 9/8/2000). Upon the request of the State for a second ISO-day extension under the 
25 CFR Part 83 regulations (Schaefer to McDivitt 3/6/2001), the Department extended the 
comment period ':0 June 1, 2001 (McDivitt to Blumenthal and Baur 3/22/2001). The actual 
closing of the comment period, August 2, 2001, was established as part of the scheduling order 
entered by the Federal District Court for Connecticut as part of the litigation in this case (see 
below). 

On the Record Technical Assistance Meeting (OTR). At the request of the State of Connecticut, 
the BIA held an On the Record Technical Assistance Meeting in regard to the EP and PEP 
proposed findings on August 8 and 9, 2000. The proceedings at this meeting were transcribed by 
a court reporter and made available to both petitioners and the interested parties. Since issuance 
of the proposed findings, the BIA has also provided informal technical assistance to both 
petitioners and te, the State of Connecticut. 

Informal Technical Assistance Conference Calls. At the request of the State of Connecticut, the 
BlA conducted informal technical assistance, in the form of a telephone conference call, on July 
10 and July 11, 2001, each day from 1:00 - 4:30 p.m. Petitioners and other third parties 
participated in thes(~ conference calls. Both the State of Connecticut and attorneys for PEP 
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Final Determination- Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

provided transcriptions of this infonnal technical assistance to the Department in accordance 
with the Court's sdleduling order. 

The BIA additionalily provided infonnal technical assistance to each of the petitioners and their 
researchers prior to the filing of the litigation (for the litigation, see below). 

Provision oj Materials Requested under FOIA. The State of Connecticut filed its first request 
under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) for copies of the petitions, exhibits and other 
materials conceming the petitioners by letter dated January 31, 1992, which was responded to on 
March 25, 1992. During the State's on-site review of the files on March 31, 1998, copies of 
documents were provided. Subsequent requests for documents under the FOIA from the State 
concerning these petitions occurred in 1998 (4/611998; 4/9/1998; 8/2711998), twice in 1999 
(3/211999 and 3/:~(11999) and a number of times in 2000. Through counsel Perkins & Coie, 
certain towns in Connecticut requested documents under the FOIA in March 1998 and 
subsequently, in 2000, joined in the State's requests for documents. The Towns of North 
Stonington, Ledyard, and Preston reviewed documents on site on February 10 and 11, 2000. 
Similarly, petitioner PEP requested documents associated with the petitions in 1999 and 2000 
and petitioner EF' filed requests under FOIA in 2000. Due to the voluminous nature of the 
documents requested, and the requirements to protect certain privacy interests, the Department 
was providing the r1equested documents in installments. 

On January 19,2010 1, the State of Connecticut and the Towns of North Stonington, Ledyard and 
Preston filed suit Connecticut v. Dept. of the Interior, CD.Conn. 200 1) (No. 3:0 l-CV -88-A VC) 
and both petitioners intervened. Negotiations for a time schedule to produce the remaining 
petition documents ensued, leading to a court ordered schedule for production of documents not 
otherwise exempt from disclosure by May 4, 2001. Final installments of documents were 
provided to th(! FEP and EP by letters dated April 13, 2001, and to the State and Towns by letter 
dated April 27, 2001. On May 3, 2001, the Department informed the court that it had complied 
with the scheduling order. 

Under the regulations, interested parties must serve their comments on the proposed findings on 
the petitioners .. 25 CFR § 83.10U). The Department informed the two petitioners that they were 
considered inten:s.t(:d parties in each other's petitions, and must serve their comments on each 
other. The two petitioners agreed among themselves to not serve certain material on each other 
(Stipulation dated July 9, 200 I, Durocher, Jr., and Mirro), and the PEP agreed to serve non­
confidential copies of its comments on the parties in the litigation (Durocher, Jr., to Coen 
7/3012001; Duro:::her, Jr., to Coen 8/28/2001). 

The State ofCornecticut filed on August 3, 2001, a request under the FOIA for the material 
submitted by the EP on August 2, 2001, as a comment on the proposed findings. The State filed 
an additional request for the reply comments submitted on September 4,200 1, by the fP. The 
State also requested the comments which PEP withheld from the State as privacy material. The 
Department was responding to these requests in installments (eoen to Blumenthal SIl 3/2001; 

2 
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Final Detennination-- Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Co en to Blumentha1S/28/2001; Coen to Blumenthal 10/15/2001) when the State, on 
November 2, 2001, put these requests on hold (except as to "Box 7 of the August 2 comments"), 
as the EP agreed to provide the State access and copies of certain of its submissions (Cobb to 
Coen e-mail 11/02/01; Cobb to Tobin 11127/2001). PEP also requested copies of documents 
submitted by EP during the week of August I, 2001, which request was narrowed substantially 
on December 13, :WOl, and addressed through subsequent correspondence. 

Petitioner's Comments on the Proposed Finding. I Petitioner submitted its Comments on the 
proposed finding on August 2, 2001. The Response consisted of a narrative, Being an Indian in 
Connecticut: The Eastern Pequot Tribe oj Connecticut's Comments on the Proposed Finding oj 
the Branch oj Ack''lowledgment and Recognition of March 2000, several supplementary reports, 
and several boxes of supporting documents. The certification was signed only by Mary 
Sebastian as Chairperson (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Item G, "Certification of the Comments of 
the Eastern Pequot Tribe on the Proposed Finding of the Bureau ofIndian Affairs on the Federal 
Acknowledgment Petition of the Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 7/26/2001) and was 
accompanied by a resolution of the EP council of the same date signed only by Mary Sebastian 
as Chairperson and Darlene Hamlin as Tribal Secretary (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Item G, 
Resolution of the :~astern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 7/26/2001). Both of these items had 
raised seals. 

EP and PEP COnl.7Jents on their own Proposed Findings also Utilized as Comments 011 the 
Proposed Finding LO the Other Petition. The Department determined that since petition #35, EP, 
and petition # 113, PEP, were being considered simultaneously and because the issues in each 
case, such as whether there was a single tribe and whether the Sebastians were part of it, directly 
affected the other, each petitioner's response to its own proposed finding would also be treated 
as comments on the other petitioner's proposed finding. PEP submitted its Comments on July 
31,2001, formally dated August 2, 2001, consisting of an introduction, several supplementary 
reports, and numerous binders containing supporting documents (PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Third Party Comr,umts. The State of Connecticut submitted State a/Connecticut to United 
States Departmen r of the Interior. Bureau oj Indian Affairs. Branch of Acknowledgment and 
Research. In re F-'ederal Acknowledgment Petition of the Eastern Pequot Indians oj Connecticut. 
In re Federal Ack110wiedgment Petition of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians oj Connecticut. 
Comments o/the .)wle o/Connecticut 011 the Proposed Findings . .. August 1, 2001 with an 
appendix and a single binder of supponing documentation. 

1 BAR prepared detailed preliminary inventories of all submissions, Copies of these preliminary 
inventories are available to the public upon request. 

Both peti:iol1ers and the Towns had also submitted materials which were received by the BIA prior to 
issuance of the propcsed findings, but too late to be used by the BIA staff in preparing the evaluations and 
recommendations for those proposed findings. Those materials have been used in preparing the final 
determil1~Jtiol1s 011 tlw EP and PEP petitions, 

3 
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The Towns of North Stonington, Ledyard, and Preston, Connecticut, submitted comments 
consisting of a m,rrative and a box of exhibits (Analysis of the Eastern Pequot and Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Tribal Acknowledgment Petitions under 25 CF.R. Part 83 and Comments on the 
Proposed Findings. A Report Submitted to the Bureau of Indian Affairs, Branch of 
Acknowledgment and Research, by the Towns oj North Stonington, Ledyard, and Preston, 
Connecticut. August 2001). The Towns of North Stonington, Ledyard, and Preston had 
previously submitted materials which are being considered for the final determinations.2 

In an undated le1t1er to R. Lee Fleming, Branch Chief, BAR, associated with a submission on its 
own behalfmad,e in September 2001, petitioner #228, the Wiquapaug Eastern Pequot Tribe 
requested "inten~)lted party" rather than "informed party" status in regard to petitions #35 and 
#113 (Wiquapaug to Fleming [c. 9/1/2001]). The BIA has prepared a preliminary inventory of 
petitioner #228's submissions on its own behale To the best of the BIA's knowledge, petitioner 

20n December 18, 1998, the law finn of Perkins Coie submitted comments on both petitions (#35 and 
# 113) on behalf of til(: Towns of Ledyard, North Stonington, and Preston, Connecticut (Baur and Martin to Fleming 
12/1511998). This CDmment consisted primarily ofa report by James P. Lynch, "A Report on the Lineage Ancestry 
of the Eastern and P,nvcatuck (sic] Pequot Indians; An Independent Survey and Analysis .... " (Lynch 1998a). 
Perkins Coie submitted additional material on February 5, 1999, which consisted primarily of an extensive 
reworking of the Bnls;hd family section of the Lynch report (Lynch 1999; Martin and Bauer to Fleming 2/511 999). 
The towns also submitt~~d documentary exhibits (Lynch 1998 Ex.). 

The Summaries und ~r the Criteria (EP PF 2000, PEP PF 2000) for the proposed findings took into consideration 
only materials from the petitioners and third parties submitted through April 5, 1999 (see also Towns Augusl 2001, 
2). The submissiom subsequent to that date were held by the BIA and are considered in this final determination. 
The submissions from the Towns in this category consisted of the following, as received by the BIA: 

April 19, 1999: Martin and Baur to Fleming 4/16/1999; "Genealogical Record of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians: An Independent Research Report of the Gardner Lineage prepared by Kathleen Siefer On the Behalf of the 
towns of Ledyard,t'-orth Stonington and Preston. April 1999"; Exhibits, Items 2-58. 

May 16, 1999: Mal1in and Baur to Fleming 5/20/1999; "Genealogical Record of the Eastern Pequot Indians. 
Independent Res~:aro:h report of the Sebastian (Brushel) Lineage Prepared by Kathleen Siefer On the Behalf of the 
Towns of Ledyard,\Jonh Stonington and Preston. May 1999"; Exhibits, Items 1-62. 

July 8,1999: Martir and Baur to Fleming 7/1/1999; "A Report on the Lineage Ancestry of the Eastern and 
Paucaluck [sic] Pe(j'1ot Indians: An Independent Survey and Discussion of the Fagins Lineage prepared by James P. 
Lynch On the Behalf of the Towns of Ledyard, North Stonington and Preston. June J 999"; Documents; "Historical 
Chronology Eastern PequotiPaucatuck [sic] Pequot 1638-1993 by James P. Lynch (Updated July I, 1999). 

July 19. 1999: Mart nand Baur to Fleming 7/12/1999: list of documents; "Chronology of Stonington!;\;. Stonington 
Pequot Ancestry by years Reponed"; Documents. 

August 2, 1999: COlgdon, Johnson and Mullane to Fleming 8/2! 1999: attachments. 

3Prelimina y' Inventory of Material Submitted to BlA. Wiquapaug Eastern Pequot Petition #228. 
Materi:.d received b:: BIA 9.'15/2000, Supplementary submission received b) BIA 9/~Of2000. Supplementary 
submission receivfci D)' BlA 1011012000. Supplementary submission received by BIA 3/29/2001 Compiled by 

4 
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#228 did not serve these items on petitioner #35 and petitioner #113. Therefore, they do not 
constitute formal ;;omments on the proposed findings. 

Petitioner's Response to Third Party Comments. The petitioner submitted the Response of the 
Eastern Pequot lr.~dians of Connecticut to the Comments of the Interested Parties (EP Response 
to Comments 9/4/2001) on September 4,2001. This consisted of one three-ring binder 
containing several re:ports, additional analysis of the data, and some errata.4 

Impact of Litigation. On January 19,2001, the State of Connecticut and the Towns of North 
Stonington, Ledyard and Preston filed suit against the Department of the Interior in the District 
Court of Connecticut making allegations regarding procedural deficiencies at the proposed 
finding stage of the Eastern Pequot and Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Federal acknowledgment 
process and allegations under the Freedom of Information Act. Complaint for Declaratory and 
Injunctive Relief; Connecticut v. Dept. of the Interior, (D. Conn. 2001) (No. 3:0 l-CV -88-A VC). 

The Paucatuck Easte:rn Pequot filed a motion to intervene on February 27,2001, and on March 
2,2001, filed a motion for a temporary restraining order, seeking to prevent the withdrawal or 
amendment of thE proposed findings concerning their tribal status and seeking to prevent an 
extension of the comment period. The Eastern Pequot also filed a motion to intervene as a 
defendant on March 2,2001. 

The Department, State, and Towns proposed to the Court a schedule for the Department to 
respond to the Oul standing FOIA requests. Under the subsequent March 30, 2001, court order, 
the Department ""as to respond to outstanding FOIA requests by May 4 and the comment period 
was to close 90 days from the FOIA response. The Court ordered defendant intervenors 30 days 
in which to file their reply to the comments and ordered a final determination within 90 days. 
The Department moved to dismiss the lawsuit on April 16, 2001. The Department responded to 
outstanding FOI}\. requests by April 27, informed the Court of its compliance on May 3, 2001, 
and extended the comment period to July 26; consistent with the court order. Federal defendants 
also moved for n::consideration of the March 30, 2001, order. At the initiation of the State of 
Connecticut, the parties stipulated on July 7, 2001, with approval of the Court, that the comment 
period would elm e August 2, 200 I. 

On August 21. Judge Covello denied in part the Department's motion for reconsideration of the 
Court's schedulin 5 order. Without addressing any of the legal arguments, the Court left intact 
the requirement that the Department start consideration for the final detennination within 30 
days of the close )f the reply period, but modified the order as to the date for the final 
determination. As modified, the order provided that the Department would file a status report 

Virginia DeMaree. 2S February 2001; updated 3 Apri12001. 

40n Decem ),:r 19,2001, untimely, EP submitted an Index to their Response to the third party comments. 

5 
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projecting the date of the final determination. If the date fell beyond 60 days, the report was 
subject to comment by the parties and a court ordered status conference. 

The Eastern Peqllots requested an additional 30 days in which to respond to the comments from 
the State and TOYl11s on August 30, 2001. Judge Covello denied this request. Thus, the response 
period closed on September 4,2001, and the BIA, as obligated by the court order, began 
consideration within 30 days of the close of the comment periods. 

On October 24, 200 I, the Department submitted a status report to the Court, under the Court's 
modified March JOth order, projecting a date of June 4, 2002, for issuance of the final 
determinations 011 EP and PEP petitions for Federal acknowledgment. The Federal defendants 
agreed to submit a second status report on April 23, 2002, informing the Court whether the 
Department continued to project June 4, 2002, as the date for issuance of final determinations. 
None of the other parties objected to the Federal defendants' projected date. 

On March 29, 20n" the Court issued an order denying the Federal defendants' motion to dismiss 
without prejudice to its re-submission after the defendants have issued the final determination on 
the two petitions ~Dr Federal acknowledgment. On April 9, 2002, the Department filed a motion 
to amend the Ma:-ch 29,2002, court order which motion was granted. 

Preparation afFinal Dele.'-minalion. The BIA, upon evaluating other responsibilities and 
obligations to other petitioners, indicated to the court a projected date of June 4, 2002, for 
issuance of the final determinations on petitions #35 (EP) and #113 (PEP). Subsequently, on 
May 23, 2002, the BlA notified the Court that the projected date was modified to June 25, 2002. 

Overview of the Proposed Finding 

Determinations (!s to Weight of the Evidence. The AS-lA's proposed finding to recognize the 
groups (EP and PEP) was based in part on the continuous existence of a state-recognized group 
with a reservatiol_ On this basis, he concluded that greater weight should be given to the 
evidence than \\ ould otherwise be the case. The proposed finding stated this conclusion in part 
as: 

Impact c{Continuous Historical State Acknowledgment since Colonial Times 
UpOIl the Evaluation afthe Evidence. Because the petitioners are, singly and 
together, the continuation of a historically state-recognized tribe whose 
relations,hip with the state of Connecticut goes back to the early 1600's. 
possessing a common reservation, this evidence provides a common backbone 
and cons: stc:nt backdrop for interpreting the evidence of continued tribal 
existence. When weighed in combination with this historical and continuous 
circumsmnce, evidence on community and political influence carries greater 
weight tbat would be the case under circumstances where there was not evidence 
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of a longsumding continuous relationship with the state based on being a distinct 
political community. Members of the tribe occupied a somewhat different status 
than non··Indians within Connecticut. The greater weight is assigned for the 
following reasons in combination: (EP PF 2000,63). 

• The historical Eastern Pequot tribe has maintained a continuous historical 
government-to-government relationship with the State of Connecticut since 
colonial time$; 

• The historical Eastern Pequot tribe had a state reservation established in colonial 
times, ane has retained its land area to the present; 

• The histori,::;al Eastern Pequot tribe had members enumerated specifically as 
tribal menbers on the Federal Census, Special Indian Population Schedules, for 
1900 and. 1910 (EP PF 2000, 63). 

Past Fedl~ral acknowledgment decisions under 25 CFR Part 83 provide no 
precedents fi:>r dealing with a tribe which is presently state recognized with a state 
recognizl;!d reservation and has been so continuously since early colonial times. 
The closest parallel is Maine, where the Federal government in the 
Passamaquoddy case stipulated to tribal existence, based on the historical state 
relationship. That precedent provides guidance in this matter. The Department is 
not apply.ng a different standard of tribal existence. Rather, the evidence, when 
weighed in the context of this continuous strong historical relationship, carries 
greater w,:!ight. (EP PF 2000, 63) 

The proposed findings invited and urged the petitioners and third parties to comment on the 
added weight given to evidence based on continuous state recognition under the above narrowly 
defined circumstmces. 

Proposed Fillding 's Conclusions under the Mandatory Criteria. The proposed finding reached 
the following conclusions under each of the mandatory criteria under 25 CFR Pan 83: 

• Criterion 83. 7(a). Since 1973, there are regular identifications of the Eastern 
Pequot tribe, the overwhelming majority of which simultaneously mention both 
the Eastem Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #3 The Eastern Pequot tribe 
is regularly identified as an American Indian entity from 1900 through 1973. 5) 

and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner # 113) as 
subgroups of that historical tribe. The petitioner meets this criterion (EP PF 2000, 
62). 

• Critericn 83.7(b). The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, including the antecedents 
of both petitioners, meets the criterion through 1973. 
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For the p(!riod since 1973, the evidence now in the record is not sufficient to 
determine: that there is only one tribe with two factions (these being the Eastern 
Pequot IndiaLns of Connecticut (petitioner #35) and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians of Connecticut (petitioner # 113», or whether the dissensions of the period 
since 1973 have resulted in the evolution of two separate bands from the 
historical tribe (EP PF 2000, 62). 

There is insufficient evidence in the record to enable the Department to determine 
that the pl~ltitioners formed a single tribe after 1973. The Department 
conseque:ltly makes no specific finding for the period 1973 to the present because 
there was not sufficient information to determine that there is only one tribe with 
political factions ... (EP PF 2000, 100). 

The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, which includes the petitioner as one of its 
component groups, meets criterion 83.7(b) through 1973. 

A decision on the period subsequent to 1973 is deferred to the final determination 
(EP PF 2000, 10 1). 

• Criterion 83.7(c). The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, including the antecedents 
of both pl~1:itioners, meets the criterion through 1973. 

For the pl~riod since 1973, the evidence now in the record is not sufficient to 
determine that there is one tribe with two factions (these being the Eastern Pequot 
Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #35) and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians 
of Connecticut (petitioner # 113 », or whether the dissensions of the period since 
1973 have resulted in the evolution of two separate bands from the historical tribe 
(EP PF 2 )00, 62). 

There is insufficient evidence in the record to enable the Department to determine 
that the petitioners formed a single tribe since 1973. The Department 
consequently makes no specific finding for the period 1973 to the present because 
there was not sufficient information to determine that there is only one tribe with 
political factions. _ . (EP PF 2000, 120). 

The histc1rical Eastern Pequot tribe, which includes the petitioner as one of its 
component subgroups, meets criterion 83.7(c) through 1973. 

A decision on the period subsequent to 1973 is deferred to the final detem1ination 
(EP PF 2000, 120). 
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• Criterion 83.7(d). On Apri13, 1996, the petitioner provided copies of the 
current re:vised and amended by· laws, which include a statement of membership 
qualificati:ms and enrollment procedures (EP PF 2000, 121). 

The petitione:r meets this criterion (EP PF 2000, 62). 

• Criteriol1 83.7(e). The evidence indicates that the ancestors of both petitioners, 
using ess,entially parallel documentation acceptable to the Secretary, were 
members o1fthe historical Eastern Pequot tribe in the 19th century, and that the 
current m(~mbers of both petitioners thus descend from the historical Eastern 
Pequot trib,~. In many cases, Connecticut's state records, overseer's reports, 
petitions, and similar records carried the names of direct and collateral ancestors 
of both p'etitioners on the same documents. The petitioner meets this criterion 
(EP PF 2000, 62-63). 

• Criterior. 83.7(f). [T]he membership of the petitioning group is composed 
principally of persons who are not members of any acknowledged North 
American Indian tribe (EP PF 2000, 134). 

The petitiom~r meets this criterion (EP PF 2000,63). 

• Criterion 83.7(g). There is no evidence that the petitioner is subject to 
congressional legislation that has terminated or forbidden the Federal relationship 
(EP PF 2eOO, 134). 

The petitii)JH~r meets this criterion (EP PF 2000, 63). 

The proposed findings invited and urged the petitioner and third parties to comment on the issues 
of whether there 'Nere, for the period since 1973, one or two tribes and whether the Department 
had authority to recognize two tribes, given the situation analyzed for criteria 83. 7(b) and 83. 7( c) 
(EP PF 2000, 61). The Department provided, in the appendices to the proposed finding, 
suggestions for rtsearch and analysis that the petitioners and third parties could pursue in regard 
to the period from 1973 to the present. 

Bases for the Final Determination 

The evidentiary basis for the final detemlination consists of all documentation utilized for 
preparation of the p:roposed finding, comments and documentation submitted by the petitioner 
and third parties Jefore the proposed findings were issued but received too late for use in the 
proposed findings" the petitioner's response to the proposed finding, third party comments on the 
proposed finding, the petitioner's response to the third party comments, and other pertinent 
material collected by the BIA staff. 
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Petitioner #35 has n.ot challenged the basic evidentiary analysis that underlay the positive 
proposed finding -- namely that there was a single historical Eastern Pequot tribe through 1973, 
of which its direct antecedents were a component. Therefore, except in so far as that conclusion 
was commented upon by the third parties, it has not been necessary to reanalyze the material for 
the period prior to 1873 for the final determination. For the century from 1873 to 1973, 
petitioner #35 submitted evidence to strengthen its petition; especially under criteria 83. 7(b) and 
83.7(c) for the pml0d from 1873 through 1920. This evidence has been included in the 
evaluation for ttll~ final determination, as have the comments by the third parties and by 
petitioner #113. The final determination contains a full analysis for the period since 1973. 

The summaries (if the Towns' and other parties' comments may not reflect every possible twist, 
turn and variati(>:1 that the parties put into them, but they have nonetheless been reviewed and 
considered. The! State and the Towns have reiterated negative specific factual conclusions stated 
in the proposed findings or the accompanying charts, as part of their argument that continuous 
State recognitior with a reservation should not accord greater weight to the existing evidence. 
Their comments also quote discussions of these conclusions which appear in the transcript of the 
two lengthy technical assistance meetings. Each of these specific conclusions, and the data in 
the record for the proposed finding, were reevaluated in the light of the additional data, 
arguments submitte:d, and a more complete review of the BIA interview data. Consequently, this 
final determination's review of the third party comments focuses on the new data and arguments, 
as presented by the petitioners and third parties. 
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AS-IA 

BAR 

BIA 

CIAC 

DEP 

Doc. 

EP 

Ex. 

FD 

FR 

NaIT. 

NP App. 

00 

OTR 

PEP 

PF 

TA 

,~bbreviations and/or Acronyms Used in the Final Detennination 

A:;sistant Secretary - Indian Affairs. 

Branch of Acknowledgment and Research, Bureau of Indian Affairs. 

Bureau of Indian Affairs. 

Connecticut Indian Affairs Commission. 

Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection. 

n)cument, abbreviation used for Ex. in # 113 Pet. 1996. 

East(!rn Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #35). 

D )cumentary exhibit submitted by petitioner or third parties. 

Final Determination. 

Federal Register. 

P(!tition naITati ve. 

Narragansett Petition for Federal Acknowledgment, Appendix. 

Obvious deficiencies letter issued by the BIA. 

On the-Record Technical Assistance Meeting. 

Pauc:atuck Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner # 1l3). 

P:-oposed Finding. 

T~chnical assistance letter issued by the BlA. 
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Standardized Spellings 

When discussing Indian tribes and bands, place names, and names of individuals, this Summary 
uses the current s1:andardized spellings. Where specific historical documents are quoted, these 
names are spelled as found in the original. One concrete example of this is the variation between 
the standardized spelling of the name "Fagins," while historicaldocuments often spelled it 
"Fagans" or even "'Phagan." Similarly, the maiden name ofEP ancestress Tamar (Brushell) 
Sebastian appears as. Brushel, Brashel, Bruschel, Brussels, and many other variants. 

Additionally, direct quotations from colonial documents are not furnished with a sic after every 
obsolete or variart spelling of a word. In direct quotations, punctuation and spelling remain "as 
. " IS. 
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~mportant 20th Century Figures in Relationship to Family Lines 

BrushelVSebastia!! 

[By children ofT:amer Sebastian] 

Francisco I (bro~:e:n into sublines) 

Francisco U 

Phebe 
Calvin(smne 

also via Benjamin) 
Katherim: 
Charles 
Ella 

Albert 
Solomon 

Moses 
Mary 
Sylvia Steadman 
Emeline Willian; s 

Fagins/RandaU 

F aginsIW atsoq 

Eastern Pequot Petitioner 

(85% of total)· 

(57% of total) 

178 18% 

119 12% 

118 12% 
78 8% 
40 4% 
28 3% 

141 14% 
72 7% 

61 6% 
29 3% 

0 0% 
0 0% 

98 10% (of total) 

49 5% (of total) 

Important Figures 

Roy Sebastian Sr., Roy Sebastian 
Jr., William Sebastian, Mark 
Sebastian, Larry Sebastian, 
Ashbow Sebastian, Marcia 
Flowers 
Alton Smith, Sr. 

"Aunt Kate" (Catherine Harris) 

Solomon Sebastian, Arthur 
Sebastian Jr., Lillian Sebastian, 
Idabelle Jordan 

Alden Wilson, Lawrence Wilson 
"Aunt Syl" (Sylvia Steadman) 
"Aunt Liney" (Emeline 
Williams) 

* Approximate numb,ers and percentage of descendants in the present EP membership as of July 18,2001. Figures 
do not reflect ancest")' through more than one Sebastian line. Subtotals rounded upwards in the percentages; results 
in a total of greater than 100%. 
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* William 
Jacksoll 
,t 

Ilarold 
Jackson 

I~achcl 

Hoxie 

+ Grace 
Jackson 

[ Jackson line] 

Important 20th Century Figures in Relationship to Family Lines 

Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Petitioner Antecedent Families 

U~~~, 
1 lLllI Y 

Jackson 

George Spellman = Phebe Jackson = Isaac Williams 

~ 1 
Paul Spellman 

Barhara Spellman Moore 
Atwood Williams Sr. = 

(Chief Silver Star) 

~ 
Atwood Williams, Jr. 

t 

t 
Agncs 

Agne~ Cunha, Richard Williams 

James Cunha, Jr. 

[GardnerfWiIliams linc] 

Marlboro Gardner r Eunice Wheeler 

EJma = William Edwards 

Hazel Geer Helen LeGault Pat Brown Byron Edwards r 
RaYfeer Sr. 

Ray Geer, Jr. 
Linda Strange 

[Gardner/Edwards line] 

= sign means marriage 
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MAP OF SOUTHEASTERN CONNECTICUT AND SOUTHWESTERN RHODE ISLAND 
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Final Detennination-- Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

SUMMARY CONCLUSIONS CONCERNING THE HISTORICAL 
EASTERN PEQUOT TRIBE 

Introductory Statement-

The proposed findings concluded that EP and PEP met the requirements of the regulations as a 
single tribe until 1973. They did not reach a conclusion as to whether there was a single tribe or 
two tribes after tbat point, but did conclude that the two petitioners overall met the requirements 
of 25 CFR Part 8.3. After a review of the Comments on the proposed findings and the Responses 
to the Comments, the evidence demonstrates that the two petitioners comprise a single tribe and 
together meet the requirements for Federal acknowledgment as the historical Eastern Pequot 
tribe which has t:xisted from first sustained contact with Europeans until the present. This final 
determination therefore acknowledges that the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprised of the 
membership oftLe: two petitioners (EP #35 and PEP #113), exists as a tribe entitled to a 
government-to-gove:rnment relationship with the United States. 

Although the two petitioners represent portions of the historical tribe which have grown 
somewhat separat~: socially in recent decades, this partial separation resulted from political 
conflicts which provided some of the strongest evidence in much of the 20th century that the 
tribe as a whole continued to have significant political processes which concerned issues of great 
importance to the entire body of Eastern Pequots. 

The Paucatuck Eastlern Pequot submitted a response to the proposed finding which argued that 
the Secretary did not have the authority to merge two tribes together. This determination does 
not merge two tribes, but determines that a single tribe exists which is represented by two 
petitioners. This determination acknowledges that tribe, which has existed continuously since 
first sustained c(ntact with non-Indians. 

The Department ':akes this action of acknowledging two petitioners as a single tribe because that 
is what the evide:1Ce demonstrates concerning the circumstances of these petitioners. Two 
organizations we re established in recent times from the membership of a single historically and 
continuously exi~~ting state recognized tribe resident on a state reservation which it has occupied 
since 1683. Although the regulations call for the presentation of petitions from groups seeking 
acknowledgment as a tribe, and for the Department to evaluate those petitions, the fundamental 
purpose of the resulations is to acknowledge the existence of tribes. The Secretary does not 
have the authorit/ to acknowledge a portion of a tribe, where that portion does not substantially 
encompass the body of the tribe. The Secretary does have the authority to recognize a single 
tribe in the circulllstance where the tribe is represented by more than one petitioner. 
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Interpretation of Evidence about the Two Petitioners. 

The evidence in the combined record shows that there has been from first sustained contact until 
the present only ;a single Eastern Pequot tribe socially and politically. Evidence about leaders, 
visiting, or gatherings that involve only the ancestors of one or another petitioner is evaluated as 
information about that group, in the context of a single tribe, because the overall body of 
evidence shows a single tribe. This information is not evaluated separately as evidence for or 
against one or the other petitioner in this conclusory section because doing so would interpret the 
past in terms of an alignment which only took its present form after the 1970's. 

Consideration of Continuous State Recognition with a Reservation. 

This final detemr.nation concludes that the State relationship with the Eastern Pequot tribe, by 
which the State since colonial times has continuously recognized a distinct tribe with a separate 
land base provided by and maintained by the State, and which manifested itself in the distinct, 
non-citizen status of the tribe's members until 1973, provides an additional form of evidence to 
be weighed. Thi~ 'evidence exists throughout the time span, but is most important during specific 
periods where thE: other evidence in the record concerning community or political influence 
would be insufficient by itself. The continuous State relationship, although its nature varied 
from time to time, provides additional support in part because of its continuity throughout the 
entire history of the Eastern Pequot tribe. 

There is implicit tIl :this state-tribal relationship a recognition of a distinct political body, in part 
because the relationship originates with and derives from the Colony's relationship with a 
distinct political body at the time the relationship was first establi?hed. Colony and State laws 
and policies directly reflected this political relationship until the early 1800's. The distinct 
political underpinning of the laws is less explicit from the early 1800's until the 1970's, but the 
Eastern Pequot remained non-citizens of the State until 1973. The State after the early 1800's 
continued the main elements of the earlier relationship (legislation that determined oversight, 
established and protected land holdings, and exempted tribal lands from taxation) essentially 
without change cr substantial questioning throughout this time period. 

The continuous ~;tate relationship with a reservation is not evidence sufficient in itself to meet 
the criteria. It is not a substitute for direct evidence at a given point in time or over a period of 
time. Instead this longstanding State relationship and reservation are additional evidence which, 
when added to tre existing evidence, demonstrates that the criteria are met at specific periods in 
time. This is consistent with the approach taken in the regulations that in most circumstances a 
combination of ev idence is used to demonstrate that a criterion is met. 
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Summary Discussion o/the Evidence Under the Mandatory Criteria 

Criterion 83.7(~l) 

External identifkations by the State of Connecticut and others have identified a single Eastern 
Pequot tribe frO[1 1900 until the present. There are no identifications of a separate EP or PEP 
entity until the c:~(:ation of the now-existing organizations during the 1970's. Before 1973, the 
antecedents of tt,e: current petitioner were mentioned, if they were distinguished at all, as 
subgroups with inte:rnal conflicts within the Eastern Pequot tribe. Since the 1973-1976 period, 
the majority of ,external identifications, particularly by the State of Connecticut, have continued 
to be identificah:ms of a single Eastern Pequot tribe, with internal conflicts. 

Summary Conclilsions for Criterion 83.7 (a). The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising 
both petitioners, meets the requirements of 83.7(a). 

Criterion 83.7(b) 

From the assignment of Momoho as governor of the Pequots removed from Ninigret (1654) to 
the present, the Eastern Pequot tribe as a whole, but not the individual EP and PEP petitioners, 
has maintained a named, collective Indian identity continuously over a period of more than 50 
years, notwithstcnding changes in name. This is evidence for community under section 
83.7(b)(l)(viii) of the regulations. On the sequence of petitions submitted to the State of 
Connecticut frol11 the 1670's through the 1880's (see the proposed finding for detailed 
descriptions of each), the tribe clearly identified itself, whether as "Mamohoe and the Pequits 
with him" in 16i'g or "wee the subscribers in behalf of ye Rest of Mo-mo-hoe's men & their 
Posterity" (1723) or "Pequod Indians of ye Tribe of Momohor & living in ye Town of 
Stonington in New London County" (1749). In 1764, the petition was from the" Pequot Indians 
living at Stonington, in behalf of themselves and the rest of said Pequots," while in 1788 the 
petition to the Connecticut legislature came from "Petition of us the Subscribers Indians of the 
pequod Tribe in Stonington." In 1839, the "Petition of the undersigned respectfully sheweth that 
they are of the P ~quot tribe oflndians in the Town of North Stonington," while in 1873, they 
tem1ed themselves the "members of the Pequot tribe oflndians of North Stonington." This 
evidence has bem used throughout in combination with the individual evidence analyzed for 
community each time period. 

Colonial Period Throllgh 1873. 

The proposed finding concluded, consistent with precedent, using evidence acceptabk to the 
Secretary, that the historical Eastern Pequot tribe met criterion 83.7(b) from the colonial period 
through 1873. /l, review of the evidence in the record at the time of the proposed finding and 
submitted for the final detennination indicated that no significant new evidence was submitted in 
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regard to the nature of the historical Eastern Pequot community in the colonial period or from 
the era of the Ameri,ean revolution into the third quarter of the 19th century. The argumentation 
presented by the third parties was essentially the same as at the time of the proposed finding. It 
was not persuasive, in that throughout this time period, there remained a reservation community 
with a majority ():~the tribal members resident in it, if not continuously, at least regularly, with 
the remainder of the tribe maintaining contact. Such evidence is sufficient under 83.7(b)(2)(i). 
There is evidence, specifically petitions and overseers' reports, that the direct antecedents of 
both current petitioners were a part of that historical community in the 19th century. The 
proposed finding is affirmed for this period. 

Community 1873 to 1920. 

Significant new evidence was submitted for the final determination concerning community 
between 1873 and 1920. New data included a legible copy of the June 26,1873, petition in 
which the "members of the Pequot tribe ofIndians of North Stonington" remonstrated against 
sale oflands and requested removal of Leonard C. Williams as overseer. The list of signers 
shows a connecti,)n between Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian and her children and other members of 
the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. Additional overseers' reports were added to the record which 
filled in the time span from the 1880's through the early 20th century. These submissions provide 
further evidence ':hat there was a distinct Eastern Pequot community and that this community 
included the Sebastian family. 

This final determination affirms the conclusions of the proposed finding that there was a high 
degree of marria.ge among the Eastern Pequot and in culturally patterned marriages of Eastern 
Pequots with Na.ITagansetts, Western Pequots, and other local Indians during this time period. 
No evidence or argument was presented which changed the basic conclusions that this pattern 
existed strongly, NIQ substantial evidence or persuasive arguments were submitted to change the 
proposed finding's, conclusion that for this time period intermarriage provided substantial 
evidence of community, The kinship ties resulting from this intermarriage linked all of the 
component family lines which are represented in the current Eastern Pequot tribe today, 

The proposed finding concluded that the geographical concentration of the membership during 
this time period was close enough to facilitate social interaction and that interaction actually 
occurred. Additional data submitted with the proposed finding concerning the geographical 
distribution of all of the Eastern Pequot confirmed the factual conclusions for this time period. 

Substantial evi dc:nce showing patterns of social association within the Eastern Pequot was 
presented in ne\\ analyses submitted in response to the proposed finding and additional 
documentary and interview evidence. New evidence in the forn1 of data from the journals of 
Sarah (Swan) Holland and Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris provided contemporary data 
concerning soci2l interactions which supported and was consistent with data from interviews. 
This evidence W:IS particularly significant in confirming that the social alignment of the various 
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families, antecedent to the fonnation of the current petitioners, was not strictly divided in the 
pattern that the <:1J:rrent petitions indicate. 

Community 1920 1'0 1940. 

In the time period fi~om 1920 to 1940, there continued to be strong evidence for community, with 
additional evidence submitted. This final detennination affinns the conclusions of the proposed 
finding that community was strongly shown by the high degree of marriage among the Eastern 
Pequot and in cu lturally patterned marriages between Eastern Pequots and Narragansetts, 
Western Pequots, and other southeastern Connecticut and southwestern Rhode Island Indians 
during this time pt~riod. No evidence or argument was presented which changed the basic 
conclusions that this pattern strongly existed. 

Additional evidenc(~ about visiting patterns among the Sebastians during this time period 
confinns the exi~:tence of social cohesion among that portion of the Eastern Pequot. A review of 
existing and additional documentary and interview evidence also clearly indicates social ties 
between the Sebastiians and other major family lines, the Jacksons and FaginsiRandalllines, 
during this perioi 

Substantial additional evidence concerning Fourth Sunday meetings, prayer and social 
gatherings, was ~:ubmitted in response to the proposed findings. This evidence demonstrated that 
the meetings oceun·ed regularly and involved a cross section of the Eastern Pequot tribe. 
Attendance by rr.embers of the Brushell/Sebastian, Fagins/Randall, and Hoxie/Jackson lines was 
independently corroborated. The Fourth Sunday meetings were held from the mid 1910's 
through at least the later 1930's. They appear, further, to be a continuance of religious meetings 
of a similar character, which had been held for some time previously, organized by leader Calvin 
Williams who died in 1913. Although these meetings were not strictly limited to Eastern Pequot 
tribal members, ':hey were essentially meetings of Eastern Pequot, and Western Pequot and 
Narragansett to whom they were related or with whom they were otherwise socially affiliated. 
They were not regularly attended by non-Indians. The meetings occurred in the context of social 
connections with church affiliated Eastern Pequots in nearby towns, with overlap in attendance. 
The Eastern Pequolts who attended included Sebastians, Randalls, and to some extent Jacksons, 
though by all ev ldence not the other major family line, Gardners. Thus the proposed findings' 
conclusion that Fourth Sunday meetings were evidence of community is affirmed. 

Communif)' 194010 1970, 

Community from 1940 to 1973 is demonstrated more strongly than for the proposed finding 
because of the submission of new evidence. There was a stronger demonstration of social 
cohesion among the families antecedent to the EP petitioner for the final determination than for 
the proposed finding because substantial new interview and documentary data has been 
presented, and additional analyses made, which demonstrates visiting patterns and small scale 
gatherings whic'l crossed family sublines and which drew in and occurred between residents of 
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the reservation and those in Mystic, Old Mystic, Groton, Westerly and Hartford between the 
1920's and the 1960's, with substantial long term connections with Providence. 

Evidence of this ~{pe from 1960 to 1970 is less plentiful. Evidence pertained to the annual 
picnics organized by Alden Wilson from 1940 to 1960 and gatherings at the reservation 
residence ofCath€:rine Harris which included substantial portions of the Sebastians and probably 
the Fagins/Randall line in the same time period. Better and more detailed geographical data 
confirmed the patterns identified in the proposed finding as providing supporting evidence for 
community among the EP and PEP memberships and thus for the Eastern Pequot tribe as a 
whole. 

The main antecedent family of the PEP petitioner, the Gardners, was a very small social unit 
during this period and closely related enough to assume social cohesion among them. In 
addition, there was evidence of social gatherings among the Gardners, organized by Atwood I. 
Williams, Sr., and Helen LeGault, for this small kinship group. 

In the 1970's, because there was still a body of adult Jacksons in the tribe, there was not the same 
separation that appears today. Instead, this line played a bridge or connecting role between the 
two lines that toc.ay are numerically predominant in the two petitioners, the Sebastians (for EP) 
and the Gardners (fi::>r PEP), and had done so since at least the early 1900's. The evidence 
reviewed for this final determination demonstrated substantial social links between the 
Sebastians and the Jacksons, and for the Jacksons with the Gardners from the beginning of the 
20th century into the 1970's, indicating one community. 

Additional evid~~nce for community before 1973 is found in the political events of the 
subsequent decade. These events, in reaction to the formation of the Connecticut Indian Affairs 
Commission (CIAC) and changes in Connecticut policies beginning in 1973, provide substantial 
evidence that community existed before that time. The social connections, social distinctions, 
and political issues shown by events from 1973 through 1983 are of a strength and character that 
indicate they w(:re: already in existence before that time. The events from 1973 through 1983 are 
consistent with the evidence of family line divisions, residence patterns, and conflicts 
immediately bej~)re the 1970's. 

In addition, the ~rocess by which EP developed its initial membership list, provided to the State 
in 1976, demons Tmes that social ties which had carried over from previous eras continued to 
exist. The process was one of enrolling individuals who were connected to the initially active 
group. rather th:n being a recruitment of unconnected descendants. The early EP lists 
represented a broad cross section of the Sebastian part of the tribe, with subsequent lists drawing 
on the social ties of this initial group. 
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Present Commurdty. 

From 1973 to the: present, the evidence for community as presented to the Department by the two 
petitioners reflel:::ts increasing polarization of social ties. This evidence is delineated for each 
petitioner below. However, the overall picture demonstrated by the evidence is that there 
continues to be one tribe, albeit now with two demarcated subgroups. . 

The geographic pattern of residence past and present among the EP portion of the tribe is 
sufficiently close 1:0 be supporting evidence of more direct evidence of social cOIUlections. 

The regulations, and the precedents in interpreting them, allow evidence of political processes to 
also be used as evidence to demonstrate community. Community among the EP membership in 
the present day K~: dc~monstrated in part on the basis of the strong political evidence of control of 
and allocation of most of the reservation land by the EP organization. It is also relevant that PEP 
exercises paralld functions of allocation of resources on the portion of the Lantern Hill 
reservation which it occupies. 

Section 83.7(c)(2.)(i) of the regulations defines as sufficient evidence for the existence of 
political authori~y and influence instances where a political mechanism exists which allocates 
"group resources such as land, residence rights and the like on a consistent basis." Although the 
regulations envision that this allocation process would apply to the entirety of the petitioning 
group in order to be sufficient evidence, by itself, for political processes, nonetheless this process 
within both porti :ms of the tribe provides strong evidence of community for a substantial portion 
of the entire Eastern Pequot tribe. The precedent in interpreting the regulations allows evidence 
of political processes to be used also as evidence to demonstrate modem community (see 
Snoqualmie PF and FD). In this instance, strong political processes are demonstrated by 
allocation of reservation resources, both among the EP and PEP memberships. This is not 
sufficient eviden~e of political processes in itself under 83.7(c)(2)(i), because the processes are 
parallel rather than a single process. Although it is therefore not automatically sufficient 
evidence in itself under 25 CFR 83.7(b)(2)(v), which allows evidence which is sufficient in itself 
to demonstrate Jl,)litical processes to be used also as sufficient evidence for community, this is 
strong evidence for community within the tribe as a whole. This determination concludes that 
the evidence of control and allocation of the Lantern Hill reservation resources by EP and PEP is 
evidence for the ;!xistence of political processes and supporting evidence for the existence of 
community. 

The PEP membership is small and fairly closely related. with 90 percent drawn from the two 
Gardner family sublines. 5 There is direct evidence that kinship relations are recognized within 

5 The balarce of PEP's membership, from the Hoxie/Jackson (not Gardner) line, currently consists of only 
10 persons: an elderly, childless, woman and a niece of the latter who was placed in foster care during childhood 
and did not resume contact with the tribe until the 1990's, with her children and grandchildren. These numbers are 
too SI11JlllO require specific analysis here. 
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its two main subdivisions, the GardnerlEdwards and the GardnerlWilliams and to a degree 
between them. Hie interview evidence for the proposed finding indicated that there were social 
contacts maintail}(~cl between the most socially connected portion of the PEP membership and 
those living at a distance. The present geographic pattern of residence of the PEP portion of the 
Eastern Pequot lt1ibc~, the Gardner family line, is close enough that significant social interaction is 
feasible but is not so concentrated as to provide supporting evidence of community in itself. 
However, there i; direct evidence. PEP also presented an analysis of relationships within the 
overall Gardner line, based on defining a core social group with which approximately 90 percent 
had demonstrabll! close kinship ties and/or social contacts. This analysis was generally 
consistent with available interview information about social contacts. 

Because the political processes of the entire Eastern Pequot bridge the two petitioning groups in 
that their crucial £oeus of both organizations is on controlling and maintaining access rights to a 
single historical reservation established for a single historical tribe, this final determination 
concludes that the whole tribe, encompassing both current petitioners, meets the requirements 
for demonstratins social community from 1973 to the present, even though, from 1973 to the 
present, the petitioners have developed into increasingly separate social segments. Each of the 
major segments, Eft and PEP, has significant internal social cohesion. The segments are united 
by the overall political processes, even when these are illustrated primarily by political 
disagreements o"(:r the common Lantern Hill reservation. There is no requirement in the 
regulations that ~ocial relationships be distributed uniformly throughout a community (Cowlitz 
PF Summ. Crit. ,996, 19) nor that they be amicable (see discussion, Cowlitz OTR 11/2311998, 
177). Rather, community is to be interpreted in accord with the history and culture of a 
particular group :25 CFR § 83.1). 

Summary Conc!lusion for Criterion 83.7(b). The evidence demonstrates that the historical 
Eastern Pequot trib(~ maintained a distinct social community within which significant social ties 
existed historically and continue through the present. These ties within the membership 
encompass the members of both petitioning groups, even after the development of their separate 
fonna1 political organizations. The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising both current 
petitioners, meets the requirements of criterion 83. 7(b). 

Criterion 83.7(c) 

Po/irical hiflLlenee from the Colollial Period through J 873. 

The proposed fir cling concluded, consistent with precedent and using evidence acceptable to the 
Secretary, that th;: historical Eastern Pequot tribe, which included the antecedents of both current 
petitioners, met criterion 83.7(c) from the colonial period through 1873. Much of the 
argumentation pn::sented by the Towns for the final determination reiterated topics which had 
already been corsiclered in the proposed finding (including the nature of an aboriginal tribe; 
whether more tl1.11:1 one modern tribe may have evolved from an aboriginal tribe). No significant 
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new evidence in :r(~gard to this early period was presented for the final detennination by either 
petitioner or by the third parties. The conclusions of the proposed finding for this period are 
affinned. 

Political Influencefrom 1873 to 1913. 

Political influence from 1873 to 1920 is demonstrated in part by a sequence of Eastern Pequot 
petitions from June 1873 through 1883 which were presented to the Superior Court by the 
"members ofth(! Pequot tribe of Indians of North Stonington." The first remonstrates against the 
overseer's req\W!it for pennission from the General Assembly to sell a portion of the Lantern Hill 
reservation and ben requests his removal. The June 26, 1873, petition contained the name of 
Tamar [(Brusher) Sebastian] and mentioned her nine children without naming them; it was also 
signed by members of the Hoxie/Jackson family (one of the antecedent family lines of petitioner 
#113) and by members of the other two lines ancestral to EP, Pagins/Watson and Pagins/Randall, 
all in common with Amanda (Nedson) Williams, Leonard NedlNedsoniBrown, and other 
members of historical Eastern Pequot families that have since become extinct. 

The March 31" 1874, "Remonstrance to Superior Court, New London, against sale of land" 
contained the names of Calvin Williams, Amanda (Nedson) Williams, Abby (Pagins) Randall 
and her childn:fl, the children of the late Laura (Fagins) Watson, Rachel (Hoxie) Jackson and her 
children, and Marlboro Gardner. No Brushell/Sebastian family members were among the 
signers of the December 3, 1883, petition, but it did contain the names of Calvin Williams and 
his wife, plus Gardner, HoxielJackson, Pagins/Randall, and Fagins/Watson signers. Thus in 
1874 and 1883, tile Gardner and Jackson families (antecedent to petitioner # 113) appear in 
common with Calvin Williams and the members of the Pagins/Randall, and Fagins/Watson 
families (antececl~:nt to petitioner #35) signing the same document for the same purpose. 

The proposed finding noted that there was no clear evidence of political processes or leadership 
between 1880 ar,d 1920, although the evidence demonstrating community was very strong and 
was thus good supporting evidence. New evidence submitted for the final determination shows 
that during the first decade of the 20th century Calvin Williams functioned as a leader, dealt with 
by the overseer" representing the Eastern Pequots to the overseer, and consulting with the 
membership on ,j'ec:isions. 

Supporting evicknce that he was a leader came from interviews indicating Williams's relative 
prosperity and fmm a further analysis of kinship patterns which showed that Williams was 
related by malTiage and through collateral lines to many of the Eastern Pequot families. Kinship 
ties often provide a basis for the position of infonnalleaders (see, for example, the proposed 
finding concerning the Poarch Band of Creeks) (Poarch PF 1983, 5). 
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Political Influence or Authority from 1913 to 1940. 

The strong character of the community, especially based on intennarriage ties, provides strong 
supporting evidence for the existence of significant political processes between 1913 and 1940. 

Atwood I. Williarns, Sr., was the state-recognized leader for all of the Eastern Pequots from 
1933 until his death in 1955. There is limited evidence, from documents and interviews, that he 
was elected, by a }ortion of the membership at least, and that the State took notice of this 
election. Even though Williams took a stance against the membership of the Brushell/Sebastian 
portion of the Eastern Pequots, he was recognized by and dealt with by the State as leader of the 
entire tribe (which at this point also had a membership list approved at the same time and by the 
same judge through whom Atwood I. Williams's position was fonnalized). He continued to be 
consulted by Staff representatives of the Park and Forest Commission on matters concerning the 
tribe and its reservation through the late 1930's. 

For this time period, particularly from 1913 to 1929, between the death of Calvin Williams and 
the appearance of Atwood 1. Williams as an influential leader, the continuous State relationship 
with the Eastern p(~quot as an Indian tribe provides additional evidence which, in combination 
with the limited direct evidence, demonstrates continuity of political processes throughout 
periods in which lhere is not sufficient positive evidence by itself, but in which positive evidence 
does exist. 

That evidence includes the role of Tamar Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams, the widow of 
Calvin Williams. The EP proposed finding concluded that she was an informal political leader 
for the EP anteced'~nt families during this period. This final detennination does not affinn this 
conclusion, which is. not supported by much direct evidence. The evidence does, however, 
support a conclusion that she was a social leader whose religious activities were well-known and 
that these activities, particularly hosting the Fourth Sunday meetings, provided a focal point for 
the tribe's members to interact with one another (see criterion 83.7(b)). The few pieces of 
evidence that mi§;ht directly indicate the exercise of political influence on her part, such as an 

endorsement of an application for residence on the Lantern Hill reservation, are not present in 
sufficient numbers to show that this was the case. 

In its comments fer the final detennination, PEP asserted that Phoebe (Jackson) Spellman was an 
infol111al leader between her return to the reservation from Providence about 1912 and her death 
in 1922. This claim was not supported by direct evidence. Limited evidence indicates that the 
tribe during this period was not ignored in matters of membership, even when there was internal 
controversy (if. Ibis instance between Phoebe (Jackson) Spellman and her brother) over the 
question of what t::le membership boundaries should be. An oral history account described an 
occasion when her brother, William Henry Jackson, one of the older reservation residents, 
swore, reportedly for the overseer and before a court, that an individual from the Sebastian 
lineage was an E Cistern Pequot and entitled to reside on the Lantern Hill reservation, an action 
which angered his sister and apparently other Jacksons. 
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Political Influencefrom 1940 to 1973. 

Atwood Williams, Sr. continued as the state-recognized leader for all of the Eastern Pequots 
until his death in 1955, although there was no documentation of his activity between 1941 and 
1947. Even though Williams took a position against a portion of the Eastern Pequots, he was 
recognized by and dc~alt with by the State as leader of the entire tribe, once it was, in the late 
1940's, reminded of the 1933 In re Ledyard Tribe Superior Court order. Although State 
implementation of his status was inconsistent and varied, it existed throughout the time span. 

Political processe:; during this period were not limited to the activities of Atwood I. Williams, 
nor to the Eastern Pequot lines with which he identified himself. Additional evidence of 
political processe:; is provided by a 1953 expedition of Eastern Pequots, mainly Lantern Hill 
reservation residents, to Hartford to oppose a bill to "detribalize" Connecticut's Indians. This 
group was led by Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris, and included Jacksons as well as 
Sebastians. 

The evidence is nJt entirely clear that the actions by Helen LeGault in complaining to the State 
authorities about 1:he presence and activities of the Sebastians on the reservation during the 
1950's and 1960's, and her appearance as a witness in 1961 State legislative hearings to seek 
amendments which would have limited their residence, represented only her opinions or also 
those of a body of public opinion among a portion of the Eastern Pequots. She clearly had the 
support of her siblings, effectively the entire Gardner/Edwards portion of the Gardners and there 
is some interview evidence to indicate that her opinions exerted influence among the children of 
the late Atwood 1 Williams, Sr., (whose wife was her aunt) (the Gardner/Jackson subline) as 
well as among the Gardner/Edwards subline. There is also some evidence of opposition to her 
by both Jacksons and Sebastians, evidence which shows political processes. 

This final determnation does not find sufficient evidence to support the EP and PEP proposed 
findings' conclus Ion that Roy Sebastian, Sr., Arthur Sebastian, Jr., Catherine Harris, and Atwood 
Williams, Jr., tab~n singly, were informal leaders of various portions of the Eastern Pequot tribe 
between 1940 and 1973. Neither is there clear indication that during this period Paul Spellman 
of the Hoxie!1ackson line served as an infonnalleader as asserted by PEP, although he was well 
known to outside's and there is documentation of some limited communication between him and 
the State in regard to the management of the Lantern Hill reservation. The data submitted by EP 
for the final determination does not provide sufficient evidence that Alden Wilson was an 
intluential inforrr 2.1 leader, as the proposed finding had found. 

Compiled togetb.er, the whole complex of individual leaders' activities, sometimes formal, 
sometimes informal, coming from the antecedent family lines of both petitioners, with 
fluctuating allian ;I:::S of the different family lines supporting them, provides some evidence of 
political influenc~. 
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The political events of the subsequent era, from 1973 through the 1980's, provide substantial 
evidence that political processes and community existed before that time. The form the political 
processes took in response to the State's legal and policy changes and the intensity of these 
actions in respons1e to the changes indicate preexisting political issues and opinions as well as 
preexisting social connections, distinctions, and alignments. Rather than being newly created, 
they indicate preexisting community and political processes. In addition, the activities of Helen 
LeGault provide pal1 of the thread connecting the 1970's and the immediately preceding period. 
There is no question that social community, in part defined by significant social divisions based 
on family lines and disputes with considerable historical depth, existed throughout this period. 

For this time period, and particularly from 1955 to the early 1970's, the continuous state 
relationship with the Eastern Pequot as an Indian tribe provides additional evidence which, in 
combination with the other evidence, demonstrates continuity of political processes throughout a 
period in which there is not otherwise sufficient positive evidence, but in which positive 
evidence does exist. When combined with the continuing State relationship and continuing 
existence of the Lantern Hill reservation, these activities demonstrate political influence in the 
Eastern Pequot tribe: throughout the span of time. 

Political Influence in the 1970's. 

The political events of the 1970's clearly demonstrate that a single Eastern Pequot tribe with 
political processes existed. In the conflict from 1973 onward, three different subgroups sought 
to obtain official approval as representing the Eastern Pequot tribe or as being the Eastern Pequot 
tribe. However, tbe alignments were not strictly along family lines, since the Jacksons had the 
support of Alton Smith, a leading Sebastian. At the same time, the conflicts of this period were a 
continuation of the: distinctions and political issues that structured the tribe before 1973. 

Because there was still a body of adult Jacksons in the tribe in the 1970's, there was not the same 
separation that a~pears today. Instead, since this line played a bridge or connecting role between 
the two lines that today are numerically predominant in the two petitioners (Sebastian for EP and 
Gardner for PEP), and had done so since at least the early 1900's, their presence demonstrates 
that there was a single political field in the 1970's within which the conflict was played out, 
rather than a conflict between two completely separate groups. It was not until 1989 that PEP 
asked the Jacksons to join them. The recentness of this request indicates that the alignments 
among the Eastern Pequot subgroups were still being adjusted in 1989. At the same time, the 
Sebastians initial] y presented themselves as representing the interests of part of a tribe, which 
was being threatened by the activities of Helen LeGault's Authentic Eastern Pequots in regard to 
ClAC representation. rather than as a separate tribe. This was quite clear in the way they 

24 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement EPI-V001-D006 Page 35 of 208 



Final Detennination- Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

defending the position of the Sebastian family within the Eastern Pequot tribe and their rights to 
residence on the Lantern Hill reservation. 

Indicative of the e:xistence of a single tribe with shifting political alliances is that, in the late 
1970's, the antecedents of the two current organizations were in fact organizations of two of the 
family lines of the Eastern Pequot tribe (Gardner and Sebastian) - neither the Hoxie/Jacksons 
who were not also Gardner descendants nor the either of the two Fagins descendant lines were 
initially included in ,either one. The Sebastians in particular viewed the initial conflict as one in 
which they needed to have their own family's interests represented - demonstrating that the 
conflict was one of interest groups within a particular political system. 

The events of the! 1970's which led to the formation of the two organizations demonstrate a high 
level of political processes within the tribe which involved the main kinship segments, the 
Sebastians, Jacksons and GardnerlEdwards. The events reflect the on-going political issues of 
access to and corr:roI of the reservation lands and the internal dispute over the legitimacy of the 
Sebastians as members. The formation of the ClAC and the beginnings of transfer of power 
over the reservation to the Eastern Pequot tribe triggered this high level of political conflict 
because it provided an opportunity, not previously existent, for one of the contending Eastern 
Pequot subgroups to seek to obtain designation as the Eastern Pequot tribe or status as the 
Eastern Pequot tribe's sole representative. State actions amounted to an opportunity by which 
one of the contending Eastern Pequot subgroups might be recognized by the ClAC as the only 
legitimate group and thereby gain control of the reservation. Helen LeGault's action on behalf 
of her own small 5t:!gment brought counter-reactions from both the Sebastians and the Jacksons. 
These events mobilized large portions of the relatively small number of adult individuals then 
alive. The events were clearly a contest for power, resting on the preexisting social context and 
alignments, and by definition show political process. These conflicts, as conflicts typically do, 
showed which issues are important, how widespread the interest is, and in general provide data 
about political processes and community which a quiet period does not. 

Political Author!!}' and Influence since 1973, Including Present Day Polirical Processes. 

Both EP and PEP as separate organizations in the modem period demonstrate substantial 
political processl~s within their own membership. Each petitioner has shown political 
involvement, bey:md mere attendance at meetings, by a substantial portion of its adult 
membership, both by percentage and by distribution across family sublines, throughout the entire 
time period from 1973 to the present. Each deals with the same issues -- control over portions of 
the reservation ar cI whether the Sebastians are part of the tribe. These issues ha \'e existed as an 
unbroken continuity from at least as early as the 1920's, a point in time for which there is strong 
e\idence for the c'xistence of a single community. The division into two political organizations 
is a recent development, and the evidence demonstrates a single political entity with strong 
internal divisions. The alignment in its present form, which did not exist in the 1970's, 
represents the results of a historical political process which is not now complete. 
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The importance ,of n;:servation access and residency rights to the membership of both EP and 
PEP is supported by the history of visiting with reservation residents and association with the 
reservation whict, was widespread among the non-resident Eastern Pequots (both EP and PEP) 
past and present md not limited to a small group of reservation residents. Reservation access 
and residency rig:lts are issues of importance because they involve the loss or potential loss of 
significant resources, membership, and access to the reservation, which are current for the 
membership. TIley do not represent a claim for lands lost or treaties abrogated long before the 
lifetime of the current membership. There is more than sufficient evidence of visiting the 
reservation, residence there by close relatives, hunting and the like to conclude these are political 
issues of importan,~e~. 

In addition, the EP council has exercised effective control over much of the reservation, 
regulating residence and land use, from the early 1980's to the present. This function was 
exercised regular,y and consistently, and was followed by the membership. There was evidence 
of political comrr.unication because of regular membership meetings which voted on key issues, 
rather than such i 5sues simply being voted on by the council group itself, although there was not 
strong evidence about communication from membership to the leadership except for the past 
several years. This is supporting evidence for political influence. 

In the PEP, politi ~al processes were shown by dealing with the issues of importance to the 
membership - the same issues as in EP to a considerable extent, and also that of whether the two 
organizations should merge. There were also internal conflicts over other issues, specifically the 
method of goverr,ance, which mobilized political support and opposition along the lines of 
family subdivisions. The PEP organization also controls and allocates a portion of the 
reservation land, Dn a more limited basis than EP, among its membership. 

Section 83.7(c)(2)(i) defines as sufficient evidence to show political processes where a group 
political mechanism exists which allocates "group resources such as land, residence rights and 
the like on a consistent basis." Each petitioner has controlled allocation of reservation resDurces, 
among their resp(:ctive memberships. This is not sufficient evidence of political processes in 
itself under 83.7(~)(2)(i), because the processes are parallel rather than a single process, but it is 
strong evidence e,f political processes. 

The Eastern Peqt.ot tribe, comprising both petitioners, demonstrates political processes in which 
the same politica issues and conflicts that occurred earlier continue today. In this context, the 
evidence for each petitioner, in combination, demonstrates that only a single tribe, a tribe with 
signi ficant political processes. exists today, notwithstanding the present organization of those 
processes into t\\O distinct segments. One petitioner. the EP. has supported the creation of a 
single tribal orga 1ization encompassing the membership of both. The PEP from time to time has 
negotiated with Ih,;: EP on this issue, manifesting an internal division of political opinion within 
its own membership as to whether PEP should organize together with the EP as a single tribe. A 
political issue fOI the PEP membership is that the larger size of the EP means that the EP 
membership, if it acted as a bloc, would predominate politically in a unified tribal govemment. 
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The continuous historical State recognition and relationship are based on the existence of a 
single Eastern Pequot tribe, resident on a single land base which the tribe has occupied since 
colonial times and continues to occupy jointly. These facts provide added evidence that the 
petitioners meet the regulations as a single political body, notwithstanding current divisions and 
organization. 

Summary Conclusions for criterion 83.7(c). The Eastern Pequot have existed as a distinct 
community with:in which political influence has been exercised since first sustained contact with 
Europeans. The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising both current petitioners, meets the 
requirements of 83.7(c). 

Criterion 83. 7( d) 

Each petitioner met the requirements for criterion 83.7(d) separately by submitting a governing 
document which described its membership eligibility provisions. Given the present division into 
two organizations, the historical Eastern Pequot tribe does not presently have an overarching 
governing docuITlI!nt, although all members are covered by the two documents presented. The 
presentation of two governing documents is sufficient to meet the requirements of this section of 
the regulations to submit copies of the governing documents of the group. 

The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, comprising both current petitioners, uncier the above defined 
provisions, meets criterion 83.7(d). 

Criterion 83. 7( e) 

The proposed fine i ngs examined the evidence and concluded, on the basis of evidence 
acceptable to the :;ecretary, that the BrushelllSebastian, Fagins/Watson, Hoxie/Jackson, and 
Gardner lines d(~scend from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe within the meaning of the 
regulations. 

The EP proposed finding postponed examination of the evidence in regard to the F agins/Randall 
line pending identincation of descendants within the current membership. For the final 
detern1ination. EP identified such descendants on its membership list. Examination of the 
evidence in regarc to Abby (Fagins) Randall and her sons leads to the conclusion that, on the 
basis of evidence ;lcc-eptable to the Secretary, the members of this family line descend from the 
historical Eastem Pequot tribe within the meaning of the regulations_ The arguments submitted 
by the Towns that the petitioners' families had not demonstrated Eastern Pequot ancestry within 
the meaning oftlw re:gulations are not supported by the evidence. The regulations provide that 
evidence acceptable to the Secretary includes "State, Federal, or other official records or 
evidence identifyi ng present members or ancestors of present members as being descendants of a 
historical tribe" (83.7(e)(l )(ii). The Connecticut State overseers' reports are such records. 
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Therefore, this final determination concludes that all the current members of both petitioners 
descend from the: historical Eastern Pequot tribe. The membership lists of both petitioners, as 
submitted to the Department for evaluation for the final determination, shall together form the 
base roll of the Ea.stc::rn Pequot tribe acknowledged by the Federal government. 

The historical Eastl~rn Pequot tribe, comprising the membership of both petitioners, meets 
criterion 83. 7( e). 

Criterion 83.7(0 

The proposed finding concluded that a predominant portion of neither petitioner's members were 
enrolled with any federally acknowledged tribe. The same conclusion is applicable to the 
Eastern Pequot tribe as a whole. No new evidence was submitted. The proposed findings' 
conclusions are affirmed. 

The historical Eastern Pequot tribe meets criterion 83.7(0. 

Criterion 83.7(g) 

The proposed finc.ings concluded that neither petitioner had been the subject of legislation 
terminating a Feckral relationship. The same conclusion is applicable to the Eastern Pequot tribe 
as a whole. No new evidence was submitted. The proposed findings' conclusions are affinned. 

The historical Eastern Pequot tribe meets criterion 83.7(g). 

Overall Conclusion 

The historical Eastern Pequot tribe, represented by two petitioners, EP and PEP, meets all of the 
criteria for Federal acknowledgment as a tribe stated in 25 CFR § 83.7 and therefore meets the 
requirements to h: acknowledged as an Indian tribe with a government-to-government 
relationship with rhe United States. 
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GENERAL ISSUES6 

Introduction: StaltUis of the Relationship Between the Eastern Pequot and the Colony and 
State of Connecth:Ult. 

The proposed finding characterized the continuous relationship between the Colony and State of 
Connecticut and the historical Eastern Pequot tribe from colonial times to the present as a 
government-to-gcvemment relationship, indicating that this relationship was one aspect of the 
reasoning used in thc~ proposed finding to accord greater weight to certain evidence for 
continuous community (criterion 83.7(b)) and political influence (criterion 83.7(c)). 

This final detennination, after a review of the evidence and the arguments offered by the two 
petitioners and the third parties, revises and clarifies this characterization. The Colony and State 
of Connecticut dl;!fi:ned a distinct status for the Eastern Pequot as a tribe of Indians from the time 
that the Colony enablished a land base for them until the present, without interruption. There is 
implicit in this relationship a recognition of a distinct political body, in part because the 
relationship originates with the Colony's relationship with a distinct political body at the time 
the relationship was first established. Colony and State laws and policies directly reflected this 
political basis unt il the early 1800's. The laws are less explicit after that point until the 1970's, 
but the Eastern Pe quat remained non-citizens of the State until 1973 and the State continued the 
main elements of the: earlier relationship essentially without change or substantial questioning. 
This relationship defined the Eastern Pequot tribe as a group with a distinct status not shared by 
any non-Indian groups in the State, and was based on their status as a group rather than being a 
racial classificaticn of individuals. By contrast, Connecticut treated individual, non-tribal, 
Indians the same as the remainder of the popUlation. 

This analysis is based on the statutes and on the reports and actions of the Colony or State or 
those exercising authority delegated to them by the State. However, the record for this 
detennination does not contain documents which give the explicit rationale for the State's 
relationship in the sense of court decisions or other legal analyses. No such evidence was 
offered by any party in support of their various positions. 

Several major elements existed throughout the relationship which define the distinct status of the 
historical Eastern Pequot tribe. First. a separate land base was established in 1683 which 

6The Towns do not concede the authority of the Executive Branch to acknowledge Indian tribes in the 
absence of delegated power from Congress (Towns Augllst ]001, I n I). The 25 CFR Part 83 regulations have been 
upheld by the courts, see Miami and United Houma Nation 1'. Babbitt). 

The State of Connecticut's argumentation in regard to the role of fonner Assistant Secretary - Indian 
Affairs Kevin Gover in the issuance of the proposed findings (State of Connecticut August ]001, 1-2,3-5) does not 
fall mthin the scope I)f this final detennination. 

For a summary of the State's overall understanding of the acknowledgment regulations and standards for 
Fcder:lI acknowledg111ent. see Statc o(Colll1cclicut A lIgliS/ lOa J. 8-14. 
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continues to the present. This land had special status in that it was not subject to taxation and 
specific provision was made that it could not be lost through adverse possession as could other 
land in Connectitc:ut.. The land and the funds derived from it were defined as the tribe's land and 
funds, although title: was effectively held by the State. 

Second, after 1764, the State specifically appointed overseers or other authorities to have 
supervision and a.uthority over the tribe's reservation land and funds and to be responsible for the 
welfare of its m(:mbers. These obligations varied at different periods. These appointed 
authorities had the power and obligation to protect these resources and use them for the benefit 
of the tribe's membe:rs. 

Third, the Indiarm who were members of the tribes with which the State had a relationship were 
not considered cLizl!ns of the State until 1973. They were not, according to the law, eligible to 
vote in State and local elections. This distinction only applied to members of the specific tribes 
recognized by the: Colony and State and not to other Indians living within the State. 

Fourth, the earlie:;t laws clearly reflect the idea that the tribes had a distinct political status in that 
it was considered necessary to explicitly legislate that certain of the Colony's laws, such as 
criminal laws, applied to the Indians--i.e., they were not considered to apply otherwise. This 
legislative treatm :mt reflects the tribes' origins as distinct polities outside the Colony. The 
Connecticut laws in which the titles refer to "Indians" make clear in the body that they refer to 
tribes. This idea is e:xpressed in law until 1808. After that point, the tribes' distinct status 
continues in the ~)rm of the overseers' protection and responsibility, the distinct status of the 
land, and the nonci tizenship of the members of these tribes. 7 

There are significanlt periods at the beginning and the end of the historical span which partake of 
a Colony or State rellationship with a distinct political community. Through most of the 
intervening period from the American Revolution to 1973, the relationship was less explicitly 
based on the status of the tribes as distinct political communities. However, the tribes continued 
to be based on a cistinct status not shared by non-Indians, and not a welfare relationship as 
argued by the third parties. 

-: As late as the 1830's, the issue of the extension of state authority over Indian tribes within states was still 
unsettled (Prucha [%::). 
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Whether the Secrdary Should Issue Amended, Revised, or Supplementary Proposed 
Findings for Criu~ria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) for the Period from 1973 to the Present. 

The proposed fmding stated: 

The 25 eFR Part 83 regulations provide that: "A petitioner may be denied 
acknowledgment if the evidence available demonstrates that it does not meet one 
or more criteria. A petitioner may also be denied if there is insufficient evidence 
that it meets one or more of the criteria" (83.6(d». The reason that this provision 
of the regulations is not now resulting in two proposed negative findings is that 
the major qUl~stion currently remaining to be decided does not pertain to the 
availabilit)f of evidence that the petitioners meet the criteria, but to the nature of 
the potenLally acknowledgeable entity for the period from 1973 to the present. 
Following an evaluation of evidence and arguments submitted during the 
comment ::Jeriod, the Department will complete the analysis under criteria 83.7(b) 
and 83.7((:) fi'om 1973 to the present (EP PF 2000, 61-62). 

Comments. The proposed findings did not consider the idea that amended, revised, or 
supplementary prDposed findings should be issued. This issue was raised by the Towns in 
litigation as well ;lS during the comment period. The Towns state as follows: 

Position of the T~~~lS. 

The propcsed findings fail to provide BlA's analysis as to whether the petitioners 
satisfy the acknowledgement [sic] criteria for the period 1973 to the present. As a 
result, thl~rl~ has been no opportunity for the Towns to review and comment on 
findings :tI):r the period. It is the Towns' position that a public review opportunity 
still must be held on the BlA's findings for that period. Thus, the Towns assert 
that propcsed findings must still be published on the period from 1973 to the 
present (7cn'vns August 2001,3). 

Since there has been no proposed finding issued for these criteria for the modern 
period, tll<: BIA should be required to issue such a proposed finding. The 
petitioner~ and interested parties should then have the same opportunity to 
comment and rebut the proposed finding on the two criteria since 1973 that they 
would halfe :in regard to any usual proposed finding in accordance with the 
Acknowledgment regulations (Towns August 2001,297). 

Position of the S1ate' of Connecticut. The State did not address the issue of opportunity to 
comment on amended proposed findings specifically. The most relevant passage follows: 

Several a!;pects of the proposed findings are remarkably unusual: . , . Second, 
proposed findings to acknowledge were issued despite the express finding that the 
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Department did not have "sufficient information and analysis to determine" 
whether the petitioners satisfied the mandatory criteria for the period from 1973 
to the prese:nt (State a/Connecticut August 2001, 1). 

Position ofEP. The EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001 did not specifically address either the 
issue raised by th! Towns as to how the proposed finding dealt with the period after 1973 or the 
lack of an opportunity to comment on the findings for the post-1973 period that would be made 
in the final determinations. 

Position of PEP. 

The Towns indicate in their comments that they believe the regulations require 
that the n~partment provide them with an additional opportunity to comment on 
any evidence: adduced for the period from 1973 to present. .. The regulations, 
however, do not provide such an additional comment period (Eberhard and Karns 
25; PEP Hesponse to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The regulations neither require nor authorize the Department to issue a separate 
Proposed Finding on the evidence later submitted which may result in a positive 
or negative Final Determination. In fact, there are several Proposed Findings for 
which the Ikpartment found evidence to be lacking during a given time period or 
with respect to a given criterion, and the Department went straight to issuing a 
Final Determination upon the consideration of the comments and other materials 
received after the Proposed Finding was issued (Eberhard and Karns 25; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

Analysis 0/ Conllr'ents and Responses. Petitioners and third parties were, in the proposed 
findings and in the appendix to each proposed finding, given sufficient information concerning 
the issues to be considered for the period from 1973 to the present in regard to criteria 83. 7(b) 
and 83.7(c) thal they could comment upon them during the regulatory comment period. The 
appendices provided a "road map" of where additional evidence might be located and where 
additional analysis of existing evidence could be useful. Petitioners and third parties did 
comment on th<:s{: issues and submitted additional analysis. 

The State's comment asserts that the proposed findings were not completed through the present 
because there wa~ not sufficient evidence to determine whether the petitioners met the 
mandatory criteria_ However, the focus of the postponement was the need to determine the 
nature of the gro':.Ips during that time period in order that the evaluation could be completed on 
the appropriate ertity. It was not, as the State phrased it, an "express finding that the 
Department did fl,)t have 'sufficient information and analysis to determine' whether the 
petitioners satisfi ed Ithe mandatory criteria for the period from 1973 to the present" (Slate of 
COllnecticut August 2001, 1). 
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The petitioners and interested parties had the same notice as to the issues and evidence before 
the Department and the same opportunity to comment and present their arguments and analysis 
on this petitioner as in other proposed findings which proceed to a final determination under the 
regulations. The: t'.vo day formal on the record meeting and the informal technical assistance 
gave full opport1.ni~y for the parties to inquire into the evidence and analysis for the proposed 
fmdings, thereby permitting the extensive comment, analysis, and new evidence submitted in the 
comment periods em the proposed findings. 

Conclusion. It is appropriate to issue final determinations in this matter rather than to issue 
amended, revised, or supplementary proposed findings. 

Whether the Secretary Has Authority to Acknowledge Two Separate Tribes that Have 
Evolved from a SiingJe Historical Tribe. Whether the Secretary Has Authority to 
Acknowledge a Single Tribe when Two Separate Petitions Are before the Department. 

The proposed finding stated: 

In addition to evidence and argument on the proposed findings in general, 
petitionl~r:, and interested parties, and informed parties may submit comments as 
to the SI;:cITtary's authority, under the circumstances of recent separation of the 
two petitioners, to acknowledge two tribes or only one tribe which encompasses 
them both as the continuation of the historic tribe. On the basis of the evidence 
currently before the Department, the petitioners may be able to present a stronger 
case as on~ entity rather than as two. However, for the proposed finding, neither 
petitioner pf{~sented an analysis of the conflict between the two groups, focused 
around tht' relationship with the state, which might provide useful evidence of a 
political connict between two parts of one group or mobilization of political 
sentiment wi thin two separate groups (EP PF 2000, 61). 

1m'italian to COl1l'llents. The proposed findings specifically invited the submission of comments 
on the issue ofth~: Secretary's authority (EP PF 2000, 61). Petitioners and third parties 
submitted comments, as follows. 

Position of EP. The question of the Secretary's authority was not specifically addressed in the 
EP Comments 8/2/2001 or EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001. 

Position of PEP. 

As explaim:d in further detail below, the Secretary is not authorized to merge 
separate P'~'tilioners, or to require the two petitioners to merge themselves (Ayer 
to McCaleb 8/2/2001, [1]; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 
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Notably, 110 statutes permit the Secretary to merge, terminate or abolish tribes nor 
do any regulations set forth how the Secretary would do so. Thus, the Secretary 
has no sueb ;authority. The only regulations on the recognition issue are 25 C.F.R. 
part 83, the: Procedures/or Establishing that an American Indian Group Exists as 
an Indian Tribe. No provisions in those regulations states, or even implies, that 
the Secretary has the authority to merge two petitioners into one tribe (Ayer to 
McCaleb 8/2/2001, 3-4; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Quite to thle contrary, the regulations limit the Secretary's options in processing 
petitions to making either a positive or a negative Final Determination [fn11]. 
There is no allowance for combining petitioning groups; it is simply a positive 
grant of federal recognition or a denial of federal recognition. If a petitioner 
meets the s.even mandatory criteria in 25 C.F.R. § 83 .. 7, the Secretary must 
acknowldge the petitioner's existence as an Indian tribe [fn12]. Thus, the 
regulations. make clear that the Secretary must deal with each petitioning group 
and address the merits of each petition separately (Ayer to McCaleb 8/212001,4; 
PEP Comme~nts 8/2/2001). 

Merging Petitioner #113 and Petitioner #35 would be an egregious violation of 
the recognition regulations extending well beyond the scope of the Secretary's 
legal authority (Ayer to McCaleb 8/2/2001,4-5; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

A summary ofPElP's argument (Ayer to McCaleb 8/2/2001, 5-9) is as follows. The petitioner 
asserts that: (a) PEP meets the common law definition ofa tribe (p. 5); (b) a forced merger 
would require one or both of the petitioners to cease to exist (p. 6); (c) "The petitioners, as they 
currently exist, v,ould be abolished, and since the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe is a tribe, the 
Secretary's act would abolish both a tribal government and independent tribal existence" (p. 6); 
(d) "The Secretary lacks the power to abolish a tribal government" (p. 6); (e) " ... without an 
unambiguous express delegation of authority from Congress, the Secretary can neither terminate 
nor abolish a trib~'s existence" (p. 7); (f) it would be a taking (p. 7-8); (g) it would be arbitrary 
and capricious (pp. 8-9) (Ayer to McCaleb 8/2/2001; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Position of the ~~ate~ of Connecticut. 

The proposed findings note that the split between the two petitioners "evolved in 
recent times." Jd. At 17295, 17301. Unable to make a finding \vhether after 1973 
the petitioners became two separate tribes, whether they represented two factions 
of one tribe, or whether they even satisfied the criteria at all for this period, the 
DepartmEnt expressly declined to make proposed findings as to criteria (b) and 
(c) for the post-1973 period. ld. At 17297-98, 17302. Despite the absence of a 
finding a~~ to these two critical criteria, the Department proposed that 
acknowledgment was appropriate. This flies in the face of the requirement that a 
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petition should be denied ifeven one of the criteria is not satisfied. 25 C. F. R. § 
83.6(d) (State of Connecticut August 2001,2-3). 

The regulations specify that organizations "of any character that have been 
formed in re(~ent times may not be acknowledged." Id. § 83.3(c) (emphasis 
added) (Sta Ie of Connecticut August 2001, 9). . 

There is absolutely no authority to acknowledge two groups that became 
independer:t of each other only in 1973. "Associations, organizations, 
corporatior:s or groups of any character that have been formed in recent times 
may not be acknowledged under these regulations." 25 C.F.R. § 83.3(c). The 
regulations are "intended to apply to groups that can establish a substantially 
continuous tribal existence and which have functioned as autonomous entities 
throughout history until the present." Id. Groups which have become separate 
and distinc-: in relatively recent years have been neither historically autonomous 
(independent of the control of any other Indian entity) as required by mandatory 
criterion (c) nor historically distinct from nonmembers, as required by mandatory 
criterion (b) (State of Connecticut August 2001, 55-56). 

Finally, as to the question of whether there are two tribes or one tribe with 
factions, the State submits that the proposed findings actually miss the real 
significanc e of the serious and continuing factional dispute between the 
petitioners. There is absolutely no basis for recognizing two tribes merely 
because of divisiveness between the two groups. Indeed, the inability of the 
petitioners to internally resolve their disputes - and their repeated efforts to seek 
resolution by outside authorities - demonstrates a continuing lack of the political 
autonomy n:quired for federal recognition [7n3 Discussed below at § VI] (State of 
ConneClz"Cz,t August 2001, 7). 

Position of the Tc~yI!.~. The Towns state: 

Moreover, there is nothing in the acknowledgment regulations that allows the 
BIA to take such action on its own initiative. The regulations are driven by 
petitions fi led by individual groups. While the BIA may consider two petitions 
together, it cannot compel a result that combines two petitioners into a single 
tribe. Th",! is a power that is not vested in the Executive Branch (Towns August 
]001,304). 

The Towns also argue that the Secretary has no authority to acknowledge more than one modern 
tribe that derins from the same historical tribe: 

At the time of first sustained contact in the early 1600s, there was no Eastern 
Pequot TriJe. Although there was a single Pequot Tribe, the existence of that 

35 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement EPI-V001-D006 Page 46 of 208 



Final Determination- Ellistem Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

tribe cannot llead to the acknowledgment of splinter groups of Pequots that, even 
if one acc:epted their claim to Pequot ancestry, did not exist at the point of first 
contact. 

To hold otherwise would establish a precedent that allows multiple tribes to form 
out of a si nglle historical tribe simply because they separated later in time. This 
problem i~i nowhere more apparent than in connection with the Pequot Tribe, 
from which two acknowledged tribes (Mashantucket Pequot and Mohegan) have 
already bee:n derived .... (Towns August 2001,6). 

Analysis o/Comments and Responses. The Secretary has authority to acknowledge tribes - not 
to acknowledge petitioners per se -- as defined most pertinently in the following portions of the 
regulations: 

§ 83.1 
Petition?r Means any entity that has submitted a letter of intent to the Secretary 

requestinE: acknowledgment that it is an Indian tribe (25 CFR § 83.1). 

§ 83.2 Pu rpose. 
The purpos.e of this part is to establish a departmental procedure and policy for 
acknowledging that certain American Indian groups exist as tribes (25 CFR § 
83.2; see also § 83.10 (a) and § 83.10(k)(2». 

§ 83.3 SC:OIP(~. 
(a) This part applies only to those American Indian groups indigenous to the 

continental United States which are not currently acknowledged as Indian tribes 
by the D'~paJ1ment. It is intended to apply to groups that can establish a 
substantially continuous tribal existence and which have functioned as 
autonomcus entities throughout history until the present (25 CFR § 83.3). 

The function of a petition is to get an Indian group's case before the Department. The intent of 
the regulations is not to acknowledge a portion or faction of an unacknowledged tribe, apart 
from the remainder of the tribe, simply because the original petitioner excluded the remainder of 
the tribe. In the case of unrecognized groups the regulations do not authorize acknowledgment 
of only part of a group that qualifies as a continuously existing political entity. Substantially all 
of the acknowledgeable group must be acknowledged in order for there to be a complete political 
unit. Based on this premise. there is an implied limit as to how recent a separation into two or 
more distinct ent tties may be. but there is no statement in the regulations as to how recent a 
division may be. 

The State misinterprets § 83.3(c) of the regulations which states that groups of any character that 
have been fom1ed in recent times may not be acknowledged under the 25 CFR Part 83 
regulations. Thi~; section refers to groups which literally have been fom1ed recently. The 
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division of an exiHting historical unacknowledged Indian group into two separate tribes or into 
two petitioners does not mean they are "newly fonned" within the meaning of this section of the 
regulations any mon: than the combination or amalgamation of two historical tribes creates a 
"recently fonned" I~ntity within the meaning of the regulations. 

The acknowledgtTl(~nt regulations do not speak directly to the issue of historical division of 
tribes, noting only that a group cannot separate from a recognized tribe and now be separately 
recognized as a tribe (83.3(f)). The language of § 83.3(f) pertains to petitions submitted by 
groups whose membership is composed principally of persons who are currently enrolled with 
acknowledged North American Indian tribes. 

Interpretation of the regulations generally follows precedents established in law and past 
policies, unless th~ n~gulations are explicitly different. It is well settled that the U.S. can 
recognize more than one successor to a historical tribe. This precedent is well-established 
among federally acknowledged tribes, both those that have not gone through the 
acknowledgment process (the Eastern Band of Cherokee and Cherokee Nation of Oklahoma, for 
example) and those which have (Poarch Creek, Huron Potawatomi, Jena Choctaw).8 

The Poarch Creek Band, which was acknowledged under these regulations, derived from the 
historical Muscoge'e (Creek) Nation. The Snoqualmie Tribe, also acknowledged under these 
regulations, is one band derived from the historical Snoqualmie tribe, the other Snoqualmie 
having merged with other tribes to fonn the Tulalip Tribes. The date at which division took 
place in regard to tribes acknowledged through the 25 CFR Part 83 process has varied. In 
neither of these cases was a specific "cut" made concerning when the group which subsequently 
petitioned for ackllOwledgment became separate, but the Poarch Creek separated from the Creek 
Nation in the early part of the 19th century and the Snoqualmie Tribe from the rest of the 
Snoqualmie no iater than the 1920's.9 Thus neither historical division was recent as the proposed 
findings concluded the Eastern Pequot division might have been. It is additionally noted that in 
cases where more than one tribe deriving from a single historical tribe has been acknowledged 
through 25 CFR Part 83, the historical division was shown to have taken place not only over the 
course of time but also geographically. 

The argument subTlitted by PEP that the Secretary does not have the authority to merge two 
tribes together might apply only if two separate tribes in fact exist. This detennination 
concludes that t\\(, tribes do not exist within the meaning of the regulations and thus does not 

SThese exal~lples are not intended to be an exhaustive list of tribes that fall into these categories. 

9 Additional'y, there is the distinction, not applicable to these petitions, that both Poarch Creek and 
Snoqualmie separated from tribes recognized at the time--the Snoqualmie continued to be recognized as a separate 
band for some years afterwards; the Poarch Creek were not recognized after they separated. See also relevant 
discllssion in HPI Cln,j \1I3PI. 
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merge two tribes. Rather, this final determination acknowledges a single tribe which is 
represented by two petitioners. 

The precedent und,;:r the regulations is that the Secretary has the authority to acknowledge more 
than one petitioner deriving from a historical tribe. Existing precedent does not speak directly to 
the issue of the "recentness" of the division in cases to date that involved historical separations. 

Conclusion. The Se:cretary has the authority to acknowledge more than one modern tribe that 
derives from a single historical tribe as it existed at the time of first sustained contact with non­
Indians. Such acknowledgment has been done previously in cases when a historical tribe had 
divided into two ~ie:parate tribes. This issue concerning the Secretary's authority is separate from 
the determination as to whether there are, in this instance, two tribes within the meaning of the 
25 CFR Part 83 regulations. 

Although the prec(~dent under the regulations is that the Secretary has the authority to 
acknowledge more than one tribe deriving from a historical tribe, precedent from previous 
acknowledgment decisions does not define a limit as to how recent the separation may be which 
would allow for H:knowledgment of two separate tribes. This final determination does not reach 
the issue of whether the Secretary has the authority to acknowledge two tribes that split in 1973 
or only the autho:"ity to acknowledge one, because the evidence demonstrates only that there is a 
division within a tribe and that only a single tribe exists within the meaning of the regulations. 

The Secretary's authority to acknowledge is not limited by the format in which the petition or 
petitions were presented. 

Whether, in this Illistance, One or Two Tribes Exist. 

The proposed findings stated: 

The two petitioners derive from a single historical tribe with a continuous state 
relationshp since colonial times. As such, the modern conflicts between the two, 
which IUl'/e focused on their relationship with the State of Connecticut, are 
relevant e'yidence for political influence. although it is unclear if it is as one tribe, 
or as two Petitioner #35 (EP) has taken the position that there was only one tribe, 
but has Tl<Yi presented sufficient evidence to demonstrate that this was the case 
after 19T3, although there is some evidence that only one tribe exists within the 
meaning of the regulations. Petitioner # 113 (PEP) has taken the position that the 
EP families were not of Eastern Pequot ancestry and were never part of the tribe. 
The proPJsed finding for EP concludes that the PEP position is not correct. Both 
groups derive from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe which was recognized by 
the State of Connecticut. The State continues to recognize a successor to the 

38 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement EPI-V001-D006 Page 49 of 208 



.' 

Final Deterrnination-- Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

historical Eastern Pequot tribe, but has not taken a position as to the leaders of 
that successor (EP PF 2000,61).10 [footnote added] 

For the period since 1973, the evidence now in the record is not sufficient to 
determine '~hat there is only one tribe with two factions (these being the Eastern 
Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #35) and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians of::::onnecticut (petitioner #113», or whether the dissensions of the period 
since 1973 have resulted in the evolution of two separate bands from the 
historical tibe (EP PF 2000, 62). 

For the period since 1973, the evidence now in the record is not sufficient to 
determine ':hat there is only one tribe with two factions (these being the Eastern 
Pequot Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #35) and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians of Connecticut (petitioner #113». The Department consequently makes 
no specific nnding for the period 1973 to the present (PEP PF 2000, 63)_ 

There is imufficient evidence in the record to enable the Department to determine 
that the pelitioners formed a single tribe after 1973. The Department 
consequemly makes no specific finding for the period 1973 to the present because 
there was not sufficient information to determine that there is only one tribe with 
political f:lctions ... (EP PF 2000, 100; PEP PF 2000, 120). 

This appendix contains descriptions and BIA analysis of the material currently in 
the record for petitioner #35 under criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) for the period from 
1973 to tht' present. It describes what evidence was in the record for the period 
since 1973, with some review of the petitioner's arguments, to provide the 
petitioners and third parties with guidance to prepare comments and evidence in 

IOPEP interp:'ets this State approach as follows: 

Mikki Aganstata (Indian Affairs Coordinator, DEP) wrote a letter to Lawrence Sebastian advising 
him to sit dcwn with Helen LeGault and Richard Williams and talk about their differences 

"coherently ,Ind rationally" (see letter from Mikki Aganstata to Lawrence Sebastian, February 13. 
1979). It is niCient from the letter to Sebastian that Ms. Aganstata was of the opinion that there 
\\'as one Eastern Pequot Tribe which included both the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the 
Sebastians. :;he ad\'ised the use of a mediator to help the two sides reach an agreement. 

Ms. Agansta:a was new to her Department of Environmental protection position and the conflict 
between the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the Sebastians, and did not realize the historical 
depth or character of the problem. She assumed there could only be one tribe per reservation and 
that the Sebasl:ians had a legitimate claim to membership in the Tribe. She was naive in assuming 
a mediator \\ ould be able to help the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe resolve a cenrury of conflict 
with the Seb.lstians. This is another instance in which a State official was meddling in the internal 
affairs of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe (Austin. Political Authority 9/4/200 I, 29; PEP 
Rcspon,e to C 0111 Jl1 C illS 9/4 '200 I). 
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response to this proposed finding. It gives some of the evidentiary context to the 
proposed l1nding that leaves open the question of whether there is one tribe or 
two. The petitioner's evidence, even in conjunction with that presented by 
petitioner #113, is insufficient for the Department to determine ifthere is one 
tribe or twOI. For these reasons, it does not present an evaluation under these 
criteria for this time period (EP PF 2000, l35; see also PEP PF 2000, 139). 
[emphasis added] 

Invitation to Comments. The proposed findings specifically invited the submission of comments 
on this issue (EP PF 2000, 61). Petitioners and third parties submitted comments, as follow. 

Position ofEP. 

In creating the CIAC, Connecticut Public Law 73-660 recognized the existence of 
only one Eastern Pequot Tribe (Marks IIlB, 122; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The actions of the state government, in the form of the formation of the CIAC, 
exacerbated tensions within the tribe, which were largely racial in nature, such 
that a formal split resulted between the majority of the tribal members (the 
present E"ste:rn Pequot Tribe) and the LeGault faction (the present Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequots). Since that time, the Eastern Pequots have made repeated efforts 
to reconcile with the Paucatucks, and remain hopeful that the tribe eventually will 
be reunited (Introduction 2; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

In 1981, the State Legislature amends Connecticut Public law [sic] 73-660 to 
change thl~ name of the Eastern Pequot Tribe to the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot. 
This chan ge was not intended as a recognition of the Paucatuck, but rather use, in 
the State'!, view of the more historical name of the Eastern Pequot Tribe. The 
State at no time recognized the existence of more than one Eastern Pequot Tribe. 
At a March 30, 1981 [sic], on the 1981 legislation, then called Raise Committee 
Bill No. 7272, Commissioner Stanley Pac of the Connecticut Department of 
Environmental Protection explained; "first, this bill recognizes each tribe by the 
historical name deemed appropriate by the tribe rather than that of a descriptive 
label applied by a state agency in the distant past and continuing in the current 
statutes" (Marks lIIB, 123; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The speci fi c nature of factionalism in the Eastern Pequot community and the 
nature of relationships between the Eastern Pequots and the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot fa:.:tion is discussed in Simmons (Report IYC) and Bragdon (Report IV A) 
... political power as control over resources has been the primary cause of this 
factional jispute (see Den Ouden, Report I'VE, this volume). The original leader 
of the fae tion, Helen LeGault, succeeded in rallying support around these issues, 
largely fwm members of her own family. Membership in the LeGault or 
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Paucatuck faction has fluctuated, and many Paucatuck members might have 
rejoined tte: Eastern Pequot group on LeGault's death, had not the animosities 
engenderc~j by the heavy-handed dealings of the CIAC and other state officials 
prevented it:. New economic motivation from outside, has also furthered or 
strengthened the original dispute (see Reports lUG and IUH, this volume) 
(Introduction 6-7; EP Comments 8/2/2001; see Bragdon IV A, 490; EP Comments 
8/2/2001 fora restatement of this position). 

The histo:~y of the LeGault/Cunha group is only the one that they share with the 
Eastern Pequot Tribe. They claim the same reservation, the same historical 
relationship with the state government, the same oral traditions, the same Fourth 
Sunday meetings, the same leaders, and many of the same ancestors. .. They 
have provided no documented evidence of separate identity. They have no 
separate history, and are therefore an Indian entity only insofar as they are a part 
of the Eastern Pequot Tribe (Introduction 12; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

This report argues that the tribe is a single entity, that leadership has always been 
in the hands of the Eastern Pequot tribe (petitioner #35), and that the racially 
motivated secession of the LeGault/Cunha faction has been wrongfully supported 
by the State of Connecticut (Bragdon Ill, 459-460; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Part IV. The Eastern Pequots: One Tribe, Two Factions. (EP Comments 
8/212001, :V, [485a]). 

This section, written in response to the finding of the BAR that, with respect to 
the disput~: between the Eastern Pequot tribe and petitioner # 113, there was 
"insuffic:i<ent evidence to detennine whether there is a single tribe with two 
factions," '-ei1:erates the tribe's longstanding assertion that it alone represents the 
historic Eastern Pequot tribe, and that the dispute with the Cunha group 
(petitioner #I 113) is an example ofa factional split of the kind common to tribal 
politics ir: many parts of North America and elsewhere .... In combination, the 
reports of:his section J J provide evidence that the kinship and social ties between 
the Eastem Pequot tribe and petitioner # 113 are numerous and complex, that they 
share a history and a reservation, and that their split is typical of those that occur 
in face-to-face communities around the world (EP Comments 8/2/2001, IV, 486). 
[footnote aided] 

J J Report IVA. Factionalism in Anthropological Perspective. Kathleen Bragdon: Report IVB. A History of 
Factionalism in Connect]icutlndian Tribes, Paul J. Grant-Costa; Report rye. Interfactional Cooperation and 
Conflict. William Simmons; Repon rYD. Kinship and Controversy over CIAC Seat. with Examples of Kinship 
Charts Showing Rela ions Between Eastern Pequots and Paucatuck Eastern Pequots. Marcia J. Flowers; Report 
IVE. The Impact of Racism on Political Process and Community among Eastern Pequots in the 20m Century. 
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This response also addresses BAR queries regarding the factional dispute between 
the East~:)TI Pequot tribe and petitioner # 113, demonstrating that such a split is 
not evidel1c~: that two tribes exist, but rather that the split reflects factional politics 
common in small-scale societies (Conclusions 554; EP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

Several bnmches of evidence merge to suggest that there is, as the Eastern Pequot 
tribe (petitioner 35) has always maintained, only one tribe with two factions. The 
Eastern Pequots have made repeated, documentable efforts to maintain 
connecticns with the LeGault/Cunha faction. The two groups share the same 
reservation, the same ancestry, and the same history. The LeGault/Cunha faction 
have served a positive function in mobilizing political action, a function that 
factions often serve. Their persistent racist remarks, however, alienate them from 
the main body of the group, and undermine their claims to separate status 
(Conclus:ons 557; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Position of PEP. 

The central issue requiring clarification is that there is not, and never has been, a 
political, tribal relationship between the PEP and the descendants of Tamar 
Brushell Sebastian, who are presenting a separate petition for Federal 
acknowlc'c[gment as an Indian tribe, as petitioner #35 (Austin Introduction 
8/2/200], .3; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

It is critical that the AS - IA accurately understands the evidence in this case, 
which demonstrates the fact that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe and the 
members of Petitioner #35 have never, at any point in time, constituted a single 
Indian tribe. Logically, to be considered factions of a single tribe, there would 
have to be some evidence that the two petitioners would have had to have been 
part of the same whole at some point in time. There would have to be evidence 
that the PEP and Petitioner #35 shared a common tribal social community AND a 
common political leadership. If this were a case of two factions within a single 
tribe, thl~ various leaders of the factions would disagree with each other, but at 
some point there would have to be political relations and cooperative social 
interaction between them. This has never been the case. Indeed, the evidence 
clearly d :!monstrates that there has never been a political relationship between the 
two petitioners and no more than nominal social communication (Austin 
lntroduclion 8/2/2001,5; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). [emphasis in original] 

The Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe has always maintained its political and social 
distincti\'t:ness from the individuals currently organized under the name "Eastern 
Pequot Tribe" (Petitioner #35), in terms of tribal affairs. The evidence discussed 
in these comments clearly shows that the PEP has always had its own separate 
tribal community and its own political leaders. With regard to the critical 
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evidence on political leadership (which is what factions are all about), the fact 
that the PEP and Petitioner #35 have never been unified is particularly clear 
(Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 6; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Collectiv€!iy, PEP tribal members have always held the opinion that Tamar 
Brushell Sebastian was non-Indian. Therefore, those who claim descent from 
Tamar Bru shiell have never been viewed as members the [sic] historical Eastern 
Pequot Tribe by the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's ancestors or current 
members [fh4: The Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe's members do not accept that 
the two pe-:itioners are actually two separate tribes, either. PEP tribal members do 
not think that Petitioner #35 has met its burden of proof that it exists as a Tribe on 
its own me:rits.] In fact, when considering all of the available evidence, there is no 
support for the idea that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe and Petitioner #35 are 
two factions of a single tribe at any point in time, before or after 1973. 
Particularly, for those members born since the 1940 [sic], there is no reliable 
evidence that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe and the Sebastians constituted a 
single social and political entity (Austin Introduction 8/2/200 I, 8; PEP Comments 
8/2/200] ) . 

. . . there j:~; no credible evidence that the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot tribe is a 
faction ofp1etitioner #35, since no single political or social system encompassing 
both members of Petitioner #35 and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe has ever 
existed; ... the Sebastians and the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe have always 
inhabited ~.eparate social spheres, and cannot be accurately characterized as two 
factions of a single tribal entity (Cunha to McCaleb 9/4/200 1,2; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/200). 

Position of the Stge of Connecticut. 

Section VI. There is only One Eastern Pequot Group with Two Divided Factions 
that Are Not United in a Community under a Single Leadership or Government 
(State 0/ Connecticut August 2001, 55-59) . 

. . . the Stat,; submits that the evidence, when properly viewed, demonstrates that 
there is but one group. This group is split by two divided factions that are not 
"united in a community under one leadership or government," as required for 
tribal existence. Montoya v. United States, 180 U. S. 201 (1901). Although there 
is unquest:onably a serious, unresolved conflict between the two petitioners, they 
arc historil;ally part of the same group, claiming genealogical ties to each other. 
The State :lnd the Federal government have viewed them as one group that has 
been unab It to settle its differences. For the reasons discussed above, neither 
faction, tosether or separately, can satisfy the mandatory criteria for recognition 
(Slale o/Collnecticut August 2001,55; see also discussion of current Connecticut 
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statues, a Connecticut Appellate Court decision! and HUD's treatment of the 
proposed Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Housing Authority, State of Connecticut 
August 2,')01, 56-59). 

Thus, the question is not whether there is one tribe or two. Because of the 
continuing lmd unresolved factional dispute, as well as the other deficiencies 
discussed above, neither petitioner can meet the judicial or BIA requirements for 
recogniti:m as a tribe (State of Connecticut August 200],59). 

Position of the T!;~rns. 

While the BIA found that there was only one tribe prior to 1973, its consistent 
conclusions in the findings that there were two major subgroups that have not 
interact~:d socially or politically with each other since the 1920s argue against the 
"one trib ~'" finding. If the two petitioners were separate and distinct from that 
time on, lS in fact the Paucatuck petitioner claimed, however, the BIA could not 
have made a positive finding up to 1973 (Towns August 2001,301). 

The Summary Under the Criteria notes that there is "strong evidence" of disputes 
between the:se families "that goes back well before Atwood Williams's action in 
the 1930:, (BIA, Summary Under the Criteria, EP, p. 86). The Jackson line, the 
family that accounted for most of the reservation residents between 1880 and 
1920, had kinship links to both the Gardner and Sebastian lines. Gradually over 
the course of the 20th century, the Jackson line separated from both of the other 
family lines before realigning with the Gardner line and the Paucatuck petitioner 
rather n:cently (BIA, Summary Under the Criteria, EP, pp. 91-96) ... The 
proposec finding maintains that these were merely internal factional divisions 
prior to the organization of distinct political entities (the two petitioners) in the 
1970s. (B lA, Summary Under the Criteria, EP, pp. 86,96). But where is there 
evidence of an integrated tribal entity prior to 1973? (Towns August 2001, 306-
307). 

Separate Eastern Pequot political organizations emerged in the mid-1970s not 
because :he separation took place then, but because of the establishment of the 
CIAC ... the political and cultural climate at that time permitted and encouraged 
long-div,cled families to establish formal and distinct governing structures (Towns 
Alig/ls t ;()()]. 307-308). 

As muer as the Assistant Secretary may have desired to effect a merger of the 
petitioners, this cannot and will not happen because their separation and 
distinctml1 is, in fact, longstanding and because each now also has separate and 
distinct ec:onomic backers who have a vested interested in seeing their petitioner 
acknowledged (Towns August 2001,304). 
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Analysis of Comments and Responses. This analysis begins with a summation of the status as it 
exists after issuaIli~I~ of the proposed findings. 

a. The threshold factual issue as posed in the proposed findings on petitioners #35 and #113 
is whether two separate tribes that have derived from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe 
now exist. 

b. If the threshold issue is answered affirmatively, the second question becomes the point in 
the past at which the two tribes became separate. 

c. After det(:lmination of the effective date of separation, the third question then becomes 
whether the separation is of such depth and significance as to preclude the 
acknowledgment of a single Eastern Pequot tribe under the regulatory requirement for 
continuowi existence. 

(I) In regard to th e threshold issue, the proposed finding concluded, based on the evidence in the 
record, that there ',vas one tribal unit that comprised the antecedents of both current petitioners 
through 1973. A "eview of the data for the final determination affirms this conclusion. Two 
groups exist, in the sense that there are currently two petitioners. The determination of whether 
the two petitioner:; form a single North American Indian tribe or are in fact two tribes is more 
complex. 

EP accepts the premise that both groups stem from a single historical tribe and that 
acknowledgment ,)f:a single tribe comprising both groups would be acceptable. The letter of 
intent submitted by EP in 1978 referenced Tamar Brushell and Mary Eliza Watson specifically, 
while mentioning several other of the historical Eastern Pequot surnames. It was accompanied 
by a non-exclusive constitution which did not bar descendants of any lines of the historical tribe 
from membership and a copy of the 1889-1890 and 1890-1891 overseer's reports that listed 
individuals from all the family lines in both current petitioners. 

PEP continues to maintain the position that there was a historical tribe, but that the antecedents 
ofEP (which it rdi~rs to as the "Sebastian family," without reference to the Fagins/Randall and 
Fagins/Watson lim:ages) never belonged to that tribe. In essence, PEP (petitioner #113) defines 
its own direct antecedents as having been the "historical tribe." PEP asserted in its original 
petition and asser:s in its comments on the proposed findings both (1) that its antecedents at no 
time were part of an entity that included the antecedents of petitioner #35, and (2) that the 
separation between the two groups, along the current alignments, took place as early as the late 
19th century. Thl~ e\'idence does not support PEP' s claim that its antecedents were never part of 
a common histori ::al tribe that included the antecedents of petitioner #35. 

(2) The process 0 f separation or division has been gradual, and is not as complete as may appear 
from the petitioners' present status represented in the petitions, Comments, and Responses to 
Comments. Although there was clearly social separation between the two most distant lineages 

45 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement EPI-V001-D006 Page 56 of 208 



Final Detennination-- &lStem Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

(GardnerlEdwards and BrushelllSebastian) in 1973, and to some extent from the late 1920's 
onward, the other families (GardnerlWilliams, Hoxie/Jackson, FaginslRandall) continued to 
provide a sequene(~ of linkages between both ends of the spectrum into the 1980's. Throughout, 
the existence of thle Lantern Hill reservation provides a common focus of concern for both 
groups, which means that although each petitioner now has a separate formal organization, the 
concerns of those organizations as reflected in their minutes focus largely on opposition to the 
other petitioner in f(!gard to issues that impinge on both of them. Connecticut has, historically, 
recognized only a single tribal entity associated with the Lantern Hill reservation. See, for 
example, the 1989 statement of the Appellate Court that, "[ t ]he named Plaintiff is one faction of 
a tribe and the individual plaintiffs claim to be the true members" (Paucatuck Eastern Pequot 
Indians of Connecticut v. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council 55 A.2d 1003 (Ct. App. 1989); PEP 
Comments 8/2l200}, Ex. 60). The essential focus of many of the post-1973 membership 
controversies has be:en the question of how the representation of that single state-recognized 
tribal entity is to be determined. 

(3) Since 1973, the two petitioning groups have been evolving in different directions, but there 
was not a sudden and complete split as of that year, nor does the evidence indicate that a 
complete split has occurred. It is the general policy of the Department not to encourage splits 
and divisions within federally acknowledged tribes. Section 83.7(f) reflects this policy. A 
reasonable extrapolation of this policy and of the intent of the regulations to acknowledge 
historical tribal units, is that the Department does not and should not encourage splits and 
divisions within groups which may become federally acknowledged. In instances where the 
evidence is ambi;uous, or in cases where an apparent split appears to be the result of fluctuation 
in activity levels or the existence of factionalism, and yet a single entity continues to exist, the 
Department will acknowledge the entire tribal unit. 

Conclusio11. The conclusion reached in the proposed findings that there was a single historical 
tribe that compri,ec1 the antecedents of both current petitioners through 1973 is affirmed. The 
body of each final determination discusses the evidence and reasoning for this conclusion. 

More than 300 yl~ars of common history and common occupancy of a single reservation by both 
current petitioners; until the present day indicate in this instance that there is only one tribe within 
the meaning of the regulations. Further, the two petitioners define themselves and their issues in 
relation to each other and to their common resources. The separate formal organizations that the 
two petitioning groups have maintained since 1973 do not offer a sufficient reason to conclude 
otherwise. As discussed under criteria 83.7(b) and 83.7(c) below, these organizations do not 
represent a cOI1l~llete separation into two tribes, but rather an internal division within one tribe. 
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Whether Continuous State Recognition since Colonial Times, in Combination with the 
Continuous Exishmce of a Reservation since Colonial Times, Adds Weight to the Evidence. 

The AS-lA's decision to issue positive proposed findings for both EP (petitioner #35) and PEP 
(petitioner #113)" notwithstanding certain evidentiary weaknesses described in the BIA's 
recommendation, relied in part on the continuous existence of a'state-recognized tribe with a 
reservation since c:olonial times. In light of this, the AS-lA concluded that greater weight should 
be given to the eXisting evidence than would otherwise be the case. The proposed finding stated 
this conclusion in part as: 

Impact o/Continuous Historical State Acknowledgment since Colonial Times 
upon the Evaluation of the Evidence. Because the petitioners are, singly and 
together, th(~ ,:::ontinuation of a historically state-recognized tribe whose 
relationship with the state of Connecticut goes back to the early 1600's, . 
possessing a wmmon reservation, this evidence provides a common backbone 
and consistent backdrop for interpreting the evidence of continued tribal 
existence. When weighed in combination with this historical and continuous 
circumstar,c:e, evidence on community and political influence carries greater 
weight than would be the case under circumstances where there was not evidence 
of a longstanding continuous relationship with the state based on being a distinct 
political community. The greater weight was assigned for the following reasons 
in combination: 

• The histc rical Eastern Pequot tribe has maintained a continuous historical 
government-Io-government relationship with the State of Connecticut since 
colonial ttJl:les; 

• The histNical Eastern Pequot tribe had a state reservation established in colonial 
times, and has retained its land area to the present; 

• The histNical Eastern Pequot tribe had members enumerated specifically as 
tribal members on the Federal Census, Special Indian Population Schedules, for 
1900 and: 910 (EP PF 2000, 63). 

invitation/or Comments. The proposed finding specifically invited comment on this issue for 
the final determilHtion (EP PF ::000, 61). Both petitioners, the State. and the Towns provided 
such comments. 

Position of EP . 

. . . we agree that evidence of continuous state recognition since the 1600's should 
be entitled to greater weight, .... (Introduction 15; EP Comments 8/2/200 I). 
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... the Statc~'s relationship with the Eastern Pequot Tribe mirrors, in many 
respects, Ill(: relationship that the federal government has had with federally 
recognizee Indian nations (Marks lIIB 115; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

A review of Connecticut's Indian statutes and policies reveals striking similarities 
between thosle State Indian laws and policies and the Indian laws and policies of 
the United States during similar time periods (Marks IIIB, 116; EP Comments 
8/2/2001 ). 

The Eastern Pequots believe that Government's interpretation of the significance 
of state recognition is both accurate and appropriate, and that a reasoned analysis 
of precedent shows that such recognition is always given weight in BAR 
interpretatons (Bragdon [1]; EP Response to Comments 9/412001). 

Position of PEP. Thl~ PEP Comments 8/2/200 I did not address this issue. It is considered in the 
PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001 (Eberhard and Karns 3-21).12 

Eastern P'equot leaders interacted with colonial leaders as representatives of one 
government to another (Duryea 17; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

It is appropriate for the Assistant Secretary and the Bar [sic] to consider state 
recognition issues, in their proper context, as evidence under criteria (a)-( c) 
(Eberhard and Karns 6; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I). 

Position of the StHe of Connecticut. The State of Connecticut presented a speci fie section on the 
topic, "The History of State Relations Does Not Support Acknowledgment," which summarized 
the State's interpr~tation of its relation to the Indian tribes within its borders from the colonial 
period to the present. (State of Connecticut August 200] Appendix, 1-9). Additionally, the State 
advanced the following statements: 

... the prcposed findings suggested that, contrary to the regulations and 
precedent, the history of relations between the petitioners and the State could be 
used to m"ke up for what otherwise would be insufficient evidence under the 
criteria. 65 Fed. Reg. At 17294, 17300. Specifically, the proposed findings assert 
that state recognition and the existence of a state reservation are "unique factors" 

12pEP has also addressed the issue of state recognition in contexts that are not relevant to the issue of the 
weight of the evidence for tribal continuity. For example, PEP asserts that the seating of Helen LeGault as Eastem 
Pequot representati\,e on the CIAC, with Richard Williams as her alternate, on August 2, 1977, "shows that the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe was maintaining a government-to-government relationship with the State, and, .. 
[t]here is no evidence that the CIAC treated the Sebastian family in the same manner at this time" (Austin, Political 
Authority 94200:, :S: PEP Response to Comments 9/4 '2001 ), 
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that "prm~ de a defined thread of continuity through periods when other fonns of 
documentation are sparse or do not pertain directly to a specific criterion." Id. 
As demon:;trated below, the proposed findings are incorrect both in terms of their 
characterization of the nature of State relations and of their proper treatment 
under the acknowledgment regulations (State of Connecticut August 2001, 3). 

The propo ;c~cl findings' reliance on state recognition to augment or excuse the 
absence of otherwise insufficient evidence is misplaced. The State's relationship 
with the petitioners was not based on a recognition of the Connecticut Indian 
groups as ~;()vereigns exercising autonomous political authority and having 
bilateral pollitical relationships. Moreover, judicial precedent does not support the 
Department's misuse of the history of the State's relations with the petitioners. 
Indeed, a long line of judicial decisions demonstrates the distinct difference 
between fe:deral recognition - which assumes a government-to-government 
relationship -- and state recognition, which does not [6n2, Discussed below at 
§ III] (State of Connecticut August 2001,6). 

Section III. State Recognition of an Indian Group Cannot Make Up for the Lack 
of Proof Required under the Mandatory Criteria (State of Connecticut August 
2001,15-23)" 

The evide:nce of the petitioners' relationships with State government does not 
support recognition of either petitioner as an Indian tribe under federal standards. 
F or most, J not all, of the historical period from colonial times to the present, the 
State never treated the Indian groups under its jurisdiction as distinct social 
communit: e:s having political authority or sovereignty. Indeed, the evidence 
reflects a profound lack of State standards or evaluation similar to that required 
by the federal acknowledgment regulations (State of Connecticut August 2001, 
15). 

Throughout most of the colonial and state periods, Connecticut lacked a specific 
definition, statutory or otherwise, of "Indian" or "Indian tribe" and had no process 
for makmg detenninations of such status. Instead, the record indicates that 
overseers ',vere appointed on a more or less ad hoc basis for Indian groups. This 
lack of standards - and the lack ofrelevance to federal standards - continues 
through the present (State oj'Connecticut August 2001, 16). 

Turning tc lthe present petitioners, there is no evidence that the contacts between 
the colony and the State after the Pequot War with the Eastern Pequot Group were 
based on any detennination that they exercised political influence or authority 
within the meaning of the acknowledgment regulations. To the contrary, the 
colony viewed the Eastern Pequot Group as subordinate to English rule. 
Subsequently, the colony and the State regarded the Eastern Pequot Group as 
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unable to govern, protect or provide for itself without outside assistance. 
Although th(~ colony provided a reservation for the group and the State has 
allowed that reservation to continue, the fact that the land is held in the name of 
the group does not prove political influence or authority. Collective rights in land 
can also exist for religious organizations, estates, trusts and voluntary 
associations,. none of which necessarily exercise any significant governance over 
its members or beneficiaries (State of Connecticut August 2001, 17). 

The State legislation and other colonial and State actions, when properly viewed, 
demonstrates that these petitioners were never viewed as sovereign political 
entities. For a detailed discussion of colonial and State legislation and relations 
with the Eastern Pequot Group, see Appendix § I (State of Connecticut August 
2001,17) 

Section III.. Subsection B. Under the Regulations, State Recognition does not 
Augment or Supplement Evidence for the Other Mandatory Criteria (State of 
Connecticut August 2001,20). 

Evidenc~~ of relationships with state government is considered under the 
regulatiors only with regard to criterion (a), identification as an Indian entity_ It 
is not listed as appropriate evidence with regard to any other criteria and cannot 
be used a~, a substitute for such evidence as a basis for giving greater weight to 
such evicknc:e (State of Connecticut August 2001,20)_ 

The acknowledgment regulations reduce the burden of proof as to the other 
criteria only when there was prior federal recognition for a tribe, 25 C.F.R- § 
83.8; 59 Fed. 9282, not for state recognition (State of Connecticut August 2001, 
20)_ 

Most tellingly, if it was intended that state recognition should have a similar role 
in replacing or supplementing evidence required for the other criteria, the 
regulations, could and should have expressly provided for such treatment (State of 
Connecticut August 2001,21). 

The State also sllJmitted an affidavit, dated July 27, 2001, from Edward A_ Danielczuk (Stale of 
Call/lectfell! Augllst 2001, Ex_ 60)_ The document is retrospective rather than being 
contemporary e\': dence_ In it, Danie1czuk states that in the 1960's and early 1970's, he worked 
for the Connecticut Welfare Department as a supervisor in the Resource Department, with one of 
his responsibilitH:s being "to oversee the State's four Indian Reservations" (Danielczuk 
7/27/2001, 1)_ Danllelczuk stated: 

8. \Ve did not view the various Connecticut Indians as governments or 
sovereigns but instead viewed them as groups of individuals who could meet the 
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one-eighth blood requirement and who might need assistance (Danielczuk 
7/27/2001,2; State o/Connecticut August 2001, Ex. 60). 

Position of the T(m~~. 

The second sc~ction [of the Towns' comments] provides 'an [sic] historical account 
of the relatioIlship between the State of Connecticut and the petitioners. This 
analysis is in response to the fiction imposed upon the proposed findings by 
former Assistant Secretary Gover that state recognition is sufficient to cure the 
deficiencie:s in both petitians ... The secand sectian of this repart demanstrates 
that there is na basis upan which the State's relatianship with the Eastern Pequats 
can be trarsformed inta a "gavernment-ta-gavernment" relatianship and used ta 
fill gaps in the petitianers' social and political continuity over time (Towns 
August 2001,3-4). 

The BIA has never befare in its acknawledgment findings used the terms [sic] 
"gavernm(~nt.-ta-gavernment relatianship" ta describe the interactian between a 
petitianer and a State. The phrase "gavernment-ta-gavernment relationship" is a 
rather recent construct or term-af-art that was cained during the 1970s era of 
tribal seIf- jelermination to describe the trust relationship between the Federal 
Government and Indian tribal entities that are recagnized by the United States 
(Towns Ar.gust 2001, 17-18; see also extensive discussion Towns August 2001, 
22-35,42-44).13 

Applying this interpretatian ta the State afConnecticut goes beyond a mere 
description of the histary and nature af gavernmental interactian with these tribal 
groups. It impases a political cancept on the State and assumes that its 
government continuausly cansidered Eastern Pequot tribal graups to be separate 
and/ar equal savereigns. This interpretatian then takes the additional leap to 
allow thal th~! State relationship should be used to prove continuous tribal 
community and political influence lOr autharity (Towns August 2001,18). 

This section, .. cancludes that mast afthe mare than 300-year aId relationship 
between the parties neither resembled nor appraached the made I af a gavemment­
ta-govemment relatianship an which the BIA' s praposed findings are based. As 
a result, this relatianship cannat serve as the basis far satisfying acknawledgment 
criteria 83.7(b) and (c) ... Connecticut's relatianship was most often that ofa 
welfare provider and fiduciary agent to its Indian dependents (Towns August 
JOOJ, 19). 

UThe Towns assert that the BIA adopted this language from the EP petition, Bragdon and Simmons July 
1998,3 b.1 (TO\\wAlIgllsr2001, 18). 
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This limik~d contact with the Connecticut government and that government's total 
lack of recognition of the existence of a tribal political entity on the Stonington 
reservation throughout the 18th century does not reasonably constitute evidence of 
a continuous government-to-government relationship. To interpret that there was 
such a relationship, based merely on the continued existence of the Pequot 
reservatio[1 in Stonington, is to assume erroneously that Connecticut's governance 
of that reservation fits the model of the Federal trust relationship. It also 
mistakenly ascribes to the Colony/State an intent to acknowledge the existence of 
a Pequot triibal political entity (Towns August 2001, 104). 

In contrast to the Federal model, the Stonington reservation was not created by 
any enactment, such as a treaty, which recognized the inherent sovereignty of the 
Pequot. Rather, it was established by the Colony for the welfare of the remnant 
members :>fa tribe that it considered, since the Pequot War, to no longer exist. 
The land was set aside largely to protect the towns from having the entire burden 
of providing for the care of these Indian people, not in recognition of the 
existence: of a tribal political or social entity (Towns August 2001, 105). 

In the casl~ of Connecticut, an entirely different model was followed than in the 
federal ca Sl~. For the colony/State, there was no recognition of tribal 
independCTlce or autonomy. Instead, the colony and then the State was treating 
the Indians as conquered subjects, appointing their leaders, managing their 
internal affairs (to the extent the colony/State paid attention), and providing a 
welfare flnction (Towns August 2001,106; see also discussion Towns August 
2001, 4T.:~2). 

Thus, dur.ng the period from the fonnation of the Articles of Confederation 
through the end of the 19th century, considerable documentation evidenced the 
Federal understanding, acceptance and approval of Connecticut's continued 
jurisdictic,n over its indigenous Indians. No contemporary documents from this 
period h:we been found to describe the nature of this jurisdiction as a 
"government-to-government relationship." To the contrary, it was considered to 
be a welfare or social maintenance function (Towns August 2001,94). 

Both primary Federal documents and secondary historical accounts provide 
consistenl evidence of the Federal government's understanding, acceptance, and 
approval of the Connecticut government's continued jurisdiction over Indians 
within tIlt' SI:ate. These documents are also consistent in describing the 
relationsh ip between the State and its Indians as a provider-to-dependent 
relationshp. No Federal documents have been found for the period prior to 1900 
that describe the nature of the relationship as a government-to-government one or 
one that was based upon the existence of a tribal political entity (To'wlls August 
2001,106). 
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In comparison to the evidence of political influence and authority demonstrated 
by the Mohegan during the colonial period, the evidence for the Eastern Pequot is 
almost I1ol1··existent. Even as interactive as Mohegan representatives were with 
both colonial and English governments, this political contact was never described 
as a government-to-government relationship by either the Mohegan 
acknowledgment petitioner or by the BIA in either its proposed findings [sic] or 
final determination on the Mohegan petition. Certainly, such a relationship 
cannot b(: ascribed to the Eastern Pequot tribe, which demonstrated no internal 
political affairs or political interaction with Connecticut government during this 
period (Towns August 2001, 109). 

Subsidiary Issue~E~e:liance upon PassamaquoddY v. Morton. 

The proposed finding cited the stipulation of tribal existence by the U.S. in Passamaquoddy v. 
Morton (1975) as a precedent for using continuous state recognition to give greater weight to 
evidence of tribal existence. 

The proposed finding stated: 

Past Federal acknowledgment decisions under 25 CFR Part 83 provide no 
precedent:; for dealing with a tribe which is presently state recognized with a state 
recognized n::servation and has been so continuously since early colonial times. 
The close!;t parallel is Maine, where the Federal government in the 
Passamaq Joddy case stipulated to tribal existence, based on the historical state 
relationship. That precedent provides guidance in this matter. The Department is 
not applying a different standard of tribal existence. Rather, the evidence, when 
weighed il the context of this continuous strong historical relationship, carries 
greaterwdglht (EP PF 2000, 63). 

The Towns and State strongly challenged whether this stipulation provided an adequate 
precedent (Tmvn.s August 2001, 21, 35-41; Towns August 2001, Ex. 6; State of Connecticut 
August 200],22":2.3). 

Neither the EP Comments 8/2/2001 nor the EP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I addressed this 
matter. 

PEP argues that tllis is an appropriate precedent (Eberhard and Karns 16·19; PEP Response to 
Comments 9142(101). 

Analysis of Comments and Responses re: Passamaquoddy v. Morton. The action in the 
Passamaquoddy case, which predates the acknowledgment regulations, was cited because of the 
absence of precedents in previous acknowledgment cases. The Department stated in technical 
assistance meetings that a detailed consideration of the Passamaquoddy actions had not been 
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made before the proposed findings. The Department subsequently provided to the parties 
documentation fi'om that case that was not available at the time the proposed findings were 
issued. 

Conclusion re: Pc'ssamaquoddy v. Morton. Because state recognition. even state recognition 
from the colonial era, varies substantially in character from state to state, and because of the 
difference in circumstances of the cited legal action from acknowledgment decisions, the Maine 
case does not cleE.rly establish a controlling precedent for the Connecticut petitioners under the 
acknowledgment r,egulations. The EP and PEP final determinations, instead, focus on the 
particular historical relationship of the Eastern Pequot and other Connecticut tribes with the State 
of Connecticut and the significance of that relationship under the acknowledgment regulations. 

Subsidiary Issue;,.l~lmlicability of State Recognition as Evidence under Criteria 83.7(b) and 
83.7(c). The Towns present a secondary argument that since state recognition is specifically 
listed as an acceptable form of evidence only under criterion 83.7(a), it cannot be used for 
criteria 83.7(b) or 83.7(c) (Towns August 2001,20). 

The State also ass erts that: "Evidence of relationships with state government is considered under 
the regulations orJy with regard to criterion (a), identification as an Indian entity. It is not listed 
as appropriate evidence with regard to any other criteria and cannot be used as a substitute for 
such evidence as 1 basis for giving greater weight to such evidence" (State oj Connecticut 
August 2001,20); "Instead, the regulations expressly limit the relevance of state relations to 
criterion (a)" (State oj Connecticut August 2001,21). 

Analysis and Conclusion with Regard to Use of State Recognition as Evidence under Criteria 
83.7(b) and 83.7{,;). There is no such express or implied limitation. The regulations do not 
provide exhausti v e listings of the only types of evidence acceptable under each criterion, but 
rather adduce examples of the types of evidence acceptable to the Secretary. Both 83.7 (b)( I) 
and 83.7(c)(l) provide that the criterion may be demonstrated by some combination of the listed 
evidence "and/or by other evidence," while § 83.6(g) states: 

(g) the specific forms of evidence stated in the criteria in § 83.7(a) through (c) 
and § 83.~'(3) are not mandatory requirements. The criteria may be met 
alternatively by any suitable evidence that demonstrates that the petitioner meets 
the requin~l11ents of the criterion statement and related definitions (83.6(g». 

The evaluation process takes all forms of extant evidence into account for each of the criteria. 
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Survey of the Nati:tre of the State Relationship under Connecticut Statutes from Colonial Times to 
the Present. 14 This section is organized topically. The purpose of this section is to provide 
information conc:c!l11ing the nature of the State of Connecticut's historical relationship with its 
recognized Indian tribes, to determine whether the nature of that relationship justifies giving 
added weight to be evidence. Specifically, the question has been raised as to whether the phrase 
"government-to-government" used to describe that relationship In the proposed finding is a 
necessary compc)]11:nt of assigning added weight to the existing evidence for tribal continuity 
during periods when documentation is sparse. 

General Comme!]1;~. The laws of the Colony and State of Connecticut contain some basic 
elements concerning the status of Connecticut tribes and the Colony and State's relationships 
with and responsibility for them. The record available for this finding is, for the most part, silent 
as far as discussions of the legal rationale for the relationships. There were no records 
submitted concening legislative history, legislative debates, or court rulings on Indian tribal 
status before 1939. Overseers' reports, unlike 19th century Federal Office ofIndian Affairs 
reports, do not contain extended discussions of issues concerning individual and tribal status. 
The analysis here rests on the texts of the law themselves, and documentation of how the laws 
were applied. 

The Colony and ~;1:ate for the most part passed laws which addressed the status of Connecticut's 
Indian tribes witt.out enumerating the specific tribes. However, that did not mean that there was 
an undefined field of tribes with which the Colony or the State was dealing. Laws since the 
1750's commonly refer to tribes for which the State held land, or a similar phrase, thus 
delimiting the field of application. As described, the laws define overseers and their 
responsibility for land and funds which were for the benefit of particular tribes. However, where 
particular issues arose, tribe-specific legislation was enacted. In the case of the Eastern Pequot, 
there is the 1650 act defining governance, the 1675 Laws for the Pequots, and the 1873 act 
authorizing the sale of all but 100 acres of the reservation. Other tribe-specific legislation 
addressed, for example, the detribalization of the Mohegan and Western Niantic. The Eastern 
Pequot were never detribalized. 

Land Status. A common element in Connecticut legislation is the provision in the 1930 revised 
statutes which states that "Except as otherwise expressly provided, all conveyances by an Indian 
of any land belonging to or which has belonged to, the estate of the tribe, shall be void" (eh. 
172. Sec. 5060, ReI. Stat. Conn., Title 51, 1930). The following section, 5061, states that in any 

I~EP prest:lIted its own overview of the significance of state relations - for the purpose cifthis section. 
mostly in the report written by Patty Marks (EP Comments 812/2001, Marks IIIB, 117-126). 

The State ~rovided its own survey, "I. The History of State Relations Does Not Support 
Acknowledgmen," (Stale a/Connecticut Appendix August 2001,1:\-9). 

The Towr, submitted discussion under the topic heading "Federal Understanding of Connecticut's 
Jurisdiction Over Indian Affairs, 1777-1899" (Towns August 2001,82-94). 
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action brought by an Indian to recover lands owned by Indians, or sequestered for their use by 
the general assembly, "the defendant shall not plead the statute oflimitations," unless the 
conveyance is auth()rized by law. Similar provisions occur in all of the state and colonial laws 
back to 1666: "what land is alloted or set apart for any parcells ofIndian within the bounds of 
any plantation, it shall be recorded to them the same shall remain to them and their heirs 
forever. No p()wer of any such Indian to make any alienations thereof' (Pub. Rec. Conn. 56-57, 
item 113). Under the law, ifan Englishman purchased "any such lands layd out or allotted to 
said Indian, he shall. forfeit treble the value" to the public treasury and the bargain to be void." 
These provisions continue to be in effect, in some form, until today (Pub. Rec. Conn. 56-57, item 
113). 

In 1717, a law was ,enacted which said, "all lands .. are holden of the King of great Britain as 
lord of the fee; and that no title to any lands in this Colony can accrue by any purchase made of 
Indians on pretenc:e of their being native proprietors thereof, with the allowance or approbation 
of this Assembly. So it is hereby resolved, That no conveyance of native right or Indian title, 
without the allowance or approbation of this Assembly as aforesaid, shall be given in evidence 
of any man's title or pleadable in any court" (6 Pub. Rec. Conn. 13-14). These statutes are 
parallel to the Federal Non-Intercourse acts, requiring the permission of the sovereign for Indian 
lands to be sold ,md declaring the ultimate title of land to be in the Crown in this case, or in the 
United States as mc:cessor in the case of the Non-Intercourse Acts. 

The 1866 act in ~e:ction 12 specifically refers to the reservation lands as tax exempt, stating "All 
the property and funds of said tribe shall be exempt from taxation" (Rev. Stat. Conn., Title 33, 
522-524). The bnds remain exempt from taxation. 

The lands set asi,j'e for the Eastern Pequot are not defined in current statutes but were without 
question obtaim:d for the tribe through a sequence of actions on the part of the governing body of 
the Colony of Connecticut. On May 13, 1678, Momoho and his Pequots requested from the 
Court of Election held at Hartford, Connecticut: "2. That they may have land assigned to them 
as their own to plant on, and not that they be allwayes forced to hire ... To the second 
proposition for land certayn, as their own, to plant on, is referred to ye consideration of ye 
Court." Minutes of Committee for hearing Indian complaints; Indians, I. 36 (Trumbull 1859, 
8n). The same sl~ssion of the Court of Election appointed "a committee to consider where may 
be a suitable tract of land for Mamohowe and the Pequits wth him to plant in, and to contrive 
that the same may be as convenient as may be, and near the sea if it be to be procured on 
reasonable tearrnes. of which they are to make return to the Court in October next" (Trumbull 
1859,8-9).15 

Negotiations airm:d at obtaining land for Mamoho and the Pequots continued for four years. The 
May 1679 Court of Election Held at Hartford recommended to Stonington that the town "layout 

1":--;0 return::>y this cOl11minee \\'3S located in 1761 (lP, 11.118). 
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to Mamohoe and bis. company a sufficient tract of land for them to plant on as neer the sea as 
may be, five hundred acres at least" (Trumbull 1859, 31).16 The town declined to act (Hurd 
1882, 32).17 Therefore, at the October 1679 session of the Generall Court Held at Hartford, "16. 
This Court appoynts Mr. Willys, Major John Tallcott and Captn John Allyn to treat with Major 
John Pynchon and to purchase of him some land from him for Mamaho to live on" (Trumbull 
1859,42-43):8 The efforts of the committee appointed in 1679 failed of result, so Momoho 
revived the issue in May 1680: "Mamoho propoundes to ye Court that their promiss and grant of 
that ground engaged may be layd out to him for his people to liue and plant on, and says he had 
promiss at Court twi.ce, but nothing done, and if it cannot be obteyned he shall speake noe more 
about it" (TrumbuI.l1859, 54n; citing Indians, I. 39, a & b). The General court replied that the 
negotiations had be(;~n under way, and would be continued: "2. As to Mamohoe, some of or 
Gentn have been treating with major Pynchon to buy some land for them neer the sea, and he 
hath taken it into consideration. If that can be procured, it will be for them. If that fayles, other 
lands as convenient as can be procured them shall be layd out to them" (Trumbull 1859,54). 

In May 1681 the Court of Election instructed: " ... that Capt. James Avery, Mr. Witherlee, captn 
Mason and Mr. 1\ehemya Palmer doe speedily inquire out, seek after and procure a tract of land 
that may be suitable for the accommodation of Momohoe and the Pequots with him in those 
parts, as comodic us as may be, either by exchange or moderate purchase" (Trumbull 1859, 81-
82).19 In May 16 S2, the court appointed another committee for the same purpose, with 
somewhat more specific instructions to purchase "a suitable tract of land for Mamohoe & the 
Pequott's under t:-te sayd mamohoe's government" (Trumbull 1859, 100). In May 1683, the 
General Court's direction was even more precise, "to move the people of Stoneington layout to 
the Pequots under Mawmohoe's government a suitable tract ofland that may be sufficient for 
them to plant upe'n" (Trumbull 1859, 117).20 By a deed dated May 24, 1683, the committee 

16No retllr~ (If committee action found in 1761 (JP, II: 118). 

17This entire series of negotiations was summarized by Wheeler (Wheeler 1887, 17) and by Hurd, who 

stated that the town refused to make any provision that would look to their pennanent location in Stonington (Hurd 
1882, 32). 

1 ~~1isdated as 1680 by Wheeler (Wheeler 1887. 17). 

1'1\:0 return by committee located in 1761 (IP, II: 118). 

20"This Court doth appoynt Capn James Fitch. Captn James Avery and Lnt Tho. Leffingwell to be a 
committee in behalfl~ of this Court to move the people ofStoneington to layout to the Pequots under Mawmohoe's 
goverment a suitable tract ofland that may be sufficient for them to plant upon; and if they neglect to doe it, the 
sayd committee are 11~reby ordered to use utmost endeavoures to suit them with a sufficient tract of land, which if 
they can procure by exchang of countrey lands they may, or by setleing them on some country land, or on some 
unimproved land in Stoneington if no other provision ofland can be procured for them, the law requireing every 
to\\'ne to provide fOllheir own Indians. If any perticular persons propriety should through the necessity of the case 
be Ill1pro\ed for the r supply. he shall be repayred out of the country lands or by the Towne of Stoneington" 
(Trumbull 1859. 1 . '):, 
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purchased a tract of land from Mr. Isaac Wheeler containing about 280 acres, in Stonington a 
little way south of Lantern Hill. 21 Wheeler conveyed it to the committee in trust for the benefit 
of said Indians, n~serving the herbage for Mr. Wheeler (Hurd 1882, 32). The payment was 500 
acres of colony land (Wheeler 1887,17). The committee provided an extensive report to the 
October 1683 G,eneral Court: 

Capt. Fitch, Captn James Avery and Lnt Tho. Leffingwell being appoynted to 
procure some lands for Mamohoe and his company, by this Court, May last, 
returned a writeing or deed of two hundred and eighty acres of land which they 
bought of isack Wheeler, for the use of mamohoe and his company &c. Which 
deed is rc!::orded in the records of the towne ofStoneington, ... and this Court 
doth aproV'e of the sayd deed, and grant that the land shall be for the use of 
mamohoe and his company dureing the Court's pleasure" (Trumbull 1859, 125). 

"The land was conveyed to 'Capt. James Avery and Lieut. Thomas Leffingwell, a committee in 
behalf of the General Court, it being for the use of Momoho and the Indians under him;' May 24, 
1683" (Trumbull 1859, 125n; citing CSL, Towns & Lands pI Series, Vol. 1, Part 2, Doc. 210. 
"Towns & Lands, I. 210 (original deed); Col. Records of Deeds &c. 11:228). 

On May 19, 187~, the Eastern Pequot overseer petitioned the General Assembly for permission 
to sell a portion c,f the Lantern Hill Reservation (Bassett 1938 citing COIZIl. Special Acts 1873-
1877,8: 53-54;l-[ouse File No. 29, committee Bill, House Petition No. 99, House of 
Representatives. June 6, 1873; Resolution Empowering Overseer of Pequot Indians to sell 
Lands, May Session, A. D. 1873; #35 Pet. Petitions). The legislature enabled the overseer to 
survey and sell a: I of the Lantern Hill reservation but 100 acres and invest the money for the 
benefit of the Ind ians: 

Upon the petition of Leonard C. Williams, overseer of the eastern tribe of Pequot 
Indians, 1,)cated in the town of North Stonington, praying for reasons therein 
stated, for power and authority to sell a portion of the lands reserved by the State 
for the use of said Indians. Therefore: 

Resolved by this Assembly: 

21The editor of the Public Records a/Connecticllt commented: "The 'utmost endeavors' of this committee 
\\'ere crowned wi:h :;uccess, and the miserable remnant of the Pequots and eastern Nianticks, under Mumoho's 
government at last i'cund a resting place. The committee's report will be found in Col. Records of Deeds &c, 
ILnS, In exchange for a grant of five hundred acres of colony land, Isaac Wheeler. of Stonington, comeyed to the 
committee, for the us,~ of Mamoho and the Indians under him. a tract of two hundred and eighty acres in (~orth) 
Stonington. south or Lantern hill. Towns & Lands. l.21 O. See Record of October session, page 125, post" 
(Trumbull 1859, 1 7n) 
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Section 1. That Leonard C. Williams, Esq, of Stonington, the overseer of said 
Pequot Tribe of Indians, and his successors in said office, be, and are hereby 
authorizeC: and empowered, to sell by public auction, all of the lands reserved by 
the State for said Indians (except one hundred acres of the same), first giving 
notice ... 

Sec. 3. T1t(~ avails of the sale or sales of said land, when received by the said 
overseer, !.hall be invested in one or more of the savings banks in said county, in 
his name and his successor in said office, in trust.for the use and benefit of said 
tribe and the interest and income arising therefrom shall be applied to and for the 
support and comfort of said Indians, as may be, from time to time, needed. 

Sec. 4. Said overseer, and his said successors, shall give bonds to the Treasurer 
of the State, Ito the acceptance of the Superior Court for said county, for the 
benefit of said tribe, conditioned for the faithful discharge of his trust, and in 
compliance with the orders of said court in relation to the same, and shall make 
return thereto of his doings in the premises, and shall also make an annual report 
of the con :iition of his trust to the said Superior court, at its March term in said 
county (HDuse File No. 29, committee Bill, House Petition No. 99, House of 
RepresenLltives, June 6, 1873; Resolution Empowering Overseer of Pequot 
Indians to sell Lands, May Session, A. D. 1873; #35 Pet. Laws). 

A newspaper artic:le covering a minor incident in 1947, involving dogs on the Lantern Hill 
reservation, indicates that someone had notified a North Stonington selectman, who in tum 
notified the dog warden, but that, "[t]he dog warden, having previously been advised that he had 
no jurisdiction of th(~ reservation, took the matter to the town legislative representatives, asking 
them to notify the Department of Public Welfare .... " The complaint was referred to Mr. 
Clayton Squires cfthe Welfare Department, who "heard the complaint and agreed to go down 
and look out for the pups" (Stallman 5/511947; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 52). This sequence 
of events, in a minor matter, indicates that the reservation was outside the authority of the Town 
officials. 

The State over the years,22 and the Towns in regard to the current petitioners (Towns August 
2001,63-65) have expressed varying interpretations of the nature of the legal title to this land.~3 

2' -John J. Bncken, Attorney General, by Ernest H. Halstedt, Ass!. Attorney General. Lefler 10 Thomas E-
Rose, Assislall! Director, Board of Fisheries and Game. i'iovember 4. [opinion] pp. 115-118, Twenty-N inth 
Biennial Report of the Attorney - General for the two years ended January 5, 1957. Connecticut Public Document 
No!. 40. 

2}ln 185~, Dc'Fores\' in regard to the Pequots, stated: "It was doubtful whether the latter held property in 
fee simple or only had the right to cultivate. The case had been repeated I\' tried and the courts had decided different 
~ ...... the land that on which the Pequots lived had not been given them as their own but only to be used for 
their support" (cites Indian Papers, \'01. II, Doc 123; Colonial Records, Vol. IX). None of the submissions for these 
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The current provisions of the Connecticut statutes, passed in 1989, define it as a "trust in 
perpetuity" resp(>:1sibility of the State: 

Sec. 21. S(~ction 47-60 of the general statutes is repealed and the following is 
substituted in lieu thereof: 

(a.) Any reservation land held in trust by the State on the effective date of 
this act shall continue to be held in trust in perpetuity to prevent alienation and to 
insure its availability for future generations of Indians. Except as otherwise 
expressly provided, all conveyances by any Indian of any land belonging to, or 
which has be10nged to, the estate of any tribe shall be void. 

A tribe shall exercise on reservation land all rights incident to ownership 
except the power of alienation (CT P.A. 89-368 1989). 

Subsequent sections of the 1989 legislation regulate the management of and jurisdiction over 
reservation land (Sec. 23, 24, 25,26,27,28). 

Supervision and Governance. In May of 1763, Connecticut appointed Israel Hewit, Jr., of 
Stonington, to act with Ebenezer Backus, Esq., of Norwich, as overseers of the Lantern Hill 
Reservation (lP, II:250). This was the first indication of appointment of overseers by the 
General Assembl), since the 1725 act that had remanded the Indian tribes to the supervision of 
the governor and council (IP, I: 120). In subsequent years, in response to petitions from the 
inhabitants of the reservation, the General Assembly appointed overseers (JP, II :251). The 
statute enacted in 1808, and many of those before it, was styled "An Act for well-ordering and 
governing the Indians in this State, and securing their Interest" or in similar language (The 
Public Statute Laws a/the State a/Connecticut. Book 1. Title XC "Indians" Hartford, CT: 
Hudson and Goodwiin; CT FOIA #69; EP PF Com. Notebook H, Ex. 15). 

The subsequent a·~'t, in 1821, which first defined an overseer's specific obligations, and 
subsequent acts until 1961, were titled "An Act for the Protection of Indians, and the 
Preservation of their Property" or similar language. The 1821 statute stated: 

Sect. I ... That an overseer shall be appointed to each tribe of Indians living 
within the limits of the state, by the county court, in the county in which such 
tribe resides, who shall have the care and management of their lands, and shall see 
that they e:re husbanded for the best interest of the Indians, and applied to their 
use and bt:nefit (An Act for the Protection oflndians, and the preservation of their 
property; Stat. Laws Conn., Title 50, 278-279; # 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, 
Doc. 48). 

cases contained Slle h repeated trials and decisions on the nature ofland title. 
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State Citizenship. Connecticut's tribal Indians did not have State citizenship without a specific 
grant thereof. The Hi.storical Technical Report for the Mohegan proposed finding described the 
process of granting citizenship in that instance as follows: 

The Mohepm apparently petitioned the General Assembly in 1872 to terminate 
the State's guardianship (see Kingsbury 1872, the actUal petition has not been 
found). In rl~sponse to this, the legislature passed an act in July of that year 
conferring all the privileges of citizenship upon the Mohegans and granting them 
title, in fee simple, to the individual allotments made in 1861. This action may 
also have been part of a general re-evaluation of citizenship which many states 
experienced during and just after the Civil War. Neighboring Massachusetts, for 
example, had extended citizenship to many of its Indian groups in 1862 .... The 
stated aim of this legislation - to make the Mohegans "a part of the people of the 
state ... entitled to all the rights ... of natural born citizens" - made it clear that 
Connecticut had heretofore considered these Indian people to be separate and 
distinct (CT General Assembly 1872). They were, however, the first of the 
State's Incian groups to be granted citizenship (CAG 1985,23) (Mohegan PF, 
HTR 32). 

The detribalization of the Mohegan was followed by that of the Western Niantic. The other 
tribes under Connecticut's guardianship were not detribalized in the 19th century. In other New 
England states, such as Massachusetts24 and Rhode Island (Narragansett PF 1982, 4), it was also 
the case that durin g the second half of the 19th century, Indians were granted state citizenship 
when detribalized. 

The Towns in thei r comments acknowledge that the Indians were distinct from other residents of 
Connecticut, statir.g: 

Lack of town citizenship meant, among other things, that Indians could not testify 
against a c .tizen, bring suit, or secure a bondsman. They could own property, 
including real estate, but they had to pay taxes unless they lived on a reservation. 
Tribal members were not only segregated socially and politically, they were also 
prohibited from conducting certain trade activities for fear that they might impede 
colonial settlement. In effect, Connecticut Indians were not truly considered 
citizens or accepted inhabitants of the State until 1924 when they \vere finally 
recognized as having full civil rights (Towns August 2001,61). 

It is not clear. however. that the granting of Federal citizenship to Indians in tribal relations in 
1924 was considered by Connecticut to automatically extend to State citizenship. In 1939, at the 

24See: Plane, Ann Marie, and Gregory Button, The Massachusetts Indian Enfranchisement Act: Ethnic 
Contest in H istoric~:ll '=-ontext, 1849-1869, ElhllohislOI), 40 ( 1 993): S8 7 -618. 
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hearings in regard to the proposed sales of Lantern Hill reservation land, someone identified as 
"First Representaliv(~ for Mr. Filley, Secretary of State Park and Forest Commission," presented 
the following statement: "I want to point out that this reservation is held in trust for the Indians .. 
.. This is the India.ns land, not the State's. We simply hold it in trust for them .... These 
Indians are not citize:ns of the town; they do not get much help from the town in the way of 
relief," subsequentlly adding, "They are not citizens of the town; they are state wards. We are 
looking after the i nte:rests of the Indians, and believe it is contrary to public interest if this sale is 
made" (CT Hearing 1939 re: HB No. 347, 6; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 55). 

In regard to Alfre:d Boss and Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss, in 1941 a State official 
distinguished betv/t~e:n a member of the Eastern Pequot tribe and her non-Indian husband's 
citizenship status. Noting her residence on the "Eastern Pequot Indian Reservation 1905 to 
date," the author (if the report added: "Grace is not a voter, however, her husband is a voter and 
has to pay Old Age Asst. Taxes" (Connecticut Office of Commissioner of Welfare, Report 
2/5/41; PEP Comments 8/2/2002, Ex. 111). During the same year, the General Assembly passed 
an act reimbursing the Town of North Stonington $978.91 for sums expended by it for the 
support and care (fBenjamin Sebastian and Family, William Jackson, Mildred Spellman, and 
Grace Boss, which clearly indicates that the tribal members were not considered to be the 
responsibility of the Town in which the reservation was located (State of Connecticut, General 
Assembly, Janua)~r' Session A.D. 1941, An Act Concerning a Claim of North Stonington, against 
the State; Towns .;lugus! 2001, Ex. 124). 

In 1953, Senate HII .502, sponsored by Sen. Lowell, was introduced into the General Assembly, 
but not passed. Section 2 gave the following "STATEMENT OF PURPOSE: To end the second 
class citizenship of Connecticut's few remaining Indians and to reduce the administrative burden 
on the commissioner of welfare by returning their lands to the Indians" (CT Senate Bill 502 
1/3011953,2) and fUlther specified: 

2, On and after the first day of October, 1953, the tribe of Indians known as the 
Eastern PI~guot tribe and the several members thereof residing in the town of 
North Storington, or in any other town in this state, shall form a part of the people 
of this statl~" and shall be entitled to all of the rights, privileges and immunities 
and subjel~t to all the duties, obligations and liabilities of natural born citizens (CT 
Senate Bili 502 113011953, 1; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 2, Item 4). 

6. All property, real and personal, belonging to the said Indians. or to any of 
them. and.\'hich, if owned by any other person or persons, would be liable to 
taxation. shall be subject to assessment and taxation in the same manner, to the 
same extent and for the same purposes, as the real and personal property of other 
persons, And all provisions of law which exempt the same from taxation are 
hereby repealed (CT Senate Bill 502 1/30/1953, 2; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 
2, Item 4.) 
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The language in t1llS 1953 bill, proposing to extend citizenship to the Eastern Pequot, was 
identical to the language in the 1872 Mohegan bill. The statement by Albert C. Hoover, Acting 
Director, Public Wc~lfare Council, specifically noted: "We have had complaints from the towns 
that if these reservations were to be abolished, they would probably have the responsibility of the 
Indians instead ofthe State" (CT Hearing 311811953, 4; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 2, Item 4). 
Two representatives from North Stonington, Frank White and Irving Main, registered opposition 
to the bill (CT H~:ar;ng 3/18/1953, 7; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 2, Item 4). 

However, it is not c:l~:ar that all State officials held the views on citizenship in the language of the 
1953 proposed legislation. On December 19, 1956, an official of the Division of Welfare stated: 
"Tribal members Oil the Reservations have all the rights of American Citizens and when not on 
the reservations are subject to the same laws as other citizens. Children residing on a 
Reservation attend public schools in the town wherein the reservation is situated" (Barrell to 
Commissioner] 2:/1911956; Towns August 2001, Ex. 123). This memorandum referred to the 
transfer of jurisdiction from the Park and Forest Commission to the Welfare Commissioner in 
1941 and comment,ed that: 

since then no written policy has been developed and the actual handling of 
reservatiors, Indian problems and care of needy Indians was limited to what was 
expedient at the time and with the thought of discouraging tribal members from 
returning tl) or settling on the reservations even though geneologies [sic] are 
maintainec. to prevent imposters from availing themselves of the privileges of the 
reservatior.s (Barrell to Commissioner 12/1911956; Towns August 2001, Ex. 123). 

In 1961, on the he 3.ring in regard to H.B. 2421, The Management of Indian Reservations, Rep. 
Fisher, speaking as Chainnan of the Subcommittee of the Interim Committee on Public Welfare, 
stated: "It should be remembered that Indians in Connecticut have full citizenship privileges and 
they reside on the~:e reservations only by their own choice. I received numerous letters accusing 
us of herding people on to these reservations which is not the case at all. They do not need to 
live there if they do not wish to" (CT Hearing 3/2311951, 24). 

While practices may have changed, the evidence submitted showed no legal change in the 
citizenship status of Connecticut's tribal Indians between the 1872 Mohegan Act and 1961, 
however. The 19~'3 act by which Connecticut established the Indian Affairs Council (CIAC) 
specifically addre~:sed the issue of citizenship: 

Section I. (NEW) It is hereby declared the policy of the state of Connecticut to 
recoQnize 'hat all resident Indians of qualified Connecticut tribes are considered 
to be full citizens of the state and they are hereby granted all the rights and 
privilegc:!s 3.fforded by law, that all of Connecticut's citizens enjoy. It is further 
recognizee that said Indians have certain special rights to tribal lands as may have 
been granted to them in the past by treaty or other agreements (CT Public Acts, 
#660 1973) 
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At the hearing on Substitute House Bill 1919, Rep. Pugliese, preparing to "quickly explain the 
bill section by sec:tion," stated that it, "establishes a state policy that Connecticut Indians are 
considered to be fbll citizens with all the rights and privileges of other citizens" (CT Hearing 
5116/1973,61). 

This 1973 provision in regard to citizenship was repeated unchanged in Sec. 47-59a of the 1975 
Connecticut Revi:;edl Statutes and was still carried in Sec. 16 of the 1989 act (CT Public Acts, 
#368 1989). 

Legal Definitions o[the Nature of the State Relationship. This section is organized 
chronologically. 

Colonial LegislatjQfl. Essentially all of the legislation in the earliest colonial times concerns the 
period after the ddeat of the Pequots and hence does not relate to a period when Connecticut's 
Indian tribes were independent of the Colony and the Crown. The statutes imply that the Colony 
was concerned to legislate for and apply its laws to the tribes and their members. Thus the act of 
1721 directs the authority and selectmen of each town in which Indians resided to assemble and 
convene them an:nually, acquaint them with the laws for the punishment of "immoralities," and 
inform them that they were not exempted from the penalties (see discussion below). 

The code compi led under the Commissioners of the United Colonies in 1650 made reference to 
the "Sagamores" of the tribes, requiring that tribes that lived near the Engli~h declare who their 
leaders were. It ckclared that satisfaction of debts could be demanded of the Sagamore and if 
not received, the English were then empowered to seize goods. The code in 1650 appears to 
indicate the beginning of the extension of colony laws into the internal affairs of the Indians, 
specifically providing that for certain crimes, they shall appear before the constables. However, 
the 1650 document describes itself as a compilation of earlier acts, hence reflects earlier acts. 
None appear in the H!cord for these cases nor does the 1650 compilation indicate specific earlier 
acts or their date cfpassage (Conn. Code of Laws, 529-533). The new "Indian governors" in 
1654 received im.tructions which were a briefer version of the better-known "Laws for the 
Pequots" issued 20 years later, in 1675 (Pulsifer 1968,2: 142-143).25 

Just before the outbreak of King Philip's War,26 on May 31, 1675, Connecticut issued a set of 
"bws" for the Inc! ans under Cassasinamon and Harmon Garret (Wheeler 1887, 16). The act of 
1675 goes on to proscribe a variety of behaviors and actions by the Indians (apparently Indians 

25"Captail: George Denison and Thomas Stanton were to assist them in the government. ThiS \\'as 
continued for several 'years. (Haz. 2. 334,345,359,382-7,447-9,465.)" (Poner 1835.64). When Cassicinamon 
and Garrett were reap:JOinted in 1656, Mr. Winthrop, Maj. Mason, Capt. Denison were appointed to assist them, 
while Thomas Stantor. I;ontinued to collect the tribute (Hurd 1882,29-30; Pulsifer 1968,2: 153-154; Pulsifer 1968, 
2: 168; see also Whee-IeI' 1887,13) (EP PF 2000,23). 

26June 24, 1E75, opening of King Philip's War (Swansea, Rhode Island) (Haym:s 1976,22). 
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in general) and to assert that certain actions were punishable according to the colony laws by 
actions of its mag [strates, suggesting at least that action and behaviors not specifically mentioned 
were still under the authority of the tribes. Witchcraft and "powwow" were proscribed and 
murder, stealing and adultery were to be tried by the English. The law also establishes 
constables, under the: direction of the leaders appointed by the colony, presumably to carry out 
the dictates ofthc~ law. The act calls for "publishing" the act "at a great concourse" among the 
Pequots (Laws for the Pequots 1675; Trumbull 1852, 574). 

The Act of 1675 provided in part for the specific governance of the Pequots, Eastern and 
Western. It was enal::ted, according to its text, "in answer to Robbin Causacinnamon's petition 
to the Generall Court of Connecticott," and provided "order & appoyntment was by the sayd 
Court made ... to draw up some lawes & orders for the present well governing of the Pequitt 
Indians that were: captives to the English Colonyes in generall and were by their Commissioners 
put under the gou'~mlent of this Colony, to be both ruled and accomodated by them suitably ... " 
(Laws for the Pequots 1675; Trumbull 1852, 574). The act declared that Robin Cassacinamon 
was to continue ":n the place of theire deputy or principle officer amongst & over all those 
Indians who had beene put under him fonnerly" and: "In like manner, Hennan Garrett be 
principall officer Jvc!r those put under him, and Momohow shall be his second or chiefe 
Counsellor (Laws for the Pequots 1675; Trumbull 1852,574-575). The costs of this government 
was to be paid by an annual five-shilling levy on each Indian man over the age of 16. The law 
directed that H ••• th(~ir lawfull commands are duely to be obeyed and observed by all of the 
Indians respectively'" (Laws for the Pequots 1675; Trumbull 1852, 575). 

The laws after 1675 do not describe tribal leadership functions, although the general court 
subsequently appointed successors to both Cassacinamon and to Harmon Garrett through the end 
of the 17th century. The 1675 "Laws for the Pequots" were republished early in Momoho's 
tenure (i.e., shon:ly after 1677) (Trumbull 1852,576). 

During the later 1720's, Connecticut passed three pieces of legislation that pertained to its 
supervision of Indian tribes. The act in 1721 stated that the authority and selectmen of each town 
"wherein there ar'~ any Indians living or residing" were directed to assemble and convene such 
annually and acquaint them with the "Law ofthe government made for punishment of such 
immoralities ... and they are not exempted from such penalties.,,27 In October 172S, it resolved: 
"That till the Ses:;iol1 of this Assembly in May next, the Care of the Indians in their Severall 
Tribes in this government be under the Inspection of the Governr & Councill from time to time 
to regulate, restrain, Set at Large &c as to them shall Seem best" (IP, ]: 120). ]n October 26, it 
passed an act to rrevent the quiet title act being used to assert claims to "several tracts ofJand 
sequestred for St" 'eral tribes ofIndians within this government ... " (7 Plib. Rec. COIll1. 71-72; 

27Similar phraseology occurs in subsequent laws until 1808. but is not repeated in 1821 (which is the point 
at \\'hich the title,; of l1e acts refer to the protection rather than the governance of the Indians). 
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IP, I: 130). In 172 7, itt passed an act regulating how Indian children bound out to the English 
were to be instructt:d in Christianity, to read English, etc. (IP, I: 131). 

Subsequent acts alSO call for meetings and the like to remind the Indians that English laws apply, 
and the extent to which those laws applied. Two separate acts were passed in 1750 (Acts and 
Laws of Conn. 1750, 79,95-99). The first Act of 1750 focused on the subjection of Indians to 
the laws of the O::>lony, including those of Sabbath observance, and prohibited trade in firearms 
with the Indians (there was no specific mention of tribes). It provided that the murder of one 
Indian by another W8tS to be punished under English law, but made an exception where the 
murder was of "those among whom they are at war with." The Act stated that, "no person shall 
be allowed. . . . to recover before any court ... any action of debt .. for any good sold, lent or 
trusted out to any lndians whatsoever. ,,28 

The second 1750 Act was titled, "Foreigners Not to Trade with the Indians. An Act for 
Preventing Foreigl1ers Trading with, and Corrupting the Indians; and Carrying on Other Evil and 
Dangerous Desigr.s in this Colony" ("Acts and Laws" N.P. A-2, 79; # 113 Pet. HIST DOCS 1, 
Doc. 38, 79). It s~:{:ks to avoid sedition or the estrangement of the Indians from the government 
and refers to "evil and dangerous designs" by French and Dutch. The act references "any Indian 
or Indians" and doe:s not specifically use the term "tribe." No historical context was provided for 
the passage of this act, although the implication is that there was an expectation that the Indians 
might act independently of the colony's authorities. 

Legislation from lhe American Revolution through the End of the 19th Century. In 1796, the 
Connecticut Assembly passed "An Act for well-ordering and governing the Indians in this State; 
and securing their Inlterest," which provided again that it was the responsibility of the civil 
authorities and selectmen of such towns in which there was any tribe of Indians to enforce the 
state criminal law~; pl;:rtaining to them and reenacted provisions concerning the binding out of 
Indian children and for the protection ofIndian lands (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 47; 
Acts and Laws of Conn. 237-239). 

In 1808, the Conn~cticut General Assembly reenacted an "Act for well-ordering and governing 
the Indians in this State, and securing their interest" with essentially no changes (The Public 
Statlite Laws ofth? State of Connecticut. Book I. Title XC "Indians" Hartford, CT: Hudson and 
Goodwin: CT FO)A #69 EP PF Com Notebook H, Ex. 15). In May 1819. it was enacted that 
the overseers of the respective tribes of Indians in this State shall annually settle their accounts 
of the concerns of said tribes with the respective County Courts in the counties in which said 
tribes are situated (IP, 2nd

, II:167, 167b). The 1821 act required that in the future, overseers were 
to be appointed to {:ach tribe by the County Court (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 48; 
citing Stat. Laws Conn., Title 50,278-279, "An Act for the Protection of Indians, and the 

~SSil11ilar language appears in subsequent acts until 1902. The provision in the 1866 act stated in section 5 
that "'\0 judgment 51" all be rendered against an Indian. for any debt. or on any contract, except for the rent of land 
hired ~l11d occupied C) such Indian." 
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Preservation of their Property"). Shortly after that date, in 1822, annual overseers' reports for 
the Lantern Hill Res(:rvation began to be recorded. 

During the period between 1822 and the Civil War, Connecticut enacted several pieces of 
legislation that aflected the administration of Indian tribes within the state, without specifying 
the names of the individual tribes. In 1824, Title 51. "Indians. 'An Act for the Protection of 
Indians, and the P:~(:servation of their Property" provided that overseers must be bonded, and 
continued the provision for annual settlements with the county court. The remainder of the 
provisions dealt plimarily with property (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 49; citing Stat. 
Conn., Title 51, 233-234). The 1849 act of the same title made no significant changes (#113 
Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 50; citing Rev. Stat. Conn., Title 26, 441-442), but in 1850 "An 
Act in Addition t,o and in Alteration of' An Act for the Protection of Indians, and the 
Preservation ofthl!iir Property'" provided that an overseer should be appointed for each "tribe of 
Indians living within the limits of the state," by the "county court in the county in which such 
tribe resides." The county court of each county should have jurisdiction of applications for the 
sale of lands belonging to members of such tribe, who, at the time of such applications, were 
about to remove f:om Connecticut or actually resided outside the boundaries of Connecticut 
(#113 Pet. 1996, IHST DOCS II, Doc. 51; citing Public Acts (1850), Ch. 51,37-38). 

The 1850 act was repealed two years later. The 1852 act which repealed it (#113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS II, Doc. 52; citing Public Acts, Ch. 55, 66-67) established provisions under which 
overseers could. under county court jurisdiction, regulate sales or exchanges ofland and other 
property by members of the state's tribes. This was, in turn, altered in 1855, voiding any sales 
made by individual Indians of "conveyances of any land ... belonging to or which have 
belonged to the e~tate of such tribe .... " (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 53; citing Public 
Acts, Ch. 65, 79··:50). The 1866 act was somewhat expanded. The "Pequot" reference in Section 
9 was to the Mashantucket Pequot, not to the Eastern Pequot (Rev. Stat. Conn., Title 33, 522-
524; #113 Pet. HIST DOCS II, Doc. 54). In these mid-19th century statues, the duties of the 
overseers were clearly specified as being to tribes - not to individual Indians. 

The 1888 Connect cut laws re-enacted the prior provisions that in those counties where Indians 
resided, with the exception of Litchfield County, the superior coun should annually appoint the 
overseer, who should "have the care and management of their lands and money and see that they 
are used for the b ~:;t interests of the Indians, and that the rents, profits, and income thereof are 
applied to their lwnefit" (#113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 58; citing Rev. SIal. Conn., Title 
4, Ch. 6). The 1888 legislation made no significant changes in the prior statute. 

The only legislalion in the 19th century sequence that specifically named the Eastern Pequot was 
the 1873 bill that authorized the sale of part of the Lantern Hill reservation (see discussion above 
under land). 

LeQislation and L~:.gal Opinions in the 20 th Century. In 1902, Connecticut re-enacted the 1888 
legislation tbat plo\ided that the superior court "in any county, except the county of Litchfield, 
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in which a tribe of Indians resides" should annually appoint an overseer for such tribe 
(Connecticut Revised Statutes 1902, Chapter 242, pp. 1063-1064; #113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS 
II, Doc. 59). Thes,~ provisions were contained in the 1918 Connecticut Statutes (see 1930 
statement by oversec!r, below) and in the 1930 Connecticut Statutes (Connecticut Revised 
Statutes, 1930, Titlle 51, Chapter 272, Section 5057, pp. 1580-83). In 1930, the Eastern Pequot 
overseer wrote: 

At the conclusion of the hearing I sought the advice of the Honorable Allyn L. 
Brown of the: Superior Court and thereafter ruled that Section 5167 of the General 
Statutes, Revision of 1918, makes no distinction whatever between several 
branches of the same tribe, and that a recognized member of this tribe is not 
debarred from the occupational right of the Reservation simply because either for 
convenience, or expediency, or other reasons, the tribe may have been divided 
into separate branches. My conclusion was that the petitioner, Franklin C. 
Williams, had the right, with the approval of the overseer, to erect a dwelling on 
the lands bc:longing to the Eastern Branch of Pequot Indians (# 113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS I, Doc. 41). 

It was under the legislation assigning supervision of the State's tribes to the county superior 
courts that Judge Allyn Brown, on June 9, 1933, issued the In re Ledyard Tribe of Pequot 
Indians, Eastern Tribe of Pequot Indians order: 

Ordered and decreed that the persons whose names are listed as members of the 
respective tribes as they appear in the Annual Reports of the Overseer on file 
herein, and this day allowed, are hereby recognized by the Court as members of 
said Trib(:~; at this date. Applicants apply to overseer and to Atwood 1. Williams 
of Westerly, R.I. for the Eastern Tribe and Mr. John George of Stonington, Conn. 
for the Ledyard Tribe (In re Ledyard Tribe 1933). 

The ruling listed forty members of the Eastern Pequot tribe, and also stated: 

Ordered alld decreed that any person who may hereafter claim to be listed as a 
member of either tribe shall present his or her application in writing to the 
Overseer who shall mail copies thereof to the recognized leaders of the tribes, or 
their successors, the present leader of the Eastern Tribe being Mr. Atwood 1. 
Williams of Westerly, R.I., and the present leader of the Ledyard Tribe being Mr. 
John Geor?e of Stonington, Conn. (1n re Ledyard Tribe 1933 ).2Y 

29Twenty ynrs later, a memorandum indicates that the Office of the Commissioner of Welfare was aware 
of the 1933 Superior O:::oun decision in regard to the Eastern Pequot. On August II, 1954. Clayton S. Squires, 
Division ChieC recorded "PROCEDURE to be followed on Applications from Indians to reside or build on any of 
the four Reservations' (Toll'l1s August 200f, Ex, 131). It contained the following pro\'ision: 
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In June 1934, the Superior Court renamed Raymond as Pequot overseer for another year 
(Renamed Overseer ()fPequot Indians, The Day, New London, Connecticut, 6/5/1934). In 
November of the same year, he met with the State Park and Forest Commission: 

Pequot Indians. Mr. Peale introduced their Overseer, Mr. Raymond, who outlined 
in some detaill the present condition of the tribe, domiciled on two reservations 
and in other towns of Connecticut and Rhode Island, with complicating 
circumstances. Their dwindling funds and increasing need for assistance, refused 
by the to'W11:5 affected, obviously call for the attention of the coming Assembly, 
and after some discussion Mr. Peale was requested to take up the matter with 
Judge Allyn Brown, of the Superior Court, for further investigation and report 
(Connecticut, State of. State Park and Forest Commission. Minutes 1111411934; 
#113 PeL, Folder A-2). 

In 1935, Connecticut placed the Indian tribes under the jurisdiction of the State Parks and Forest 
Commission, using the phraseology: 

The state park and forest commission is authorized to act as overseer of all tribes 
ofIndians residing in the state, and said commission shall annually settle its 
account of the affairs of each tribe with the comptroller, ... Said commission, as 
such overseer, shall have the care and management of the lands and money of 
such Indians and cause the same to be used for their best interest, ... and is 
authorized to sell or exchange any real or personal property belonging to any 
member of any such tribe ofIndians (Connecticut General Statutes 1935, Title 
51, chapter 272, Section 1587). 

The State Parks and Forest Commission adopted rules for tribal membership in 1936 
(Connecticut State Parks and Forest Commission 1936). The Towns argue that it is significant 
that, "this action ty the Commission represented the first time in the course of its 300-year 
relationship with its indigenous Indians that the central government of Connecticut established 
eligibility requirements for the determination of tribal membership" (Towns August 2001, 214). 
In 1939, the Connecticut General Assembly held public hearings concerning the reservations 
(Connecticut Genl!ral Assembly Hearing 1939; #35 Pet., Laws; Second Criterion (a) Folder; 
#113 Pet. NaIT., Ex. X; #113 Pet. 1996, ETH DOCS Ill, Doc. 58). The main result of these 
hearings was the submission of a proposal to transfer authority over the State's Indian 
Reservations to the Commissioner of Welfare (Connecticut Act 1939; #35 Pet, State; # 113 Pet. 

4. Applicant to obtain from Mr. Williams (if Eastern Pequot) authorization 
or pernli~sion to be allowed to reside on the Eastern Pequot Reservation; 
or from Mr. John George if a Western Pequot member desiring to reside 
on the Reservation at Ledyard. See Superior Court Order (New London 
County( :,ic] dated June 9, 1933 (Squires Procedure 811111954). 
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A-2; #113050 File; CT FOIA #18). This transfer was enacted but did not take effect until after 
November 1940. 

Apparently as a sl!condary result of the hearings, on May 18, 1939, Francis A. Pallotti, Attorney­
General of Connecticut, by Joseph P. Smith, Assistant Attorney-General, issued an opinion to 
the State Board of Fisheries and Game, to the attention ofR. P. Hunter, Superintendent, in 
response to the Board's request for an opinion as to "whether full-blooded Indians have a right to 
hunt, trap and fish in this State without a license" (Towns August 2001, Ex, 122; Lynch 1998, 
5: 126-127). The opinion referenced the fact that "[w]e do not find that the State of Connecticut 
or the Federal Govemment ever made a treaty with any of the Indian tribes inhabiting the State 
of Connecticut" and found that the Connecticut statute of 1796 provided in part that, "[i]t shall 
be the duty of the Civil Authority and Selectmen of such towns wherein are any tribes of Indians, 
to take care that t:ley be well acquainted with the laws of the State made for the punishment of 
immoralities as they may be guilty of; and make them sensible that they are liable to the 
penalties, in case they transgress the laws" (Pallotti to State Board of Fisheries and Game 
5/18/1939). The: opinion continued: 

Whatever the status of the Indian tribes may have been in the early days of this 
commonwt~8ilth by virtue of treaties or laws, it is apparent that we do not have at 
the present time any Indian tribal organizations. Their political and civil rights 
can be en forced only in the courts of this State, and they are as completely subject 
to the law s of this State as any of the other inhabitants thereof. Whi Ie Indians are 
expressly ~~xempted from the Fish and Game Laws of some of the States of the 
Union, no such exemption exists in this State. 

Excepting such rights as the Indians may have on their reservations, we are of the 
opinion that Indians do not have the right to hunt, fish or trap in this State without 
a license therefor (Pallotti to State Board of Fisheries and Game 5/18/1939). 

The 1941 act whi<:h transferred jurisdiction over Connecticut Indian tribes to the Commissioner 
of Welfare used Jrecisely the same tenninology in regard to the duties of the office designated as 
overseer as had been used by the 1935 act (Supplement to the Connecticut General Statutes, Title 
51, Chapter 272, Section 592f). These provisions continued in the Connecticut statutes through 
the 1958 revision (Rev. Stat. Conn., Sec. 47-59, 171). 

In 1961, on the r.earing in regard to H.B. 2421, The Management of Indian Reservations, Rep. 
Fisher, speaking as Chainnan of the Subcommittee of the Interim Committee on Public Welfare, 
stated: 

\",; defined our responsibility as that of clarifying the responsibility of the 
state and the authority of the state for the four Indian reservations and for the 
persons who choose to reside on them. There are four of them and they are 
defined in the first Section of the bill. 
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Now', the present law provides only that the Commissioner of Welfare 
shall act as overseer of all tribes of Indians residing in the state, and the attorney 
General has mled that this section does not give the Welfare Commissioner the 
authority to establish regulations for the administration of these reservations. The 
Welfare Commissioner does receive and extend an appropriation made by the 
General A!isembly for the care of Indians. He also is responsible for the 
administration of the tribal funds .... (CT Hearing on H.B. No. 2421 3/2311 951, 
23). 

The 1961 Act not only gave the general definition of "Indian" as "a person of at least one-eighth 
Indian blood of the tribe for whose use any reservation was set out" but also continued that, 
among the four Connecticut reservations enumerated: '''reservation' means the Eastern Pequot 
reservation in the town of North Stonington, assigned to the use of the Eastern Pequot tribe; ... 
. " and noted in Sec. 5 that, "Tribal funds shall be under the care and control of the welfare 
commissioner. , " Said commissioner shall annually settle his accounts of the affairs of each 
tribe with the controller, .... " (CT Public Acts, #304 1961). 

In 1973, Connecticut established the CIAC and transferred jurisdiction over the State's Indian 
affairs from the Welfare Department to the Department of Environmental Protection (CT Public 
Act No. 73-660; signed into law June 22,1973; effective October 1,1973)_ 

On November 8, 1979, Ella Grasso, Governor of Connecticut, in a letter to Fred Williams, 
Intergovernmental Rdations, made the following statements while declaring the Paucatuck 
Eastern Pequot Tribe to be a Connecticut governmental unit eligible for revenue sharing: 

... the Pallc:atuck Eastern Pequot tribe has a recognized tribal governing body 
which exercises substantial governmental functions_ Data provided to my office 
by the Cornecticut Indian Affairs Council indicates that the Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot tribf: (!xhibits the following governmental functions: maintenance of a 
forn1a1 gOH:ming structure with appropriate executive offices. Detennination of 
tribal membership and assignment ofreservation land in accordance with the 
regulations of the Indian Affair Council. Operation of small tribal businesses. 
Maintena:nce of revenue for internal tribal operations. Planning and 
implementation of economic development projects. Because of existing statutes, 
tribal governments relate directly to the state and are not an integral part of local 
go\'ernmt:~lll. Connecticut tribes appoint a representative to serve on the Indian 
Affairs C:Juncil which is the principal state administrative body dealing with 
Indian malleI'S. The relevant tribal population by county, location of tribal trust 
land and chief executive officer for the tribe is listed below. I request that this 
tribe be induded as a unit of Connecticut local government for revenue sharing 
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purposes (Grasso to Williams 1118/1979; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, 
Ex. 44).30 

In 1981. the CIAC prepared a bill which was stated by Department of Welfare Commissioner 
Stanley Pac to recognize "each Tribe by the historical name deemed appropriate by the Tribe 
rather than a descriptive label applied by a State agency in the dIstant and past and continuing 
into the current Statues" (Testimony on Raised Committee Bill 7272, An Act Concerning 
Connecticut Indians before the Government Administration and Elections Committee 
3/30/1981). The 1 estimony did not indicate the basis upon which the name "Paucatuck Eastern 
Pequot" was deem(~d appropriate. 31 The change of the state-recognized tribe's name to 
"Paucatuck East(:rn Pequot Tribe" was incorporated into the Connecticut General Statues 47-59a 
in 1982. 

In 1989, Connecticut passed Public Law 368, An Act Implementing the recommendations of the 
Task Force on Indian Affairs" (Ex. 44, Notebook H, EP Response to Comments 8/2/2001). 

30 See also P::P's analysis of the significance of this letter (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 31; PEP 
Response to Commf:nts 9/4/200 I). 

31 EP stated to the Governor of Connecticut in 1992: 

Because there has been some confusion regarding the tribe's name in the past, we would like to 
advise you that the tribe has historically been known as the Eastern Pequot tribe, however, in 1982 
and again in 1989, the state legislature changed the name of the tribe in the Connecticut General 
Statutes. The name Paucatuck refers to the original location of the tribe in and around Stonington 
(formerly krown as Paucatuck) and the Paucatuck River. We did not approve of the legislature's 
change of the historical name and we have chosen to use the name which we have always used (R. 
Sebastian to W(:icker 3/10/1992, 2). 

The language in the ~emlte Report for the Federal bill in regard to Mashantucket Pequot land claims used both 
terms: "Section 2(e,l finds that the Mashantucket Pequot Tribal Council as now constituted is the sole successor in 
interest to the aborigi nal group known as the Western Pequot tribe. This finding is intended to make it clear that the 
Mashantucket Pequot Indian Claims Settlement Act in no way affects the interests, whatever they may be. of the 
Paucatuck Pequot Tribe (also known as the Eastern Pequot Tribe) (98 th Congress, 125 Session, Senate Report No. 
98-222, Calendar No 369, Authorizing Funds for the Settlement ofIndian Claims in the Town of Ledyard, Conn. 
September 14, 1983, 10; PEP Comments 8/212001, Ex. 104). Identical language appeared in the House Report 
dated March 21, 19K; (98 th Congress lSI Session, House of Representatives Report No. 98-43,5; PEP Comments 
8/2 '200 I, Ex. 104). 

"The Connecticut Inc ian Affairs Council (CIAC) appealed to the State Legislature to have certain tribal names 
changed on the State Law books. The request was to 'reflect their historically accurate names. rather than the State 
Imposed designation.' The major part of this request (House Bill 7272) was to put the land in Colchester into trust 
status for the Golden HilI Paugussett Tribe. The bill passed and the land became State trust land: the tribal names 
changed are: Golden Hill to Golden Hill Paugussett; Eastern Pequot to Paucatuck Pequot; Western Pequot to 
Mashantucket PequoI" (Sarabaia to Sebastian 3/30/1985; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 40). 

The 1989 legislatior .. :mce more modified the name from "Paucatuck Pequot" to "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot" (CT 
P.A. 89-368 1989, Sec. ::2). 
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Most of this act d(~~lt with the protection of archaeological artifacts and sites. Beginning with 
Sec. 16, the statut'e repealed Section 47-59a of the general statutes; it continued the prior 
language in regard to citizenship (paragraph (a)) and added the following provision: 

(b) The State of Connecticut further recognizes that the indigenous tribes, ... the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot, ... are self-governing entities possessing powers and 
duties over tribal members and reservations. Such powers and duties include the 
power to d(:termine tribal membership and residency on reservation land, (2) 
determine the tribal form of government, (3) regulate trade and commerce on the 
reservation, (4) make contracts, and (5) determine tribal leadership in accordance 
with tribal :,ractice and usage (CT Public Law 368, Sec. 16 1989). 

The Towns note a sentence in Sec. 17(b) which states: "Nothing in this chapter shall be 
construed to conf(~r tribal status under federal law on the indigenous tribes" (Towns August 2001, 
265-266). PEP argues that the use of the term "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot" indicates that 
petitioner #113 is 1he state-recognized tribe (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/2001, 38; PEP 
Response to Comnents 9/41200 I). Sections 17, 18, and 19 regulate the relationship between the 
state-recognized trih<::s and the State of Connecticut. 

In 1995, an Official Statement by John G. Rowland, Governor, designating November 1996 as 
Native American M.onth in the State of Connecticut continued to use the terminology of the 1989 
Act: "WHEREAS, Connecticut further recognizes that the indigenous tribes, the Schaghticoke, 
the Paucatuck Eas':em Pequot, the Mashantucket Pequot, the Mohegan and the Golden Hill 
Paugussett are self governing entities possessing powers and duties over tribal members and 
reservations; .... ," (Rowland 1996, PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I, Ex, 57). 

Government-to-Government Relationship. The State and Towns note that, unlike the Federal 
government, the S tate and colony did not have criteria for detetmining that an Indian group was 
a tribe. Howev~:r, the State dealt with a fixed and defined set of tribes., which changed only 
through formal de:ribalization procedures under supervision of the legislature, Federal 
recognition generdly required that a tribal political entity existed and that there was a specific 
Federal action, e,,g .. , a law or treaty, which authorized Federal relations. In the case of 
Connecticut, the e::tuilvalents of those actions in relation to all the State's tribes occurred in the 
colonial period, 

The State's Comments combined discussion of two topics. One, asserted in various ways, is 
that, "State recogr.ition cannot and did not control the decision to place an Indian tribe in a 
government-to-govcrnment relationship with the United States" (State afConnecticut August 
2001, 15; see also State of Connecticut August 2001, 17-20). This assertion is beside the point, 
since the proposed findings did not do this. Rather, the proposed finding concluded that a 
specifically defined form of State relationship (continuous recognition from colonial times to the 
present combined with continuous existence of a State reservation), provided the basis to assign 
additional weight to other evidence, The State's second topic that, "Under the Regulations, State 
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Recognition Does Not Augment or Supplement Evidence for the Other Mandatory Criteria" is 
relevant to this general issue. 

Even though the State varied in its opinion concerning ownership of or legal title to the Lantern 
Hill reservation, the State consistently defined its obligation toward the Eastern Pequot tribe as 
being that of a trustee, looking out for the tribe's best interests. In 1939, at the legislative 
hearings in regan:: tOo a proposed sale of camp sites on the Lantern Hill reservation to the non­
Indian lessees, so::neone identified as "First Representative for Mr. Filley, Secretary of State 
Park and Forest Commission," presented the following statement: "I want to point out that this 
reservation is hel.d in trust for the Indians .... This is the Indians' land, not the State's. We 
simply hold it in trust for them .... These Indians are not citizens of the town; they do not get 
much help from the town in the way of relief," subsequently adding, "They are not citizens of 
the town; they are: state wards. We are looking after the interests of the Indians, and believe it is 
contrary to public interest if this sale is made" (CT Hearing 1939 re: HB No. 347, 6; PEP 
Comments 8/2/2eOl, Ex. 55). 

In 1941, Connect.eut legislation transferred the supervisory authority over the State's tribes and 
reservations from the Parks and Forest Commission to the Office of the Commissioner of 
Welfare. Claytor Squires, Director of that office, wrote a memorandum requesting clarification 
of his authority te E:rnest E. A. Halstedt, Assistant Attorney General, on December 13, 1949; 
Halstedt replied t,) Squires on May 24, 1950. In regard to the authority and responsibility of the 
Commissioner of Welfare (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 57; Towns August 2001, Ex. 37),32 he 
stated: "Broad authority is given by Section 7168 of the General Statutes, Revision of 1949, to 
the Commissioner of Welfare, as overseer of all the tribes ofIndians residing in the state, to 
cause the property of such Indians to be used for their best interest" (Halstedt to Squires 
5/2411950, 1). In regard to the Eastern Pequot, Halstedt's memo specifically referenced the 1683 
land purchase as :'ecorded in the Public Records of the Colony oj Connecticut 3: 11 7 (Halstedt to 
Squires 5/2411950" 11-2) and the statute of 1824 (Halstedt to Squires 5/24/1950, 2), leading to a 
conclusion that: 

This same protective tenor runs through the present applicable statutes. It 
therefore lppears that the lands comprising the Indian reservations of Connecticut 
do not belong to the various tribes, but are merely set aside for their use and 
benefit so long as there shall be an Indian to reside thereon, after which these 
lands will revert to the state (Halstedt to Squires 5/24/1950, 2). 

3c As a general principle, the BIA is aware that many documents have been submitted multiple times in the 
course of the proces~;ing of this petition. The BIA will not anempt to cite to every occurrence ofa document in the 
record, but will cite'o either the first occasion upon which it was located and used or, in certain circumstances, to 
the best copy avaiI2,ble. The evidentiary content of the document remains the same, no matter who submitted it, or 
when. 
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Although this opinion was somewhat at variance with the concept of trusteeship that had been 
expressed by the Dire:ctor of the Parks and Forest Service at the 1939 hearings, both effectively 
stay that the land was owned by the State, effectively in trust for the Indian tribes. This is 
consistent with the text of the various 19th and 20 th century statutes. 

Analysis of Comm~nts and Responses: Federal Views of the Status of State-Recognized Tribes. 
The Towns submitted documents from the Congressional debate immediately proceeding 
passage of the 183:> Removal Act which commented on the status of Indians in the original 13 
Colonies (Towns August 2001). They also cite later correspondence from the Department of the 
Interior which statl~s that Department's view that the Indians in the 13 original states were not 
under Federal jurisdiction and had become citizens of those states, with the exception of certain 
tribes with whom the Federal government had treaties (e.g., Cherokee and Iroquois). 

The Federal view in the 19th century was that the members ofnon-federally-recognized tribes in 
the 13 original states had become citizens and were the responsibility of the states in which they 
were located, and lberefore, by the definition at that time, not in tribal relations. This fact in 
itself made them not:a Federal responsibility, even when, as can be seen in the case of 
Connecticut and some others of the original 13 colonies, the members of the tribes under state 
guardianship were not considered by the states themselves to be citizens of the state in which 
they resided. 33 T1Ls point of view held even where the Federal government knew that tribes 
existed for which it had not acknowledged a responsibility (e.g., in Maine, and elsewhere). 

For these reasons" the: material cited by the Towns concerning Federal views of State Indians in 
the 19th century is not relevant for purposes of evaluating the Eastern Pequots' status in 
relationship to the State of Connecticut as it pertains to the acknowledgment regulations. The 
evidence concerning a distinct State citizenship status for Indians from the tribes for which 
Connecticut maintlined reservations is discussed above. 

33 Massachusetts, Rhode Island, Virginia, and South Carolina were typical cases. Members of state­
recognized Indian trib:!:> were not necessarily (or even usually) viewed by a given state as being state citizens, even 
when the Federal government classified them as such. 

For Massacl1'lsetts, consult Ann Marie Plane and Gregory Button, The Massachusetts Indian 
Enfranchisement Act; Ethnic Contest in Historical Context, 1849-1869, Ethnohistol), 40 (1993): 587-618; for 
Rhode Island, see the sequence of reports issued by the Commissioners on Narragansett Indians from 1881-1883, in 
particular, as to det,erninations as to maintenance of tribal relations, if a man had voted other than in tribal elections, 
whether in Rhode Island. Connecticut, or Massachusetts (Report of Commissioners on Narraganscll Indians 1881, 
86-86. 103). 

For Virginia. consult the legislation and debates in regard to the detribalization of the Gingaskin and 
:\ansemond. In re~:ard to the Catawba as non-citizens of the State of South Carolina. see D. M. Browning. Letter 
From the Comrnissior er of Indian Affairs to R. V. Belt 8/28/]896 (reprinted in The Catawba Tribe of indians, 
Senate Document 144. 54'1; Congress, 2nd Session, 3-10); Office of Indian Affairs, Repon to Commissiom:r of 
Indian Affairs on Cal'I'il'ba Indians of South Carolina 115/1911 (original NARA RG 75, 8990-1908-052, pI. I; 
Reprinted in Hearings on HR 2399, to Provide for the Settlement of Land Claims of the Catawba Tribe of Indians in 
the State of South Carolina and the Restoration of the Federal Trust Relationship with the Tribe. Serial No. 103-34. 
Go\,ernment Printinf: Office). 
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Analysis of Comrnell1ts and Responses: Precedents for Using State Recognition. In no previous 
acknowledgment case was there continuous state recognition since early colonial times 
(essentially sinc(~ tlt1c~ tribe first was no longer independent ofa non-Indian political entity) up 
until the present. To that extent, the parties' comments on precedents from previous 
acknowledgment decisions are not applicable, since it is both the State's actions and the 
continuity throughDut history that provided the rationale for givIng greater weight to the 
evidence in the proposed finding. 

The Towns and Statl~ additionally argue that because the regulations only specifically mentioned 
state recognition under criterion 83.7(a), concerning external identification as an Indian entity, 
that it cannot be otherwise used as evidence. The regulations clearly state that the specific kinds 
of evidence mentioned in § 83.7 are not proscriptive lists (see statements in §§ 83.6(g) and 
83.7(b) and (c». 

They also cite the 1997 Official Guidelines to the effect that state recognition does not carry any 
special weight. l11is advice was meant to address the idea on the part of some petitioners that 
any kind of state recognition was in effect an initial step towards Federal recognition. The 
advice was not llJi~ant to foreclose the approach taken here. 

It is true that giving state recognition greater weight was considered and rejected in the early 
process of formulation of the original, 1978 regulations. However, this rejection rested in part of 
the great diversity in character of state recognition, particularly the then-recent phenomenon of 
new state recogni :ions made on an uncertain basis. These recognitions are distinguishable from 
a consistent course of actions towards a distinct group, deriving from the point, more or less that 
the independently governed tribe came under the control of the Crown and Colony. The 
preamble to the 11978 regulations commented that "It should also be noted that recognition by 
State government officials or legislatures is not conclusive evidence that the group meets the 
criteria set forth herein" (43 FR 39361). [emphasis added] 

Analysis ofComrnents and Responses: Government-to-Government Relationship. In the on-the­
record technical assistance meeting, BIA staff indicated specifically that a "government-to­
government relationship" parallel to the Federal relationship with tribes lay behind the 
assignment of greate:r weight to the evidence for criteria 83. 7(b) and 83. 7( c) in the proposed 
finding. "Govemment-to-government" is indeed a modern term. It did not come into usage until 
the 1970's, but is :;onsistent with and derived from Federal views on tribal status dating from the 
early 19th century which rested in part on the existence of tribes as distinct political communities 
(i.e., dependent domestic nations) within the United States. The central issue for the AS-IA in 
the proposed finding was not a specific relationship with a governing body of the Eastem Pequot 
tribe but rather tl1;: continuous nature of the State relationship with the tribe defined by the 
existence of the reservation, the oversight responsibility of the State, and the unique status of the 
tribes under Conr ecticut laws, distinct from all other Connecticut residents. 
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Summation of Ana~ysis of Comments and Responses. Connecticut's relationship with its 
recognized tribes 'rVas not a racial classification based on Indian descent of individuals. Non­
tribal Indians living in Connecticut (whether they were from other States, such as Rhode Island 
or New York, or themselves natives of Connecticut and descendants of aboriginal Connecticut 
tribes), even those :living in New London County, and even those living in StoningtonINorth 
Stonington were [.ot under state-appointed overseers and not under local guardians unless there 
was some other factor, such as mental incompetency, to be considered. The following major 
components show that there was a special relationship based upon the distinct nature of the tribes 
for which the colcny/state bore responsibility. The relation between the State of Connecticut and 
the Eastern Pequot comprised the following elements: 

Historicity. The State inherited its obligation from the Colony and the evidence does not show 
that the State ever questioned that it had such an obligation. The various items cited by the 
Towns in their seTtion on Federal agreement with jurisdiction by Connecticut and other States 
succeeding to the original 13 colonies over their tribes during the first half of the 19th century 
actually reinforce this point of view. There is no requirement in Federal law that such a 
relationship must be established by treaty. 

Legislation. Beginning in the colonial era, Connecticut has regularly legislated concerning the 
tribes within its borders, including modifying the statutes as recently as 1989. 

Regularity, When there was no immediate activity, the laws remained in fOfce and the 
reservation contir.ued to exist. When issues came up that required the legislature to take notice, 
it did so. Changl~s in State policy over time do not undennine this continuity, because no 
relationship conti l1uing for over 350 years can be expected to remain static -- it may be affected 
by local circumstances, and sometimes even by ignorance upon the part of people trying to carry 
out the laws. 

Fiduciary Respo!J~jJ;.ility. A fiduciary resporisibility began in the colonial era and included but 
was not limited to le:gal protection of tribal lands and funds, with certain consistent requirements, 
such as no sale of Indian land without consent of the legislature. While the State has expressed 
differences of opinion about the exact nature of its responsibility for its tribes and the exact 
nature of the land titles over the course of time, it has never denied that this obligation existed. 
The argument th2t Indians were solely the responsibility of the locality is completely 
unsupported by the evidence, When a Superior Court or a Town had an obligation. it held it by 
delegation from the State. Much of the time, the Towns did not recognize any obligation to the 
tribes within thei- borders -- as instanced by their appealing to the State for reimbursement from 
the Indian funds ",,'hen they did extend assistance. The argumentation that there were long 
periods of time Ii.'hen the State appeared to take only minimal notice of the Eastern Pequot is not 
valid in light of aU fonns of documentation taken together, including the regular enactment or 
reenactment of statutes. 

~~ 
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Oversight. The Dvc~rsight function of the State operated continuously and generated large 
numbers of records. Beginning in the colonial era and involving at various times the publication 
of laws, appointment of indigenous governors operating in cooperation with non-Indian 
overseers, remand tlO the care of the governor and council, direct legislative appointment of 
overseers, delegation of oversight to the Superior Court of the county in which the tribe was 
located, and resumption of direct State oversight. 

Special Nature (~' the Continuous State Relationship Based on the Existence of Tribes. While 
organizations that were not Indian tribes certainly had right to petition the government, as the 
Towns point out, th,eir argumentation is inapplicable in that non-tribes were not petitioning about 
reservations and Dvc~rseers for which the State bore responsibility. Neither did the State have to 
"detribalize" and allot private clubs or charitable organizations in order to shed a fiduciary and 
oversight respomiibility, nor did it need to specifically grant State citizenship to the members of 
such voluntary organizations. 

Citizenship. The actions of the State indicate that members of the State recognized tribes were 
not, at least undl~r law, fully citizens of the State until legislation passed in 1973. The 
detribalization 0 f the Mohegan and Western Niantic in the second half of the 19th century had the 
granting of Stat(~ citizenship specifically tied to it. The State was at best uncertain of the 
applicability of 1:hc~ 1924 Federal act granting citizenship to all Indians native to the United 
States, continuing to grant tax exemptions to reservation residents and limit their voting rights. 

Conclusion. A detailed review of the history and documents indicates that Connecticut has 
maintained an uninterrupted, continuous relationship with the Eastern Pequot tribe from colonial 
times to the present. Some of the aspects of that continuous relationship, such as the tax exempt 
status of the rese:'vation land and the citizenship status of tribal members until 1973, indicate that 
Connecticut, thwughout the period, defined its tribes as distinct political entities. 

The nature of Connecticut's relationship with the Eastern Pequot tribe from the colonial period 
to the present, even without application of the modern phrase "government-to-government," has 
been such as to provide an additional fonn of evidence to be weighed together with other 
evidence. This evidence exists throughout the time span, but is most important during specific 
periods where th~ other evidence in the record concerning community and political influence 
would be insufficient by itself. 
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83.7(a) 

ANALYSIS OF EVIDENCE UNDER THE CRITERIA 

83.7(a-g) 

The petitioner has been identified as an"American 
Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis 
since 1900. Evidence that the group's character as 
an Indian entity has from time to time been denied 
shall not be considered to be conclusive evidence 
that this criterion has not been met. 

The Summary under the Criteria for the proposed finding and the associated chart for criterion 
83.7(a) analyzed ev:idence for external identification of petitioner #35 as an Indian entity from 
1900 to the preslent. The proposed finding concluded that the combination of the various forms 
of evidence, taken in historical context, provides sufficient external identification of the 
historical Easterr Pequot tribe as an American Indian entity from 1900 until the present, 
including, from 1973 to the present, additional identifications of the petitioner as a subgroup 
within that enti~>,. 

No comments were received34 or new evidence submitted specifically designated as relevant to 
criterion 83.7(a) for petitioner #35. New assertions specifically applicable to PEP are analyzed 
in the final deteImination for petitioner #113. Petitioner #35 submitted some additional external 
identifications of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe since 1900, such as the field notes made 
about 1913-1914 by George Grant McCurdy, Curator of the Yale Peabody Museum, and an 
additional set oflotes made about 1920 by Frank G. Speck, anthropologist, University of 
Pennsylvania. A 1924 newspaper article mentioned that members of the Eastern Pequot tribe 
(giving a list of names taken from a past overseer's report, not all of whom resided on Lantern 
Hill at the time) "attended the services of the placing of the memorials to the Narragansetts" 
(The Evening Day, New London, CT, 8/5/1924). 

Some additional evidence, such as newspaper articles, provided additional instances of 
identification of EP as an American Indian entity since 1973. The majority of these 
identifications continued to be ofEP in the context of the full Eastern Pequot tribe and the 
Lantern Hill reservation; a few distinguished between EP and PEP. 

3~One passlge in the Towns' comments may have been meant to pertain to criterion 83.7(a), but was not 
designated as such ··One of the few descriptions by an outside observer during that period was made by local 
historian Richard A lson Wheeler, who stated in 1900 that the reservation did not contain 'a residence of any Pequot 
descendants,' whicr can be interpreted as meaning that Wheeler did not consider its residents to be Pequot 
descendants" (Toll liS August 2001, 335; no citation to source). This passage was already discussed in the proposed 
finding (EP PF 2001l. 79; citing Wheeler 1900,195, as quoted in Lynch 1998a, 5:96). 
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Therefore, the ccnclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.7(a) is 
affirmed. 

See also the conc:lusory section of this document. 

83.7(b) A predominant portion of the petitioning group 
comprises a distinct community and has existed as 
a community from historical times until the 
present. 

Introduction. 35 The proposed finding stated: 

The two p(~titioners derive from a single historical tribe with a continuous state 
relationsbip since colonial times. As such, the modern conflicts between the two, 
which have focused on their relationship with the State of Connecticut, are 
relevant e:vidence for political influence, although it is unclear if it is as one tribe, 
or as two Petitioner #35 (EP) has taken the position that there was only one tribe, 
but has not presented sufficient evidence to demonstrate that this was the case 
after 197:1, although there is some evidence that only one tribe exists within the 
meaning 'Jf the regulations. Petitioner # 113 (PEP) has taken the position that the 
EP famil ies were not of Eastern Pequot ancestry and were never part of the tribe. 
The proposed finding for EP concludes that the PEP position is not correct. Both 
groups derive from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe which was recognized by 
the State Jf Connecticut. The State continues to recognize a successor to the 
historical Eastern Pequot tribe, but has not taken a position as to the leaders of 
that successor (EP PF 2000, 61). 

Petitioner #35 accepted the above conclusion in regard to criterion 83.7(b) and, in addition, 
submitted additional documentation for the final determination designed to strengthen its 
assertion that its o\\'n current members and their direct antecedents have maintained community 
throughout the 201h century and maintain community at present. 

The Towns challenge the finding that there was a historical Eastern Pequot tribe which 
maintained community from historical times through the third quarter of the 19th century: "This 
section ... discu:;ses ... the groups' failure to develop meaningful or continuous political and 
social interactions" from first contact with European colonists through the present (To\1'1I5 

August 2001,44). 

3s"Commlll1ilY means any group of people which can demonstrate that consistent interactions and 
significant social relatlonships exist within its membership and that its members are differentiated from and 
identified as distlJ1C't from nonmembers. CommunilY must be understood in the context of the history. geography, 
culture and SOCial 01 ganization of the group" (25 CFR § 83.1). 
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For the final detenmination, the petitioner, petitioner #113, and third parties submitted additional 
documentation and Icomments in regard to the issue of maintenance of community by EP from 
1883 to the present. 

Response to Other Comments by Petitioners and Parties. 

The State's brief(State o/Connecticut August 2001,5) quotes a staff statement from the July 11, 
2001, technical assistance meeting that the Assistant Secretary had directed the researchers to 
"not look quite m; d~~eply into the petitioner's claims [sic]" (7/1112001 TA transcript at 202). The 
cited comment reflected the general views expressed by the AS-IA about the acknowledgment 
process, that BIA researchers conducted research in more depth than was necessary. No 
direction of this kind was given with specific regard to the evaluation of the EP and PEP 
petitioners. As further stated at the TA meeting, the AS-lA's views were incorporated into 
policies in the F1ebmary 2000 Directive (711112001 TA transcript at 202). 

The State (State of Connecticut August 2001,28) disagrees with the proposed finding's 
statement that oc::upation of a distinct territory by a portion of a group is evidence of 
community, even iif it is less than 50 percent of the group's membership. The State cites 25 CFR 
83.7(b)(2)(i) in support of this, saying that the PF's statement "contravenes" the regulations. The 
quoted section ofthe regulations refers to evidence which is sufficient in itself to establish 
community. The regulations permit the use of any evidence to show community, most often in 
combination with other evidence. The existence of a territorially distinct community 
encompassing pan of the group, but less than 50 percent, is evidence towards demonstrating 
community, even where not sufficient in itself. 

The State's brief .It several points discusses a particular portion of the evidence, such as the 
Fourth Sunday rneeltings (State o/Connecticut August 2001,35), concluding that they are 
insufficient evidEnce to show community. This approach differs from those of the regulations, 
which in most in!;tances call for evaluating a combination of different forms of evidence. 

Reliance on interview Data. 

Town and State romments. The State of Connecticut raises a variety of concerns about the 
utilization of interview evidence, especially focusing on the interview materials submitted by EP 
because they did not supply complete transcripts of the interviews they used (State of 
Connecticut August 200i, 33). The State and Towns commented that important portions of the 
proposed finding5' conclusions concerning both petitioners were based primarily on interview 
information about events that happened more than 25 years ago (State a/Connecticlit August 
2001,34; Towns August 2001,273-282). The State and Towns also made specific comments 
about the use of interview evidence concerning specific topics such as Fourth Sunday meetings, 
Alden Wilson's picnics, and some of the activities of Atwood Williams, Sr., based on their 
assessment of tlw interview evidence in the record. These specific critiques are addressed in the 
topical sections below. 
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In July 2001, in response to a request by the State, the BIA provided a discussion of the 
standards and methodology used by the BIA in evaluating interview materials in a recorded 
informal technical assistance meeting conducted by conference call. The parties were also 
provided with a 11~1ttc~r describing the BIA's approach and listing a selection of methodological 
works in anthropology that provided the methodological framework for the BIA's evaluation of 
interview materials (George Roth, Acting RCh, to Richard Blumenthal 7/6/2001). They were 
also provided with citations to previous acknowledgment findings, specifically the Snoqualmie 
and Cowliz final determinations, and provided with relevant portions of the Department's brief 
before the Admir.istrative Law Judge in the proceedings in Greene v. Babbitt for further 
guidance. 

The State commented in response to the proposed finding that "interview evidence can vary 
widely in its validity and caution is required in evaluating its reliability. In particular, 
professional standards should be followed in the conducting of interview evidence [sic] and the 
collection of oral histories" (State 0/ Connecticut August 2001 Appendix, 10). The State's 
general comments cite some of the references provided by the Department to them, quoting 
cautionary language' concerning interview information. The State's Comments cite comments 
by H. Russell Bel1lard, that "informants are inaccurate" and "there appears to be systematic 
distortion in how informants recall just about everything" (State o/Connecticut August 2001 
Appendix, 10). 

The cautions exp ~essed in the literature cited, and in the other literature referenced by the 
Department, are appropriate and consistent with the Department's views, but the discussion of 
the professionallilerature in the State's comments omits the discussions of how these problems 
may be compensated for and what areas of inquiry are most likely to be less reliable. The State 
presents only the negative comments and does not discuss differences in reliability depending on 
method and subjt::c:t matter, among other factors. The professional literature cited in the 
Department's lett~:r and July 200 I technical assistance meeting describes how the issues in 
gathering and intl~rpreting interview evidence may be dealt with. The cited author, Bernard in a 
recent work on rre:thodology in cultural anthropology, notes that methods such as using 
prompted recall by specifics, comparison of infonnation from different interviews, repeat 
interviewing, ane the like can be valuable in providing more specific and more accurate 
infonnation (Soc'-a! Research Methods 218-220; see also methodological discussion by Schensul 
(Schensul, SchensuL and LeCompte 2001). 

The State also ci,tes cautions from another article included in the references pro\'ided by the 
Department, by VJidich and Bensmen (State o/Connecticut August 2001 Appendix, 11). These 
authors go on to d'escribe commonsense measures which can compensate in substantial measure 
for distortions in interview evidence (Vidich and Bensman 1954, 20-27). Other references 
provided by the Department also discuss techniques for improving accuracy (see Langness and 
Gelya 1981,43-59), 
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Some of the literature cited by the State is not directly applicable here, since it refers to 
circumstances wIt(:ne field workers are trying to develop highly precise counts of events and 
participation, and specific recall of dates. The studies are, further, ones in which surveys and 
structured intervi ew techniques rather than key infonnant, in depth interviewing was done. Such 
techniques are prl~:ferable for quantifiable data but provide less opportunity to compensate for 
limitations in the accuracy of initial responses. The State quotes Bernard's statement in a 1984 
article reviewing the literature on accuracy of interview infonnation, as saying that memory 
decays exponentially (Slate o/Connecticut August 2001 Appendix, 10). The cited article is 
primarily discussing short-tenn time periods between events and interview, such as less than a 
year, and does not directly address accuracy over substantially longer periods of time (Bernard, 
H.R., P.D. Killworth, D. Kronenfeld and L. Saler 1984). 

The BIA intervi(:'.\/s were conducted for the purpose of evaluating and verifying the data 
presented in the pe:tition, including but not limited to the interview data. As such they are not 
intended to be a substitute for ethnographic research on the part of the petitioners. The Towns 
stated that interviewers "did not stay on point" to ask followup questions in some cases and did 
not ask the same Jasic questions of each interviewee (Towns August 2001,273). Although more 
extended interview time, such as multiple interviews on the part of the petitioners' 
anthropologists l,\'ould have allowed the development of additional and clearer information, the 
BIA interview infonmation was useful in evaluating and augmenting the interview and 
documentary evid(:nce presented by the petitioners. The cautions, and the factors described in 
the literature as necessary in evaluating interview infonnation have been applied here. 

As the BIA statec in the OTR and other technical assistance meetings, any evaluation of an 
interview poses S'Jme basic questions, such as how well it was conducted, whether leading 
questions were avoided, in what degree of specificity the information was provided, whether the 
individual was in a position to know the facts, if there are factors which would lead to distortion, 
and the interviewee's own style, approach, and ability in responding (OTR 2000, 136-138), To 
this may be added the observation from the cited anthropological literature, that some items, 
such as public (!wnts, physical location and the like are more likely recalled accurately than 
attitudes, beliefs, and the like (see Poggie 1972, 23-30; also cited by State oj Connecticut August 
2001 Appendix, 10). The State notes a portion of the BIA comments in the OTR meeting that 
there was at least some distortion of information obtained and that the degree of precision in 
information obtained varied, depending on the interviewee (Stale oJ Connecticut August 2001, 
32). 

The acknowledgment findings and the literature cited by the State (State oj Connecticut August 
200 J Appendix, ; 0-11) note the importance of what some of the anthropological literature refers 
to as "triangulation,'" of the interview data. This is simply the approach that greater validity is 
obtained by drawing information from a variety of sources, interview and non-interview. In 
acknowledgment findings, as the cited portion of the Samish brief sent to the State notes, the 

. interview data is ;)laced in the context of an enormous volume of documentary data which 
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provides context, support and corroboration of the interview evidence. The interviews in turn 
often inform what its known about events and individuals known from documents. The State 
overstates the language in Cowlitz fInal determination, indicating that this determination stated 
that, "BIA standards require that interview evidence be 'corroborated by written materials such 
as meeting minute:s, correspondence and newsletters'" (State a/Connecticut August 200], 33). 
The passage in question was descriptive.36 Corroboration through written documentation is a 
methodological rath(~r than a regulatory requirement, and is most crucial when the interview 
information conti ins hearsay information in regard to long-past events in regard to which the 
interviewee has no direct knowledge. 

Certain kinds of information are much more likely to be found in the documentary record: e.g., 
records that meetings were held, conflicts arose, lawsuits ensued, and the like. At the same time, 
the documentary record is unlikely to provide the complete picture of the conflict, exactly what 
the issues were, who supported whom, and maybe some of the interests at stake. In this way, 
interview and doc'lmentary information reinforce and cross check each other. 

Connecticut incom:ctly describes the Department's position concerning the use of key 
informants, misst2ting the criticism of the Indiana Miami petition in the Miami final 
determination (Stc .. te a/Connecticut August 2001,34). In that instance, the criticism was that the 
information on th~: subject area was gained incidentally to interviews on other, unrelated, topical 
areas rather than being part of a systematic interviewing scheme to discover the facts about the 
topic in question, maintenance of social contacts. It was not a criticism of the use of key 
informants but of':he focus of the interviewing. Key informants are individuals who can be 
expected on the be.sis of age, experience, position within the group etc. to be knowledgeable 
about a particular:juestion, area, subject, etc. Use of key informants is not a survey, in the sense 
of a statistically valid sampling of the entire membership, where each respondent is effectively a 
unit of information and a uniform set of inquiries is made. The Snoqualmie final determination 
provides a definiti::m and description of the importance of the use of key informants as one 
methodology--that the ethnographic approach is not a statistical survey, but involves finding 
knowledgeable individuals with a substantial body of knowledge about the subject areas being 
investigated. Examples of these are political leaders, who, even though having strong specific 
points of view and specific motivations, are the ones with the greatest familiarity with political 
processes (Snoqualmie FD, 1997, 122-127). 

3('The actual it3tement in regard to Quinault's challenge to the Cowlitz interviews read: 

No single inC iVldual knew or remembered everythIng that occurred. They only related what they 
saw and renwrnber during their interviews. The interviews rarely contradicted one another, and 
they were cOIToborated by wrinen materials such as meeting minutes, correspondence and 
newsletters. As a whole, all of these sources tended to extend the description of events beyond 
what a single individual may remember (Cowlitz FD 2000, TR 26). 
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Although the Towns' comments conclude that the interviews, referring to the those conducted by 
the petitioners as well as the BIA's, were not a significant research tool, the Towns themselves 
offer extensive conclusions based on these materials (see Towns August 2001,274-285). These 
conclusions are not limited to the absence, weakness or unclarity of evidence, but include 
positive conclusions about the character of events. The Towns' comments indicate that they 
applied fairly standard approaches to this material and in some, but by no means all, cases 
reached similar conclusions as this determination. (Under the regulations, the Towns and State 
did not have the cpportunity to comment on the additional interview materials submitted by the 
petitioners as Comments on the proposed finding.) 

The State focuses primarily on the limitations of the EP interviews rather than those conducted 
by the BlA, thus, apparently, not rejecting the use of interview evidence per se, but raising 
caution flags. The BlA staff in the August 2000 OTR noted the desirability of seeing the actual 
text of interviews rather than summary notes. The State noted that much or most of EP's 
interview data submitted by the petitioner that was included in the record for the proposed 
finding was in the: form of notes or abstracts. The shorter form, such as extracts, is not entirely 
useless as evidence, though less desirable than full transcripts, if the extracts are specific 
abstracts rather tban apparent "glosses" of, or interpretations of, what the individual said. In 
addition, it was possible to cross check with other interviews and other data sources, to evaluate 
the adequacy of thl~ abstracting and to apply measures of reliability such as whether the 
interviewee was in a position to know about what he reported and what some likely biases are. 

In response to the proposed finding and the technical assistance provided by the Department, EP 
submitted a substmtial number of complete interview transcripts, although for the most part they 
did not provide detailed transcripts behind the summary notes submitted with the initial petition. 

During preparatic,n of this final determination, the BIA requested the full text of the interview 
materials submitt ~d by EP in 1998 which were excerpts from interviews by Burgess and by other 
EP researchers because they were referenced again in the EP Comments on the proposed finding. 
The BIA also req Jested full texts of interviews for which extracts were submitted with the 
response to the proposed finding which were dated 2000. The BIA also renewed its request for 
the notes of EP researcher Kathleen Bragdon's 1998 research, which had been requested before 
completion of the proposed finding but not received. The BIA also asked for the full body of 
interview material cited by Bragdon in the narrative portion ofEP's Comments on the proposed 
finding. The materials submitted in response to these requests was not substantially more 
complete than tIle' original submissions. 

The Towns' comments on the interviews are generally parallel to the State's, but add the charge 
that the EP influencled the BIA interviews by distributing materials to members, holding lectures 
and the like, so a~; to "project a uniform story to the BAR researchers" after being coached 
(Towns August 2001, 165). The Towns provide copies of a packet that essentially put forward 
the EP position concerning its history as stated in its 1998 petition narrative (Towns AlIgllst 
JOO 1, Ex. 96). T1e materials are referenced in the Epts newsletter to members. Some particular 
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sections are very parallel to the EP petition claims, and thus are perhaps pertinent to influencing 
the interviews, th)ugh most of the material is not pertinent. None of the documents supplied are 
explicitly framed to urge individuals to answer in particular ways. 

The Towns' claim that the EP mailing created a uniform story is belied by their analysis of the 
information from tht~ BlA interview tapes (see Towns August 2001,274) which focuses on actual 
and apparent connicts between different interviewee statements as an indicator, in their view, 
that the informati on is not useful or reliable. There are differences, as there are in any body of 
interview materials, but much of the difference reflects differences in experience, age, 
orientation and approach to responding to interview questions as well as other factors. The 
descriptions elsewhere in this report of Fourth Sunday meetings, Alden Wilson picnics, and 
other events are careful reconstructions of these events, insofar as possible, noting where 
information is sufficient or insufficient, whether it differs in substantial ways and why, and 
whether it is reliable: or unreliable, using ethnographic and ethnohistorical methodology. 

PEP also cites thE: documents presented by the Town to support their argument that EP attempted 
to influence the responses of interviewees interviewed by the BlA (McMullen, Response to 
Comments from Third Parties, 16-17, PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). PEP further notes 
that the EP response to the Proposed Finding (Analysis of the George Roth Interviews, EP 
Comments 8/2/2(101) submitted a list of citations to BIA interviews which the EP concluded 
contained materi,,\s which supported their position on their history in various specific respects 
and which remarb:d on the "consistency" of responses as a supporting feature. PEP does not 
present a review of the specific passages cited by EP. A review ofthe passages cited by EP 
indicates that while the information in these interviews is generally consistent, the statements are 
in fact quite diverse and provide different information from different points of view. Some aren't 
even clearly pertinent to the claimed subject. The "similarities" cited by the EP submission are 
so general as to be as explainable by a somewhat shared experience and common understanding 
within a group. They reflect a normal range of variation expectable in interview materials. 
Since to a large elCtent the questions at issue were answered idiosyncratically, they are unlikely 
to have been affe';lted. 

There were no signs of deliberate tampering with or falsifying of information, as opposed to 
tendencies common to interviewing in a high stakes situation, to want to put up a good face, 
avoid appearance of conflict, and similar expectable tendencies. 

Transcription oflnterview Data for the Final Determination. The proposed finding stated 
concerning the B [A interviews: 

Compktion of the finding within the expected time frames meant that detailed 
transcript; were not made of the tapes of most of the field interviews. The 
interview:; contain additional information which may, based on a detailed analysis 
of complete transcripts, and supplementation by additional interviews and 
documentation, help demonstrate past and present community and political 
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process not found to have been shown by the petitioner. Alternatively, there may 
be data in the field interviews which conflicts with the petitioner's data (EP PF 
2000, 79). 

Parties were urged, in the July 2000 OTR meeting, to review the BAR data as well as to gather 
their own. Complete~ transcripts of those BIA interviews not fuliy transcribed for the proposed 
finding were prepared by the State and provided to the Department, as well as transcripts of a 
videotape of an interview for EP of Alton Smith, Sr., and others, and a videotape interview for 
PEP of Barbara (Spellman) Moore. 

Specific Analysis for Criterion 83.7Cb) 

Historical Eastem Pequot Community Prior to 1873. The proposed finding concluded that, 
prior to 1873, "On the basis of precedent, the available material is sufficient to meet 83.7(b) for a 
tribe during the colonial period" (EP PF 2000, 72) and "Because the community as a whole, 
throughout this period [from the American Revolution to 1883], had a residential focus on the 
reservation, and still maintained a very high rate of intermarriage and patterned outmarriage, 
particularly with the Western Pequot and with the Narragansett, the Eastern Pequot tribe meets 
criterion 83.7(b) for the period through 1883" (EP PF 2000,79). [footnote in original omitted] 

Petitioner # 113, ',,,hil;:h defines itself as having been the historical Eastern Pequot tribe in the past 
and as the only successor to the historical Eastern Pequot tribe in the present, has strongly 
challenged the proposed finding's conclusion that there was a historical Eastern Pequot tribe 
which included the antecedents of petitioner #35 at any time, before or after 1883: 

Chapter One also provides a detailed historical analysis of how the descendants of 
Tamar Bmshell Sebastian came to reside on the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe's 
reservation at Lantern Hill, and the process by which some of them got the State 
of Connecticut's agents to place them on the Eastern Pequot membership list over 
the objecxions of the Tribe's leader and the Tribe's members_ This process was 
lengthy, marked by disregard for the Tribe's actions to determine its own 
membership and a number of seemingly innocuous policy changes on the part of 
the State with regard to the management of the State's Indian reservations and 
maintaining llists of the tribes' members. But ultimately, these policy changes and 
decisions:nade by state officials made it much easier for the members of 
Petitioner #35 to be granted permission to reside on the Lantern Hill Reservation, 
and for some of them to be put on the State's list of Eastern Pequot tribal 
members I Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 8-9; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

PEP, which defin ;:s"Tribe" to denote itself and its direct antecedents, i.e. the ancestors of the 
present PEP fami lies, did not present any significant new evidence on this topic, but simply 
reargued the posijon it had taken at the time of the proposed findings. 
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The Towns challenged the finding that an Eastern Pequot community as a whole existed prior to 
1883 within the Im:aning of the 25 CFR Part 83 regulations (Towns August 2001, 110-111, 119-
120, 124-125, 132-143). More ofthe Towns' discussion prior to the 20 th century was devoted to 
criterion 83.7(c) than to 83.7(b). This was wholly the case for the discussion of the period from 
the end of the PeqUiot War to 1677 (Towns August 2001,47-58), the period under Momoho from 
1677 to 1695 (Towns August 2001, 58-67), the period from the death of Momoho through 1725, 
in which the primary focus is that the "Stonington Indians" were not a tribal entity (Towns 
August 2001,67-74), from 1725-1789 (Towns August 2001,75-82), and from 1789-1800 (Towns 
August 2001,94-1(1). This material will therefore be addressed under criterion 83.7(c). The 
Towns' summary recapitulation stated: "There is scant evidence of any meaningful interactions 
among this group throughout this period. That decline in the existence of a group of identifiable 
families was hastened by the Brothertown movement ... Such a small remnant group as existed 
at that time could not endure such departures to any degree and be able to maintain viable 
internal political Hid social functions" (Towns August 2001, 107). 

The Towns' discussion of the period from 1800 to 1900 also concentrated primarily on the 
political and legal status of the Eastern Pequot Indians (Towns August 2001,109-155), tying the 
issue of community, phrased as, for example, "a functioning political and social entity with any 
degree of internal cohesion" (Towns August 2001, 110) where raised implicitly, to the political 
function or, as in -:lIe discussion of the appearance of new surnames on petitions and overseers' 
lists,37 to criterion 83.7(e) (Towns August 2001, 111). The Towns did not submit new evidence 
for this period, but rather advanced once more their interpretation of materials already evaluated 
in the proposed fhding. 

The BIA takes this opportunity to point out that in some instances, the Towns misrepresent the 
BIA's work, as in such statements as, "As the Technical Report confirmed, '[t]he others of the 
Tribe have scattered because the heads of the families are dead. Some are in Ledyard, some in 
Preston, others in Providence, and then throughout various parts of the country'" (Towns August 
2001, 137). This was not a conclusion reached by the author of the non-peer-reviewed draft 
technical report, ttlt rather was a quotation from a mid-19th century book on Connecticut 
Indians (DeForest 1852). 

From 1873 to the 1920's. The proposed finding concluded that, "The documentation throughout 
this period contributes to a showing of community under 83.7(b)(l)(vii) [sic, should have been 
viii]. 'The persistence of a named, collective Indian identity continuously over a period of more 
than 50 years. notwithstanding changes of name'" (EP PF 2000,79-80). It surveyed the existing 
overseers' reports for the period and noted that, "No overseer's reports were submitted by either 
petitioner or by the third parties for the period from 1891 through 1910, and none were in the 
records provided by the State of Connecticut (CT FOIA)" (EP PF 2000, 80-81). For the final 

3'The appe.nmce of new surnames is frequently a consequence of outmarriage by women in a tribe rather 
than evidence that a family has died out; the 25 CFR Part 83 regulations do not require descent through the male 
IlI1e only. 
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determination, the p(~titioner submitted overseers' reports that covered much of this period (see 
below). 

The documentation submitted by EP in its response to the proposed finding addresses the issue 
of whether Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian maintained contact with the Eastern Pequot community 
on the Lantern Hill reservation during the period between the mentions of her in the overseers' 
reports when she .,\"as a child and her return to the reservation as an elderly woman. 

The petitioner submitted a better, more legible, copy of a document that was discussed in the 
proposed finding. IOn May 19, 1873, Leonard C. Williams of Stonington, Overseer, petitioned 
the General Assembly for permission to sell a portion of the Lantern Hill reservation (Bassett 
1938; #35 Pet. Petitions; see EP PF 2000, 109, for details). The proposed sale engendered 
protests by the Indians who would be affected by it. On June 26, 1873, the "members of the 
Pequot tribe ofInd:ians of North Stonington" remonstrated against the sale oflands and 
requested remova. of Leonard C. Williams as overseer (Lynch 1998a 5 :81-82; Grabowski 1996, 
114). The propos:::d finding indicated that, "The names of signers on photocopy submitted to the 
BIA (#35 Pet. Petitions) were nearly illegible" (EP PF 2000, 109) but stated that by combining 
the transcriptions in petition #35, petition #113, and by the BIA researchers, the names had been 
deciphered as: 

Calvin Williams, Amanda Williams, E. Cottrell, Rachel M. Jackson, Fanny ", 
Irean ", Phebe ", Lucy ", Wm. H ", Jane M J, Leanard Brown, [illegible], 
[illegible], Janes [James?] M Watson, Sarah J Watson; [following page, mayor 
may not represent a continuation] Mercy Williams her mark, [illegible], 
[illegible], [illegible] Hill ( (#35 Pet. Petitions; Lynch 1998a 5:81-82; Grabowski 
1996, 114> {EP PF 2000, 109). 

EP, petitioner #35, submitted a better copy of this document for use in the final determination. 
Comparing the old copy to the new one submitted in 2001, the names now appear to be: 

Calvin Williams, Amanda Williams, E. Cottrell, Rachel M. Jackson, Fanny J, 
Irean J, Phebe J, Lucy A J, Wm. H J, Jane[y?] M J, Leanard Brown[e?], Tamar S 
and Har nin c:heldren [takes up two lines], James M Watson, Sarah J Watson; 
[next page] Mercy Williams her x mark, [illegible] H x, [illegible] x, George W 
Hill x, [dkgible]san Randall, A. B. RAndle [sic] (photocopy in "Errata and 
Addendum for Comments on the PF 'Being an Indian in Connecticut' submitted 
August 2.2001," contained in Response of the Eastern Pequot Indians of 
Connectic lt to the Comments of the Interested Parties, September 4,200 I, Item 
3: June 26th 1873 Petition, 2 pages with signature of 'Tamar Sand Har Nin 
Cheldren' to be added to 'being an Indian in Connecticut, Report mc, Samples of 
Handwriti1g Used to Identify Writing of Signatures, page 156."). 
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The better copy p:,ovides significant evidence that Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian's connection to 
the Eastern Pequct TI:!servation community was known to its other members in the 1870's. The 
presence among be names listed on the 1873 petition of "Tamar sand Har nin cheldren" (EP 
Comments 8/2/2001, Glaza and Grant-Costa Report IIIC, 134, Figure 2; captioned "Close up of 
signature on Jun(~ 26th 1873 petition") provides a documented connection between Tamar 
(Brushell) Sebastian and the Eastern Pequot tribe between her childhood and her subsequent 
residence on the rese:rvation, thus providing an answer to the question posed by the Towns: 
"Similarly, if Tamer Brushell Sebastian was a tribal member, then why is her name 
conspicuously ab!:ent from all of these four documents and all other reservation records from 
1831 to 1889?" (Towns August 2001,147; see also Towns August 2001,210). 

Petitioner #113 asserts that the above evidence is not valid: 

In an attempt to position their lineage on the reservation, petitioner #35 also 
claims to present new documentary evidence concerning Tamer Brushel 
Sebastian (1822-1915) through the suggested inclusion of "Tam a [sic] sand Har 
nin children" on the June 26, 1873 petition to the overseer, . .. (Sebastian 
Comment;, August 2001, pp. 134-35). These claims are interesting for a number 
of reasons, not the least of which is the fact that no other reader of the 1873 
petition hz.s e:ver notice the inclusion of a reference to Tamer Brushel Sebastian 
(McMullen 6; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The proposed finding specifically stated that: "The legible portions of the document did not 
contain the name5 iQf Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian or of any of her older children; or of 
Marlborough or Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner or any of their collateral relatives. The BIA is not 
prepared to reach any conclusion on what may have been contained in the illegible portions" (EP 
PF 2000, 109). The "notice" of the additional names on this document is the result of there now 
being a better phctocopy in the evidence. 

The June 26, 187J .. petition was also signed by members of the Hoxie/Jackson family 
(antecedents of petitioner #113) and by Abby (Fagins) Randall, one of her children, and the 
children of Laura (Fagins) Watson (antecedents of petitioner #35). Petitioner #113 asserts that 
the evidence offered by the above petition does not indicate that their antecedents were part of a 
common tribal so::ial community or political community with the other signers: 

... Dr. Nk\1ullen concludes, among other things that: the State appointed tribal 
overseers were not always and equally knowledgeable about the tribes whose 
interest tl1 ~y were supposed to care for; there is no credible evidence that the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe is a faction of Petitioner #35, since no single 
political or social system encompassing both members of petitioner #35 and the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe has ever existed; ... the Sebastians and the 
Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe have always inhabited separate social spheres, 
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and cannot be accurately characterized as two factions of a single tribal entity 
(Cunha to McCaleb 9/4/2001, 2; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

Petitioner #113 did not offer specific comments on the appearance of names antecedent to both 
current petitioners em another June 27, 1873, document that did include the Gardners (#35 Pet. 
Overseers Reports; Lynch 1998,5:83-84; better copy submitted EP Comments 8/2/2001, Items 
ACDE; for text sel~ under criterion 83.7(e)), nor did PEP comment on the March 31, 1874, 
"Remonstrance to Superior Court, New London, against sale of land,,,38 although these are the 
first Eastern Pequot documents on which the name of PEP ancestor Marlboro Gardner appears 
and are, therefore, of some significance in understanding the development of the current 
petitioner.39 On both these documents, the Gardner and Jackson families (antecedent to 
petitioner #1 13) app<::ar in common with members of the Sebastian, FaginslRandall, and 
Fagins/Watson families (antecedent to petitioner #35) signing the same documents for the same 
purpose. 

The Eastern Pequot overseer's report filed April 4, 1883, by Charles Chipman noted, "That the 
present number of members of said tribe as known to said Overseer is now Thirty Three - two 
having been added the past year by order of Chief Justice Park" (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, 
Folder 9). The seq1.le:nce of reports preceding this event is summarized here.40 No copy ofthe 

38March 31, 1874, "Remonstrance to Superior Court, New London, against sale of land": "We the 
undersigned most re:;pectfuI!y state that we are members of and belong to the Pequot tribe ofIndians of North 
Stonington." ThIS p1ei'tion again requested the removal of Leonard O. Williams as overseer. Signers were: 

Calvin Wllli.llns, Amanda Williams, Mercy Williams her X, Eunice Conrell her X, Leanard 
Brownne, Abby Randall, Florance Randall, Ellice Randall, John Randall Jr., Jesse L. Williams, 
Sophia Williams, Elizabeth Williams, Harriet E. Williams, William L Williams. Jane M. [James 
M.?] Watser., Agustus E. Watson, __ Watson, Francis Watson, Mary A Potter X, Emily Ross? 
Rachel Jack~.en X, Issac Tracy X, Fannie Jacson X, Ireine Jackson, X, Phebe Jackson X, Lucy 
Jackson X, Wily Jackson X, Pennie? Jackson X, Fansos Jackson X, Molbrow Gardner X. (#35 
Pet. Petltion:;; Lynch 1998,5:82-83). 

39The imrnc~diately subsequent overseers' reports did not include Marlboro Gardner or Eunice (Wheeler) 
Gardner: 2 August 1 n6 - I April 1877, C. P. Chipman as Overseer for the North Stonington Tribe of Pequot 
Indians. "And report nakes that the following is a list or schedule of the members of said Tribe, as nearly as can be 
ascertained, viz: Eunice Fagan 1, Abby Randall & two Children 3; Amanda Williams 1; Lucy Hill I; Rachacl 
Jackson & 6 Childrer. 7. leonard Nedson, 1: Calvin Nedson I; Joseph Fagan I; James Kinness. I; George \1/. Hill. 
I: Andre\\' Hill. 1: 5 Children of laura Watson, 5; Total 24. Goods furnished to: Amanda \\'illiams, Eunice B. 
Cottrell, Leonard ~'ed~;on. Lucy Hill" (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box I, Folder 9). 

4U 1878: Chas. P. Chipman, Overseer of Eastern Tribe of Pequot Indians Town of 1\ ortll Stonington: 
Eunice Cottrell, Leorard Nedson, Amanda Williams, Lucy Hill, Mary E. Watson Sebastian (1135 Pet. Overseers 
Reports). 

1879 March Term, New London County Superior court, Chao P. Chipmen, Overseer of Eastern Tribe of 
Pequot Indians. Sup)lies furnished Eunice Cottrell, for Leonard Nedson.or Gallows (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

March 1881, Chas. P. Chipman overseer's account, Eastern Tribe of Pequot Indians, Town of~. 
Stonington: Amanck Williams, Eunice Cottrell, Leonard 1\edson, [different handwritng] Eliza Sebastian (#35 Pet. 
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pertinent court ord'~r was included in the evidence submitted by petitioner #35, by petitioner 
#113, or by the int(~r,ested parties. At the request of the BIA, the United States Attorney's Office 
in Connecticut attempted to locate the referenced order, but was unable to do so. The BlA thus 
does not have direct infonnation as to the two names added by this order, or on what basis they 
were ordered to h~ added. However, the two names which appear on the sequence of overseer's 
reports immediatdy after 1883 that did not appear earlier are those of Marlboro Gardner41 and 
his sister, Harriet (Gardner) Simons.42 

On December 3, 1883, the "Pequot Tribe ofIndians in the Town of North Stonington" presented 
another petition: 

To the Bon John D. Park Chief Justice of the Supreme and Superior Courts of 
Connecticut. We the undersigned inhabitants of and belonging to the Pequot Tribe 
ofIndians in the Town of North Stonington would respectfully represent to your 
honor that Mr. Chipman our fonner overseer being dead We would request your 
honor to appoint Charles H. Brown of North Stonington for overseer .... Signed: 
Eunice Ccttrl~l her mark, Calvin Williams, Molbro Gamer, Mrs. Rachel Jackson, 
Phebe Jac~(son, Fannie Jackson, Irene Jackson, Henry Jackson, William Jackson, 
Jennie P. ~ackson, Mrs. Abby X Randall, Mrs. Amanda Williams, Mrs. Mary E. 
Bastian, Wm. A. Bastian, Ella 1. Bastian, Edgar W. Watson, Amon Potter, Harriet 
Potter, Nled [Sesos?] Williams, Francis Watson (#35 Pet. Petitions; Lynch 1998, 
5:91-92). 

This document again shows antecedents of petitioner #113 (Gardner and Jackson) signing 
together with antecedents of petitioner #35 (Abby (Fag ins) Randall and the children of Laura 
(Fag ins) Watson) 

The proposed finding also stated that, "Because of the missing overseer's reports from 1891-
1909, it is not clear when other members of the Sebastian family -- in addition to Tamar 

Overseers Reports). 

41 April I88:! - April 1883. Charles Chipman, Overseer of Eastern Tribe of Pequot Indians Located in the 
Town of North St<mington. "That the present number of said Tribe as Known to said Overseer is now 
Thirty-Three--two h,ving been added the past year by order of Chief Justice Park." ... Receiving goods and 
services: Marlbro Gardiner, Amanda Williams, Eunice Cottrell, Leonard Nedson (EP Response, Box I, Folder 9). 

4:March TI;JTI1 A.D. 1884, "Comes Charles H Brown Overseer of Eastern Tribe Pequot Indians in the 
Town of North Stonington Conn. "That the members of said Tnbe are the same as reported by forn1er overseer 
namely 33. Recei\'ir g goods and services: Eunice Cottrell, Harriet Symonds, Molbro Gardiner" (EP Response Box 
I, Folder 9). . 

The Towns referred to "children of Margaret Gardner Simons (Marlboro's aunt)" (ToII'ns August 200!, 
148). Marlboro Gardner did not have an aunt named Margaret Gardner Simons: it is not clear whether this was 
intended as a refern:e to his sister, Harriet (Gardner) Simons. 
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(Brushell) SebastiiUl :and her daughter, Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Williams -- began to appear 
in the records pertailning to the reservation" (EP PF 2000, 82). This question has been clarified 
by submission of additional reports in the petitioner's response (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, 
Folder 9), which do not, for this period, include other members of the Sebastian family (except 
Mary Eliza Sebastian, nee Watson, who was a Fagins descendant). The sequence of newly 
submitted oversee:~s' reports mentioning the name of Tamar Sebastian is summarized here.43 

In addition to the written materials, EP submitted a photograph with notation on the back: "Sa 
Apes, Aunt Emalim~ Apes, Leona Thomas, Grandmother Tamer N. Stonington 1890." While the 
petitioner did not provide analysis to accompany the photograph, identification of the persons 
shown, by use of the BIA's FTM genealogical data base, indicates that these persons were all 
Indian, and that the photograph provided documentation for a social network of which Tamar 
(Brushell) Sebastian was a member. Those portrayed were Gad W. Apes,44 a Western Pequot 
and nephew of the Pequot preacher William Apes; his wife (nee Emeline Waity Tanner), and 
Emeline's niece. (lad W. Apes, at the time of the 1880 census, lived next door to Marlboro and 
Eunice (Wheeler) Ga.rdner; he provided an affidavit for the Civil War service of John Noyes 
Hoxie, brother of3.al::hel (Hoxie) Jackson; at the time of the 1910 census, he was boarding with 
Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner. Leona Thomas was the daughter of Emeline (Tanner) Apes's sister, 

43 April 1888 - April 1889, Gilbert Billings Overseer. List of Tribal members: Abby Randall, John J. 
Randall, Flora Randall, Lucy Hill, Francis Watson, Mary Watson, Edgar Watson, Munroe Watson, Malbro 
Gardiner, Phebe Jacbon, Irene Jackson, Jenny Jackson, Lucy Jackson, William Jackson, Fanny Jackson, Ed. 
Jackson, Grace Jackson, Maria Simons, Mary Simons, Hennan Simons, Lucy A Sawant, Russel Simons, Dwight 
Gardiner, Calvin Williams, Tamar Sebastian. Paid or receiving goods or services: Lucy Hill Reynolds, Calvin 
Wiliams, Tamar Sebastian, Malbro Gardiner (EP Comments 8/21200 I, Box 1, Folder 9, "Systematic Survey" ; no 
photocopy located ir: the evidence submitted). 

1890-1891, Report of Gilbert Billings, overseer. List of members same as prior years, except that the name of Jesse 
Williams inserted ber.veen Calvin Williams and Tamar Sebastian; goods and services furnished to Molbro Gardiner, 
Calvin Williams, Tama.r Sebastian, Leonard Nedson, Jesse Williams. Mary Ann Potter (EP Comments 8/2/200 I. 
Box I. Folder 9). 

Eastern Tribe Pequot!; Indians North Stonington In account with Gilbert Billings overseer 1901-1902. 27 June 1902. 
Members of Tribe: Abby Randall, John 1. Randall, Alexander Randall, Lucy Hill, Frances Watson, Munroe Watson 
(dead), Mary Watson, Phebe Jackson, Irene Jackson, Jennie Jackson, Lucy Jackson, William Jackson, Fanny 
Jackson, Ed. Jackson. Maria Simons, Mary Simons, Herman Simons, Lucy A. Sawant, Russel Simons. Dwight 
Gardner, Calvin Will ams, Tamar Sebastian, Jessie Williams, Ed. Watson (dead), Leonard Ned (EP Comments 
8/2/200 I. Box I Folder 9). 

Eastern Tribe Pequot Indians North Stonington in account with Gilbert Billings Overseer 1904-1905: Members of 
Tribe: John Randall. Alexander Randall, Phebe Jackson. Irene Jackson. Jennie Jackson, Lucy Jackson, \Villiam 
Jackson, Fannie Jack:;on, Ed Jackson. Maria Simmons, Mary Simmons. Herman Simmons, Russell Simmons. 
Dwight Gardner, Cal,in Williams, Jessee Williams, Mary Watson (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box I. Folder 9). 
Tamar (Brushell) Set astian was not included in the above list of "members" but there was a notation "paid for Mrs. 
Sebastian 4.59" (Billings account 21 June 1905; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, Folder 9). 

4~On Apes. :iC'e also Stone. Cracker Barrel Chronicle 1985 [1948]. 
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Fidelia (Tanner) Thomas. Leona's father, Benjamin Thomas, was a prominent Narragansett 
leader; Leona's brother, Marshall Thomas, subsequently married Maybell George, a 
granddaughter of both Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner and of John Noyes Hoxie. Other visual 
documentation, such as copies of late 19th century photographs of Manuel Sebastian and Tamar 
(Brushell) Sebastian, were obtained by the BIA anthropologist during his site visit. 

The controversy over the affidavit supposedly sword by William Henry Jackson to the effect that 
Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams was a Pequot (Moore Interview 12/8/1991, 55-56, 
74-75tS should most probably be dated to the period shortly after Calvin Williams's death. 
Neither petitioner #35, petitioner #113, nor the third parties submitted a copy of the referenced 
affidavit. At the n~quest of the BIA, the United States Attorney's Office in Connecticut 
attempted to locate a copy, but was unable to do so in the most likely sequence of archival 
records. 

The proposed finding stated that, "The documentation throughout this period contributes to a 
showing ofcom:nmnity under 83.7(b)(I)(vii) [sic, should be viii], 'The persistence ofa named, 
collective Indian continuously over a period of more than 50 years, notwithstanding changes of 
name'." (EP PF ~:()OO, 79-80). 

1920's ta 1973"' /ntraductian. In regard to the period from 1920 to 1940, the proposed finding 
stated: 

The histo"ical Eastern Pequot tribe as a whole meets the requirements of criterion 
83.7(b) f()r the time period between 1920 and 1940. There continued to be kinship 
based social ties which derived from the number of marriages in existence in this 
time peri od which linked the several family lines and from marriages in the 
previous g,;:nerations .... There was also substantial solidarity within the two 
segments which may have subsequently separated into the two petitioners with 

45"MS" MC{)RE: (inaudible) This Lonnie must've been related to Fannie Jackson then; you know, when 
she was a Sebastian, my uncle" But this is the one that - - she had my Uncle Will to go to the" - I don't know 
whether they went down to the Manes, or whether they went up to see a judge up in Norwich, the overseer. But she 
had him to swear that she was a Pequot and he did, 

MR" MEIS\lER: Lonnie had your Uncle Will? 
MS, MOORE: No, Fannie, my Uncle Will's wife Fannie had Lonnie sworn that she was a Pequot. 
MR. MEIS \lER: \Vas she a Pequot? 
MS, MOORE: No. 
MR. MEIS\JER: Lonnie? 
MS. MOORE: No" That's a - - because I could remember I was back there with little kids and all of them 

around there, all th,~ time that's all you could hear was their fussing about Fannie Jackson and Will was such a - -
you know. such a w~akling to do a thing like that and to betray us all, you know, in that way, And so there was 
always talk about i':" But after a while, they was friendly. They were friendly with Aunt Lonnie, and we used to go 
up to their house, and she was nice to us" So we didn't carry no bad feelings, but that has been so many years after 
that. But she was sc,rt of a young - - real young person. But it was - - I think she was really related to Fannie. you 
know" (Moore Inter\'iew 12/8/1991, 55-56; see also 47, 74-75), 
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the Jacksons, to a considerable extent, constituting a bridge between the 
Sebastiam: and the Gardners in the 1930's and early 1940's, .... (EP PF 2000, 
99). 

In regard to the peJ;od from 1940 to 1973, the proposed finding ,continued: 

The evidence in the record indicates that the Eastern Pequots as a whole, 
including thl~ family lines of both petitioners, remained essentially a single social 
group in this time period. There remained, to a somewhat diminished degree, 
social ties based on past marriages between family lines and intertribal marriages. 
There was ,mbstantial solidarity within the two segments which may have 
subsequently separated into the two petitioners. However, this finding does not 
reach a conclusion that the families ancestral to the petitioning groups had 
separated into two communities before 1973. The available interview data is 
insufficienl to establish at what point in time they may have become two separate 
communiti,~s. Many individuals who grew up in the era when there was clearly a 
single tribal community were still alive between 1940 and 1973, and a few are 
stilI alive today. A vailable interview data from the petitioners and BIA interview 
data do not indicate any informal social interaction between the Sebastians and 
the Gardnlers among members in their 60's or younger (born after 1940). Further, 
there was r 0 substantial data found in the available interviews to indicate 
significam social connections of the Jacksons in recent eras with either the 
Gardners or the Sebastians, notwithstanding the marriages of both Atwood 
Williams and his aunt, Grace Jackson, in the previous generation, with Gardners 
(see Moore 1991) (EP PF 2000,100). 

As evaluated under the standard articulated for a historical state recognized tribe, 
the petitione-r meets criterion 83.7(b) from 1940 to 1973, based on the conclusion 
that there \'fas a single tribal community, including but not exclusively composed 
of, the Sebastian descendants (EP PF 2000, 100). 

In its Comments, EP focuses on its own direct antecedents: 

In respome, we present arguments that the Eastern Pequots represent a continuous 
community related through both social and kinship ties, and that representatives 
of all progenitors' lines have played significant roles in the Eastern Pequot 
community since 1883 (Introduction 8/2/200 I, 9; EP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

These Comments: ncluded a "systematic analysis of Eastern Pequot kinship and marriage 
patterns up to and including living members of the Eastern Pequot community (Report IIA and 
Appendix I)" (Introduction 8/2/2001, 9; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
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This portion ofthf: final detennination tends to follow, where necessary, the directions laid out 
by the reports of the two groups, and deal subsequently with the analysis of the issue of one 
community or politic:al system. PEP's Comments, by design, are focused only on their claimed 
lineages. EP, though accepting the conclusion of the proposed finding in the matter of one tribe 
through 1973, has, at least post-1950, in practice focused on its own members. Even the older 
oral histories done by EP do not direct much attention to the Jacksons and the Gardners. 

Geographical Da1H. The proposed finding stated concerning community from the 1920's through 
1973, with reference to the reservation and the surrounding towns of Norwich, Groton, Mystic 
and Old Mystic, that: 

There is no systematic discussion in the Eastern Pequot petition of who or how 
many wen~ living elsewhere than in these locations at this time period. It is clear 
from ovene:ers records, birthplaces and oral histories that not all of the members 
lived in one of these areas between 1920 and the present but that at least a few 
families hHd moved to Providence and Hartford (BrA interviews; Burgess 1997 
and 1998 inte:rviews; Connecticut lists of members). It is also clear that some, at 
least, returned from these areas to visit relatives, and in some instances, returned 
to live. A dearer picture of this portion of the historic membership would support 
the petitiollt~r's position concerning community, that social and other ties were 
responsibll~ for the continued concentration of members in the immediate region 
(EP PF 2(1)0, 93). 

The petitioner's 1998 petition narrative described the area in a 10 mile radius around the 
reservation as the "cultural, spiritual, and geographic center of the Eastern Pequot Tribe." It 
went on to state tbt: 

the reservc.tion has been a home to the tribe's more distant ancestors and a place 
where the grt:at-grandparents, grandparents, and parents of the current 
membership have lived and managed to survive in the face of decades of 
oppressive and antagonistic policies and actions of colonial and state officials. 
The Eastem Pequot reservation has also served the tribe as a central place for over 
300 years, where tribal members have gathered for social events, economic 
pursuits., mutual aid, and to conduct political business (EPNarr. 7/98, 107). 

In their Comments on the proposed findings, PEP cites the Snoqualmie proposed finding which 
stated that becaus~ a substantial portion of their members lived within a 50 mile radius, this was 
precedent for finding that a community existed (Austin, Chapter Two, 20-21, PEP Comments 
8/2/200 I). However, that finding stated that the radius was such as to not provide evidence 
against the existeIlce of a social community, but did not provide evidence for it either. 

The Snoqualmie proposed finding stated that: 
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The geogn:pbical distribution of the Snoqualmie membership has not changed 
substantially from that of the previous decades. There are no distinctly 
Snoqualmie settlement areas. About 70 percent lives within a 50 mile radius of 
ToltiCarnation, most between Marysville and Monroe on the north and Auburn on 
the south, a diistance of about 50 miles. This is not close enough to raise any 
presumpticn of significant social interaction, but is close enough that social 
interaction at a significant level is easily possible. A highly geographically 
dispersed nembership would require evidence to overcome a presumption against 
maintenam:(: of community based on the geographic dispersion of a group's 
members over great distances with no concentrations in smaller areas. 
(Snoqualmie lPF 1993, Summary Under the Criteria, 15). 

The statement was eontext for detailed and specific evidence of the maintenance of community 
among the Snoqualmie. (The PEP geographical data is dealt with in that report). 

The State refers to the proposed findings as using the Snoqualmie proposed finding inaccurately, 
stating that, "Snoqualmie does not, therefore, stand for the proposition that social interaction can 
be assumed by any level of geographical proximity" (State oj Connecticut August 2001, 29). 
This is not a claim made by the Eastern Pequot proposed finding. The proposed finding stated 
that simply arguini~ that the presence of members in a circumscribed area isn't particularly 
significant evidence: by itself of community, because this residence pattern could, and has at 
times, resulted from the past existence of a community, some of whose descendants have 
remained in a gene:raJ: area (EP PF 2000, 136). However, the geographical patterns in regard to 
the historical Eastern Pequot tribe and the two current petitioners provide supporting evidence of 
community under B. 7(b)(1) in combination with other forms of evidence, even during the time 
periods when the residence patterns are not at the "sufficient in itself' level of 83 .7(b )(2)(i). 

In regard to the following data presented by EP, it is noted that "core" here is not used by the EP 
reports clearly in tle sense of a "social core" but to compare residents in a defined geographic 
"core area" with those in peripheral geographic areas. The EP reports define this geographic 
"core" as consisting of "that territory surrounding the Lantern Hill reservation within a radius of 
10 to 15 miles" (Fowers and Grant-Costa lIC, 78; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The EP Commen15 contain two reports that address residential patterns. One reviews census 
data from 1850 to 1920 and birth information from the current EP membership list to develop 
data as to residence patterns from 1850 to the present (Flowers and Grant-Costa IIC with related 
charts, appendices, and data; EP Comments 81202001). A second report, based solely on the 
current membersh: p list, further analyzes historical residence patterns, from the perspective of 
those on the current membership list (limited to living members) as opposed to patterns from 
historical docume:nts (Flowers liD; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

This portion of the EP submission basically confirms with a greater quantity of specific data the 
geographic patterns described in the proposed finding. These include the relatively early 
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presence of some families in Hartford and Providence (Flowers and Grant-Costa lIC, 79; EP 
Comments 8/2/2(01). The reports add attention to families, mostly with Narragansett 
connections, in Westerly, Rhode Island (Histogram 10, Flowers and Grant Costa lIC, 102; EP 
Comments 8/2/2(01). 

The geographical data is presented in Report lIC in a very summarized fonn which did not 
identify family-lir.e: related patterns of residence or other specifics, such as generational 
differences. A separate EP report, on community and political leadership, 1870 to 1920, 
includes tables surveying data from the street directories of New London, Groton and 
Stonington, 1887-1921, which gives specific name and street locations (in most cases) (IlIC, 
152-155, EP Comments 8/212001). Though relatively few individuals are listed, the data 
supports the oral bistories and census based data. The EP findings were generally consistent 
with data in the BIA"s genealogical data base in regard to birth and death locations of Eastern 
Pequots for the re:e:vant time period. For this final detennination, the BIA did not prepare an 
analysis of the spe:c:ific data summaries drawn from the census. 

The most frequem unit of measurement in EP Report lIC, the "family" appears to be the nuclear 
family, though the: re:port doesn't specify this and the census charts (Flowers and Grant-Costa 
lIC, 82-85) are more probably based upon household units. The universe for the first section is, 
based on inspection, the complete set of historical Eastern Pequot family lines, i.e., includes the 
PEP as well as the EP lines. The developed patterns are presented as charts which are consistent 
with each other anclthe proposed finding. 

The first set of ch:ll1s, based on the census, indicates that all of the families lived within the 
geographic core (d(~fined as the expanded core area) between 1850 and 1880 (Flowers and 
Grant-Costa II C, g2-83; EP Comments 8/2/2001). The census based data presented by EP shows 
100 percent reside:nt in the Towns of Groton, North Stonington, and Stonington (Groton and 
Stonington include Mystic and Old Mystic) from 1850 to 1880. In 1900, there was 21 per cent 
residence "other" and in 1910,27 per cent "other", but the presentation was not consistent, in 
that on these two ,;lharts, "other" included Stonington (Flowers and Grant-Costa lIC, 84; EP 
Comments 8/2/2001). The chart for 1920 showed 30 per cent in Groton, 30 per cent in North 
Stonington, four pe:r cent in Stonington, and 36 per cent "other" (Flowers and Grant-Costa IIC, 
84-85; EP ComrTll~nts 8/2/2001). The EP charts and reports provide no details as to locations or 
numbers of people .. only percentages. 

The other set of d 1ta presented is derived from birthplaces of members on the current EP 
membership list, Ilsing the birthplaces as a means of identifying where families were residing in 
the past (Flowers and Grant-Costa IIC, 93-103; EP Comments 8/2/2001). These charts (Report 
lIC, Section III) giv~: percentages (no total numbers) of families living within the core, in the 
core periphery, ar.d outside. Leaving aside the figures before 1920, which are based on too few 
individuals to be useful, the distribution for 1920 to 1929 is 77 percent core, 15 percent 
periphery and 8 percent outside (Flowers and Grant-Costa IIC, 94; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
With significant fluctuations, these shift to 51 percent core, 34 percent core periphery and 15 per 
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cent outside by 1960·-69 (Flowers and Grant-Costa lIC, 96; EP Comments 8/212001) and 42,28 
and 30 per cent in 1980-89 (Flowers and Grant-Costa lIC, 97; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
Separately, the report state, based on an earlier membership survey, that 42 percent of the adults 
on the current roll wc~re born outside the 10-15 mile radius, with the distribution of these, not 
surprisingly, skewed towards those born after 1950 (Flowers and Grant-Costa lIC, 106; EP 
Comments 8/2/20(1). . 

A second set of charts, designated as Histograms (Flowers and Grant-Costa lIC, 98-104; EP 
Comments 8/2/20(1) which contain more specific geographic information, gives the number of 
families in specifi,; towns during each decade, ratifying the conclusion of the proposed finding 
that, after about 1960, increasingly large numbers of EP families resided in New London 
(Histogram 3) and Hartford (Histogram 2) (Flowers and Grant-Costa IIC, 98-99; EP Comments 
8/2/200 I), as wdl a.s Providence, Rhode Island (Histogram 8) (Flowers and Grant-Costa lIC, 
101; EP Comments 8/2/2001). The rest of the chart data does not present immediately 
understandable patterns and the accompanying narrative (Flowers and Grant-Costa IIC, 78-79; 
EP Comments 8/2 1:WO 1) presents no specific commentary or interpretation of them. 

The purpose of the analysis is to support EP's thesis that most of the group remained within 
some kind of core a.rea, under a now expanded definition, until recently. The analysis in Report 
lIC does not provide guidance as to which families were where and when they were there, which 
would have made clearer the discussion in the other reports of visiting patterns, reservation 
residence and the :ike based on interviews and other documentation. The much briefer analysis 
of birthplaces by family line in Report lID does confirm the proposed findings more general 
analysis that the pa1:tern of residence in certain cities was not random, but rather focused within 
individual subline:;, such as the concentration of descendants of Phebe (Sebastian) Smith in 
Hartford, the desc'~ndants of Laura Fagins in Providence, Rhode Island, and the descendants of 
Albert Sebastian in South Kingstown, Rhode Island (Flowers lID, 106; EP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

The geographical data shows that quite a few Eastern Pequots were and are close enough to 
interact but the ge')graphical patterns do not in themselves show such interaction. Substantiation 
for EP's thesis that it was a "core" area in a social sense lies in the interview data, to the extent 
"core" in this port Ion of their comments was intended to be entirely equivalent to a social core 
(Introduction 16-17; EP Comments 8/2/2001).46 

46EP elsewtwre defines a "social core" as, "those people who were (a) born on the reservation or within a 
ten to fifteen-mile radius; (b) participate actively in Pequot social events, (c) participate actively in the political 
process, (d) have mu I :iple kin-ties with other Eastern Pequots, (e) identify themselves as Eastern Pequots, and (f) 
maintain strong socia lies with other Eastern Pequot members" (Introduction) 6-) 7, EP Comments 8/2/200 I). This 
definition is not used in the geographical analysis nor is data presented which actually describes such a core as 
opposed 10 presel1tin t il theoretical definition. 
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Fourth Sunday MI~~ings. The proposed finding said: 

"Fourth S;'.mday" Meetings. The first of these were referred to as "4th Sunday 
Meetings," gatherings which were "both religious and social in nature" (EPNarr. 
7/98, 50-51). These were prayer meetings, at which families gathered for 
religious cer(:monies, followed by a social gathering and a meal. According to 
the petition., the adults "discussed tribal matters and gossiped." The reported 
topics of disc:ussion were any problems residents or other members were having 
with State or local officials regarding either reservation land use or assistance, 
trespassen; on the reservation, and problems with the "LeGault faction." The 
meetings took place for the most part on the reservation, at the home of "Aunt 
Liney," Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Williams, daughter of Tamar (Brushell) 
Sebastian ~EP PF 2000,94). 

The meetings are described by the EP petition as beginning "sometime prior to 
1921," w;ith the precise date not known. According to the petition text, the 
meetings were first held on High Street in Mystic, at the home of Sylvia 
(Sebastian) Stedman and then shifted to the reservation. There are some 
inconsist(mcies in the reported date of this shift, the main petition narrative saying 
1921, whiie: Burgess says "towards the end of the 1920's" (Burgess 1998, 11). 
The oral history accounts of the High Street meetings which reportedly preceded 
those on the reservation do not indicate whether they were as large as those on the 
reservation (BAR/Lillian Sebastian; Burgess 1998, 11). The available 
descriptions suggest they were smaller, and more limited in character to religious 
services. They may have changed in character with the shift in location and in 
"sponsorsh:ip" between the two sisters, or there may not be a connection between 
the two. Thus it is not established that the High Street meetings were as 
important gatherings to demonstrate community as the Fourth Sunday meetings 
on the reservation (EP PF 2000, 94). 

Accordinf; to. the petition, there was a larger "Fourth Sunday" meeting in luly, 
attended by about 40 people (EPNarr. 7/98,50). The petition characterizes this as 
about 20 t~ 25 percent of the membership. No source was given for this figure. 
The availc.ble oral histories were too limited to establish the character of this 
meeting a:; different than the other meetings. BIA interviews did not provide 
information to support this. (EP PF 2000, 94-95). 

EP Response to Comments. The EP Response to Comments addresses the Towns' and the 
State's Comment; in regard to the estimate that the EP consisted of60-100 people during the 
period when the meetings were held and that these meetings drew at least 12-25 people (EP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001, 40). They also argue that the amount of attendance was 
significant given the: small size of the group, attendance across family lines, and the limited 
transportation during this period. 
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The Response statl~S that the EP did not claim that the meetings were not religiously based nor 
that these were formal tribal meetings (EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001,42) and also 
presents an explanation why interviewee accounts differ, without being unreliable, such as 
differing experienees by different individuals (EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001,41). They 
present an argument that such an event, bringing different people from different families 
together, provided an opportunity to discuss family and political matters. 

PEP Comments. l11e: PEP Comments provided some additional information in regard to the 
dates when the meetings were held and the participation of the Jackson family. Barbara 
(Spellman) Moon~, daughter of Phebe (Jackson) Spellman, whose mother lived on the 
reservation from about 1912 until her death in 1922, recalled Sunday meetings on the 
reservation, led by "a Dixon that used to live up over the hill from Aunt Lonnie Williams [Tamer 
Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams] too" .. , "and he used to have those Sunday meetings and 
all, we'd go to. But I don't know of any Gardner's belonging. Maybe I'm wrong, I don't know. 
I don't know eveI;rlhing" (Moore Interview 12/811991,47; see also 84-85, 108). Moore several 
times referred to T arner Emeline (Sebastian) Williams as "Aunt Lonnie" (i.e., Aunt Liney) 
(Moore Interview 12/811991,47,56). 

Third Party ComIm~nts. Connecticut raises the issue of the meetings being open to other than 
members of the gr:>up (State of Connecticut August 2001,34-35) and states there is no evidence 
that there was a larger Fourth Sunday meeting, noting the BIA staff's observation, also stated in 
the proposed findilg (EP PF 2000) that there was not good evidence for a distinct Fourth of July 
or July Fourth Sunday meeting which was larger other meetings (State of Connecticut August 
2001.35). The State mainly focuses on the issue of the quality of interview information (State of 
Connecticut Augu_,:t 2001, 34-35; State of Connecticut August 2001 Appendix, 15-16). 

The State argues that, "In any event, the meetings did not appear to involve a predominant 
number ofmembl;!rs, meaning at least half of the membership. 59 Fed. Reg. 9287. Therefore 
these meetings are insufficient evidence of community relations under criterion (b)" (State of 
Connecticut Augu:.[ 2001,35) and makes the same argument in regard to the Alden Wilson 
Picnics and other gatherings and meetings as "insufficient evidence" for criteria 83.7 (b) and 
83.7(c). The regu: ations provide that evaluations of community are made on the basis of 
combinations of c\'idence under 83. 7(b)( I). Each type of evidence is evaluated together with 
other evidence. not separately, except for those specialized instances, stated in 83. 7(b )(2) and 
83.7(c)(2) where certain evidence is sufficient in itself. 

The State's comments focus on the oral descriptions of these meetings which characterize them 
primarily as religious or as prayer meetings. The State cites one individual's statement that the 
talk was about re:iigion, "not Indians," on indications by others that what was discussed was "not 
any different than ordinary family issues," and on Roy Sebastian, Jr.,'s statement that the leaders 
kept the problems to themselves and then resolved them (State of Connecticut August 2001, 
Appendix 15-16). 
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The Towns assunH:, incorrectly, that the Fourth Sunday meeting material in the proposed finding 
was added at the last minute, because it did not appear in the draft technical reports (Towns 
August 2001, 163). The anthropological portion of the work on these petitions resulted only in 
language for the Summary Under the Criteria, because, under the February 2000 Directive, no 
further technicalrc~ports were to be written. The portion of the draft technical reports which had 
been completed be:fc)re the Directive by the historian/genealogist was provided to parties. The 
BIA anthropologist did not draft a separate technical report for the Pequot findings, but did the 
Fourth Sunday meeting analysis as part of the main analysis in the Summary. 

The Towns raise: issues about the reliance on oral history in this instance (Towns August 2001, 
163), because many of the events under discussion occurred long in the past and "due to the self­
serving interest of the petitioners in producing a positive result" (Towns August 2001, 163-164). 
The Towns suggest that the EP shaped the interviews by distributing materials to members, 
holding lectures and the like, so as to ''project a uniform story to the BAR researchers after being 
coached on the appropriate 'spin"'(Towns August 2001, 165). (For further discussion, see the 
general discussion of the use of interview materials, above). 

One of the key conc:1usions stated by the Towns concerning the evidence for the Fourth Sunday 
meetings are that there is not evidence in the interviews to substantiate the proposed finding's 
conclusions that 1.hese meetings were political in nature or that political issues were discussed at 
them. The Towns conclude that the evidence showed them to be religious and familial social 
functions (Towns August 2001,177). They also focus on the fact that some sources stated that 
the meetings were open to non-Indians and thus could not be considered "tribal." The Towns 
also note evidence that Ephraim Williams, a Western Pequot, led the prayers rather than Tamer 
Emeline (Sebastian) Williams and that a non-Indian church woman "played a key role in these 
meetings" (Towns August 2001, 177). The Towns noted the absence of references to 
participation by the family lines of the PEP, specifically criticizing the absence of comment 
concerning participation by the Jackson family line (Towns August 2001, 176). The Towns also 
concluded that the evidence did not show these meetings as occurring except during the span of 
the late 1920's to 11937 (Towns August 2001, 172), i.e., a limited period of time. 

The Towns also conclude that the number of participants was not in fact "substantial" in terms of 
the regulations Crowns August 2001, 173). The Towns also argue that the meetings did not 
constitute evidence of distinct cultural patterns under 83. 7(b)( 1)( vii) or a shared sacred or secular 
ritual activity, under 83.7(b)(I)(vi), because it did not encompass "most of the group" as the 
regulations require and were not distinct from non-Indian culture. 

Analysis of Comments and Responses. EP provided additional oral history references to the 
Fourth Sunday meetings (Introduction 11; EP Comments 8/2/2001). The interviewees describe 
Liney as a very religious woman, with a small organ in her house, presumably for the services. 
Additional documentation of meetings was not provided, except for Sarah Swan's diary's 
reference to going to Fourth Sunday at Ephraim Williams's in 1909. The petitioner's researchers 
did not indicate that they had looked into local church records for possible data concerning the 

102 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement EPI-V001-D006 Page 113 of 208 



Final Detenninaticm- E~iStem Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Fourth Sunday m!c~tings, even though it is fairly well established that members of the Union 
Baptist church in Mystic also attended these from time to time, that ministers of one or another 
church sometim~:!; preached and sometimes visited and that a "church woman" apparently from 
Mystic, Mrs. Button, was involved, being mentioned in several accounts and noted as close to 
Liney [Tamer Erne:line (Sebastian) Swan] Williams, who in turn was noted as quite devout (see 
discussion in EP Response, Report IIID, Burgess). . 

The dating ofth~:!;~: meetings is not precise, but in all likelihood does reach back to after Calvin 
Williams was incapacitated (about 1910), before his death in 1913, and to Williams's own 
services. The chronology can be constructed from several items of unrelated evidence coming 
from different sources, and from both petitioners. The proposed finding noted that a "Samuel 
Dixon" was mentioned as a Narragansett preacher who took over running the Eastern Pequot 
"Fourth Sunday'" me:etings after the death of Calvin Williams (EP PF 2000, 95). Barbara 
(Spellman) MOOi!'I~ n~calls that a "Reverend Dixon" ran the meetings that her family attended 
(Moore Interview 12/8/1991,47). The EP Comments provide the additional information that 
there was a Simeon F. Dickson listed on the 1910 and 1920 censuses for North Stonington. His 
name appeared on the schedules immediately before the Lantern Hill reservation households of 
Vinard and Sarah (Swan) Holland, which included Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams, 
and Rachel (Spellman) Silver. He was listed as "B" and age 62.'047 Alton Smith, Sr.,48 
remembers these meetings as a very young child, which would have been as early as 1922. 
Smith, who date:; things fairly carefully, provides support that these continued into the 1930's (A. 
Smith 1999a). 

The additional evidence submitted and a review of that available for the proposed findings, 
indicates these m~etings were contemporaneous with the religious meetings on High Street in 
Mystic, with substantial overlap at the least between who attended each (see also discussion of 
the High Street meeltings). 

The descriptions for the most part are actually the interviewee's experience, which limits its 
information, sim;l! the individual was usually a child or at best a teenager, and not well 
acquainted with what the adults were doing. However, Harold Jackson (born 1915) (Harold 
Jackson 1999), L .llian Sebastian (born 1906) (Lillian Sebastian 2000) and Kenneth Brown 
Congdon (born 1920) (Congdon 1988) were at least older teenagers. A certain amount of oral 
history which wa; transmitted from the participant to a younger individual is presented as well. 
The accounts suggest these events were something talked about a great deal, even after they had 

4iThe cenSLses provided infonnation that he was from Bridgeport and had a wife, Mary, age 62. A cousin, 
Emeline Moore, li\,ej with him, and an adopted daughter. Lillian Dickson (Censuses of North Stonington, CT, 1910 
and 1920; 1:26, EP Comments 8/2/200 I). 

48 All ofthi~ references in the PEP materials to Alton Smith or Alton Emery Smith in fact refer to Alton 
Smith. Sr.. aka Alton W. Smith, the father of Alton Emery Smith, aka Alton Smith, Jr. The younger man's 
ilwol\·ement in EP a Juirs does not begin until the early 1990's. 
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ended. Alton Smith's careful descriptions add that the meetings were held on the reservation 
largely in the summe:r, by his understanding (but he notes he was in North Stonington only in the 
summers). Arthur :Sc~bastian, Jr., makes a similar observation (A. Sebastian 1998). 

Several different individuals are noted as preachers, although the accounts indicated that various 
"lay" attendees spokl~ when moved to do so. The preachers and the involvement of members of 
other area churches puts these events in the broader context of religious activity of Eastern 
Pequots in the area. Two preachers were frequently mentioned. The first was Ephraim 
Williams, who died in 1929, a Western Pequot who lived on the Ledyard reservation, married to 
Sarah "Sally" Sebastian (an Eastern Pequot). The other was the Reverend Vinard S. Holland, a 
non-Indian who was the husband of Tamar Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams's daughter, 
Sarah "Sadie" Swan (Roy Sebastian 1988). Holland died in 1935. 

The accounts confirm that a Fourth Sunday meeting was also a big social event, with a lot of 
cooking, eating and socializing afterwards. There was no information which would characterize 
these meetings as political in nature. The closest is the idea that the older people, family heads 
did sit around and talk about events and family problems. 

Several accounts do indicate that Fourth Sunday meetings were not held exclusively at Liney 
Williams house, but moved among the houses of different people that attended. Harold Jackson 
said that they went to seven or eight different houses, mentioning Gardners and Williams. Alton 
Smith said that they were always held at Liney's but, unlike Smith, Jackson's residence on the 
reservation was ye:ar .. round. It would not be a surprising practice if they rotated, since in some 
churches, the Fourth Sunday is an occasion to get together with other congregations. At least 
one of the venues was at Ephraim Williams' house, on the Western Pequot reservation (see 
above, Sarah Swan diary entry; see also Congdon 1988). 

There was no evidence to support PEP's 1996 claim that these meetings were hidden from view, 
(PEP did not renew this claim in its Comments), since all of the interview accounts are from 
insiders, and local non-Indians were aware of the meetings, their nature, and their participants, as 
indicated by the Cracker Barrel Chronicle written by North Stonington storekeeper George H. 
Stone in 1948, which referenced both Calvin Williams and Jack Randall by name and described 
the style ofpreaching (Stone 1985,77-78). The PEP Comments do not renew their statement 
that PEP's family hnes had attended different Fourth Sunday meetings than the EP had 
(Grabowski 1996, 1:91). A brief mention is to the effect that the Fourth Sunday meetings were 
"family" events ol' the Sebastians in which the PEP antecedents did not participate rather than 
"tribal" events (McMullen 9/4/2001, 13, 19; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). The 
proposed finding noted that, absent specific evidence, it was unlikely that PEP's oral history 
referred to a separate set of Fourth Sunday meetings, also held on the reservation during the 
same time period <EP PF 2000, 95-96). The evidence discussed for the final determination, 
including some from current PEP members, indicates that the Jacksons, at least, did participate 
in them. 
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Nothing specific was found in the available interviews, nor cited in the EP Comments to support 
the idea, discussed iln the proposed finding, that those in attendance discussed the "LeGault 
faction" (EP PF 2(100,94). While the cited tenninology is obviously a modernization, the 
conflict,judging by Moore's interview, would have been quite a live topic at the time. While it 
could have been a topic of discussion, there was no specific evidence it was. 

Both the State and th,e Towns raise the issue of the extent of participation in the Fourth Sunday 
meetings, in the sense of what percentage of the Eastern Pequots attended (State of Connecticut 
August 200], 35; Towns August 200], 172-173). The State holds that, if the meetings did not 
involve at least haif of the membership, they would not be evidence for community (Slate of 
Connecticut August 200], 35); this misstatement of the distinction between ordinary levels of 
evidence and sufficient evidence under 83.7(b)(2) has been addressed above. 

This final determination does not revisit the estimates of the number attending in relation to the 
total number of pct1ential attendees. The proposed finding noted that there was conflicting 
evidence in the interviews (EP PF 2000, 95). There was only limited evidence in the additional 
oral histories submitted for the final determination on which to base an precisely estimate of the 
number of individLlals who characteristically attended Fourth Sunday meetings. An approximate 
estimate based on tlhe existing descriptions suggests 10 to 20 adults. 

It is possible that the character of the meetings differed over time, and, hence, the character of 
the attendance. Descriptions of attendance indicate that it was by and large drawn from the 
Indian population of the area, including some Western Pequot (apparently through kinship 
connections) and Narragansetts (again probably through kin connections). The best picture is 
that while non-Incians in the area sometimes came, these were primarily Indian functions and 
centered around the Eastern Pequot families. Burgess's report and some other evidence indicates 
that Eastern Pequots came from Norwich, Old Mystic and Mystic, and included attendees from 
the Old Mystic B,ptist church and Union Baptist church in Mystic (Burgess lIID; EP Comments 
8/2/2001). Both Moore and Harold Jackson indicate that some of the reservation Jacksons, 
including Moore's family had attended at least some, but the descriptions are too limited to 
indicate how mue;) or how frequently. Jackson specifically remembered Ephraim Williams 
preaching and indicated there were others but could not recall their names. Jackson noted 
specifically that Franklin Williams and Grace Jackson had attended (Jackson 1995a). Moore, 
however. states s~lecifically that none of the Gardners attended the meetings her family went to 
which by best ree,)nstruction were part of the same series (Moore Inter\'iew 12/8/1991. 47 ).o.l9 

Burgess's report on EP community states that there were "prayer meetings" at Catherine Harris 
house which she identifies as probably Fourth Sunday meetings (Burgess lIB, 40-41, EP 
Comments 9/4/200 I). One interviewee, a granddaughter of Catherine Harris, reported Fourth 

49The journal of Sarah (Swan) Holland for 1909 indicated contacts with Mr. and Mrs. Ralph Powers, Grace 
G [probably Grace (Ja:kson) Gardner), Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian, Tamar Emeline (Sebastian) Williams, Calvin 
SebJsti:m. Jlld a number of Western Pequot (Glaza and Grant-Costa IIIe, 145; EP Comments 8 '21200 1). 
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Sunday meetings at Catherine's house 1944 to 1948, noting them as mostly in the summer (cited 
in Burgess, lID, 41, EP Comments, 8/2/2001) Her account is not entirely reliable, since she 
reports the meetings alternated between Harris's and Liney Williams's, but Williams had died in 
1942. Notably the account does mention again Mrs. Button. A second account, by another 
granddaughter identifies Ephraim Williams as a preacher at such meeting, in the 1930's and 
1940's. Williams, however, died in 1929. Both for the period when Liney [Tamer Emeline 
(Sebastian) Swan Williams] was still alive and later, there is insufficient interview evidence and 
no documentary evidence to establish that these were Fourth Sunday meetings. There was no 
mention of such ~;atherings in Harris's "journal" (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, Folder Harris) 
- no mention, that is, that Harris either attended Fourth Sunday meetings at Tamer Emeline 
(Sebastian) Swan Williams's house or hosted such meetings herself.so 

The Comments and Responses did not provide further data about a Fourth of July Fourth Sunday 
meeting that was bigger than the regular meetings. The proposed finding concluded that there 
was not evidence to establish this. The accounts of a larger meeting may be a mixing of 
recollections of a variety of events, such as the Alden Wilson Fourth of July events, with Fourth 
Sunday meetings. 

High Street MeeUtg~. The EP petition asserted that religious meetings held on High Street in 
Mystic, at the horne of Sylvia (Sebastian) Steadman were precursors of the Fourth Sunday 
meetings, which ~;ubsequently shifted to the reservation. The proposed finding did not reach a 
specific conclusion on this question. The proposed finding concluded that· 

There are some inconsistencies in the reported date of this shift, the main petition 
narrative ~;aying 1921, while Burgess says "towards the end of the 1920's" 
(Burgess 1998, II). The oral history accounts of the High Street meetings which 
reportedly preceded those on the reservation do not indicate whether they were as 
large as tr.ose on the reservation (BARlLillian Sebastian; Burgess 1998, 11). The 
available descriptions suggest they were smaller, and more limited in character to 
religious ~;e:rvices. They may have changed in character with the shift in location 
and in "sronsorship" between the two sisters, or there may not be a connection 
between be two. Thus it is not established that the High Street meetings were as 
important gatherings to demonstrate community as the Fourth Sunday meetings 
on the reservation (EP PF 2000, 94). 

Analysis of Comments and Responses. EP developed additional interview data for the final 
detern1ination. There is no documentary data for these meetings. The pattern of information 
indicates that the;c High Street meeting were in part contemporaneous with the Fourth Sunday 
meetings on the reservation. One account noted that "In the 1920's there were house meetings 

50 The jou:mli is not a diary but rather a ledger which contained a variety of infomlation ranging from 
cOlllments on her aci i\ iries. addresses, clippings, recipes, and other materials. 
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on Starr St. Lane at Aunt Sylvia Steadman's. At these meetings there would be prayers. Sarah 
Williams, and David and Johnny Sebastian" (Lillian Sebastian 1998). The same white church 
woman who was linked to Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams and the Fourth Sunday 
meetings, Mrs. Button or Butten, who took an active interest in the tribe, also reportedly attended 
these. Mrs. Butter. was close to Bertha (Williams) Brown and Liney Williams. According to the 
oral history, "[t]hert~ would be singing at these meetings and a collation [sic] was served. 
Neighbors from High Street would sometimes come. People from the reservation would also 
come to these pra~e:r meetings" (Arthur Sebastian 1998). None of the accounts provide specific 
information conce::-ning leadership or discussion of issues of concern to the members. 

Catherine Harris Q.~ltherings. The proposed finding did not specifically address gatherings other 
than High Street, Fourth Sunday and those organized by Alden Wilson. It noted that, "[a]s 
evidence for histori,cal community, the petition gives brief descriptions of other social events 
between the 1930'!; and the present that may have brought together members of different 
families" (EP PF 2000, 97). It concluded that there was insufficient information to show that 
these provided sutstantial evidence concerning community. 

The EP Commem~; focus attention on Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris, usually referred to 
as "Aunt Kate." I-lan-is, born 1907, was the daughter of Francisco Sebastian, Sr., one of the sons 
of Tamar and Manuel Sebastian. Among the activities discussed were social gatherings at 
Harris's house on the reservation. EP did not provide a detailed specific response which focused 
on these gatherings, although they are mentioned in the context of describing the activities of 
Catherine Harris {Burgess IUD; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The Towns raised questions as the adequacy of the interview information about these gatherings, 
in particular quest ioning the descriptions given by Roy Sebastian, Jr., of a larger and more 
highly organized "tribal powwow" which did not accord with other accounts (Towns August 
200], 190). The Towns also asserted that the interview information concerning gatherings at her 
home was not specific and that the events were difficult to date (Towns August 200],276-277; 
see also 177-178). 

Analysis ofComrnents and Responses. Accounts of gatherings at Catherine Harris's place on 
the reservation arc: common and detailed enough to substantiate their existence. However, the 
accounts are fewer and less detailed than for the Fourth Sunday meetings at Tamer Emeline 
(Sebastian) Swan VVilliams's home. These gatherings are not clearly dated. Harris lived on the 
reservation as early as 1930 and left the reservation in 1957, so they would continue no later than 
that. Frequency data is also missing. Although it is reasonably clear from the interviews that 
attendance went beyond her subline of the Francisco Sebastians, to also include the Francisco II 
branch, FranciscolCalvin, and Ben, and Phoebe Sebastian Smith (Alton Smith Sr.,'s family), 
there is no infom1ation beyond these sublines. 

Catherine Harris's place on the reservation was used by Eastern Pequots for gatherings after 
Harris moved to ~;orwich, at least through the 1950's and later, perhaps until the early 1970's 
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(Alton Smith and Justine Miller 1995, 66-69). Alton Smith, Sr., describes setting them up. He 
said that "the plat::e was jammed," and that they were not formally organized, but that he just put 
the word out to centain specific people and they would get the word out and "the crowd would 
come." He did not provide an explicit description, but implied that this went beyond his 
immediate family. Some interview accounts are not clear if they are referring to these gatherings 
or the earlier ones organized by Harris herself. The evidence concerning these meetings does 
not provide evidence in regard to community for the petitioner as a whole. 

Alden Wilson's Pl£niics and Gatherings. The proposed finding stated in part: 

Alden Wilson Picnics. From approximately 1940 to 1960, annual summer picnics 
were held in Mystic at a farm owned by Alden Wilson, a relatively prosperous 
individual who was one of the Pequot leaders. The petition at one point describes 
these events as "purely social" (EPNarr. 7/98,51). Wilson was a descendant of 
Mary Mar:I1o Sebastian, one of Tamar Sebastian's children. His picnic were [sic] 
attended by individuals from several branches of the Francisco Franco branch, 
and members of the Solomon Sebastian branch, as well as his own. Attendance 
was not limited to those living in Mystic (EP PF 2000, 96). 

The petitic,n states that the number of participants ranged between 80 and 150 
people, a figure which included non-Pequots and non-Indians. This attendance 
was estimated to be "one-third or more" of the total members. Giv~T1 the present 
membership of 600 plus, the membership forty or more years ago would have 
been muet. smaller, making these estimated percentages plausible. However, no 
specific calculation has been made for this finding of the size of the membership 
in past decades (EP PF 2000, 96). 

The proposed fine ing also discussed gatherings at "Little Rest," with which Alden Wilson was 
also associated. In discussing "other social gatherings," it stated: 

The evidence was strongest for dances at "Little Rest," near Old Mystic, which 
are describe:d as occurring from the 1920's up until the Depression. These were 
organized by Alden Wilson, who later organized the tribal picnic gatherings 
(Burgess 1998, 11). Wilson was economically successful, and is widely reported 
to have w;l~d his resources to aid members and, thus to hold these social events. 
BIA in ten iev,'s provided evidence consistent with the petitioner's description, but 
not enough detail to further evaluate them and conclude that they were held 
consistently enough and with a substantial enough attendance to be good evidence 
for community (EP PF 2000, 97). 

The State notes the lack of documentary evidence about the picnics, the proposed finding's 
factual conclusior. that it was not substantiated that the cooperation of many families were 
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involved, that these were once a year events and that it wasn't shown that at least 50 percent of 
the membership participated (State a/Connecticut August 2001,35-36). 

The Towns, after reviewing the available interviews, assert that was that there was not consistent 
information about the' gatherings at Little Rest, since the interviewees failed to distinguish 
between these danees, the picnics, and gatherings that were religious in nature (Towns August 
2001,274). Elsewhere the Towns state that the club at Little Rest was owned by Alden Wilson 
and was his main source of income (Towns August 2001,208), but provide no source for these 
statements. The T,)wns' review noted some instances where detailed questions were not asked 
by the BAR or EP interviewers on this topic (Towns August 2001, 241-242, 274). They also 
state that the Little Rest was not a "family or Indian-oriented operation" (Towns August 2001, 
208). 

EP responded to tte: Towns Comments about the gatherings at Little Rest, by asserting that, 
although open to non-Indians, they were, nonetheless attended by many Eastern Pequots and 
were occasions for social interaction among those Eastern Pequots who attended (EP Response 
to Comments 9/4/;~OO I). 

Analysis ofComrre'nts and Responses of the Alden Wilson Gatherings. The picture of the 
various gatherings organized by Alden Wilson is imprecise. Interview accounts of the picnics 
are limited and nOl very detailed. There is one indication that they may represent a continuation 
of even earlier gatherings. Alton Smith, Sr., referred to: "1924-1929-the years that picnics 
occurred at Wheel :!r's Grove in Stonington every August. The picnics were to mark Henry 
Wilson's birthday. Mary Murillo Sebastian put them together. All the Wilson's, Alton Smith's 
family from Hartford, and the Old Mystic and Mystic Sebastian families would go to these 
picnics" (Smith and Miller 1995). 

Much of the detailed interview data is from members of the Alden Wilson and Lawrence 
Wilson, Sr., families. There were at least two main kinds of events, in addition to smaller, less 
organized gatherirgs. One was "picnics" at Little Rest, a riverside location in Old Mystic and 
the other were the Fourth of July gatherings at Alden Wilson's "farm" in Mystic. There was 
insufficient infonnation to assign more than the general date ranges for these events given 
below. 

The interview infcrmation indicates that many EP as well as Narragansetts attended the Little 
Rest events but that they were not limited to EP or to Indians. They were at least semi­
commercial gatherings for which admission was charged. Three flyers announcing the 
gatherings were submitted by the EP in response to third party comments. These indicate events 
in the 1930's. at kast two of them on July 4th. The interview data gives similar dates. but 
extends it into the early 1940's, and refers to Little Rest as a "dance hall" run by the Wilsons. 
The EP Proposed finding (EP PF 2000, 96) dated the range for the Fourth of July picnics as 1940 
to 1960, placing them after the Little Rest picnics. Since several of the Little Rest e\'ents were 
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held on the Fourtt. of July, the logical assumption is that the Fourth of July events at Alden 
Wilson's place in :'vlystic came later. 

The proposed finding stated that Wilson's "picnics were attended by individuals from several 
branches of the Francisco Franco branch, and members of the Solomon Sebastian branch, as well 
as his own (Alden Wilson was a descendant of Mary Marillo Sebastian), attendance was not 
limited to those living in Mystic" and noted that the "petition states that the number of 
participants rangd between 80 and 150 people, a figure which included non-Pequots and non­
Indians" (EP PF :2000, 96). 

A review of the limited interview data generally substantiates this picture. However, an older 
member of the Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris branch of the Francisco Sebastian, Sr., 
subline indicated that while she knew about the Alden Wilson picnics, her family had not 
attended them anc, did not have a lot of contact with the Wilsons (c. Eccleston, V. Lancaster 
1999il. One indi vidual simply stated that those that attended the Fourth of July picnics were 
those "in close proximity" of Alden Wilson's farm (which was on the west side of Mystic) 
specifically Groton, Mystic and Stonington (and presumably Old Mystic) (L. Wilson 2001). 
However, Alton Smith, Sr., from Hartford, reflecting his family's close ties to the Mystic 
families, also atte:lded as did the DeBarros and Randalls, from the FaginslRandallline, from 
Norwich (Lillian ~;ebastian, 2000). There was no evidence that non-Indians other than spouses 
attended in any si:~nificant numbers, nor is there mention ofNarragansetts attending. 

It is particularly diffiicult to determine attendance numbers, since it is difficult to distinguish in 
some interviews between indicated figures for the Little Rest gatherings and those at Alden 
Wilson's farm, the latter presumably being the family or "tribal" events. One account included 
in the petition narrative suggested that there was substantial cooperative effort among different 
tribal members in organizing these picnics (Roy Sebastian, Jr., 1988). It stated that all of the 
men and boys fished and clammed, etc., as part of the preparation. This characterization of the 
picnic as involving the cooperation of many families was not substantiated by other petitioner 
interviews submi.ttt~d nor by BlA interviews. 

The weakest data is anything suggesting political processes involved with any of the Wilson 
gatherings. One interview suggests that the older members congregated and people could bring 
problems to the e: clers, congregated together (L. WilsonIK. Sebastian 200 1). However, from the 
available data, the pitcnics were purely social events which provide some supporting evidence for 
community, but which do not provide evidence in regard to political influence or authority. 

Visitin2: Patterns. The EP Comments (Burgess IIID; EP Comments 8/2/200 1) have substantially 
expanded the dalil on visiting between different areas and among different families, drawing on 

51 Nonetheles:;, Alden Wilson and others are credibly reported to have visited Catherine Harris (CIAC 
1983a.35). 
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additional interviews done. A review of the BlA's and previously submitted EP interviews also 
confirms the freq\ll~nt visiting and gatherings in a variety of venues described by Burgess. The 
time range covered by the interviews is the 1920's to the 1960's, with some later information. 
This information X!: in addition to descriptions of particular types of gatherings, such as the 
Fourth Sunday mel~ltings and gatherings at Catherine Harris's. The interview data as cited by 
Burgess describ(:cl visiting and informal gatherings to and on the reservation by a variety of 
individuals, as well as in Groton, Mystic, Old Mystic and Hartford. 

Notably, much of 1be visiting patterns in part reflect the link of the third and fourth generations 
to the children of Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian-to aunts and uncles or great aunts and great 
uncles. Of these, Sylvia (Sebastian) Steadman in Mystic (died 1943) and her sister and Tamar 
Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams on the Lantern Hill reservation (died 1942) appear to have 
been the most frequent focus. 

Analysis of Comme:nts and Responses. The description of the Wheeler's Grove picnics 
illustrates the underlying pattern of Sebastian visiting--that the children of Tamar (Brushell) 
Sebastian and thei~ children and grandchildren generally seemed to maintain contact with each 
other. Much of th~ description of visiting patterns, 1920 to the 1960's, falls into this pattern 
(Burgess HID, dat ilbase extracts; EP Comments 8/2/2001). Particular events and visiting didn't 
necessarily bridge thl~ family line widely, but overall the visiting pattern does so. The 
descriptions are pmticular rather than broad generalizations about "we always visited kinsmen." 
Rather, they have the character of, "we had picnics at Ben and Hattie's before and after they 
moved to Groton.," and the like, and are drawn from a variety of individuals. Post-1960 
interview data on this topic is much sparser. 

Additional intervi,~w information supports the conclusion that the Abby Fagins (Fagins/Randall) 
line was involved with the Sebastians. Detailed information of interaction in Norwich among, 
for example the PI!rrys, Randalls, and Debarros was shown (Burgess IB, 45, EP Comments 
8/2/01). Various :;ebastians and Randalls went to the same church (Perry and Perry. 1999.2). A 
supporting link is Alton Smith's grandmother, a non-Pequot who was first married to his 
grandfather (BrusJelllSebastian) and then to Jack Randall (Fagins/Randall).52 The Randalls and 
DeBarros attended Alden Wilson's picnics (Lillian Sebastian, 2000) and also visited with the 
Catherine Harris family (Burgess IUD, 222; EP Comment 8/2/02). 

IntenllarriaQe an1jJ(inship Links. The proposed finding provided statistics on intermarriages of 
Eastern Pequots, as part of the demonstration of community (EP PF 2000, 89-91). In its 
Comments, EP submitted a very detailed report describing all marriages between EP and other 

5' -It should be noted that frequent non-Eastern-Pequo! (Narragansett, Western Pequot, Block Island) 
kinship links amollf; these families reinforced the strictly Eastern Pequot family ties: thus. the sister of Alton 
Smith's grandmother was married to the brother of Rachel Hoxie (Hoxie/Jackson) whose daughter by his first 
marriage to a Western Pequot married a son of Eunice (Wheeler) George. who subsequently married Marlboro 
Gardner (Gardner,'\Yilliams and GardnerlEdwards). 
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Eastern Pequot, 'Western Pequot, Narragansett and other (1lA, Appendix I; EP Comments 
8/2/2001). This was essentially directed at reinforcing and perhaps extending the analysis in the 
proposed finding. 53 

PEP claims that separating out the EP and PEP lineages would provide a different picture 
(Austin Introduction 8/2/2001, 13-15; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). This is not the case in regard 
to whether there were substantial rates of marriages of the Sebastians with other Eastern Pequots, 
with the Western, 'Mashantucket Pequots, or with nearby tribes. The EP Comments make the 
point that all but t)m~ of the children of Tamer Brushell Sebastian married individuals who were 
Indian or of Indian descent (llA, 69; EP Comments 8/2/2001). More generally, the Sebastian, 
the FaginsIWatson, the FaginslRandall, the Hoxie/Jackson and the GardnerIWilliams (but not 
GardnerlEdwards except through Eunice Wheeler) lines all had significant links to other non­
Eastern-Pequot Indian families and these non-Eastern-Pequot Indian lines frequently linked them 
to one another through kinship. 

PEP argues that h.e BIA, because it put all of the genealogical data on all of the historical 
Eastern Pequot (by the BlAIs definition) families into a single FTM database, distorted the 
results and prevented an analysis showing that the PEP antecedent families (Hoxie/Jackson and 
Gardner) were sl~parate from the Sebastians (Austin Introduction 15; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001).54 PEP provided no assertions in regard to the other antecedent lines of#35 
(Fagins/Watson and Fagins/Randall). PEP iterates that there is only one known marriage 
between Sebastians and anyone whom they define as a member of the historical Eastern Pequot 
tribe (Austin Introduction 8/2/200 I, 15; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). The comments also discount 
any significance 10 indirect connections between the Sebastians, Jacksons, and Gardners through 
less direct links sLlch as Calvin Williams's marriage to Eunice Wheeler, who subsequently 
married Marlboro Gardner (Chapter One, 16-17, PEP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The Towns critiq ued the use of evidence of intermarriage with Narragansetts, Western Pequots, 
and others as eVHlence for community (Towns August 2001,207) and challenged the statement 
that these were ';patterned outmarriages" as required by the regulations (Towns August 2001, 
207). The Town~; specifically assert that, "The Summary under the Criteria did not cite any 
examples of interaction between the Eastern Pequot and the Shinnecock, and did not provide any 
systematic analy::is of intermarriage between Eastern Pequot and Western Pequot and 
Narragansett aft'er 1936" (Towns August 2001,207). 

The Towns asser that: "The BIA finding, however, did not contain an analysis of marriage 
patterns or kinship ties between 1936 and 1973. An analysis of any continuing links between the 

53 The propose'd finding incorrectly calculated the 54 out of 167 total marriages which were between two 
Eastern Pequots as 39p(!rcent, rather the correct calculation which is 32 percent. 

54 For mor~ detailed discussion of the nature of the combined data base, see the PEP proposed finding 
under Bases for the ~1I1al Determination. 
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Sebastian, Gardn(!T, and Jackson descendants during this period should have been an essential 
part of any finding, that concluded that these families continued to constitute one tribal entity, but 
it is conspicuously missing from the BIA finding" (Towns August 2001,207). 

Analysis of Comments and Responses. Kinship is one way of demonstrating community, but it 
is not the sole way of demonstrating community. Certainly, in large federally acknowledged 
tribes, there are not necessarily close kinship ties among entities that number many thousand 
members. 

During the 19th and flirst part of the 20th century, the Eastern Pequots were immersed in a larger 
web of links with We:stern Pequots, Narragansetts and other Northeast Indians in a long-standing 
pattern that qualifies as "culturally patterned." The term is meant to capture that aspect ofIndian 
society which is ir:tertribal, a common if not universal aspect of American Indian cultures (see 
Snoqualmie Propcsed Finding, Anthropological Technical Report, Suttles and Lane 1990 
(Handbook of Norrh American Indians, Volume 15, Northwest;) Suttles 1963, Bean, California 
Indian Society). 

No analysis has bE'en made here of the degree of connectedness through the mUltiple marriages 
with NarraganSeH!i, that is, whether a particular set or sets of related Narragansetts married 
Eastern Pequots, especially the current lines. However, the intermarriage patterns and statistics, 
which have not heen recalculated for purposes of this final determination, show significant rates 
of patterned outmaITiages, leading to strong kinship links, supporting the existence of 
community. 

Enclaves. The proposed finding concluded that the EP petition's assertions in regard to 
geographical and ~iocial enclaves as showing community prior to 1973 had not been 
demonstrated, but that it was not necessary to demonstrate them because there was other data for 
this time period (El' PF 2000, 94). The EP Comments do not discuss enclaves in the context of 
the geographical data in Reports lIC and lie. Report lIe does not spell out in further detail, and 
the BIA did not de'velop further analysis of, particular family and residence patterns in the 
surrounding 10WWi. The proposed finding stated: 

The "enclaves" composition as described by petitioner #35 never includes 
individua:!~; from the Marlboro Gardner family line. It does not consistently 
include mE'rnbers of the Jackson line, except as intern1arried, even on the 
reserv3tion. where the Jacksons were a strong presence in the first three decades 
of tile 20th century (see Grabowski 1996, 138, 149-157, 159-160, 162-165) (EP 
PF 2000. S3). 

The term "enclave" is inaccurate in that what is described are not territorially 
separate communities of Eastern Pequots. The petitioner's descriptions only state 
that there were petitioner families in each of these fairly small areas. The 
descriptions and supporting interview data indicate that while some members 
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(excluding immediate relatives) may have lived near each other, they did not live 
in segregat'~cl areas of Pequots alone in the towns (EP PF 2000, 93). 

Thus the "e:nclaves" as described do not provide substantial evidence of 
community in themselves. What descriptions do show are that many of the 
petitioner's members between 1900 and the present lived near enough to each 
other to int(~ract. As evidence, this geographic data must be interpreted together 
with the other evidence about community, particularly the evidence of social 
gatherings and the context of the kinship relationships between residents of the 
different areas (which has not been systematically described) and within the tribe 
more generally (EP PF 2000, 93). 

To evalu:n: whether the claimed "enclaves" corresponded to actual social 
subgroupilgs would require considerable staff time to assemble all the necessary 
data about residence patterns and kinship and other social relationships in the 
20th century and analyze it in relation to the claimed enclave pattern. The 
description and analysis presented by the petitioner is incomplete and claimed 
subgroupilgs not well defined. Creation of a new analysis is not required under 
BAR procedures. Demonstration that the claimed enclaves were social 
subgroupi:1gs is not necessary to demonstrate that the community criterion is met, 
since this:nay be demonstrated by other means (EP PF 2000, 94). 

The EP Comments stated that: 

a. We define enclaves as residential areas occupied exclusively or nearly 
exclusivel y by Eastern Pequots or Eastern Pequots and other Indian people. For 
non-res(:nation Eastern Pequots, in the absence of "territorially separate 
communities" (ifby this the BAR means separate reservations, such as those 
maintained by the Passamaquoddies at Pleasant Point and Princeton, Maine or 
physically isolated "ghettos"), we argue that residence in the same apartment 
building, on the same street, or in the same neighborhood by Eastern Pequots is 
evidence (If an attempt to establish and maintain a distinctively Eastern Pequot 
"space" (htroduction 10; EP Comments 8/2/200 1). 

The EP Comments indicates that the data to describe enclaves is Report lIC, whose results are 
described in the sl:ction on geographical patterns. No such description of enclaves or specific 
geographical concentrations is provided. As the proposed finding noted, it was not necessary to 
show enclaves 10 show community and the EP have largely focused on showing visiting 
relationships bet\\'(~en towns within which various EP families live, \vhich does contribute to the 
showing of community 

The introduction 10 the EP Comments narrative also state that: 
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b. The enclave residents were related to one another, and socialized with one 
another, and therefore constituted a social as well as a residential unit. Evidence 
for such is provided in Reports lIC and IID (Introduction 11; EP Comments 
8/2/2001). 

This section of the EP Comments' Introduction also states: 

c. The enclave residents were in contact with other enclave residents, and visits 
between residents of the various enclaves were between primary kin, secondary 
kin, and non-kin. Evidence for this is provided in the analysis of Eastern Pequot 
marriage patterns (Reports lIC, lID, and lIIl) (Introduction 11; EP Comments 
8/2/2001). 

These assertions in effect repeat the claim of the original EP petition narrative. However, the 
cited reports IlC, IID, and IllJ (which is on the topic of EP politics since 1970) do not provide 
information on enc:laves, nor do the other EP reports, with the exception noted below. The 
available data on ge:ographicallocation, kinship ties and visiting patterns is discussed in the EP 
reports without reference to specifically trying to establish "enclaves". 

The exception to th(~ lack of reference to enclaves is the EP discussion of the residents of High 
Street in Mystic, a:1d nearby areas. Although this did not constitute an "enclave" in the sense of 
distinct territorial community, there were several families on one small cull de sac lane on the 
street and others v, ithin a mile or two. Burgess (IIlC, 42-44; EP Comments 8/2/2001) provides a 
summary discussion of the interview data from the 20th century concerning the area, noting that 
there has been a concentration of Eastern Pequots, from several different sublines of the 
Sebastians, living dose to each other and interacting regularly. A review of the available 
interview material:; supports her description (A. Smith, Elsie Wilson). Burgess, reviewing the 
data, states that "Many Eastern Pequots have resided in the High St. area of Mystic, which 
constituted an Easre:m Pequot "enclave" in the early 20th century." She lists Lillian Sebastian, 
whose parents Betty and Arthur Sebastian, Sr., lived on High Street Lane. Sylvia (Sebastian) 
Steadman also livc:d on the lane, and Lawrence Wilson, Sr., lived at the head of the lane. 
Burgess notes that, "[w]ithin a quarter mile radius of the Steadman residence were the homes of 
Alden Wilson (1890-1969) and Solomon Sebastian (1859-1938)." The Powers lived down the 
street about half a mile away. According to Burgess, "Hattie Sebastian and their family also 
moved to High St. some time after the Hurricane of 1938. Clarence Sebastian (1887-1960) lived 
on Cow Hill Road. approximately three miles away," which is where Tamer (Brushell) Sebastian 
had lived before rr oving onto the reservation. 

Burgess also state~~ that Sylvia Steadman's house "was the residence of many Eastern Pequot 
tribal members at various times during that period, including Sarah Sebastian Williams (1867-
1932); her daugh1E~r, Bertha Brown (1897-1941) (Mashantucket, former EP); Joe and Helen 
Williams (Helen, . 904-1973) and their daughter, Violet (1921 ); Julia and Solomon Sebastian 
(Solomon. 1859-:: )38); Moses Sebastian (1890-1958); and Betty and Arthur Sebastian (Arthur, 
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1879-1968) (Burge:ss, interview with Lillian Sebastian, 2000)" Burgess does not provide 
specific information how or when these individuals may have actually resided with Sylvia 
Steadman. 

The EP Comments also state that: 

d. A systematic survey of the non-enclave residents is also provided in report IIC, 
with accompanying maps. The relationships between non-enclave residents, 
residents (If the reservation, and enclave residents is documented in several oral 
history interviews and in the Kate Harris and Sarah Swan diaries (Burgess IIID) 
(lntroduct: on II; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The former rep0I1 (Flowers and Grant-Costa IIC; EP Comments 8/2/2001) did not provide not 
useful information on maintenance of social relations, providing only general geographical data. 
The information il Report IIID is discussed elsewhere in the analysis for the final determination, 
under visiting and other categories as appropriate. 

Pleasant Street BUttist Church. The proposed finding reviewed a lengthy report prepared by the 
EP on the Pleasant Street Baptist church in Westerly, Rhode Island, a sister church to the 
Narragansett church on the Narragansett tribal lands. The report described the attendance at this 
church by a significant number of Eastern Pequots over the past 100 years. 55 For the final 
determination, ElP submitted an additional report on the church, further detailing which members 
of their antecedent families and collateral relatives had been members, and the dates when they 
attended, extendir.g the analysis past the 1930's (Flowers IC, The Pleasant Street Baptist Church; 
EP Comments 8/2/2(01). It does not provide figures concerning how many EP members are 
currently members of the church. 

PEP argues that the attendance did not include its antecedent lines, explaining PEP Paul 
Spellman's attendance at the Pleasant Street Baptist church, an item cited by EP in the first 
report and cited ir: the proposed finding, as resulting from his wife's attendance (McMullen 
9/4/2001, 19; PEF Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The Towns denie'ci the church as evidence of community, claiming that, "this church cannot be 
considered an Eastern Pequot 'tribal' institution because, as the Summary Under the Criteria 
pointed out, then~ is no evidence that the attendees included descendants in the Gardner and 
Jackson lines, wif1 perhaps one exception (BIA, Summary Under the Criteria, EP, p. 92" (Towns 
Allgust 2001, 209>' The Towns also state that the church, "was not predominantly Indian in 

55Flowers, \Iarcia. Report on "Pleasant Street Baptist Church. An Indian Church Established by, for and 
of Indians." 1999. \\' ith documentary exhibits. The BIA reviewed a copy of this report during the anthropologist's 
site \'isit 111 March 1999 and requested a copy at that time. 
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orientation. It was chartered in 1874 as the Advent Christian Colored Church (A.C.C.C.) 
(Towns August 2001,209). 

EP's new data doe!; not substantially change the proposed finding, except to the extent it 
indicates that Eastem Pequot attendance is somewhat concentrated in Eastern Pequots with 
Narragansett relati ves. It is not necessary for the church to encompass all of the family lines to 
provide evidence for demonstrating community. 

In regard to the Towns' assertions, it was not the church's denominational affiliation, but the 
character of the congregation which was the basis for considering its activities as providing 
evidence of comm.mity among the Eastern Pequot. It is not uncommon for Indian churches to 
be affiliated with ron-Indian denominational organizations. 

Some Evidence, l<i!l;:gely Interview. Concerning Links among Eastern Pequot Families. In 
connection with the conclusion in the proposed finding that the two groups met the criteria as a 
single tribe up un:ti 1 1973, the proposed finding mentioned that social separation had been 
increasing in more recent decades: 

There was substantial solidarity within the two segments which may have 
subsequently separated into the two petitioners. However, this finding does not 
reach a cor c:lusion that the families ancestral to the petitioning groups had 
separated hto two communities before 1973. The available interview data is 
insufficiem to establish at what point in time they may have become two separate 
communiti es. Many individuals who grew up in the era when there was clearly a 
single tribal community were still alive between 1940 and 1973, and a few are 
still alive today. Available interview data from the petitioners and BIA interview 
data do not indicate any informal social interaction between the Sebastians and 
the Gardners among members in their 60's or younger (born after 1940). Further, 
there was no substantial data found in the available interviews to indicate 
significant social connections of the Jacksons in recent eras with either the 
Gardners or the Sebastians, notwithstanding the marriages of both Atwood 
Williams and his aunt, Grace Jackson, in the previous generation, with Gardners 
(see Moore 1991) (EP PF 2000, 100). 

The petitioners '>"Ere advised to address this issue as a factual question. PEP's Comments 
continued to take the position that the Sebastian family was not Eastern Pequot and that the PEP 
families had never been part of a single tribe with them (see PEP FD 2002, Bases for the Final 
Detern1ination). E.P attempted to develop additional data showing social and political links. 
Both petitioners and the third parties addressed the substantial issue of whether this is one group 
or two, and if two. when did they separate. In this regard, see also the discussion above in the 
"General Issues" section. 
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Analysis of Comme:nts and Responses. The analysis undertaken by the BIA for the final 
determination is designed to test the conclusion of the proposed finding that there was only one 
historical Eastern PI~quot tribe, and that the families from both current petitioners were part of it. 
The focus here is on community, rather than political relationships (for that, see under criterion 
83.7(c)). Additional documentary and interview information was available for the final 
determination. This report's review attempts to pierce the veil of recriminations deriving from 
the conflict which has existed at least since the 1920's and the heightened conflict which 
developed after ~lle 1973 creation of the CIAC, which effectively imposed an externally created 
need to define and formalize the Eastern Pequot governing unit. CIAC representation provided 
the focus for the ,:;onflict from that point until some time in the 1990's, when the focus shifted to 
the contending petitions for acknowledgment. 

The following is. largely interview/oral history based - integrated with examples taken from 
documents, whicl seem to be largely consistent, and provide corroboration for each other. 

The petitioners provided no 20th century evidence that the Sebastians had any significant social 
contact with any cfthe GardnerlEdwards line who didn't live on the reservation (the sole member 
of the Gardner/Edwards line who did, for any portion of the period from 1927-1976, was Helen 
(Edwards) LeGend.) In connection with the GardnerIWilliams line, the few interview mentions 
of Atwood Williams by Sebastians indicated only that they knew who he was, but not that they 
had any substanticl connection with him (see Alton Smith 1999, Mark Sebastian 1999).56 

From the limited infom1ation from the Jackson side, Harold Jackson stated that Silver Star 
[Atwood William~;, Sr., and his first cousin] was "chief of the Narragansetts," possibly referring 
to the idea that thE Gardners were "Narragansett." Harold Jackson said that "I didn't know him 
too well at all. I rl~l11ember seeing him. He was a nice looking man. He wasn't a big man, but he 
was a nice looking man" (Jackson 1999, 6). In addition, Jackson knew where Williams' fam1 
was, lived near it at one point, but never visited it. Yet for part of the time that Williams was 
active, Jackson siDuld have been living in Helen LeGault's house (approximately 1928-1935 or 
1932-1939) or in his father's house (early 1950's) on the reservation. 

The overall pattem of evidence, based on interview reports, State of Connecticut documents, and 
Catherine Harris's journal is that the Sebastians had a significant number of links with the 
Jacksons, including: some off-reservation. The latter is important because of PEP's claim that the 
contacts shown b} the written documentation were just reservation neighborliness (McMullen, 
13, PEP Commems 9/4/200 I). Alton Smith stated that he and Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss 
were "great friends" until Federal recognition became an issue (Burgess IUD, 223; EP Comments 

56Charles Jarne~s "Charlie" Lewis, Jr., (Burgess Interview of Lewis 2000) claims that Ray Geer, "used to 
drink with Ben and Moses Sebastian," both at times reservation residents. Judging by the ages of the individuals 
involved, it would almost have to be Raymond L. Geer aka Ray Geer, Sr., (1929-1970) who was referred to in the 
Le\\'is interview, sin,:e Raymond A. Geer, the fonner PEP chairman. was not born until 1952, a few years before 
\loses died and the Ben Sebastian probably referred to would have been an old man by then. 
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8/2/2001). This is consistent with the first protest to the CIAC (see that description), and with 
other data showing social contacts between this woman and the Sebastians. 57 

The EP response c:tes one interview as describing how Alden Wilson and his family would go up 
to the reservation to visit, stating that he visited the Browns [not further identified] and Franklin 
Williams [WesternfMashantucket Pequot, living on Lantern Hill]. The interviewee also stated 
that "Paul Spellman [Hoxie/Jackson] and his wife, and the Jackson girls were often there when 
Alden visited" (Burge:ss HID 187, EP Comments 8/2/2001).58 The "Jackson girls" in this case 
may refer not to t11:: descendants of Rachel Hoxie but to the daughters of Julia Sebastian, though 
this is unlikely because they were so young (Julia B. Sebastian married an unrelated Jackson and 
had three daughter) born between 1935 and 1943). The time period was apparently the 1930's 
and 1940's, althou gh this is not certain (Paul Spellman married in 1931 and his wife died in 1943; 
Franklin Williams di~!d in 1949, but his widow, the sister of Paul Spellman's wife, lived into the 
1960's; Arlene Jackson and Richard Brown did not marry until 1956). The EP Comments state, 
based on an interview, that Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris had gone to Hartford after the 
fire at Paul Spellman's house, presumably on his behalf (Burgess, Interview with Connie 
Eccleston, 1997-2000, EP Response 8/2/01, Burgess HID, 18)(see discussion under criterion 
83.7(c». 

Other relatively early examples noted were Harold Jackson's contacts with the Mystic Sebastians 
and Wilsons, probably the bte 1930's and the 1940's. Harold Jackson significantly states that he 
and his family visited the Sebastian/Wilson, "enclave" on High Street in Mystic (H. Jackson 
1999). It is in this context that he notes that he and one of the Sebastian girls, Julia Sebastian, 
older sister to pres::nt EP member Idabelle (Sebastian) Jordan, were "sweethearts" and that his 
brother was dating Lillian, another sister. Lillian Sebastian also mentions knowing him early on. 
This data is significant because it shows off-reservation Sebastian-Jackson social links that were 
not the result of propinquity on the reservation. 

Despite the PEP denial of any social relationship between the Sebastians and Paul Spellman 
(Introduction to Comments on the Proposed Finding, 24, 61, 66, PEP Comments 8/2/01) who was 
a reservation resid::nt much of his life, both written documents and interviews suggest he knew 
various Sebastians fairly well (A. Smith 1999, Larry Sebastian 1999, Moore 1991). PEP explains 
his attendance at thl;: Pleasant Street Baptist church, an item cited by EP, as resulting from his 
wife's attendance (McMullen 9/4/2001, 19; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001). A good 
description concerning Paul Spellman is Larry Sebastian's statement, made in a context where it 
was unlikely to be argumentative, that when he \\'as a child (he was born in 1931) he called Paul 

5
7
1n 1941, Mrs. Grace Boss "was staying temporarily in the home of ~1rs. Cah in WillIams" (EP Response 

to Comments 9/4:2(}) 1, Ex. 9, Memorandum C. S. Squires 9118/41, ) and in 1948, "Mrs. Grace Boss. who is 
working for an Old Mystic family goes up and spends week ends with Mrs. Holland" (EP Response to Comments 
9/4 '2001. Ex. 17. Gray 1:0 Squires 5/1 111948). 

5S The t~xt ,)fthe cited interview, by Burgess with Margaret Wilson, was not submitted. 
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"uncle" even though he knew he was a "cousin"s9 because of their age difference (Larry Sebastian 
1999). He recalled visiting him, with his family, as a child. Both petitioners devoted large 
amounts of interview time and discussion to the circumstances under which Barbara (Spellman) 
Moore "gave" LaITY Sebastian her brother Paul's house. The resulting data cannot be interpreted 
definitively as to whether this resulted from a significant, long-term social connection between 
Sebastian and Spellman, or just a short term friendship when' Spellman was helped by Sebastian 
near the end of his: lifc~. Larry Sebastian himself didn't attribute great significance to the house 
when interviewed (Larry Sebastian Interview 1999). 

It is difficult to determine an overall time depth for these contacts. As the proposed finding 
indicates, and the fI~view of the data continues to substantiate, some social ties, if not close ones 
are evident for the oldest generation now living, i.e., Eastern Pequots over 70 years old (see 
interviews with Ha:~()ld Jackson, Lillian Sebastian, and Arthur Sebastian). Overall, the significant 
contacts of Jacksons and Sebastians ran well into the 1970's, as long as there were Jacksons living 
on the reservation. The following examples indicate some of these interactions. 

In 1935, the right to approve residence became vested in the Connecticut State Parks and Forest 
Commission. On :March 6, 1936, a Sebastian descendant, Ralph F. Powers, wrote from Noank, 
Connecticut, to the State Parks Superintendent asking that his name be put on the Eastern Pequot 
tribal membership (Lynch 1998, 5: 123-124). His application for membership, dated December I, 
1936, was endorsed by Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams, Sarah (Swan) Holland, and 
Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss (Austin 18/2/2001,9; PEP Comments 8/2/2001) The researcher 
for the third parties objected that the application was not endorsed by Atwood l. Williams, which 
it should have been according to the 1933 court order (Lynch 1998). 

More difficult to evaluate are statements from a new interview by EP of Charlie Lewis (Burgess 
Interview with Lewis 2000; EP Comments 8/2/2001). Born in 1934, Lewis claims that Harold 
Jackson used to live across the street from his grandparents, Peter and Catherine (Sebastian) 
Harris. If this was refi~rring to the period oftime when Harold Jackson was living on the Lantern 
Hill Reservation, eithe:r with his father or with Helen (Edwards) LeGault, it refers to the mid to 
late 1930's or to the early 1950's. Charlie Lewis also indicates that Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss 
was close to Kate [Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris] Harris, which is consistent with 
Harris's journal and w:ith references from the Connecticut Office of Welfare records. Lewis is too 
young to know much directly about any relationship between the Jacksons and Tamer Emeline 
(Sebastian) Williams, or of Harold Jackson's residence on the reservation. 

59There is no known direct consanguineal relationship between the two men. although they had common 
relatives - e.g. Mauric~ Gordon Sebastian, who frequently lived on the reservation. was almost the same age as 
Larry Sebastian and a was cousin of both men (I SI cousin once removed of Paul Spellman; 2nd cousin once removed 
of Larry Sebastian). \Iaurice's mother was married to Spellman's brother, \\'hile Larry and Maurice had additional 
non-Eastern-Pequot J.: i nship ties through the McKinney sisters, Jane and Mary. 
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Data from CatheriIlt~ (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris's journal adds a few items. Petitioner #35 
presented a photocopy of the journal and abstracted and analyzed the contents (Burgess HID, 168-
177; EP Comment:; 8/2/2001), which showed a considerable amount of contact between the 
BrushelVSebastian lineage and HoxielJackson lineage during the 1930's and 1940's, continuing 
into the early 1950's. This contact did not include the GardnerlEdwards or GardnerlWilliams 
descendants. Thej::mrnal notes the 1938 wedding of Harold Jackson and Marion Hazard (a 
Narragansett) giving ,evidence that it was attended by Emeline Williams60

, Catherine Harris, 
Sarah (Swan) Holland and Albert Carpenter. The journal also contains her notation that in 1942, 
when she went to Norwich and had teeth out, Arlene Jackson went with her and that, apparently, 
they both had dinner with her daughter Catherine (Carpenter) Lewis (who lived in Norwich) 
(Burgess IlID, 174; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

There are other mr:ations in Harris's journals noting weddings, obituaries, address of individuals 
and other clipping~; or notations re the Jackson's and others that Burgess argues shows social links 
(Burgess HID 175··177; EP Comments 8/2/2001). In itself this infonnation, where it doesn't 
describe social contact, is ambiguous, since Harris noted infonnation on non-Indians (though 
Burgess further argue:s that these, like the Main family,61 non-Indian neighbors, were people with 
whom she had contacts and connections). 

In 1953, a group of Lantern Hill reservation residents traveled to Hartford to protest a bill (CT 
Senate Bill 502 1/:\011953) to sell the Lantern Hill reservation and tenninate State responsibility 
for the Eastern Pequot tribe (see also above under General Issues). EP presented discussion of 
both the bill itself :Grant-Costa IIIF, 239-242; EP Comments 8/2/2001) and discussion of the 
group who went tc Hartford, with genealogical analysis of their relationships (Flowers IIIE, 235-
238; EP Comments 8/2/2001). The delegation included both Sebastians and Jacksons (see 
discussion under criiterion 83.7(c)). 

Harold Jackson (l!915-2001), one of the oldest PEP members, from the Hoxie/Jackson line, 
referred to Helen LeGault (GardnerlEdwards line) as a "Narragansett" (Harold Jackson 1999) as 
had his sister, Arlc'ne (Jackson) Brown, in 1973 (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut. Letter to 
Commissioner of Environmental Protection, Hartford, Connecticut 1011411973). In context, this 
sequence of "Narngansett" references suggests another line of internal distinction within the 
historical Eastern Pequot, based on the earlier incorporation into the tribe of Marlboro Gardner 
and his line, which on his father's side originated in the Narragansett tribe. The statements don't 
indicate that the speaker thought that these individuals were in fact socially and politically 
N arragansetts and not part of the group. Rather, they carry historical infonnation into a social 

60It is not clear whether this referred to Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) \Villiams or Emeline (Jones) Williams, 
wife of Franklin c:. Williams. 

61 Barbara (:;pellman) Moore also referenced the Main family, indicating that they were a contact point 
between the reser\',ltion residents and the overseer (Moore Interview 12/8/1991, 28). 
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context. As such, this reference is an indication of social connection, because social distinctions 
define relationship:;, The form the statements take does indicate some social distance. 

The existence of s(lrm~ social distance between the Hoxie/Jackson and GardnerlEdwards lines was 
also reflected by Barbara Spellman Moore, who referred to LeGault as follows, indicating she 
didn't know her V€!J,)' well: 

Yeah, there was a family that lived over where Aunt Grace used to live, took her 
house over. Helen LaGault or something. She claimed to be some Indian. And 
Paul and th~m, and all of them used to have to bus with her. 

But they used to do a lot of scrapping, Helen LaGault. She was (inaudible) used to 
do a lot of :,c:rapping there because she wasn't - then she claimed she was. And 
she was real sort of arrogant, an arrogant person. And but that's a lot of years. I 
don't know anything because I never met her, don't know her (Moore Interview 
12/8/1991" 48; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 86). 

Because of the put lie visibility and prominence of individuals from the GardnerlEdwards line 
such as Helen LeGault, or Ray Geer, these individuals are somewhat known to Sebastian 
descendants, although the interview descriptions do not indicate a long history of social contact. 
There is much less indication of knowledge of or infonnal contacts with the less visible members 
of the Gardner/Edwards and GardnerlWilliams families. 

BIA interviews of EP members generally indicated that the interviewee did not know the 
Gardner/Edwards family, even the Geers, many of whom lived in the North Stonington and 
Stonington area, not far from the reservation. The results are consistent across individuals from a 
variety of families and in a variety of contexts. Nothing of the comments on Ray Geer, who 
moved on the reservation and hence is known to a number of EP leaders, indicates any long 
history of interacti::m with him. All of the awareness is focused on the fact that he moved onto 
Catherine Harris's property or that he sent letters trying to evict Sebastians from the reservation. 
Other EP specifical'ly denied knowing Agnes Cunha or her brother or children, except in the 
context of living 01 the reservation in recent years. Presumably EP interviewees might be 
expected to exaggerate their contacts with the other side, rather than minimize them ,but such was 
not the case. 

Descriptions by ore EP leader about how they made contacts to attempt to recruit PEP members 
to enroll at EP during the 1990's indicate that this individual, one of the Roy Sebastian Sr., line so 
central to reorganiz:ing the EP, did not know whom to contact (Mark Sebastian 1999). This 
description was gi lien in a different context than asking whether he knew the PEP families. It 
does not appear to be immediately comparable to circumstances where a community is sharply 
divided, but where the opposing group is well known, often the subject of a lot of specific 
complaints, gossi~ and stories. The latter situation is characteristic of highly factionalized Indian 
communities, and appears in the EP/PEP interviews that refer back to the period just before and 
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after 1920, as well B:S in some of the CIAC testimony presented during the period 1976-1983 
which referred back to the same era, but does not appear in the contemporary interview data. 
Rather, the lack of knowledge documents the growing separation between the various Eastern 
Pequot lineages that has been developing since before 1973. 

Therefore, in unde~standing the interview information concerning contacts between Sebastians, 
Jacksons and Gardners, it is important to look at the age profile of the current EP membership, 
which is 85 percent Sebastians. A number of the older individuals, who had more contacts 
according to the historical data, lived into the late 1960's, 1970's and early 1980's. Catherine 
Harris died after 1967, Roy Sebastian Sr., died in 1980. Similarly, the older Jacksons, Arlene 
Brown (died 1992:;, aQd Rachel Crumb (died 1995) were also alive. A quick examination of EP's 
list of "m embers alive in 1970" indicates a substantial number of individuals born before 1920 (as 
early as 1888) (46 based on this data) who were still alive in 1970, died within the 1970 to 1980 
decade, or in some cases later (Box 1, Folder 3, Burgess evidence, EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
There are probably more such individuals than the petitioner's compilation included, since this 
data set appears to be incomplete. Thus, in 1973, when the current alignments began to take 
shape, there would have been more Sebastians who had maintained more contacts with 
Hoxie/Jacksons, GardnerlWilliams, and possibly even GardnerlEdwards than shows from 
interviewing present adult members about such contacts during their own lives. 

Various accounts indicate continuing conflict between the Gardner/Edwards line and the 
Sebastians during ':he 1940's to 1960's and later which were in part racially based. Ray Geer 
indicates clearly tb.t his grandmother, Hazel (Edwards) Geer, objected to involvement with the 
Sebastians, and possibly the Jacksons, for reasons of their color (R. Geer 1999), a recollection 
which can be conhmed by an interview with her undertaken by a representative of the 
Connecticut State Park and Forest Commission in the late 1930's (Interview with Mrs. Calvin 
Geer - Il4 IndiaI}, Williams Notebook c. 1941). 

EP member CharI ie Lewis provides a graphic description of a physical confrontation involving 
Helen (Edwards) LeGault in 1951, in which the latter called Al Carpenter (1906-1977, son of 
Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris and husband of Anna (Sebastian) Carpenter) a racial 
epithet (Burgess Interview with Charlie Lewis 2000). Carpenter in response knocked her down, 
which led to a court trial. This indicates that the limited relationships between Sebastians and 
Gardner/Edwards descendants were not due solely to a "growing apart." This data supports PEP's 
claim that its antecedent family lines actively avoided the Sebastians, to the extent it applies to 
the Gardner/Ed\\'a~ds line. However, it is not clear that PEP's hypothesis applies to the 
Hoxie/Jackson fam:~ly for the period from the 1940's through the 1960's. The interviewee states 
that Grace Powell (Jackson) (daughter of William Jackson) argued with LeGault against making 
such statements (Burgess IIID, 206; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

As an overall statement, the EP interview data on visiting patterns in the past never mentions any 
member of the Ga ~dner/Edwards line. This includes responses to open ended questions, such as 
about who attended an event. However, few if any of the interviews, except some of the BlA's, 
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specifically asked such questions as - "did so and so attend? or did the Edwards attend? or did 
you know them?" EP's interviews focus on the Sebastians, though there are some open-ended 
questions. PEP's interviews with its own members include general statements that Sebastians 
never attended their affairs. The EP survey data question on this issue is poorly phrased and 
consequently its results are not usable as well as not corroborated by other interview information 
(see discussion below). . 

The interview infonmation indicates that Barbara (Spellman) Moore and her husband may have 
been planning to move to Lantern Hill at some time during the 1950's,62 in that she references a 
"Lillian Sebastian that lived - that came in, moved in there where my husband and I was going to 
live. So she was moving in there, and I never, ever heard of Lillian Sebastian" (Moore Interview 
12/811991,61; PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 86). 

Overall, the factual pattern described by the proposed finding is confirmed by the additional data 
and reexamined data. It shows an early conflict, of an indeterminate nature, which becomes 
focused on color by the 1920's, and an increasing degree of separation, augmented by the decline 
in size and activity (If the once central family line, the Jacksons. However, it is clear that the 
pattern is not a simple bifurcation along the lines of the present petitioners's antecedents, but a 
more complex one. The Hoxie/Jackson partners in the two late 19th century Gardner/Jackson 
marriages died in the 1950's (Atwood I. Williams in 1955 and Grace (Jackson) Gardner Boss in 
1959). There is DC' clear evidence that after their deaths, Atwood Williams's descendants 
(Gardner/William~.) maintained close social contact with their Hoxiel1acksoll relatives. They did 
continue to maintain contact with their Gardner/Edwards relatives. 

As late as the 197(1's, the picture that develops is that while the Sebastians have no amicable 
contact with either the Gardner/Edwards or the Gardner/Williams, the Gardner/Edwards also have 
no amicable contacts with the Hoxie/Jacksons. The Hoxie/Jacksons have significant and 
amicable contacts and conflicts with both the Sebastians and the GardnerlWilliams. There are 
significant and amicable contacts between the Sebastians and the Fagins/Randallline. Limited 
evidence indicated llimited contacts between the Sebastians and the Fagins/Watsons. The 
conclusion in the proposed finding that there was one tribal community to 1973 is affirmed. 

1973 to the Prese};!. Without reaching a conclusion on the period since 1973, the proposed 
finding indicated that the data presented in regard to the modern EP community needed to be 
strengthened (EP PF 2000. 136-140). 

EP Comments. The EP Comments stated that the data intended to show "cohesive community 
since 1973" included the two long reports on political actions and governance, "the oral histories 
with 70 tribal membe:rs, survey data that document consistent work relations, social relations 

62Lillian Sebastian to Martin A. Barren, Connecticut Welfare Department, re: purchase of cottage on the 
reser\'ation from non-Indian, Alvin Heinrich, 1/9/1958; she identifies herself as the sister of Arthur W. Sebastian, 
Jr .. who hJS J cott<lg(~ on the reservation (Lynch 1998.5: 137). 
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geographic relations and widespread knowledge of tribal affairs, and kinship data, including 
patterned outrnaJTiag~:s" (Being Indian in Connecticut, Conclusions and Summary Chart, 555; EP 
Comments 81212001). 

Third Party Comll1~nts on Modem Community. The State (State o/Connecticut August 2001,36) 
cites the proposed finding's factual conclusion, described in the appendix to that finding, that the 
petition had not submitted enough evidence of social cohesion to demonstrate modem community 
for EP. The State provided citations to examples from the BIA interviews of statements which it 
concluded were evidence "confirming the lack of significant social relationships widely 
distributed among the membership" (State o/Connecticut August 2001,36), but did not present an 
analysis of this evidence. The Towns cite essentially the same evidence, giving three examples 
from interviews (T~wns August 2001,284-285). 

The following sections examine the various topics that were mentioned in the proposed finding in 
regard to community during the period from 1973 to the present, with an analysis of the EP 
Comments. 

Cultural Differenc:!~!. The proposed finding stated that in regard to the period from the 1920's to 
1973: 

The petitioner asserts as well that there are cultural differences from non-Indians 
and that there has been marriage within the membership and with other New 
England Indians which provide evidence for community. Almost all of the 
description:; of the gatherings and enclaves are based on interview/oral history. 
The adequacy of this material varied substantially from instance to instance (EP 
PF 2000, 8:~). 

Continuing consideration of the theme of cultural differences for the period from 1973 to the 
present, without re lching a conclusion, the proposed finding stated: 

The petition's position is that there are presently cultural characteristics of the 
Eastern Pequot which show continuity from the Pequot tribe in the past (EPNarr. 
7/98,52-54). Where a group demonstrates cultural patterns which are distinct 
from the pC 1puiations it interacts with, this provides evidence for community 
(83.7(b)(l ),:vii)). The petitioner's position that cultural characteristics have been 
maintained is equivalent to stating that cultural differences have been maintained 
and exi st. The cultural patterns do not need to be survivals of the group's culture 
from pre··E Jropean contact days. They must be more than symbolic assertions of 
group identity (EP PF 2000, 139). 

The petitio:1 did not present a coherent discussion and supporting body of evidence 
for the past culture of the Eastern Pequot as providing context for community at 
the present There was little or no data which would establish how widespread the 
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cited cultural traits were within the membership. Several of the items categorized 
by the peti':iol1 as distinct cultural practices were not, as described, different from 
non-Indians. These included hunting and fishing, music, dancing and sports and 
food-sharing, all described it as widespread among the Pequot. The data about 
food-sharing was also evaluated as to whether it showed social contact and 
relationships within the membership. Similarly, the data concerning employment 
patterns did not, as described, indicate cultural differences. A possible exception 
is a claimd tradition of stonemasonry, which might, with more complete data, be 
shown to be a distinctive (though not unique) group tradition. The use of herb and 
wild plants for curing was noted although not described as distinct from non­
Indians. Burial practices which were described as traditional were noted. There 
was no information to show that these practices were in fact of long-standing, or 
widespread within the group or that they were other than symbolic (EP PF 2000, 
139). 

Two EP reports described phenomena that it characterized as "cultural features" (K. Sebastian 
IIIG 244-246; EP Comments 8/2/2001; K. Sebastian 9/4/2001, I; EP Response to Comments 
9/4/200 I), none of which were shown to be widely distributed among the membership nor to have 
existed until recent y1ears. These included naming, burial ceremonies, prayers and dances, none 
of which were shown to be other than of recent origins nor to represent actual as opposed to 
symbolic cultural differences (see 83.7(b)(l)(vii)). 

Nothing in the EP Comments showed significant cultural differences widely distributed among 
the membership. The survey and one of the reports considered hunting and fishing and working 
in certain occupations as cultural markers of the group. None of these occupations or activities 
was distinct from tbat among non-Indians in the area, nor were they shown to be more common 
than among non-Indians in the area. Even ifhunting and fishing or certain occupations were 
traditions or part of the group's oral history, this would not show cultural differences or social 
distinction. 

Geographical "Sc~ial Core" Model for Modem Community. The proposed finding noted that the 
Eastern Pequot pelition had based its presentation of the data to demonstrate modern community 
on a model, derived from the Mohegan final determination, of a "social core" of members in 
substantial contact with each other, which in that case corresponded with members within a ten 
mile radius (EP PF 2000, 140). The proposed finding noted that "The petitioner presented no 
data to demonstrate that the Eastern Pequot members living within that radius form a social 
community (i.e .. meet the definition in 83.1)" (EP PF 2000, 136). 

The proposed finding stated that: 

The term "'social core," as used in the Mohegan Final Determination and some 
other findings, referred to the portion of the group which maintained substantial 
social cont1ct among the members. In the Mohegan Final Detemlination it was 
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concluded on the basis of field research that the members within that radius 
formed a social core (Mohegan FD Sum. 14-17, Anthro. TR, 50-51). However, the 
Eastern Pequot petition simply defines the ten-mile radius as a social core with no 
showing b,y evidence that it is (EP PF 2000, 136). [emphasis added] 

The proposed finding noted: "The concentration of members ·of a petition in a general area where 
there was historicall!y a community is not good evidence that a present day popUlation of 
descendants in th€: same area are still maintaining social ties, unless there are distinct 
neighborhoods or !ie~ttlements (see Miami FD)" (EP PF 2000, 136) The proposed finding also 
rejected the fact pres~:nce of the petitioner's ancestors living in the defined area for hundreds of 
years as providing substantial information in support of community, past or present (EP PF 2000, 
136). 

The proposed find:.ng also stated that 

The petitio1er defines the area within a ten mile radius of the Lantern Hill 
Reservation as the "social core area." This area includes not only the towns 
immediatdy around the reservation where Eastern Pequots have lived off­
reservation since the 18th century, Mystic, Old Mystic, North Stonington and 
Stonington, but towns at a further distance, including Groton and the city of New 
London. A c:cording to the petition itself, the petitioner's members did not move to 
the latter two locations in significant numbers until the late 1960's, but census data 
indicates HLat the majority of the Sebastian line families resided in Groton from 
1850 throu gh 1880, while a substantial number of them continued to reside in 
Groton from ]l900 through 1920 (EP PF 2000, 136). 

The proposed find ing also noted, referring to this description of the geographical location of 
members in the pa51t, that "This geographic proximity of a portion of the membership would be 
supporting evidenc(: for a finding that there is a social core within at least the older settlement 
areas within the te 1 mile radius, but does not substitute for direct evidence to demonstrate 
community" (EP FF :2000, 137). 

The EP Commem~; redefine the geographic extent of their "core," widening it. They state: 

Essentially, the core is that territory surrounding the Lantern Hill reservation 
wi thin a raji us of 10 to 15 miles as demonstrated in Map I. Spanning parts of two 
states, it in:::ludes the towns of North Stonington, Stonington, Mystic, Westerly, 
R.I., and Ledyard towards its center, as \vell as the larger cities of1\orwich, New 
London anj Charlestown, R.I. at its extremities. The core area is not arbitrary, 
rather it is derived from the fairly consistent residency patterns of the Eastem 
Pequot in the second half of the 19th century and the whole of the 20th century 
(Flowers a 1d Grant-Costa lIC, 78; EP Comments 8/2/200 I). 
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The response also adds a new category, defining a "core periphery" area. The response argues 
that: 

most Pequots migrating outside the core area resettled not in distant urban centers 
rather in the two close major capitals-Hartford and Providence-at the edges of 
the core area .. Thus, the data which comprise the second set of charts were 
refigured by extracting the number of families living in Hartford and Providence 
and organi2:ing them into a separate category: the core periphery. The core 
periphery :i!.merely these two major urban centers. This is surely a reasonable 
extension of the core area for the 20th century since it accounts for the general 
trend with:in non-Indian communities as well as within Indian communities 
throughout the country (Flowers and Grant-Costa IIC, 79; EP Comments 
8/2/200 l). [footnote in original omitted] 

Essentially this is Ln argument that those members living in those areas were maintaining 
substantial contact with the "body" of the Eastern Pequots. That proposition is discussed by the 
Eastern Pequot and data described, in the main discussion of post-1900 community (Burgess 
IIID; EP Comments 8/2/2001). Thus it is not a geographical but in practice a social argument. 

Despite this geogmphical description and analysis, the EP Comments, without explicitly stating 
so, abandon the "tv[ohegan model" approach for demonstrating modern community used in their 
1998 petition and c.cldressed at length in the proposed finding. EP does not attempt to 
demonstrate systenatically that those within the core area, or core and core periphery areas, 
presently maintain a social community. A better historical context is provided, in the discussion 
of past visiting, bu: there is no attempt to carry this analysis into the present day in any systematic 
fashion. The EP n:sponse primarily rests its demonstration of modern community on the 
geographical pattems past and present, and the data from the membership survey, along with 
additional infom1,Lion on past social interaction and kinship. However, neither the survey data 
nor geographic data provide substantial data to demonstrate social relations within the present­
day community. 

Evidence for Pres~!Jt Community from Kinship. The proposed finding stated: 

In part because of the concentration of membership on the part of the Sebastians, 
most of the current membership is relatively closely related. Adult members in 
their 20's and 30's are generally fourth cousins if they descend from different 
children 0 f Tamar, though some older ones are only second cousins. Within the 
dominant Francisco Sebastian subline, adults are cousins or second cousins. The 
BIA intervj ew and petition interview data indicates that kinship links have been 
maintained 'Nell beyond immediate, first degree kin (i.e., first cousin, aunts and 
uncles). A1d the previous generations, to whom the historical discussion relates, 
were even :Tlore closely related (EP PF 2000, 89). 
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While this d<:gree of genealogical relationship is not close enough to assume 
without further evidence that social connections are maintained, they are close 
enough to provide a strong basis for kinship relations to be maintained. The 
evidence in this case is that the Eastern Pequot have maintained kinship 
relationships well beyond primary kin (BAR 1999, Burgess 1998) (PEP PF 2000, 
89). [emphasis added] 

The State notes, apparently in reference to the current-day community, the BIA's statement in the 
proposed finding that there was not a systematic description that actual kin links existed beyond 
those that could b~~ assumed from genealogical distance alone (i.e., primary kin) (State of 
Connecticut Augus: 2001, 32; citing EP PF 2000,89). The State does not add to this analysis. 

EP does not present a systematic description from interviews of individuals who presently 
account "distant" k:nsmen as someone with whom they have a significant kinship relationship. 
There are some items of data, but there is no reanalysis of the existing interview data nor is their 
new interview data systematically addressed. As the proposed finding noted, the existing 
interview materials w~~re not thoroughly reviewed and it was suggested that a re-review might 
provide a different result. The review for this final detennination of the BlA's interview 
materials and the additional interview infonnation submitted in EP's Comments to the proposed 
finding did not produce consistent data concerning whether at the present time kinship 
relationships are rel;ognized well beyond primary kin. 

EP's argument for the importance of kinship in the current group rests primarily on the interview 
infonnation on past visiting patterns, which is fairly extensive, and the past participation in social 
and political events across family lines. Little infonnation was available on infonnal visiting 
across family and primary kin lines in the present group. 

An isolated but significant piece of infonnation concerning the current group is the vice­
chailman's appraisal of the political stances among the membership, which describes a set of 
family groupings and indicates his perception that these groupings exist and have some coherence 
which manifests its~lf in the support of candidates for office_ This observation is presumably 
based on his 10 or more years in EP politics (Mark Sebastian 1999). 

EP Membership Sl:!.Ci.!::}:. EP conducted a survey of its membership to support and augment the 
documentary and ir terview data concerning past and present community and political 
organization that il had submitted for the proposed finding (Eastern Pequot Petition Team Survey. 
June 29, 2000; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, Folder Bragdon Evidence). The survey. and the 
data presented, suffer from very substantial weaknesses which limit their usefulness. Many of 
the questions are pc>orly worded, so that the import of the data gained cannot be adequately 
determined. The EP Comments included a report which included a discussion of some of the 
results of the surve~1 (Bragdon, III], 465-79, EP Comments 8/2/200 I). 
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The total number of respondents was 195 out of approximately 555 adults. This was a mailed 
survey. The survey report did not list who had responded to the questions. The profile of the 
respondents in the report does not include distribution of respondents according to family line and 
subline, making it impossible to determine if it was representative in that important respect. The 
geographic distribution of current residence and birthplaces is given and is reasonably consistent 
with the overall EP membership as is also the age distribution. 

The report did not provide a summary of all of the results of each question. A raw data printout 
of all responses was provided in a form which was difficult to use without inputting again into a 
database program. Because the survey was blind and because of problems with the questions, the 
BlA concluded thit asking for additional analyses of data from this survey would not be fruitful 
and further would go beyond the limitations set forth by the February 2000 Directive. 

Question 45 asked whether the respondent attended a political event, party, worked with or 
socialized informally with "any PEP member" but instructs the respondent to respond in terms of 
involvement with "olther Paucatuck Eastern Pequot members." Although the report cites this as 
evidence that EP members are significantly involved with PEP members, the question as posed is 
ambiguous as far as whether the respondent meant PEP or not (particularly in light of the 1982 
legislation which ,;!hanged the formal name of the state-recognized group, whatever its 
components might bl;:, to "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot"). Notably, the data is at odds with minutes 
and attendance SlJ,;:I;:ts of either petitioner. Only data for the 12 former council members is 
reported, which raised the question of whether the 183 respondents ignored the question, or the 
EP simply did not include the answers in the material submitted. 

Generally, to the extl:nt that the survey only reported results of the 12 present or former council 
members, it is not particularly useful or significant since, as the text itself notes, the proposed 
finding asked abo Jt :wider involvement than that of the active leadership. Failure to include 
results on several questions, such as what political issues are important, suggests at the very least 
that the results were not favorable. In general, the failure to provide a complete summary of 
results means that the survey was of only minimal use for purposes of evaluation. 

Question 41 asked respondents to state who were leaders in the decades beginning in the 1950's. 
Again, the EP n:p::>rt only provides data from the 12 who were past or present council members. 
The text estimate~ this as 30% of the potential total of such individuals (the BIA's count of the 
potential total is a little higher, but some are deceased). Further, there is no identification or cross 
section of who these respondents are, hence it is impossible to separate out whether Roy 
Sebastian, Sr.. was described as a leader only by other members of his francisco subline or was 
also reported as a b:ader in that time period by persons who belonged to other sublines. These 12 
respondents ident fie:d the following individuals as leaders of the tribe: in the 1940's, Roy 
Sebastian, Sr.: in ':he 1950's, Roy Sebastian, Sf.; in the 1960's, both Roy, Sr., and Roy, Jr. 

The replies to question 34, indicating that 37 individuals had actually attended CIAC meetings in 
the 1970's and 19:Ws, provide some evidence for the importance of the CIAC's actions as a 
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political issue. Assuming all twelve fonner council members had attended such meetings, an 
additional 25 membe:rs, at a minimum, had shown sufficient interest to attend a meeting, lending 
some support to the hypothesis that the issues being considered were of importance to the 
membership. How{:ver, the data is for a 25 year period is lumped together, with no indication of 
frequency or total, nor are the individuals who responded positively profiled as to age, location or 
family line. Thirty of the 37 indicated that a friend or relative was the source of information 
about the CIAC, providing some substantiation for the respondents' being connected individuals 
as far as political is:me:s went. The question did not specify EP meetings as a source of 
information about~olitical issues and the data did not indicate that this was an important source. 

EP developed relatively little data which identified which issues were of importance to 
individuals. Question 45 on the survey listed 14 possibilities. EP reported only the answers of 
the 12 present or fonner council members for this question, which by definition doesn't show 
whether there was broad political interest. 

Question 46 asked, "are there major issues with which you disagree with the EP Tribal council," 
and asked the respondent to list any. The replies were once more reported for only the 12 council 
members. The answers provide some information about conflicts and disagreements, although 
without any info multi on as to who took which positions and whether the only represent personal 
opinions or whethe:r there was broader membership backing of the stand. The report states that 
"11 of 12 expressed concerns, referring to the tribal council, noting: 

"too much tllk, not enough action, more concern for people, etc.," "must unite 
with Khuna [sic]," "too much power, no control, tribal body has no say," "health, 
housing, education, environment, conservation, support for youth [are needed]," 
"lack of communication, involve elders more," "inability to follow through ideas, 
lack of meetings or communication, petty splits and arguments," "right to have 
closed meetings," and concern with "communication with tribal members in a 
timely manner" (Bragdon IIIJ, 470; EP Comments 8/200 I). 

Question 39 asked respondents to provide details regarding the method of "keeping up with tribal 
business." Only the results for the 12 present and fonner council members were given. The 
question is framed .n the present only, further limiting its usefulness. 

The survey includd questions which apparently intended to get at the existence of distinct 
culture. However, the questions primarily concerned whether individuals hunted or fished and 
the like. or were taught these by their parents or grandparents. None of the items listed was 
identifiably a distinct cultural trait. 

The questions concerning "community," asked broad questions such as to "who you socialized 
with mainly" as a child and as an adult. By implication, the intent of the questions was to 
distinguish between siblings, other close relatives, distant relatives, other Indians, and non-
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Indians. However,. the question doesn't distinguish between Indian or Pequot relatives and non­
Indian relatives oftlbc: same kinship status. Consequently, tlbese results are not useful. 

The survey posed d(~tailed questions about tlbe work history of tlbe respondents, their parents and 
their grandparents (but without distinguishing between Irulian and non-Indian parents). The 
report concludes that "While such trends may parallel tlbe non-Indian work trends throughout the 
nation it is clear that Eastern Pequot tribal members have continued to work in specific fields that 
may be linked to the: geography and cultural history of the tribe" (lIIJ, Bragdon, 471,EP 
Comments 8/2/20C 1). In other words, it doesn't provide specific information which shows 
community or a di~;tinct group. The results for a number of questions on the survey were neither 
reported except as raw data nor discussed. 

The PEP Response to Comments provided a tabulation of part of the raw survey data that yielded 
significant results that the EP report did not provide. It found that 104 of 195 EP respondents to 
question 45, in indic;ating what issues were important, ranked the issue "the split" as very high in 
importance and on Iy 10 ranked it as unimportant (Palma 9/412001, 16; EP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001). 

The PEP report assumed that the question about interaction with "Paucatuck Eastern Pequot" 
members would be interpreted to mean interaction with members of petitioner # 113. Given that 
assumption, the report concluded that the question was insufficiently detailed and worded to 
address the "character, frequency, breadth, depth or intensity of the alleged social and political 
interactions between" the two groups (Palma 9/4/200 I, 16; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/200 I). The lat':er two comments appear to reflect the unavailability to PEP of the text of 
question 44. 

EP Enrollment Hi~t!2IY. The Towns suggest that the EP membership list's sizeable expansion 
between 1975 and the present is evidence that it is a descent group rather than a community, and 
also that this unstable membership helps demonstrate that it isn't a community (Towns August 
200], 378). The S!:21t(; also commented that the proposed finding stated that EP membership had 
"fluctuated significantly during the petitioning process," from 70 in 1976 to 647 in 1998, and 
argued that this incicated that the EP were a recently formed group (State of Connecticut August 
2001,36). The nature of these fluctuations is discussed in more detail under criterion 83.7(e), 
below, but the data on the various lists does not indicate that EP is a recently formed group. 

The Towns cited an interview in which an individual EP leader appears to describe a portion of 
the recently added members with the phrase, "everybody and his brother comes out of the 
woodwork" (To\l'lE August 2001, 285; see also references to the Marsha Flowers and Geneva 
Sebastian interviews, Towns August 2001,284). A more detailed review of the intervievv' 
descriptions and documents of the governing body's actions concerning how the early EP rolls 
were prepared indi ~ates a process in which a core of individuals drawn from several Sebastian 
sublines started wi:h people they knew well, and then tried to "get word out" to those people 
(Larry Sebastian 1999). The EP organization may also have seen itself as an organization of 
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actives at first, rather than a complete enrollment. Some of the expansion that the Towns cite 
(Towns August 200}, 286), on the grounds that the earliest rolls were so small (96 members in 
1978) (Towns AugUSl2001, 348-349), may reflect that the earlier EP membership lists were an 
incomplete enrollm!Jllt of active individuals. The later, larger, enumerations added relatively few 
sublines unrepresented on the earliest membership lists. A major contribution to the differential 
numbers is, without doubt, that the earliest EP membership lists included only adults, while the 
current ones include~ minors. 

The current membe:~ship list, submitted for the final determination, has 1004 members, compared 
with 647 on the 1998 roll utilized for the proposed finding. It includes two lines not previously 
represented. One, FaginslRandall, 98 individuals comprising approximately 10 percent of the 
membership, was a.ctive in EP in 1998 though not on the membership list and has clear social ties 
to the Sebastians (5(:(: below). The other, from Albert Sebastian, has had relatively weak ties in 
recent decades (see: below). The total of EP members from the Albert Sebastian line is 141, 
which represents 14 pe:r cent of the current membership (BIA FTM data base, printout, 
Descendants of Alb~rt B. Sebastian). Thus, much of the difference of 347 is accounted for the 
addition of the Albert Sebastian sub line and the FaginslRandallline (a total of 239). The balance 
is largely accounted for the addition of minors, as well as some siblings of previously enrolled 
members (see also clisc:ussion of enrollment changes under criterion 83.7(e». 

The Larry Sebastiar. material cited by the Towns includes his comment that "everybody and his 
brother comes out of the woodwork" (Towns August 2001,285; citing "Larry Sebastian transcript, 
Tape No. 14, p. 10" (Larry Sebastian 1999). The discussion follows his description of the EP 
enrollment process as starting with "anyone that was a tribal member or family member of the 
tribe that we could think of," and going on to ask these whom else they knew (L. Sebastian, Tape 
14, State transcripti,):n, 8-10 (Larry Sebastian 1999). He does go on to state that the EP had 
recently added "10, 15 people that were from [inaud] their sons had moved away from here and 
we didn't know anyrhing about it" (L. Sebastian, Tape 14, State transcription, 13). This 
apparently refers to the Albert Sebastian line, although EP membership comes only through 
Albert Sebastian's claughters (see BIA FTM data base). 

The PEP Response ':0 Comments on the proposed finding makes the argument that the EP added 
the Fagins descendents in order to be considered a tribe rather than a family, after Mashantucket 
became federally re::ognized, noting instances when the EP refer to themselves as the "Sebastian 
family" (McMullen 9/4/2001, 13-14; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). There is nothing in 
the record concemi.ng the development of the EP membership to support this speculation. For 
example, in 1982, one of the EP leaders wrote to the CIAC stating, "We the Sebastian family 
have had to spend s'~'\'eral thousand dollar in lawyers fees, legal fees and documents" (Lawrence 
Sebastian to CIAC 11.'29/1982). In context, the group represented itself as the Sebastian family 
to the CIAC, in the pursuit of demonstrating eligibility for membership in the Eastern Pequot 
tribe as it was defin ~d by statutory provisions and the CIAC's interpretation of those statutes. At 
some point, they tend to shift to towards describing themselves not as one family of a tribe, but as 
a tribe. There is no indicated motivation and the evolution of their actions is fairly consistently 
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one of resisting exdusion from membership in the state-recognized tribe by the CIAC or resisting 
being classified as "not Indian" by the CIAC, rather than seeking exclusive recognition. There is 
no indication that EP in the 1970's and 1980's was seeing the historical Eastern Pequots as other 
than one group, despite references which focus on the Sebastians .. 

In 1999 BIA interviews, some EP leaders indicated that they were open to enrolling individuals 
from any Eastern Pequot descent (Mary Sebastian 1999). In practice that has not occurred. 
There was nothing in EP's minutes and other documents to indicate that an actual open 
recruitment of any descendant of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe has occurred. 

The Albert Sebastian line has only been included on EP membership lists since 1998. There is 
limited interview ilfonnation, without much detail, which describes this line as one which was 
not central or high:y involved with the EP. One interview appears to describe the Albert 
Sebastian descendants as effectively having become attached to the Narragansetts (Albert 
Sebastian married a Narragansett). The description of this line by individuals from the Francisco 
Sebastian, Sr., subines is that they are known, but somewhat distant relatives, categorized as 
having "moved dcr.vn to Rhode Island" (Larry Sebastian, 1999). 

The membership list used for the proposed finding included individuals from the Laura (Fag ins) 
Watson line. The ';urTent membership list adds individuals from the Abby (Fagins) Randall line. 
No descendants of Abby Fagins were on the 1998 EP membership list, although their presence 
was evident durinE; the 1999 BIA fieldwork. The Towns, commenting on mentions of this line in 
the proposed finding, cite to an interview where a Sebastian descendant born in 1937 stated that 
she did not know the "Fagins," referring in part to an individual from the Abby Fagins line who 
grew up in Norwich (Towns August 2001,283, 342; citing "Geneva Sebastian transcript, Tape 
No. 23, p. 19"). 

In contrast, other ilterviews, and materials cited by Burgess (Burgess IB, 45; EP Comments 
8/2/200 I) show vi!;iting and attendance at the same church in Norwich among the older 
generation of Sebastians and FaginslRandalls. Alton Smith, Sr., had a grandmother who was 
married first to a Sebastian and then to a Randall (i.e., a member of the Fagins/RandaIl family) 
and he often visited with his step-grandfather (A. Smith 1999a). Burgess notes that "Lillian 
Sebastian, from tlJ.~ Solomon Sebastian sub line, remembers Alden Wilson's picnics taking place 
in the 1930's and flat the Randalls and the DeBarros family, both from the Abby (Fagins) Randall 
line, would somelime~s be there. Dorothy Sebastian Hardy, Liliian's sister, was close to Fred 
DeBarros's sister" (Burgess, Interview with Lillian Sebastian, 2000). Charlie Lewis recalled 
close residential ti,~s to the Randalls in Norwich, but because of an Indian, but non-Eastem­
Pequot. family that linked the two lines - his father's sister had married a Randall, whereas his 
father married a Sebastian (Lewis 2001). 

It is less clear from the available evidence that individuals from the Laura (Fagins) Watson line 
had remained in contact with the main group before their recent enrollment (1998 membership 
list). In an intervil~w with two older individuals from this line, one indicated that they had visited 
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the reservation when very young, possibly visiting the husband (Frank Steadman, died 1933, here 
described as Narragansett) of Sylvia Sebastian (Bourne-Silva 1999; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
The older interview(~e:, born in 1925, might possibly remember such visits. However, since the 
Steadmans lived in Mystic and not on the reservation, and another account indicates visits to a 
different person on the reservation, the recollection may be imprecise. A 1996 letter from R.G. 
Bourne to Mary Se bastian also recalled such visits to Lanterri Hill, but thought that the name of 
the person whom his family visited was Grace (Bourne to Sebastian 5/28/1996; EP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 19).63 The interviewees described their family as primarily involved 
with the Narragansetts through family connections on that side, attending the Pleasant Street 
Baptist Church at times (Bourne and Silva 1999). 

AnalysiS of Comments and Responses. The proposed finding concluded that on the basis of 
precedent, using evidlence acceptable to the Secretary, the historical Eastern Pequot tribe met 
criterion 83.7(b) fDm the colonial period through 1873 (see EP PF 2000,69, 72, 79, 98). A 
review of the evi de:nce in the record at the time of the proposed finding and submitted for the 
final detenninatiorindicated that no significant new evidence was submitted in regard to the 
nature of the historical Eastern Pequot community in the colonial period or in regard to the nature 
of the historical Eastern Pequot community from the era of the American revolution into the third 
quarter of the 19th century. The arguments to the contrary presented by the third parties were 
essentially the same as at the time of the proposed finding. They were not persuasive, in that 
throughout this tim~: period, there remained a reservation enclave with a majority of the tribal 
members resident in it, ifnot continuously, at least regularly, with other individuals and families 
having maintained contact, which is demonstrated by moves on and off the reservation and their 
continuing presence on the overseers' reports. This is sufficient evidence under the regulations 
(83. 7(b )(2)(i». Ccntrary to the argumentation presented by PEP, there was significant evidence 
that the direct ante ~'edents of petitioner #35 were a part of that historical community centered 
upon the Lantern Hill reservation. 

For the period fron 1873 through 1973, the proposed finding concluded that on the basis of 
precedent, using c;:"idence acceptable to the Secretary, the historical Eastern Pequot tribe met 
criterion 83. 7(b). A review of the evidence submitted for the final detennination indicates that 
significant new da'a \vas presented in the fonn of the better copy of the 1873 petition showing a 
connection between Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian and her children and other members of the 
historical Eastern Pequot tribe at the time of its signing, plus overseers' reports that filled in the 
time span from the 1880's through the early 20th century. For the 20th century, data from the 
journals of Sarah (Swan) Holland and Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris also provided 

63 R. G. "Rudy" Bourne to Dear Aunt Mary. from San Jose. CA: "as a card carrying member" ... "I 
realize that I have not been a member of the tribe long" .... Recollections of visiting the reservation at North 
Stonington when he ',vas a child: "There was an old Pequot woman who lived on a hill above Long Pond and we 
would climb up that 1111 and she would feed all of us supper, it seems to me her name was Grace something but I 
cannot remember what her last name was, but I do remember those were happy days, that was over fifty years ago . 
. . . " (Bourne to Seb3s':ian 5 '28'1996; EP Response to Comments 9"4/2001. Ex. 19). 
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contemporary datu concerning social interactions. The arguments of PEP that the direct 
antecedents of petitioner #35 did not fonn a portion of, or were not an element of, the historical 
Eastern Pequot trbe during this period were not persuasive. 

For the period sinee 1973, there are significant deficiencies in the EP reports intended to 
demonstrate modern community. The geographic section of the EP Comments implies that it can 
stand alone. The other data does not, in tum, focus on the geographical patterns. The survey data 
was intended to be a major part of this demonstration, but for the reasons discussed above, it did 
not provide good evidence. The historical foundations of kinship, geographical concentration and 
visiting patterns h~fore the modem era are given extensive attention as a foundation for a claim to 
modem community, i-e., for the purpose of showing that in the period before 1973, there was 
substantial eviden :::Ie_ 

The interviews an: largely oral histories which do not systematically address present-day 
community. The EP analysis of interview material presented is not directed at showing modem 
community per se The petitioner has not, in many of its materials, drawn a sharp distinct 
between "modern" and recent historical times. The failings of the survey data are noted above. 
The limitations of projecting the genealogically established kinship links are described elsewhere. 

Oral history data concerning maintenance of tribal links is not absent (there is data but it has not 
been summarized or organized)_ The EP comments asserted that there is widespread knowledge 
among core members of the affairs and characters of peripheral members, but cited no data and 
this aspect was not covered in the EP reports. 

PEP analyzed the EP survey data, evidently retabulating some of the raw data submitted, although 
they lacked a comple:te copy of the survey form itself (Palma 9/4/2001,14; PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2(1) 1). Their report noted areas where the results were difficult to evaluate 
because it was unc:Jear how key terms were defined by the respondents and time frames for 
reported actions were not specified (Palma 9/4/200 I, 15-16; PEP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001). 

However, deficier.c:ies in the presentation of data do not necessarily lead to the conclusion that the 
petitioner does not meet criterion 83.7(b). Under the 25 CFR Part 83 regulations, the task is to 
evaluate the natu:rl~ of the petitioner, not the quality of the petition. 

Conelusioll. See tbe conclusory section of this document. 
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83.7(c) The petitioner has maintained political influence or 
authority over its members as an autonomous 
entity from historical times until the present. 

Introduction. 64 The nesponses and comments submitted in regard to the proposed findings 
contained arguments, but only minimal new evidence, pertaining to criterion 83.7(c) for the 
period prior to the Civil War.65 The petitioner provided extensive Response to the Towns' 
Comments in regard to the colonial period (Den Ouden 1-18; EP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001) and some in regard to the 19th century (Den Ouden 19-20; EP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001). 

The State's comments deny that "State guardianship in any way prevented political activity." It 
states further that, ·Jnlike most unacknowledged groups, the Eastern Pequot had a land base which 
"would have facil:itat~:d political process" (State oj Connecticut August 2001, Appendix 12-14). It 
notes that there was no evidence that the State prevented meetings, nor that the State interfered 
with the activities of Alden Wilson or others identified as leaders by one or the other petitioner. 

The Towns direct their arguments to the proposition that there was an "absence of continuous 
social community and political influence and authority" (Towns August 2001, 17). In regard to 
criterion 83.7(c), th(: Towns' major contentions are that the historical Pequot were a conquered 
people which the '·'colonial government no longer considered ... to be a political body" (Towns 
August 2001, 47) end that the historical Eastern Pequot Indians were throughout the 18th and 19th 

centuries depender:t upon the State and its Towns in a wardship-style "custodial or welfare 
provider" (Towns August 2001, 148) or "welfare provider and guardian" relationship dealing with 
individuals, not with a tribe or with leaders (Towns August 2001,149,115,221). The Towns also 
state that the 18th and 19th century Eastern Pequot petitions did not designate any of the signers as 
"leaders" (Towns lIugust 2001,150-151), state that the persons identified as leaders in the 
proposed finding were not leaders (Towns August 2001,180-195,239), and that the petitions and 

64"Politicai "~flllence or authorit), means a tribal council, leadership, internal process or other mechanism 
which the group has used as a means of influencing or controlling the behaVIOr of its members in significant 
respects. and'or making decisions for the group which substantially affect its members. and/or representing the 
group in dealing \\ ith outsiders in matters of consequence. This process is to be understood in the context of the 
history. culture and ,')c1al organIzation of the group" (25 CFR Pan 83.1). 

65 The TOW:l" argued that. for the period of the 1830's, "No evidence has been found, for example, that the 
overseers providecllaw enforcement or fire protection services on the reservation. Rather, these services were 
provided by local government" (Towns August 2001,125). However, the regulations contain no requirement that a 
petitioning group or its overseers exercise law enforcement authority. No evidence in the record mentions the issue 
of fire protection services, nor have prior determinations addressed that matter in any other case. Political authority 
or influence can be d :monstrated by a combination of various forms of evidence. 
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other documents evaluated for the proposed finding did not provide "evidence of internal tribal 
political processe~:" (Towns August 2001, 150).66 

The regulations provide that: 

A criteriore shall be considered met if the available evidence establishes a 
reasonable llikelihood of the validity of the facts relating to that criterion. 
Conclusive proof of the facts relating to a criterion shall not be required in order 
for the criterion to be considered met (25 CFR 83.6(d)). 

Some of the point; of argument in regard to the early period, such as those of the Towns in regard 
to the nature of a tribe at first contact67 or the impact of oversight by a colonial government,68 
were already addressed in the proposed finding (EP PF 2000, 100-101). The BIA does not find 
the Towns' interprt:tation of the evidence for the period from first sustained contact through the 
mid-19th century persuasive, particularly in light of the provision in the regulations that: 

Evaluations. of petitions shall take into account historical situations and time 
periods for which evidence is demonstrably limited or not available. The 
limitatiom inherent in demonstrating the historical existence of community and 
political ir.fluence or authority shall also be taken into account. Existence of 
communit), and political influence or authority shall be demonstrated on a 
substantially continuous basis, but this demonstration does not require meeting 
these crite~ia at every point in time. Fluctuations in tribal activity during various 
years shall 1I10t in themselves be a cause for denial of acknowledgment under these 
criteria (25 CFR 83.6(e)). 

Colonial Period t/'lrough the End of the American Revolution. The proposed finding concluded: 

60This paragraph constitutes a sampling, rather than an exhaustive listing, of the passages in which the 
Towns assert these points. 

67The Tow 15 wntend that a tribe must have existed at earliest point of sustained contact exactly as it exists 
now, rather than being a portion that has evolved from such a tribe (Towns August 2001,3,5-6,8-14,17, and many 
succeeding instanc,e;}. Many now-recognized tribes are no longer in precisely the same organization or political 
conformation as the>, were at the time of first sustained contact. Tribes which evolved as parts of historical tribes 
which have been acknowledged through the 25 CFR Part 83 process (Jena Choctaw, Huron Potawatomi, MB?I). 

68The To'iI':1S contend that once a tribe has been "conquered and dissolved," then it has to be regarded as 
permanently gone I Towns August 2001.41; see also 15-17,45,47,64,87, 10 I ff., 109, and many other instances), 
leaving only "colon al government over a conquered people" (Towns August 2001. 56) and arguing that "Complete 
governance by the Colony is the antithesis of tribal sovereignty" (Towns August 2001. 60). The State also 
addressed this issUi~ (State of Connecticut August 2001. 41 ft). "Autonomy" under the regulations is defined only in 
relation to other Indian tribes, not to non-Indian governmental authorities. The temporary assignment of the 
Pequots to supervision of the Narragansett, Mohegan, and Eastern Niantic tribes after 1637 was as an act of the 
colonial govcrlllrellt, as was their subsequent removal from that supervision in 1654-1655 (EP PF :WOO, 13-24). 
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Such occasional petitions have been accepted in prior acknowledgment decisions 
as providing sufficient documentation concerning political leadership and 
influence and internal political processes for the later 17th and 18th centuries 
(Mohegan PF 1989,6). Precedents also indicate that the defense ofa tribe's 
economic: position is a significant indicator of political processes (Snoqualmie PF 
1993,25; Tunica-Biloxi PF 1980,4). On the basis of precedent, this material is 
sufficient t(l meet 83.7(c) during the colonial period (EP PF 2000, 105). 

The appoirr:ml!nt of overseers for the Eastern Pequot reservation by the colony of 
Connecticut in itself provides data about the continuous existence of the tribal 
entity, but no specific information about internal political leadership or influence. 
However, lthe initiative of the Eastern Pequot Indians in requesting particular 
persons as ()ve:rseers, combined with the signatures on the petitions, indicates that 
the Indians on the Lantern Hill reservation did at this time have internal political 
processes. On the basis of precedent, this material is sufficient to meet 83.7 (c) for 
a tribe during the second half of the 18th century (EP PF 2000, 106) 

The Towns, in genl!ral, challenge the finding that the historical Eastern Pequot tribe met criterion 
83.7(c) for the coIcnial period, from first sustained contact with non-Indians until 1788 (Towns 
August 2001,8-17,43-93,100-104). The Towns assert that: 

While the Colony considered Harmon Garrett and Momoho to be its political 
authority oller the Eastern Pequot, it did not consider them to also represent a tribal 
political en:ity. In effect, the government over the Pequot survivors was merely an 
extension of the civil government of the Colony. No evidence has been found that 
any independE:l1t tribal political leadership existed outside of this imposed 
structure. ~~hE: Colony dealt with the Pequot survivors primarily as individuals and 
treated them similarly to other poor inhabitants who required overseers (Towns 
August 2001, 102). 

The Towns, in regard to the leadership of Mary Momoho, state: "Among other reasons, it seems 
unlikely, in a Nev.' England society in which women were not even allowed to vote, that the 
Colony would reccignize any female, outside of the Queen of England, as being a political leader" 
(Towns Augllst lOO}, 73). This argument indicates a lack of familiarity with the colonial Indian 
history ofNe\\' En:sland, in which there were many references to women, called by the term 
"Sunck Squaw," \\bo functioned as political leaders and were so treated by the colonial 
authorities of Mas~;achusetts and Rhode Island. 

The Towns assert lhat: 

During the course of the 18th century, the existing evidence indicated that the 
Stonington Pequots directly addressed the Connecticut government on only seven 
occasions. through petitions in 1722, 1723, 1749, 1750, 1764, 1766, and 1788. 
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None of thc:se petitions listed the signatories as having a leadership title or as being 
members of any tribal governing or social body. Rather the signatories were 
described i:1 the petitions as being "Momohos Squaw [no close quotation marks] 
(1722), "subscribers in behalf of all ye Rest of ye Descent of Momohoe and his 
men" (172:1), "Indian natives, of the tribe of Momohoe" (1749), "Indian 
Inhabitants of the town of Stonington" (1766), and "Indians of the Pequod [sic] 
Tribe in Stonington" (1788). In and of themselves, the petitions do not provide 
evidence of internal tribal processes because they fail to explain how they were 
developed or lindicate to what extent the signers were truly representative of the 
tribal group (Towns August 2001, 103) . 

. . . Connecticut never acknowledged the existence of a tribal government on the 
Stonington reservation. Throughout the 18 th century, it recognized neither an 
Indian leader by title nor a governing body on or near the reserve. Like any other 
Connecticut n~sidents, the Pequots at Stonington could petition the General 
Assembly ror the redress of grievance, but they chose to do so only seven times 
during the course of the [18th

] century, and never as named or titled tribal leaders 
of a governing body. Neither did they ever appeal during this period to the central 
governments of the British Crown or the United States (once it was established). 
In short, th,! Connecticut government had no relationship with a tribal government 
on the Stonington reservation during this period and, indeed, there is no evidence 
that such a tribal political entity existed (Towns August 2001, 106). 

Analysis ofComr!J~nts and Responses in Regard to Criterion 83.7(c) for the Colonial Period. 
There is no requirErn<mt in the regulations that a colonial group have had "named or titled leaders 
of a governing boc y" in a formal sense. The material on the background of the 1994 revision of 
the 25 CFR Part 8] n~gulations provides: 

In particula, many commenters interpreted the revised regulations as requiring a 
group to demonstrate that it meets the criteria in historical times by using the same 
kinds of evidence as for the present. In fact, actual acknowledgment decisions to 
date have clearly recognized the limitations of the historical record and have 
utilized standard scholarly requirements for determining the nature of societies in 
the past. 11 has been the Department's experience that claimed "gaps" in the 
historical rl~cord often represent deficiencies in the petitioner's research even in 
easily acce;sible records. 

Language has also been added to § 83.6 which explicitly takes into account the 
inherent limitations of historical research on community and political influence. 
Further, the section allows for circumstances where evidence is genuinely not 
available, c,s opposed to being available but not developed by appropriate research. 
This does not mean, however, that a group can be acknowledged where continuous 
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existence c a.nnot be reasonably demonstrated, nor where an extant historical record 
does not record its presence (59 Federal Register 2/25/1994,9280-9281). 

In this instance, the historical record clearly demonstrates the presence and continuous existence 
of the historical Eastl::m Pequot tribe. While there are intervals of time between the petitions (one 
specific fonn of evidence) there are no significant intervals of time when the existence of the 
group is not recor<lc~dl. The Review of Public Comments under the topic "Standards of Evidence 
and Stringency Requirements" in the preamble to the 1994n regulations also noted that: 

It has been the Department's experience that historical evidence of tribal existence 
is often no: available in clear, unambiguous packets relating to particular points in 
time. More often, demonstration of historical existence requires piecing together 
various bit; of infonnation of differing importance, each relating to a different 
historical clatc~ (59 Federal Register 9281 2/25/1994, 9281). 

In regard to the requirement of the regulations that "substantially" continuous existence be 
demonstrated, tlH: Review of Public Comments noted that "substantially" as a requirement 
"means only that overall continuity has been maintained, even though there may be interruptions 
or periods where ~:vidence is absent or limited" (59 Federal Register 212511994,9281). 

In the context of thl~ Towns' comment, the provisions of the regulations in regard to fluctuations 
in tribal activity are also relevant. The Review of Public Comments noted specifically that the 
"language concerning fluctuations recognized that acknowledgment detenninations should take 
into account that t he level of tribal activity may decrease temporarily for various reasons such as 
a change in leadership or a loss ofland or resources" (59 Federal Register 2/25/1994,9281). 

1788-1873. The ~ roposed finding stated; 

Precedent joes not require that there have been either a single named leader or a 
fonnally designated leader (Mohegan PF 1989,6). The evidence, in the context of 
a group with a distinct territory, is sufficient to show that the petitioner meets 
criterion 83. 7( c) for the period from 1800 to 1822 (EP PF 2000, 107). 

The 1839 initiative of the Indians in requesting the replacement of an inadequate 
overseer indicated that the Indians themselves still, as in the later 18th century, 
expected the state-appointed overseers to carry out their wishes in some matters. 
Although the court did not respond to the petition favorably, but rather continued 
the prior overseer in office, the presentation of the petition, signed by six women 
and four Intn, indicated that the group had internal organization .... In 1841, [the 
petition pr;!st::nted] was signed by five men and five women (#35 Pet. B-02B). The 
regulation:; do not require that in order to demonstrate political process, a petition 
must be si;?;ned by the entire tribe. Petitions which show a portion of the tribe 

141 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement EPI-V001-D006 Page 152 of 208 



Final Detennination - Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

expressing jan opinion or preference on issues of importance or consequence are 
also evidt:m:c:: of political process (Mohegan PF 1989,6) (EP PF 2000, 108). 

The Towns, in gC::llc~ral challenge the finding that the historical Eastern Pequot tribe met criterion 
83.7(c) from 1788 to 1873 (Towns August 2001,94-129). 

Analysis ofComUl!;:nts and Responses in Regard to Criterion 83.7(c) for the Period from the 
American Revoh~ion to 1873. The proposed finding presented discussion of the sequence of 
documentation foJ' the historical Eastern Pequot tribe for this period, both descriptively in the 
historical overview (EP PF 2000, 47-58) and with specific evaluation under criterion 83.7(c) (EP 
PF 2000, 103-106). 

The content of the address of the Town of Norwich to the General Assembly on October 11, 1795 
(Towns August 2001., Ex. 69), specifically mentions the "Pequod [sic] Tribe oflndians, in the 
Town of Stonington" and then references the money expended by towns for "the support and 
removal of an Ind.vidual of that Tribe, who fell sick with in the Town of Norwich" and requested 
repayment (IP, 2/1", II: 155; Towns August 2001, Ex. 69). This is evaluated as an identification of 
the tribal nature 0:' the petitioner as of that date and specifically indicates that its members were 
not classified among the poor for whom the Towns considered themselves to bear responsibility. 

In regard to the 1800 Eastern Pequot petition against intruders on the reservation (Connection 
Indian Papers 2, Il: 105; Towns August 2001, Ex. 74), the Towns assert: "Of course, had the group 
existed as a funeti)ning political and social entity with any degree of internal cohesion, those 
incursions onto th,! small reservation could not have occurred" (Towns August 2001, 110). The 
Towns argue also that the evidence for #35 and #113 was handled differently from the evidence 
in regard to the tvbhl~gan petition for criterion 83.7(c) (Towns August 2001,29-31). This 
argument is incorrect. It should be noted that, in fact, the Mohegan tribe submitted a petition to 
the New London County Court containing similar complaints during the first half of the 19th 

century (Mohegan lPet., Ex. 341).69 Such petitioning did not preclude the Mohegan tribe from 
meeting criterion :n.7(c). 

The evaluation in the proposed finding that the petitions of February 8, 1839 (Towns August 
2001, Ex. 80) anel February 1841 (Towns August 2001, Ex. 81) indicate the existence of political 
authority or inflU!~nce (EP PF 2000, 108) stands, even though no one specific individual among 
the signers was dl~signated as a leader (Towns August 2001,126-129). 

Political h~fluencc or Authority 1873-Present. The majority of the new analysis and evidence 
submitted pertained to the period from 1883 to the present. However, the BlA's detailed analysis 
for the final determination begins with 1873 because of significant new information in regard to 

69 1834 complaint of Mohegan to New London County Court, troubled with trespassers on their wood land 
by white people & also by colored people who live among us & continually cut & sell wood ... " (Mohegan Pet.. 
b. 3~1). 
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the 1873 Eastern :Fe:quot petition. Petitioner #35 presented argumentation in regard to a political 
leadership role of Callvin Williams 70 in the later 19th and early 20th centuries, beginning with the 
1873 and 1874 petitions'l (Grant-Costa and Glaza lIIC, 133-134; EP Comments 8/2/2001; Grant­
Costa and Glaza 1(6), 36-38, EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001; Grant-Costa and Glaza Il(7), 
13-16; EP ResportBc: to Comments 9/4/2001). 

1873 Petition. The proposed finding stated: 

The petitions and lists generated by the proposed land sale are evidence indicating 
that from 1873 through 1883, the tribe was able to generate organized protests 
which they regarded as contrary to its economic interests, and to present 
documents to this effect to the non-Indian authorities. This evidence shows that 
the petitioner meets 83.7(c) for the period from 1873-1883 (EP PF 2000, Ill). 

On May 19, 1873" Leonard C. Williams of Stonington, Overseer, petitioned the General 
Assembly for pennission to sell a portion of the Lantern Hill reservation (Bassett 1938; #35 Pet. 
Petitions; see EP PF 2000, 106, for details). The proposed sale engendered protests by the 
Indians who wouIe. be affected by it. On June 26, 1873, the "members of the Pequot tribe of 
Indians of North S':cmington" remonstrated against the sale of lands and requested removal of 
Leonard C. Williams as overseer (Lynch 1998a 5:81-82; Grabowski 1996, 114). For a detailed 
discussion of the new evidence, see above under criterion 83.7(b) in regard to Tamar (BrusheIl) 
Sebastian. This 1873 petition also includes signatures of the other two lines ancestral to the 
current petitioner, ::;agins/Watson and Fagins/RandaIl, and lists them in common with Amanda 
(Nedson) Williams and Leonard NedlNedsoniBrown. The 1874 petition referenced by the Towns 
(Towns August 200], Ex. 84) included members of the Fagins/Randall and Fagins/Watson 
families (#35 Pet. PI~titions; Lynch 1998, 5:82-83). There is no evidentiary requirement that a 
petition have been acted upon favorably by the receiving entity (Towns August 2001,127,129) 
for its composition and presentation to provide evidence for the existence of political influence or 
authority among the members of the submitting entity. 

1883-1920. The proposed finding stated that, "There are no overseer's reports in the record from 
1875 until 1889" (EP PF 2000, 107), and cited a document which appeared to indicate that these 

70AII William, family members who signed Eastern Pequot petitions or appeared on Eastern Pequot 
oyerseers' lists in the period from 1873 onward were either siblings or nieces and nephews of Cal Yin \Villiams; thus 
all descended from the marriage of Ammon Williams and his wife Mercy (whose family name is unknown). On the 
1900 special Indian Population census, Calvin Williams indicated that his mother was Narragansett; in 1910, he 
indicated that she wm Pequot. 

71For prior di~,cussion, see EP PF 2000,109-111. 
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reports did not exist,72 However, some reports for these years were located by the petitioner and 
submitted for coru:idc~ration in the final determination (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, Folder 9). 
The Eastern Pequot overseer's report filed April 4, 1883, by Charles Chipman noted, "That the 
present number of Im~mbers of said tribe as known to said Overseer is now Thirty Three - two 
having been added the past year by order of Chief Justice Park" (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, 
Folder 9; see also 1878, March Term 1879; March 1881, April 1882-April 1883; petition of 
December 3, 1883, and March Term A.D. 1884; #35 Pet. Overseers Reports; Lynch 1998,6:91-
92). The subsequent reports surrounding this event are summarized here.n No copy of the 
pertinent court order was included in the evidence submitted by either petitioner #35 or petitioner 
#113 or by the interested parties. At the request ofthe BIA, the United States Attorney's Office 
in Connecticut atte:rnpted to locate a copy of this document in the most likely sequence of records, 
but was unable to do so. The BIA thus does not have direct information as to the two names 
added by this order, or on what basis they were ordered to be added. However, the two names 
which appear on th{: sequence of overseer's reports immediately after 1883 that did not appear 
earlier are those of Marlboro Gardner and his sister, Harriet (Gardner) Simons (see further 
discussion in the proposed finding for PEP). 

As noted in regard to the appearance of Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian on the Eastern Pequot 
overseer's reports (see summaries above under criterion 83_7(b», her name was listed as of 1888-
1889. Like Tamar (B:rushell) Sebastian, Marlboro Gardner had already appeared on Eastern 
Pequot documents 2l decade earlier (EP PF 2000, 107; see also the 1874 petition discussed above) 
(#35 Pet. Overseers Reports; Lynch 1998,5:83-84). No Brushell/Sebastian family members were 

72 A letter from the North Stonington Town Clerk's Office to Connecticut Secretary of State Charles E, 
Searls, dated Febmary 4, 1881, stated that his office had received no report from the overseer of the Indians residing 
in the town since that jih~d by Leonard Williams in 1875: Mr. Charles p, Chipman, the present overseer, had never 
made any return to that office (Hillard to Searls 2/4/1881; #35 Pe!., B-02B), 

The Towns did not lccate these additional overseers' reports and presented their comments upon the assumption 
that they were non-e>.i,t(!nt (Towns August 2001, 144-145). 

73March Te-rm A.D. 1885, Charles H Brown overseer of Eastern Tribe Pequot Indians in the town of North 
Stonington Conn. to the Honorable Superior Court for New London County, "That the numbers of said Tribe 31, 
two having died in p, st year." Paid Calvin Williams for clearing land, Goods and services for: Amanda 
Williams, Eunice COlrell. Molbro Gardiner (EP Comments Box I, Folder 9), 

I April 1886. Charle~ H. Brown. overseer. Received goods or sel\'ices: Amanda Williams. EUnice Cotrell, Molbro 
Gardiner (EP ComlTlt'r:.ts Box I, Folder 9), 

April 1886 - April 1887, Charles Brown, overseer; 28 members; Paid or receiving goods or sel\'ices: Lucy Hill 
Reynolds, Eunice Co:trell, Noyes Hoxie, Amanda Williams, Molbro Gardner (EP Comments, Box I, Folder 9, 
"Systematic SUl\'ey"). 

April 1887 - April 1888, Charles Brown overweer, 26 members, 2 having died since the last report; Paid or 
receiYing goods or sen1ices; Lucy Hill Reynolds, Eunice Cottrell, Amanda Williams, Molbro Gardner (EP 
Comments, Box I, FoJdn 9, "Systematic SUl\'ey"), 
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among the signers ,:>fthe December 3, 1883, petition, which did contain Gardner, Hoxie/Jackson, 
FaginslRandall, and FaginsfWatson signers. The copy submitted by the Towns (Towns August 
2001, Ex. 89), omil:ted the name of Marlboro Gardner, although the Towns' own researcher had 
included it (#35 Pet. Petitions; Lynch 1998,5:91-92). 

The documentatior. submitted during the comment period did·not contain any confirmation of the 
assertion that Calvin Williams had been paid for preaching on the Lantern Hill Reservation (EP 
PF 2000, 109; citing #113 Pet. 1996, citing Grabowski 1996, 176). Calvin Williams had been a 
Lantern Hill reservation resident since at least 1870. The only mention of payment to him was 
for the March Term A.D. 1885, when Charles H. Brown, overseer of Eastern Tribe Pequot 
Indians in the town of North Stonington Conn. to the Honorable Superior Court for New London 
County, noted that he had paid Calvin Williams for clearing land (EP Comments Box 1, Folder 
9). 

Three letters from the early 20th century indicated that Calvin Williams played a political role. 
On June 27, 1905, Rev. Calvin Williams, North Stonington, wrote to Mr. J. C. Averill, Esq. "I 
received your Postal Sunday eve. 25th. We have not had time to see all of the members, as there 
are only 2 or 3 whom reside here. In regard to choosing another Overseer, we your Honor ask for 
a little longer tim~!, & if can't be decided, we name gentlemen Mr. Chas. H. Main or Mr. Calvin 
Snyder both of North Stonington" (EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Errata Item 4). 

Charles Stewart, overseer, wrote to Calvin Williams, October 26, 1911, regfirding a proposed 
timber sale on the reservation and survey of the reservation: "Several days ago I wrote to Mr. 
Alonso Main in order to learn the boundaries of this property, and as soon as they are obtained I 
shall come down lnd see you. At that time we can probably make some satisfactory arrangement 
by which you may receive further aid from the small fund in my hands" (Towns August 2001, Ex. 
95; EP Response 10 Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 20). 

Kenneth Congdon in 1988 reported oral history concerning Calvin Williams, which supports his 
status and position as an infonnalleader. Congdon was the grandson of Ephraim Williams and 
Sarah Sebastian, noting that Calvin Williams had thus married his grandmother's sister. Congdon 
states that "He was a lot older man [than Emeline], but he was a kind of a person .. I won't say 
aristocratic. but he was kind of well to do. When you had 2 or 3 buggies.. and a couple of 
horses in the barn .. and dress up an go to church and you had a little wagon to go to church and 
you had one for every day and you had an old buckboard to go to church in. He was a man of 
means you know" :Congdon 1988, McBride interview). 

Calvin Williams's Josition in the kinship networks would have been conducive to an informal 
leadership positior.ln that he had connections by marriage, to a variety of lines: Nedson, 
Sebastian and, mo!;t notably, Eunice (Wheeler) Gardner. Calvin Williams was also a first cousin 
once removed to Ephraim Williams (in addition to which, the wives of Calvin and Ephraim were 
sisters; while Ephraim's Western Pequot mother was a sister of Alexander Randall's wife). 
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1920-1975. Lead.ers Between Calvin Williams and Formal Organization. The summary 
descriptions in the following section consider carefully the reliability of individual testimony and 
the importance of comparing testimony from multiple sources. 

EP Comments. EP's petition and comments presented information on several individuals whom 
it claimed as leaders during the period from shortly after Calvin Williams's death until the formal 
organization of EP in 1975. These assertions are evaluated individually. 

Issues Raised bYJbe Towns. The Towns focus upon retrospective testimony in three hearings 
before the CIAC (1976, 1982) as evidence that "Fourth Sunday and Sebastian family meetings" 
were not "tribal political meetings" (Towns August 2001, 180-181). 

The Towns inconecltly state that the transcripts of these hearings were not in the record for the 
proposed finding5 {Towns August 2001, 180-183), when in fact there were multiple copies. One 
respondent cited was a Western Pequot married to an Eastern Pequot and a second was their 
daughter. The re~;pondents translated the question posed, which asked about "powwows," by 
referring to family gatherings, and social events, with the one Eastern Pequot referring also to 
religious meeting;. They declined to characterize these gatherings as "tribal" or "business" 
meetings. There:.5 no followup in the transcripts which would clarify how the respondents 
interpreted these lenns, but they appear to be saying that there were not formal meetings, with 
rules. Unlike othl!]" interview materials, the responses here did not provide hints that problems 
were informally discussed, although one individual specifically mentioned there were arguments, 
in response to the questions. 

The significance of this testimony is that it does not appear to refer to the events organized by 
Atwood Williams, Sr. Helen LeGault, a PEP leader, responded to this same line of questions by 
reference to what w~:re clearly ceremonial powwows, not even necessarily limited to Pequots, 
evidently referrins to American Indian Federation (AID) functions organized by Williams 
(LeGault Testimony, CIAC 1983a, 73). 

The Towns also fl!fer to the absence of mention of tribal political meetings in the testimony of 
two other individuals, Lawrence Wilson, Jr., born 1920 (testifying at the 1983 CIAC hearing) 
(Towns August 2(101, 193-194), and his cousin Doris (Wilson) Cook, born 1920 (testifying at the 
1976 hearing) (TClwns August 2001,188-189). It does not appear that the questions in the form 
directed at these individuals would necessarily have elicited such information, hence the absence 
of statements doe s not provide evidence one way or another. 

Both provided useful infoffi1ation about gatherings, religious and otherwise. Lawrence Wilson, 
Jr.,'s "failure" to mention the gatherings of his brother Alden (Towns August ]001, 193) is not 
necessarily significant, given that his response appears to refer particularly to gatherings on the 
reservation and Lawrence Wilson, Jr., did specifically mention that, "we gathered on the 
reservation for years. Had our powwows, religious meetings and so forth .... " (CIAC Hearing 
911811983,34), while Doris (Wilson) Cook stated that, "[fjor those many years many families 
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gathered in the gr()V(~ under Lantern Hill by the small lake where the silica mine is now .... 
Also, as children" we: were taken to religious meetings held at my great aunt Emeline's. And the 
older people and families met inside and talked and sang and prayed, and we played outside" 
(CIAC Hearing 8/10/1976, 33). Roy Sebastian, Jr., did refer to meetings "at family places such as 
the Wilson home" among other off-reservation locations (Towns August 2001, 191). 

The Towns note that only Royal Sebastian, Jr.,14 characterizes meetings, of various kinds, as 
powwows (Towns August 2001, 190), but also quote testimony in which Lawrence Wilson, Jr., 
used the tenn (Towns August 2001, 193). The CIAC itself at times used the word "powwow" in 
questioning (CIAC Hearing 111811977,60), but the respondents were generally consistent in 
referring to social and religious events and family gatherings (CIAC Hearing 111811977). The 
Towns assert that Sebastian is putting '"spin''' on the infonnation to "advance his own political 
agenda" (Towns August 2001, 192) and review Sebastian's testimony for several pages (Towns 
August 200], 189-193). The review of testimony and interviews for this determination is based 
on the entire body of evidence and takes into account the manner in which viewpoints may affect 
statements (see d:i!ic:ussion of interview methodology). 

The Towns comments consider the absence of mention of attendance at any of the various 
gatherings described by Sebastians of Atwood Williams, Sr., or the Gardners to be significant 
because it indicated that only part of the Eastern Pequots attended and therefore these could not 
be "tribal meeting:;" encompassing the full membership (Towns August 2001, 195). This 
evidence is part of the larger body of evidence concerning conflicts between the Sebastians and 
the Gardner descendants. 

Tamer Emeline Gi~bastian) Swan Williams, "Aunt Liney," as Leader. The proposed finding 
stated that: 

Emeline Sebastian is described as influential in the spiritual life of the group, by 
organizing the fourth Sunday meetings, as matriarch of the tribe (Burgess 1998,9-
11), as me:eting with the overseers and as the primary contact person and conveyor 
of tribal news. The fourth Sunday meetings, from sometime prior to 1921 to the 
late 1930's. were political, jUdging from available accounts, in that problems and 
topics of concern to the membership were discussed. To the extent she organized 
these, Emdine Sebastian can be considered an informal tribal leader. There was 
insufficierr information to evaluate her posited role as contact person and 
conveyor of tribal news (EP PF 2000, 116). 

There is limited external data in regard to her role. After Calvin Williams's death, Charles L. 
Stewart wrote to l\1:~s. Calvin Williams, July 18, 1918, re: Lease of land on the Indian 

74The Towns state that he was born in 1942; also that he was "57 years of agt:" at the time he testified 
before the CIAC hea 'ing in 1983 (Towns Augusl 2001, 189). Royal Edward Sebastian, aka Roy Sebastian. Jr., was 
born in 1926. 
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Reservation to Boy Scout Troop No.1: "I am writing you at this time to inquire if you approve of 
the matter of letting him this site and of the erection of a log cabin. Kindly advise me as to this as 
soon as convenient'" (Towns August 2001, Ex. 95; EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 20). 
About 1941, a resc~archer for the state wrote: " 

Mrs. Calvin '~ilIiams. Father was Sebastian the Portuguese Negro. Her mother 
Tanner Bmssels, a Pequot. She is 72 years old, lives with her daughter a Mrs. 
Holland, widow. Mrs. William's first husband was Swan "from Cuby". She has 
prayer mec:tintg in her house three or four times a year. Anybody comes that wants 
to" (Williams Notebook c. 1941). 

EP Comments. The EP Comments characterize Tamer Emeline (Seb~stian) Swan Williams's role 
by asserting that by hosting the Fourth Sunday meetings, "'Liney' helped to maintain the 
cohesiveness of the tribal community by bringing tribal members together; fostering an Eastern 
Pequot form of worship; and by maintaining contact between tribal members who did not reside 
on the reservation with the reservation and its residents" (Burgess HID, 167; EP Comments 
8/2/2001). The Comments also state: "(Calvin) Williams' wife Tamer Emeline subsequently 
maintained her hw;ba.nd's ministry to the tribe and addressed internal political issues" (Burgess 
IIID, 179; EP Comments 8/212001). 

The EP Comment:, also stated that: "Emeline' Liney' Sebastian Williams is also frequently 
mentioned in the r'~]D()rts of the state agents as both a contact person and as someone who played 
an integral part in the tribal community" (Burgess HID, 167; EP Comments 8/2/2001). The report 
(Burgess IIID; EF' Comments 8/2/2001) did not cite documents which made specific statements to 
that effect. The State and Towns challenged the EP proposed finding's characterization of 
Emeline Williams' role in relation to the overseers (Towns August 2001, 166; State a/Connecticut 
August 2001, 46-47, EP PF 116). EP submitted no substantial new information to support the 
claim that she had a role as contact person for the overseers (the 1918 letter mentioned above was 
submitted by the Towns) or that she had a political role as conveyor of tribal news. 

Grant-Costa and Claza in their portion of the EP Response to Comments, assert that Tamer 
Emeline (Sebastian) Williams was a "sociocultural leader," in the sense of "leadership role in the 
creation and/or continuity of traditions within an Indian tribe" (Grant-Costa and Glaza 1I(7), 22-
23; EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). There was insufficient evidence to show that she had 
this forn1 of influence, which appears to have been modeled on Gladys Tantaquidgeon of the 
Mohegan (Mohegc,n FD 1994, Summ. Crit. 21) not withstanding evidence of Tamer Emeline 
Williams's basketry and use as an informant by Eva Butler (Butler 1947,41 in Speck 1947), since 
neither of these individual activities shows that she had cultural influence on the group's 
members. 

Towns' Comment: .. The Towns' review of the interview information (it is unclear if they relied 
solely on the BIA :nterviews) concluded that there was no infomation to support the claim that 
Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams was a political leader in or out of the context of the 
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Fourth Sunday meetings (Towns August 2001, 167). The Towns specifically cited an interview 
statement that "El11,eline Sebastian Willianls" did not lead prayers at these meetings (Towns 
August 2001, 177). 

State's Comments. The State's comments that the discussions by the older people at these 
meetings largelyconcemed "fanlily problems" (State of Connecticut August 2001 Appendix, 16) 
is consistent with ':he overall body of interview evidence. The State also quoted one individual's 
interview as characterizing Tanler Emeline as a "matriarchal political leader" (State of 
Connecticut Augz.w' 2001 Appendix, 16). This statement has not been evaluated as significant 
interview evidence both because the individual's comment is based on transmitted knowledge and 
because it is a cha~acterization rather than a specific factual description which adds to the 
available body of facts in any useful way. 

PEP's Comments. PEP, petitioner #113 asserted that in 1950, Ruth G. Spellman complained that: 
"[Tamar] Emeline [Sebastian] Williams is having some one cut wood on my land .... " (Austin I 
8/2/2001, 7; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). [brackets in original] Having inserted the additional data 
in brackets, PEP then argued that this showed that the HoxielJackson descendants did not accept 
the leadership of Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Williams (Austin I 812/2001, 7-8; PEP Comments 
8/2/2001). 

However, Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Williams died in 1942. Therefore, either the date of the 
reported complaint was wrong or the parties involved were incorrectly identified. The unedited 
statement reads: "Emeline Williams is having some one cut wood on my land & is giving me lots 
of trouble & she does not belong ... " (PEP Comments 8/212001, Ex. 37). 

The actual letter was accurately dated to 1950 and contained a number of points, including the 
statement: " ... ] understand you gave Lulu Sabastian pennission to build upon my land" (PEP 
Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 37). Ruth G. Spellman did not have any land on the reservation -- on 
the contrary, there were complaints from other residents about her, with her husband Consor 
Fayerweather, behg on Lantern Hill, in Grace Boss's house, without pennission (investigation for 
trespass by State Police along with Ellsworth Gray, State Agent and First Selectman; the State 
Police reported on May 22, 1950, that the Fayerweathers had left the reservation) (PEP 
Comments 8/2/20')1, Ex. 37). Thus, the context of the full letter indicates that "Emeline 
Williams" was Emeline (Jones) Williams, the non-Pequot widow of the lately deceased Franklin 
C. Williams, a Wt:s,ternlMashantucket Pequot who had received permission to build a house on 
the Lantern Hill I"E:s,ervation in the 1930's.75 

75Petitioner tlJ 13 submined a number of documents which showed that that Emeline (Jones) Williams was 
still alive and livmg on Lantern Hill in 1950 and subsequent years (PEP Comments 8/2/200 I, Ex. 10, which 
contains many documents): 

lener, Joseph Harold Williams to Herbert Barrell. State Welfare Department, 18 October 1960 "My 
brother. Franklin Wi liIams built a small house on the Reservation several years ago, which was occupied by his 
wido\\' Emeline \Vil iams, until about a year ago when she was committed for the second time to the Norwich State 
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Summary Analysis of Comments and Responses. While her role as a leader was not political in 
the strictest sense: of heading an organization, Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams was an 
informal leader within the meaning of83.7(c). She organized Fourth Sunday meetings and 
provided her home as a meeting place, at least. The Towns' comment that Emeline Williams 
didn't do the preaching and therefore would not be a leader (Towns August 2001, 177) is not on 
point. Her role as leader was as the organizational focus of these meetings. Nor does the 
evidence indicate that she never led prayers -- only that Ephraim Williams and other ministers 
often did. It isn't nel:essarily the case with religious meetings that the role of preacher is also that 
of organizer. In addition there was also lay preaching or testifying. It also is not necessarily the 
case with informa: leaders that there is only a single person of influence in an event. 

The issue of her lead,ership is separate from that of the nature of the Fourth Sunday meetings 
themselves. Based on the review of available materials for this final determination, there was 
little or no information which showed that the Fourth Sunday meetings (see extensive discussion 
of the meetings under criterion 83.7(b» were political. However, as the proposed finding 
concluded, her rol:! as an informal leader within the meaning of 83.7 (c) is implied by the 
organization and sponsoring of such meetings, which were held regularly over a span of years. 
The fact that the meetings were not exclusively attended by Eastern Pequots does not obviate this, 
since they appear 1:0 have centered on Eastern Pequots to a very substantial degree. No specific 
details about the organizational process are known. The one oral history account suggesting a 
high degree of organ:ization and coordination with other Eastern Pequot was not reliable nor 
consistent with tht: other evidence (Roy Sebastian 1988). 

Atwood William~as Leader. Atwood 1. Williams, Sr., who descended from both the 
Hoxie/Jackson and Gardner lines, is a PEP ancestor and is claimed by PEP as its political leader 
for the period from the late 1920's through his death in 1955 (see evaluation, EP PF 2000, 113, 
indicating that he did function as a subgroup leader for PEP). In regard to his relationship to 
petitioner #35, the proposed finding stated that: 

Williams i:; n:corded as opposing allowing the Sebastians to live on the 
reservation, indicating he was not their leader. Consequently, there is no evidence 
that Atwoc cI ]. Williams was a political leader of the tribal subgroup antecedent to 
the present EP petitioner #35. However, insofar as there was only one tribe in 

Hospital. Mrs. Emdine Williams is not a member of the Eastern Pequot Tribe. 
Mrs. Williams is no longer of sound mind, so I would like your permission to occupy and maintain the 

house "'ith my \\ife" (PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex, 25). 
PEP submitted additional documentation about Emeline (jones) Williams in their section of documents 011 the 
activities of Helen Ld:Jault (PEP Response to Comments 9/4/200 I, Ex. 26). Of these, a typewntten memo 5,'29/62 
from Mr. Fred Speer, Spvr. Reimb. To Mr. Herbert Barrel, Chief in regard to: WILLIAMS, Emeline, Eastern 
Pequot reservation, Attention: George Payne, covers the genealogy and indicates that John Williams should be 
given notice that "he will not acquire any squatter's rights, or have any thought that he can take over his aunt's 
property upon her n~uITI to the hospital or death." 
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existence nt the time, Williams' activities as a state-recognized leader indicate that 
the petitioll,:r meets criterion 83. 7( c) for the 1930's (EP PF 2000, 115). 

The EP Comments attempted to strengthen the group's claim to continuity ofleadership by 
asserting that during the late 1920's and 1930's, Atwood 1. Williams, Sr., specifically provided 
leadership to a ooited Eastern Pequot tribe, which included the antecedents of EP as well as the 
antecedents of PEP (Grant-Costa in: Burgess HID 8/2/2001, 179-184; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
This was disputed by PEP (Austin IV 8/2/2001,55; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). The 
documentation from 1941 shows Williams intervening only on behalf of his aunt, a 
HoxielJackson de~;c:endant (EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 5, Ex. 6, Ex. 8). EP 
presented no new dOI;::umentation that alters the conclusion of the proposed finding in this regard 
or presents a stro:nger case for regarding him as a leader ofEP specifically. The conclusion of the 
proposed finding in regard to Atwood Williams stands. 

Catherine (Sebas~~n) CarPenter Harris. "Aunt Kate," as Leader. The proposed finding stated: 

To the extent she organized these [the Fourth Sunday meetings], Emeline 
Sebastian Gan be considered an informal tribal leader. There was insufficient 
information to evaluate her posited role as contact person and conveyor of tribal 
news. There was insufficient information concerning who may have succeeded 
her. HOWe ver, Catherine Harris is more frequently mentioned in interviews and is 
shown in statle records as endorsing recommendations of requests for residence on 
the reservation. Thus it is possible that further information and analysis could 
establish her as an informal leader (EP PF 2000, 116). 

The following disGussion addresses in turn each of the assertions that have been made in regard to 
Catherine Harris's possible role as a leader. 

EP Comments. In the EP Comments, Burgess suggests that Catherine Harris was an informal 
political leader. be.sed on a showing that she was the contact person for State agents who visited 
or inspected the reservation. The report states: 

Catherine :;ebastian Carpenter Harris held a leadership role in the tribe as 
indicated il her actions as an agent for change after the fire at Paul Spellman's 
house; her attendance at the attempted detribalization in Hartford; and as the 
hostess of Fourth Sunday meetings and other tribal gatherings. Her leadership role 
is further substantiated in the many references to her in the oral testimonies of 
Eastern Pquot tribal members (Burgess IIIO, 177; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Most of the documentary or interview data cited as evidence is about contacts concerning her own 
situation. The fact that Harris had the agent's contact information in her journal (Harris Journal 
24,26; EP ComIllt~nts 8/2/2001, Box 1, Folder Harris) is not evidence that she was the contact 
person. In contra~t, her possible role in the 1953 hearings protest is more significant (see Flowers 
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IIIE 235-238; Grant··Costa IIIF, 239-242; EP Comments 8/2/2001). Both EP reports cover the 
legislative history of the 1953 proposed bill (see discussion following; see also above in the 
General Issues s(!ction) and Flowers notes the passage "from Aunt Kate's journal dated March 18, 
1953 (Flowers IIlE, 235; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The report that she went to Hartford after Paul Spellman's house burned in 1942 (Burgess IIID 
citing Eccleston Ilnterview; EP Comments 8/2/2001) might also be significant, but there is not 
sufficient data in the evidence to permit a determination of why she went. Nothing in the current 
data supports the claim that she was acting as an agent for Paul Spellman or was representing him 
in the matter of the loss of his house. 

Town's Comments. The Towns' Comments noted that the proposed finding listed little evidence 
in regard to infornalleadership by Catherine Harris (Towns August 2001, 236-237). 

Summary Analysis. The data about gatherings at Catherine Harris' house are too vague to 
indicate a politica I Ileadership role as opposed to a prominent social role. These gatherings 
appear to have be!en more limited and more purely social than the Fourth Sunday meetings. The 
available material; slhows that Catherine (Sebastian) Carpenter Harris was well known and in 
good contact with otiher EP, although the contacts appear to be somewhat, though not entirely, 
focused on her subline or the rest of the Francisco line (see Alton Smith 1999). This information 
in itself does not show leadership or the presence of political influence or authority. 

In 1953, legislation was proposed in the Connecticut General Assembly in regard to the State's 
four Indian reserv:l'tions (see: Hoover, Albert C., Acting Director, Public Welfare Council. 
Statement in Favor of Senate Bill 502 "An Act Concerning Indians" before the Joint Legislative 
Committee on the Judiciary. Prepared by the Public Welfare council as a result of its study of the 
state welfare laws made under the provisions of Special Act No. 615 of 1951, 3/18/1953). 

Catherine Harris's journal stated: "1953 To the uphoulding to land Went to Hartford Mar. 18, 
1953 Albert Carpe:nt'~r, Moses Sebastian, Benjamin Sebastian, John Sebastian, Anna Carpenter, 
Hattie Sebastian, Grace Powell, Rachel Crumb, Betty Sebastian, Lilie Sebastian, Catherine 
Harris, Marion Rc binson, Gertie Grizzer" (Harris Journal 7; EP Comments 8/2/200 I, Box I, 
Folder Harris). This listing did not include anyone from the Gardner line, or from the 
Fagins/Randall or Fagins/Watson lines: all belonged to either the Hoxie/Jackson or 
BrushelllSebastian lines, with Grizzer an unidentified and apparently non-Pequot individual. 

This material doe~ not show that she organized a political action, but it does demonstrate that 
there was at this pC)int a political action in which she participated, and which had considerable 
significance in regard to the State's proposed disposition of the Lantern Hill reservation and its 
resources. Although the documentation does not show specific leadership upon the part of 
Catherine Harris, • t does show political influence that comprised members of family lines 
antecedent to both EP and PEP. 
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Arthur Sebastian l~l.].,eader. Burgess's report reiterates the petition's claim that Arthur Sebastian, 
Jr., was a leader, citing activities in helping his siblings get pennission to live on the reservation 
and defending the reservation spring (Burgess IUD, 184-185; EP Comments 8/212001). The 
materials submitted ~lre the same as were there for the proposed finding. The material only shows 
that he was helping his immediate kinship group, and thus does not indicate that he was a leader 
for any substantial portion of the tribe. 

Alden Wilson as !J~der. The proposed finding stated: 

The availa'Jle interview information is sufficient to identify Alden Wilson of 
Mystic as an informal leader, one who influenced and aided individuals beyond 
Mystic (BAR 1999, Burgess 1997, 1998 ints). According to the petition, Wilson's 
most active! period was 1940 to 1960. There are a number of accounts which 
indicate th'ilt he was consulted by Pequots from different locations on personal 
matters, andl that he used his somewhat greater economic resources to assist 
individuab. beyond his immediate family including, but not limited to the 
reservatior. residents. The petition also states that Alden Wilson and his brother 
Lawrence visited the reservation and reviewed or discussed the "dealings with the 
overseer" m, to whether these were "to the tribe's liking." Wilson was described by 
the petition as visiting the reservation and perhaps meeting with Emeline 
(Sebastianl Williams in connection with her dealings with the overseers. There 
was insufficient information to fully evaluate the latter statement, except that 
Wilson die visit the reservation and meet with Emeline and her daughter. As 
described., his role was broader than dealing only with the individuals living in 
Mystic, he:1ce he was more than an "enclave leader" (EP PF 2000, 117). 

The proposed finding suggested, based on interviews and field discussions, that he had aided a 
number of individ Jals outside his immediate family, both financially and because of being more 
sophisticated and :mowledgeable (e.g., as an estate administrator). His influence was considered 
possible because h;: was well-off and well educated in comparison with many of the Sebastians, 
and because Of1he gatherings that he had sponsored for a long period of time, which if nothing 
else would have made him well known to many Eastern Pequots (EP PF 2000, 117). 

EP Comments. The EP Comments essentially reiterate the characterization of Alden Wilson in 
the proposed finding. Burgess's report comments that: "He was known for bringing the tribal 
membership toget1er as he hosted large picnics and dances and for ensuring that the reservation 
residents were car~d for by the Indian agents" (Burgess IIID, 186; EP Comments 8/2/200 I). It 
states further that: "Most importantly, however. Alden was known for being a civic influence in 
the Eastern Pequot community" and that "his participation in the funerals of various tribal 
members outside of his family line, the sponsorship ofa grave site for Emeline Williams, and his 
participation in t\\;O churches well-frequented by Eastern Pequot members are all indications of 
his contribution. EP also asserts that he continuously offered assistance to tribal members in a 
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number of ways, and served as a sort of "nucleus" for the Eastern Pequot social network (Burgess 
IIID, 167, EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

Third Party Comments. The State and Towns contend that there was very little information to 
support Alden ¥hlson's being an informal leader or demonstrating that he dealt with individuals 
beyond his immediate kinship group (State o/Connecticut August 2001,47-48; State of 
Connecticut Augtist 200J Appendix 16-17; Towns August 200J, 238-239). The Towns 
specifically argued that the interview infonnation did not show that Alden Wilson was a leader 
(Towns August 2001,278-279). 

The State asserts "that the interview information did not show exercise of political influence or 
authority by Aldlen Wilson (State 0/ Connecticut August 2001, Appendix 16-17). It characterizes 
the actions mentiom;:d as showing that he assisted others as "furnishing services." The State 
reiterates the proposed finding's specific conclusion that there wasn't good evidence that Wilson 
dealt with the oversc::ers or other state authorities. It argues that the few letters he wrote on behalf 
of other people do not indicate whether he did this "in a leadership capacity or simply as an 
educated and pro:,perous person assisting people" (State afConnecticut August 2001 Appendix, 
17). The State noted that at least one interviewee stated that they did not have much contact with 
him (State of Connecticut August 2001, 17; citing BIA Lancaster/Eccleston interview). 

The State argues that although the interview data indicates Alden Wilson provided financial 
assistance to some members, it does not demonstrate he was "consulted by Pequots on personal 
matters or advised them accordingly" and that while individuals may have sought economic help 
from him "there i!; no evidence they followed his advice on any significant matter" or that they 
sought his advice. The State also states that his activities did not involve the Gardners or the 
Jacksons. Finally, the State argues that there was no evidence that Wilson made decisions for the 
group or had a "political connection which existed broadly among the membership" (State of 
Connecticut August 2001, 47-48). 

Analysis of Comments and Responses. General data on visiting patterns, as well as the picnics, 
as submitted in the EP Comments, attest that the Wilsons on High Street did have wide contacts 
and that many people visited Alden Wilson and his brother Lawrence Wilson, Sr. 

The only substantial interview sources for the statements that Alden Wilson attended a lot of 
funerals were from Eleanor Manson, his niece. Manson mentions his being a pallbearer at Sarah 
Holland's funeral (Sarah (Swan) Holland was his first cousin) and also said that he attended 
funerals of the Wiliams's and the Jacksons, but doesn't indicate which ones (there is a Sebastian­
line Williams farr ily, descended from the marriage of Alden Wilson's aunt Sarah Sebastian to 
Ephraim William;, and a Sebastian-line Jackson family, descended from the marriage of his first 
cousin once removed, Julia B. Sebastian, to a non-Eastem-Pequot William Thomas Jackson). 
Although some obituaries were submitted as part of the record, they did not show his involvement 
except at Sarah Holland's funeral. 
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The EP Comment:;" section on Alden Wilson's leadership does not supply or cite much evidence 
for influence outside of his extended family, the descendants of Mary Marilla (Sebastian) Wilson. 
Additional evidenl~l~ submitted to substantiate a role in dealing with the overseer was an interview 
with Lawrence W:Json III which reported his conversations with George Cook, Jr., grandson of 
Alden Wilson (L. Wilson 2001; EP Comments 8/2/2001). Cook, born in 1946, also claims that 
"Eastern Pequot (!IClers and clan leaders" frequented his grandfather's fann for advice on 
Saturdays, Sundays, :and certain evenings during the week "to discuss family members who were 
ill, in need of assi~;tance or without work" (K. Sebastian, 5; EP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 
The latter information is reported third hand, and thus must be treated with great care, although 

the interviews do GOI1Itain some important specifics. 

Manson describes Alden Wilson as having aided Tamer Emeline (Sebastian) Swan Williams 
"Aunt Liney" and Sylvia (Sebastian) Steadman, who were his aunts. Documentation was 
submitted showing that he had purchased burial plots for both women. The interview with 
information from George Cook, states that Alden Wilson brought food to Kate Harris [Catherine 
(Sebastian) Carpenter Harris] (who was his first cousin), the Carpenters, Aunt Liney, and Sylvia 
Steadman, and also to unnamed families near Westerly, some of whom were "Narragansett 
relatives" (L. Wilson 2001). This was the extent of specific interview evidence to show his 
involvement as an advisor, provider of financial aid, or other leadership role among the Eastern 
Pequot. 

To the extent that Wilson provided help and assistance dealing with authorities, including 
financial help, he displayed characteristics of an informal leader. As noted, there was not 
extensive evidencE' that he did these actions with other than immediate kin. 

Frank Sebastian, ,~:':' .. J1S Leader. The proposed finding noted that Frank Sebastian, Sr.,76 (1874-
1956) was "identifil:d. as the leader of the Old Mystic enclave, followed by his son Royal 
Sebastian, Sr., and then grandson, Roy Sebastian, Jr., the current chief of the Eastern Pequot" (EP 
PF 2000, 116). It '.vent on to say: 

There was not sufficient data to know whether the described functions of Frank 
Sebastian 5:[_ (b. 1874), and his successors in Old Mystic enclave occurred or not. 
He is described as organizing hunting parties, organizing shared labor (Burgess 
1998, 9-111 and helping needy tribal members. No dates were gi ven for when he 
may have been active, or succeeded by his son and grandson (EP PF 2000, 117). 

The EP Comment~ state that his man's leadership is "detailed" in Report IIIG (Introduction 14, 
EP Comments 8/2/200 I). However, Report III focused on the period since 1976 and did not 
discuss the idea that this Frank Sebastian was a leader. 

76Frank Seb lstian born 1874 was also "Frank Sebastian, Jr.," as he was the son of Francisco Sebastian, son 
of Tamar (Brushell) ~;(~bas[ian. However, he also had a son named Frank, so for much of his life, the documents 
referred 10 him as ''Fr:lI1k Sebastian, Sr." rather than "Frank Sebastian, Jr." 
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Roy Sebastian. Sr ..... as Leader. Roy Sebastian, Sr., (1907-1980) was the father of the men who 
were most active in the 1970's and 1980's in the organization and activities dealing with the 
CIAC. The propCl!;(:d finding evaluated the Sebastian Foundation material that EP had submitted 
(EP PF 2000, 118-119), stating: 

The byla w~; of the [Sebastian] foundation indicate that its' membership was limited 
to the desCI:Ildants of Frank Sebastian Sr. (father of the former chairman Roy 
Sebastian)~S(:bastian Foundation 1963). The officers, donators and all of the 
identifiable recipients of funds were from this same sub1ine. None of the BIA 
interview materials indicated its activities extended more broadly among the 
Eastern Pequots. Thus this does not provide evidence to substantiate the 
petitioner's position that it shows tribal political influence (EP PF 2000, 118-119). 

In regard to the formal organization of EP, the proposed finding stated: 

The transition to a formalized system of EP tribal government is not well 
described. The petition's position is that Roy Sebastian Jr. took over as a general 
leader in the 1960's (Burgess 1998, 10). It offers no evidence for this as opposed 
to his becoming leader in the early 1970's, when the EP began to organize. 
Burgess statl~s that in the early 1960's the EP "began to have 'Indian meetings' held 
at homes of various members" and that these were "precursors" to a formalized 
government (Burgess 1998, 10). She lists attendees drawn from several branches 
of the Sebastians, i.e., a reasonably broad representation. There was no 
information concerning the nature of these meetings, however, and thus they 
cannot be evaluated as evidence for political processes in the 1960's. No sources 
were cited d~]) PF 2000, 141). 

EP Comments. In 1998, the EP petition thus claimed that Roy Sebastian, Sr., (Royal Emmanuel 
Sebastian) was a Ie ader and stated that he stopped being leader in the 1960's, succeeded by his 
son Roy Sebastian, Jr. (Royal Edward Sebastian, b. 1926). The EP Comments (K. Sebastian IIIG; 
EP Comments 8/2/2001) and Response enlarge upon the idea of Roy Sebastian, Sr., as a leader 
before EP was formally organized (K. Sebastian 9/4/2001, 2-3; EP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001). The act ivity dates are proposed as the 1940's and 1950's. The descriptions of him as a 
leader are linked in the EP Response with the idea of hunting and fishing as a traditional cultural 
activity (K. Sebast .Cln 9/4/200 I, 1-2, EP Response to Third Party Comments 9/4/200 I). 

The other item thaI EP points to as evidence of Roy Sebastian, Sr., 's leadership are the activities 
of the Sebastian foundation, a family organization of the descendants of Frank Sebastian, Jr., that 
collected money and provided aid to various family members (K. Sebastian IIlG, 255; EP 
Comments 8/2i20C I). The proposed finding reviewed the Sebastian foundation and concl uded 
that its activities did not extend beyond this immediate family group and thus were not good 
evidence of tribal political influence. A limited amount of new interview evidence was provided 
conceming the Sebastian foundation and Roy Sebastian, Sr.,'s activities in aiding individuals. 
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This additional infc)Imation was entirely consistent with the proposed finding. None of the oral 
history in the record :about Roy Sebastian, Sr.,'s activities in helping EP individuals clearly 
identified EP lines outside of the Frank Sebastian, Jr., family group. At most it appears that Roy 
Sebastian, Sr., was well known among the Sebastians as a whole because of these activities. He 
is remembered within his family and by others as being a strong leader but the material didn't 
indicate that this I:::xte:nded more broadly (Roy Sebastian 1999, Mark Sebastian 1999, Alton Smith 
1999). 

Analysis ofCoITllmmts and Responses. Roy, Sebastian, Sr., was a commercial fisherman with his 
own boat. Interview evidence concerning the hunting and fishing activities that Roy, Sr., and 
other Sebastians <:ngaged in during the 1930's indicates that he was a well-known and active 
person, but the de:~:c:ri:ptions of these as cooperative tribal activities goes beyond the reliable data. 
The descriptions of Roy, Sr., as a leader in some hunting and fishing activities with some other 
Sebastians do not ';;OI1stitute evidence that he was a tribal leader or show political authority or 
influence, nor doe; it substantiate the description of him as a "chief." 

Roy Sebastian, Sr., Alden Wilson, and Lawrence Wilson, Sr., were all members of the Knights of 
Pythias,77 and are isted together with some apparently non-Eastern-Pequot individuals as part of 
the committee to run a 1938 dance (K. Sebastian 9/4/2001, 5n12; EP Response to Comments 
9/4/2001; copy of undated flyer in Exhibits under tab "Photos-Wilson Picnics & Narragansett 
Pow Wow). This shows some association between them, but is not substantial evidence of 
leadership by itsel f. 

Roy Sebastian, Sr., is not mentioned in connection with the ill-defined and vaguely described 
meetings held in thl~ 1960's -- all these are attributed to Roy Sebastian, 1L Although he lived until 
1980, there is no indication that Roy Sebastian, Sr., played any role in the EP meetings, etc. 
between 1970 and 1975, i.e., in the activity preceding and immediately following the creation of 
the CIAC. The material submitted in response to the proposed finding does not substantially 
extend that which wa.s presented for the proposed finding. 

Other Evidence Q~1cerning Political Activity in the 1960's and Early 1970's. The only person 
from the Lantern Hill Reservation who testified at a state legislative hearing on the 1961 
reservations act W,lS Helen (Edwards) LeGault, a PEP leader (Austin II 8/2/2001,34; PEP 
Comments 8/2/20(1). During the course of her testimony, she entered into a colloquy with the 
North Stonington ~epresentative, who took issue with her characterization of the Sebastians as not 
being Indian (Aus:in II 8i2/2001, 34-35; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). By the mid-1960's, LeGault 
was focusing upon opposition to reservation residency by members of the Sebastian family. PEP 

77This was ,) men's fraternal organization, a national charitable and social organization fom1ed in 1864, 
neither tribJl nor p~r -lndian in namre. 
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notes that in 1965, 1966,78 and 1969 she complained to the state authorities about the Sebastians 
living on and/or trying to move on to Lantern Hill (Lawrence Wilson, Sr.) and also about "non­
Indians" living on and utilizing the reservation for various purposes (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, 
Ex. 39, 26). Although many of her objections were directed at Sebastian descendants,79 this 
material did not provide direct evidence of political activities involving the Sebastians because it 
contained no indication about if, or how, they may have responded. 

The State also submitted an affidavit, dated July 27, 2001, from Edward A. Danielczuk (State of 
Connecticut Augu.l't 2001, Ex. 60). The document is retrospective rather than being contemporary 
evidence. In it, Danil~lczuk states that in the 1960's and early 1970's, he worked for the 
Connecticut Welfare Department as a supervisor in the Resource Department, with one of his 
responsibilities being "to oversee the State's four Indian Reservations" (Danielczuk 7/27/2001, 
1). Danielczuk statt~d: 

9. I was not aware of any organized political activity by members of these groups 
or of any p,)liticalleadership of these groups. I did not engage in, and was not 
aware of any other State official or employee having engaged in, any effort to 
prohibit or obstruct political or other organized activity by persons qualified to use 
the reserv,r:ions. Although I am not aware of any elections that were held, we 
would not have taken any action to prevent such activity, and we did not prevent 
those who 'Nere qualified to use the reservation to conduct [sic] a meeting there. 

780n June 3. 1966, a representative of the Division of Welfare visited the Eastern Pequot Indian 
Reservation. The follow-up report addressed Helen LeGault's residence on the Eastern Pequot reservation and her 
"displeasure with the ~ype of individuals residing on the Reservation, indicating that many were not truly Indians 
and were 'so called Indians.' She also indicated that she knew that people who are not Indians, had paid money for 
the right to reside on the Reservation. She reported that the Sebastians were renting their leases and were not 
actually occupying the property which they had leased. She reported that Mr. Wilson who is to take over the Harris 
property, has been bcasting that he had enough money to grease palms in Hartford to gain admission to the 
Reservation. She doubtf:d that he qualified as an Indian, although she was assured the genealogy we had did qualify 
him for residence on the reservation. She was also advised that the only funds he would have to have to live on the 
Reservation, were to establish his own financial ability to rebuilt or build a place with sufficient sanitary facility and 
one that would be an asset and not a detriment to the Reservation. I will follow up with reference to the Sebastians 
alleged rental of the: r leased property, since persons who rent are not qualified for residence or use of the 
Reservation" (Conn,~,;ticut Welfare Department. Anonymous interdepartmental mail, to file 61711966). 

7~In reponing a June 3, 1966, visit to the Eastern Pequot reservation, the agent reported that Mr. and Mrs. 
LeGault "have moved their trailer onto the site they are to occupy" and that "Mrs. LeGault expressed her 
displeasure \\'ith the type: of individuals residing on the Reservation, indicating that many were not truly Indians ... 
. " (File ldabelle Sebastian Jordan 61711966, CT FOlA #68). Another memorandum the same month. regardmg spot 
checks of the Eastern Pequot reservation. mentioned the LeGault/Sebastian conflict (Connecticut, State of. Welfare 
Department. Raphael J Shafner 6117/1966). The next month, "Mr. & Mrs. LeGault specifically mentioned that 
they did not want to (Teate any hard feelings with their neighbors, the Sebastians. They did mention that the boating 
incident would be brought up at the next meeting of an association of local residents .... " (Connecticut Welfare 
Department. Memonndum concerning Lillian Sebastian and Idabelle (Sebastian) Jordan re: residence on PequDt 
res~r\'ation 7~8 I <)(,(,). 
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Reservation residents were always free to meet off the reservation as well 
(Danielczuk 7/27/2001, 2). 

Danielczuk continued:80 

If residen1:5 lOll the reservation wanted to have a meeting there with persons they 
said were members of their group who may not have met the 118 blood 
requirement and who lived off the reservation we would have no problem with that 
and I don't see how I could deny that request. However, as far as I can recall, this 
never came up with any of the Connecticut Indian groups (Danielczuk 7/27/2001, 
2-3). 

10. Pennissicm from the State was required for use of the reservation. Persons 
qualifying as Indian tribal members by demonstrating one-eighth Indian blood 
were readily granted such pennission. Persons living on the reservation were 
always free: to invite guests to their homes (Danielczuk 7/27/2001, 3). 

Assertion of Lead.rrship by Non-Members. A 1971 dispute arose between John Hamilton, a 
Mohegan who pre~.ented himself as "Grand Chief Sachem of the Confederation of Mohegan­
Pequot American Indian and Affiliated Algonquin Tribes," and several Pequots (both Eastern and 
Western). Hamilton asserted that in 1968 the Pequot Indians had chosen him as their leader. 
Helen (Edwards) LeGault (PEP) and Western Pequots both denied his assertion (Norwich Bulletin 
611911970; PEP Res;ponse to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 35).81 

One PEP analysis of the incident notes that Paul Spellman and Arlene (Jackson) Brown (both 
members of the Hoxile/Jackson line) supported Hamilton in 1973 (Austin, Political Authority 
9/4/2001, 23), but Jmits the infonnation that it was Helen (Edwards) LeGault who had allowed 
him to reside in her home on the Lantern Hill reservation in 1970 (Connecticut Welfare 
Department. Report 6/311970; #113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS II, Doc. 75). This LeGault/Hamilton 
connection was ac:lmowledged in another PEP submission, which stated that after the State's 
collection of reimt ursement of Hamilton's rent payments from the LeGaults, "Mrs. LeGault's 
relationship with l\1r. Hamilton and his members deteriorated rapidly, leading to the 

80 The EP response to the PF asserted that "The actions that such infonnal leaders such as Emeline' Liney' 
\.Villiams or C:ltherIllt~ . Kate' Harris took to host fourth Sunday meetings and other gatherings on the reservation, 
were. perhaps unbekrownst to them, acts of resistance. Such social gatherings were forbidden without the 
pern1ission of the Ind ian agent according to the rules of the Welfare Department." (Burgess HID, 185; EP Response 
8i2 /0 I). No documentation was cited in support of this. 

81 pEP deSCribed LeGault's cooperation with Western Pequots as responding to a "common threat that John 
Hamilton potentially represented to the Pequot Tribes' sovereignty" (Austin, Political Authority 9/4/200 L 22; PEP 
Response 10 Comnm Its 9/4/200 I), which somewhat inflates the significance of the matter. 
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Hoxie/Jackson fiirnily's marginalization from the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Tribe" (Palma, On 
the Sebastian Assertions 9/4/2001, 4-5; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001). 

In 1972, a report ;ubmitted to a class at the University of Connecticut, "The Connecticut Indian 
as He Is Today,'" indicated that, "Fred Tinney is chief of the Pequot Tribe. He is retired from 
business and makes his home in New Haven. He states that; notWithstanding the state's division 
of the Pequot intc, Eastern and Western, they are all one tribe" (Ferris 1972,47; #113 Pet. 1994 
AS; PEP Comme:lts 8/2/2001, Ex.). Tinney did not appear in any internal documents generated 
by either EP or PEP., nor was he mentioned by the third parties. He has subsequently appeared in 
documentation [I;:lating to the Golden Hill Paugussett, petitioner #89. There is no evidence that 
his assertion was based on anything other than an unsupported self-identification. 

Establishment ofrhe CIAC, 1973-1975. By early 1973, a newspaper article noted an initiative to 
remove supervisil)n of Connecticut's Indian reservations from the Welfare Department (Driscoll, 
Irene. Bills to Enc1lndians' Control by Welfare Unit in Works. Hartford Courant. [Hand-dated 
2/611973)]. The 1973 bill, part of a compromise package, did not create the new Connecticut 
Indian Affairs Ccmmission (CIAC) as an autonomous commission, but rather as a liaison 
between the tribe; and Connecticut's Department of Environmental Protection (DEP), which 
would, in aCCOrdHrlCe with the provisions of this Act, take over administration of Indian Affairs 
from the Welfan~ Department. This Act became law on October 1, 1973 (Bee 1990, 197).82 
During the interv:::ning period, the Welfare Department continued to administer the reservations 
and process applications for residence (Roy Sebastian to Connecticut State Welfare Department 
7117/2001; #35 P:::t. CIAC B13). 

CIAC RepresentHi.Q~. The letter appointing/electing Helen LeGault to the CIAC, dated July 17, 
1973, was signed by her close relatives, all members of the Gardner/Edwards and 
GardnerlWilliam; lines (Authentic Eastern Pequot Indians of North Stonington, Conn. to CIAC, 
#35 Pet. LIT 70).~:: The ensuing protest, dated September 26,1973 (Brown to Wood 912611973), 

82The new regulations declared that the Indian Affairs Council would advise the Commissioner 
of Environmental Protection on the administration ofIndian affairs, but the Commissioner's 
decisions were the binding ones. It would be made up of representatives of each of the state's five 
tribes ane: thn!e non-Indians appointed by the governor ... In addition to its role as advisor, the 
council would be responsible for drawing up new programs for the reservations, for 
recommending changes in regulations pertaining to Indians, and for determining 'the 
qualificJtit)ns of individuals entitled to be designated as Indians for the purpose of administration 
[of the statute 1 ... and shall decide who is eligible to lIve on reservation lands, subject to ... 
[statuto:-y] provisions ... (Bee 1990, 198-199). 

For more detailed discussion, see the General Issues section of this final determination. 

83Signers: Ruth E. Geer, Mildred Holder, John Holder, Byron A. Edwards, Helen L. Edwards, Atwood 1. 
Williams Jr., Franc ~s Young, James L. Williams Sr., Agnes E. Cunha, Richard E. Williams, Helen E. LeGault, 
(Mrs.) Bertha Edwards Brown (Appointment of Helen LeGault to CIAC by the "Authentic Eastern Pequot Indians 
of :\orth Stoningt<n. Conn." 711711973; #35 Pet. LIT 70). Helen L. Edwards was her non-Indian sister·in-Ia\\'; 
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was initiated by Adene (Jackson) Brown,84 signed primarily by Hoxie/Jackson descendants,85 and 
presented to the CLI\C by Alton E. Smith, a Sebastian descendant who lived in the state capital. 

A letter of the samc~ date, September 26, 1973, from Alton E. Smith to Kenneth A. Wood, Jr., 
Assistant Commissioner, Connecticut Department of Environmental Protection, presented a 
formal challenge to Helen (Edwards) LeGault as the Eastern Pequot representative on the CIAC. 
The letter was pre:;(!nted "at the request of Mrs. Arline Brown, a resident of the Pequot Indian 
reservation at No. Stonington" and stated that: 

The meeting called and conducted by Mrs. LeGault was not attended by long time 
residents of the reservation. The reason for non-attendance was simply that no 
invitation was extended. Sec. 2 of Public Act 73-660 clearly states that one 
representativ(~ from each of the four tribes will be "appointed by the respective 
tribes". Ifa majority portion of the Eastern Pequots were excluded from the 
meeting th~:n the selections made were in opposition to Public Act 73-660 (Smith 
to Wood 9:26/1973; PEP Response to Comments 9/412001, Ex. 64). 

The CIAC, on December 4, 1973, came up with the following interim measure: 

Challenge to the Eastern Pequot delegate. Testimony by the following given under 
oath and recorded: Paul Spellman, Arlene Brown, Alton Smith, Helen LeGault. 
CIAC went into executive session, with Mrs. LeGault disqualifying herself. 
The Council proposed the following steps to resolve the challenge to Mrs. LeGault 
as the East ~m Pequot representative: 

1. \1rs. Legault will remain as the Eastern Pequot representative; with Mr. 
Alton Smith, as spokesman for the challenging group, serving as 
her alternate. 

Mildred and John HoldeT subsequently affiliated with the Mashantucket Pequot Tribe. 

84The ac(:onpanying envelope was from [illegible off edge] Brown, [illegible] Hill Rd .. Ledyard, Conn., to 
Mr. Kenneth A. Woocl, Assistant Commissioner, Dept. of Environmental Protection (#35 Pet. LIT 70). 

8S"We the undt:rsigned Pequot Indians, do protest and challenge the Appointment of Mrs. Helen Le Gault 
and her sister Berth,) Brown as representatives to the Indian Affairs Council." Signers: Alton E. Smith, Sharell 
Jackson. Sharon Jackson. Harold Jackson Jr.. Alice Brend, Martha Langevin, Richard R. Brown, Arlene Brown, 
Paul L. Spellman. R~lchel Crumb. Lucy Bowers, Barbara Moore. Hazel Sneed, Rachel Sylva. Harold C. Jackson. 
Ernest M. Jackson. Manon Jackson, [Udira'7] Jackson" (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut. Letter to 
Commissioner of b \. ironmental Protection, Hartford, Connecticut 10/14/1973). 

The "signatlres" appear to be in same handwriting as the envelope and letter. 
Alice Brenc and Martha Langevin were Mashantucket Pequots, but cousins of the Jackson family through 

the Hoxie line (see FTM data base; the information from Barbara (Spellman) Moore is inaccurate (Moore Interview 
12l 811991,45-46) .. 
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2.. At such time that a census of the Eastern Pequot people is completed, an 
election will be held with participation in such an election based 
upon census infonnation. 

1. 'nle tribal members of the lAC will work with the Eastern Pequots to 
assist them in developing an internal organization so that one body 
will in the future represent the Eastern Pequot people" (CIAC 
Minutes Amended Minutes of regular meeting 12/4/1973, [2]; #35 
Pet. LIT 70). 

This interim sohr:ion was still in effect as late as August 5, 1975, as indicated by a joint letter to 
Eastern Pequot re sidents from Helen LeGault, Representative, and Alton Smith, Alternate 
Representative (LeGault and Smith to Eastern Pequot residents 8/511975; #35 Pet. LIT 70). The 
temporary modus vivendi came to an end at approximately the same August date, when the CIAC 
requested that each of the state recognized tribes prepare and submit a list of members (#35 
NARR 1998, 125). A newspaper article discussed the CIAC's proposed abandonment of the 
1935-1941 tribal genealogical lists gathered by the State Park and Forest Commission and 118 
quota in favor of l(~tting the tribes decide their own membership (Sandberg, Jon. Indians May 
Rule on Membe!r:;. Hartford Courant 8/28/1975; quoting Brendan Keleher ofDEP/CIAC). 

In August of 1975, several members of the Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut organization 
attended a CIAC meeting and were told that they should "organize the tribe before being 
recognized before the Council [CIAC)." In November 1975 and December 1975, the group 
scheduled two organizational meetings, which were followed in February 1976 by a meeting to 
approve by-laws (for more detail, see Section VIII of this technical report). Following that 
meeting, in February, 1976 the Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut submitted a package of data 
to the CIAC (East(!rn Pequot Indians of Connecticut 6/10/1977, 1-2). 

In the spring of 1976, Roy Sebastian, Jr., corresponded with the Department of Environmental 
Protection regarding reservation issues (#35 Pet. LIT 70). In March 1976, EP submitted a 
membership and bylaws for its organization to CIAC.86 On April 26, 1976, William O. Sebastian 
wrote the CIAC asking why the group had received no acknowledgment of its March 13, 1976, 
submission, and questioning the dual role of Helen LeGault in both representing the state­
recognized Eastl!m Pequot entity as a whole and organizing her own group. This letter also made 
the first reference to the CIAC's scheduling of a hearing on the Eastern Pequot membership issue: 
"We are questioning your reasons for a public hearing without a formal charge or challenge to 
this organization" (W.O. Sebastian to Harris and Keleher 4/26/1976; #35 Pet. LIT 70). W. 0 
Sebastian appear; to have addressed a similar letter to Helen LeGault, to which she replied on 
May 15, 1976: 

86For the final determination, the BIA received a 1976 list ofEP members headed, "The Genealogy of the 
Members of the Eastern Pequot Tribe" with a CIAC "Received" stamp of August 30, 1976 (PEP Comments 
8/2'2001, Ex. 118) containing 98 names. For further discussion, see under criterion 83.7(c). 
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In answer to your letter of April 1, 1976, I shall start by stating that I am the 
Representatiive of the Eastern Pequots, elected legally by twelve Peguot Indian 
decendent§ [sic], not by the Indian Affairs Council. It really doesn't make a great 
deal of dimm:nce whether you recognize [sic] me as such or not, I'm still the 
Representatiive ... To keep you informed of all the correspondence pertaining to 
Tribal Business etc; one would spend one's time doing nothing else, sorry, but you 
will have to attend the Council meetings at Hartford each every month to be 
properly infiJlmed, this is what I do (LeGault to W.O. Sebastian 5/15/1976; #35 
Pet. LIT 7(1). 

One of the primary concerns expressed by the groups which opposed Helen LeGault's position on 
the CIAC was that on the one hand she was supposed to be representing the Eastern Pequot tribe 
as a whole, in an offkial capacity in which she received official communications from state 
authorities (Keleher to Eastern Pequot Representative 6/3011975; Crosby to LeGault 1112811975), 
including those pe1a:ining to membership issues (Keleher to LeGault and Smith 4/2211976), while 
on the other hand ~ihe was leading specific efforts to organize the "Authentic Eastern Pequot" and 
its successor groups. 

Interview evidence indicates that Alton Smith, Sr., (Alton W. Smith) was a political rival of Roy 
Sebastian, Jr., anel perhaps of the latter's brothers as well (Mark Sebastian 1999). Smith was very 
involved at the tirre: with the activities of American Indian Development (AID) which he helped 
found. This may explain in part why Alton Smith contacted the Jacksons rather than any of the 
Sebastians when he discovered that Helen LeGault had been named the Eastern Pequot 
representative (Mcrk Sebastian 1999,25). Smith's comments on this event never indicate that he 
was in contact with the Roy Sebastian, Jr., group when he filed the protest to Helen LeGault. 
Larry Sebastian, (ne of the leaders in the 1970's Sebastian efforts, stated in 1983 in regard to 
Alton Smith, Sr., that, "he was put on the council from the challenge of the Jackson, the Jackson's 
family, Arlene BrCtwn particularly made the challenge" ... Don't know if the council involved 
any of the Jacksons on that decision .... The Sebastian family was never involved in that at all. 
Later on, he joinec the Sebastian organization" (CIAC 1983b, 72). This sequence of action is 
both additional evidence of Sebastian-lacks on links and confirmation that the current alignment 
of the Hoxie/Jackson line with PEP is more recent than the mid-1970's. 

TwO of the EP repJrts claims that Alton Smith's action was taken in coordination with the 
Sebastians (Bragdon IIIG, 40; Flowers IVD, 504; EP Comments 8/2/200 I) appear to be incorrect. 
The report's specu .ation that Alton Smith, Sr., wanted a reservation resident to sign the protest 
isn't supported by :!\'idence either, since there were Sebastians resident on the reservation at the 
time. PEP's response to Third Party Comments, in this case to EP's Comments on the proposed 
finding, disputed EP's claims that the protest and Alton Smith, Sr.,'s subsequent appointment as 
alternative delegate to the CIAC, had been a Sebastian initiative (Palma 9/4/200 I, 3-4; PEP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001). Although PEP cites four ofEP's reports to this effect, only 
Bragdon's and Flowers make these claims. The main report on EP's political processes clearly 
describes Smith's actions as taken before the EP leadership was involved and lays out a series of 
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reasons why Smith thought these individuals did not immediately realize the significance of the 
CIAC's action (UlG 343-345; EP Comments 8/2/01). 

The Towns have asserted that: "The transcripts of these CIAC hearings were not submitted to the 
BIA by either pettioner group, although they were readily accessible, most likely because they 
seriously undermine the acknowledgment claims" (Towns August 2001, 180). These documents 
are shown in the consolidated documentary finding aid on petitions #35 and #113, which the BIA 
prepared and furnished to both petitioners and all interested parties.s7 

1975-Present. 

Proposed Finding. The proposed finding stated: 

The petitione:r's argument for bilateral political process described 12 specific 
categories of business and events, in support of the general argument described 
above. Tb e:se included holding elections and seating tribal officers; assessing and 
collecting membership dues; and organizing the tribe's annual powwow. These 
activities in themselves are not distinguishable from a voluntary association. For 
these to bt' useful evidence, the petitioner needs to show that there is widespread 
participati:m, political communication, and the like (83.7(b)(1)(iii» (EP PF 2000, 
142). 

The proposed finding stated, with regard to the petitioner's claimed form of political activity, 
"organizing prote:;ts to the actions of the state and local governments (e.g., cutting of timber on 
the reservation, opposing the actions of the CIAC, disputing the town's right to tax tribal 
members)" that "·[t]here was little evidence in the minutes to show whether there were 
expressions ofmembership opinion, interest, or participation, in these central actions of the 
council" (EP PF 2000, 143). 

87 Consolidated list of submitted documentation: Petition #35, Petition # 113, and CT FOIA 
Virginia DeMarce, begun 31 August 1998. Version 27 March 2000. 

In addition to the fo: lowing transcripts, the finding aid indicates that many associated documents were also 
submitted. 

8/1 011976 

1/ 18!J 977 

9/28 11983 

1011511983 

Ht!aring Transcript. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council Hearing on Membership in the Eastern 
Pequot Tribe of Connecticut. August 10, 1976. Typescript. [Submitted by both petitioners and 
induded in the CT FOIA.] 
Hearing Transcript. Connecticut Indian Affairs Council Hearing on Membership in the Eastern 
Pequot Tribe of Connecticut. January 18. 1977. Typescript. [Submitted by both petItioners and 
induded in the CT FOIA.] 
Connecticut IndIan Affairs Council. Paucatuck-Eastem Pequot Hearings. Hartford. Connecticut. 
September 28'h, 1983. Typescript. [Submitted by #113 and included in the CT FOIA.] 
Connecticut Indian Affairs Council. Paucatuck-Eastem Pequot Hearings. Hartford, Connecticut. 
October 15'h, 1983. [ Submitted by both petitioners and inc!uded in the CT FOIA.] 
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The proposed finding noted concerning showing issues to be of importance that: 

Although tll'e petition does not explicitly claim that the conflict with PEP 
represents I!vidence under 83. 7( c)( 1) of an issue of importance to the membership, 
it does pre~;ent extensive data and discussion of the conflicts with the latter from 
the fonnation of the CIAC until the present. BAR field data indicated that at least 
at present, the conflict was an issue of importance in tenns of this being an attack 
on their cla i:m to be Indian. An additional, related issue, retaining the rights to the 
reservation land, is an issue of importance, given the sheer number of people that 
mentioned visiting the reservation and relatives there earlier in their childhood 
(BAR 1999, Burgess 1997, 1998) (EP PF 2000, 143). 

Finally, the: petitioner cites a number of activities which concern control and 
regulation iJflthe reservation land and also concern controlling the behavior and 
activities of members and others on the reservation. The activities cited are: 
directing tribal members to clean up their property, directing the building and 
repair of pri vate roads on the reservation, and issuing and enforcing hunting and 
fishing reglllations, and dog control ordinances. In addition, the petition states that 
"the tribal council regulates housing on the reservation [and] accepts and rules on 
applications by tribal members to live on the reservation, allots home and building 
lots, and regulates home repairs and upkeep." Control of territory and its uses is a 
strong form of evidence for political influence. Section 83.7(c)(2)(i) refers to 
allocating "group resources such as land, residence rights and the like on a 
consistent ')asis" (EP PF 2000, 143). 

The proposed finding concluded that: 

The council has exercised since its inception some defacto control of reservation 
lands, Twelve examples of this were found. Examples included hunting and 
fishing rules and directing an individual to clean up the area around his residence 
and contro I hiis dogs, Because there are not a large number of members resident 
on the reservation, there are not numerous examples of enforcement of rules. It 
appears frelm the minutes, however, that the individuals concerned did respond to 
the council's instructions. The council has also ruled on requests to move onto the 
reservati or. and on maintaining roads and other matters pertaining to the 
reservati or. (EP PF 2000, 143). 

This last finding is confinned and reinforced by the EP Comments on the proposed finding, with 
additional detail (l IIG, IIIH; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The proposed finding also stated: 
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The petitioJ1(:r also cites two categories which can in themselves be important 
evidence of political processes under the regulations. These were dispute 
resolution ~tnd banishing and reinstating individual tribal members who had 
violated the: tribe's rules and regulations. Under the regulations, 83. 7( c )(2)(ii), 
settling di.;pl.ltes among members on a regular basis is sufficient evidence for 
political inJluence. Under the regulations, 83.7(c)(2)(iii) establishing ofnonns and 
directing OJ' controlling behavior is sufficient evidence for political influence if this 
is a consistc~nt pattern. Isolated examples provide some evidence which can be 
evaluated with other evidence for criterion 83.7(c) (EP PF 2000, 144). 

The proposed finding concluded that the materials on dealing with conflict primarily referred to 
conflicts within the council, while the 

... evidence required under section 83.7(c)(2)(ii) is that the political system 
maintains social control among the membership in general and establishes and 
maintains standards for the behavior of its members. It does not refer to ordinary 
political conflicts, even though they may involve arguments over the behavior of 
particular l(~aders (EP PF 2000, 144). 

Only one examp:!e was cited in the materials for the proposed finding, and the EP Comments do 
not add materially to this infonnation. As the PF noted, "A single instance is not sufficient to 
show this fonn of evidence" (EP PF 2000, 144). 

The proposed finding noted that the "petition also states that the council organized 'work parties 
of tribal members to raze a burned home, for example, and to maintain the powwow grounds, 
reservation cemeteries, and tribal buildings' (EPNarr 7/98, 137)" (EP PF 2000, 144). It noted this 
could be evidence under 83. 7( c)( 1 )(i) that the "group is able to mobilize significant numbers of 
members" for group purposes. The proposed finding was that those participating were largely 
"the council members or other leaders" and that "[t]o be useful evidence, it must be shown that 
significant numbers of members beyond the core group of active leaders have been mobilized" 
(EP PF 2000, 144). The EP Comments provided some additional infonnation but did not 
organize it in a useful fashion. Some of this data has been incorporated in a database of 
individuals who participated in EP activities. 

The proposed fmcling was particularly critical that the materials submitted and discussed in the 
EP petition did nc,t show substantial political communication between leaders and followers, as 
claimed. The proposed finding was that: 

There were not enough examples between 1976 to 1999 to conclude whether 
communication and involvement occurred on a regular basis ... There was little or 
no reference to expressions of membership opinion as influencing or being 
reflected in council actions before 1997. The evidence does not demonstrate that 
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significant member-council communication on political matters has occurred 
except in the present-day (EP PF 2000, 144-145). 

The proposed finding criticized the type of evidence that the petition had primarily relied upon, 
stating: 

The group is small enough, and closely related enough, to be supportive evidence 
for politicd processes. However, the meeting minutes in this case are a poor form 
of evidenc'!., giving quite limited information. The absence of such information in 
the minutl~s does not mean that significant political processes were not occurring, 
only that relevant information may not have been recorded (EP PF 2000, 145). 

The proposed finding noted that the petition also referenced interviews by researcher William 
Starna and that the:se may have contained the appropriate information the petitioner relied upon in 
part (EP PF 2000, 145). No such material by Starna was submitted with the EP Comments. The 
substantial numbl~r of additional interviews submitted did not provide substantial useful 
information on contemporary political processes. The petitioner relied in part on a survey, which, 
produced only limited useful data. 

The proposed finding also indicated that: 

Political conflicts within a group often provide useful information concerning the 
exercise of political influence, the importance of issues to the membership and the 
functioning of political processes such as communication. Such data has been 
used to demonstrate internal political processes in other cases (see Snoqualmie 
proposed ;and final determinations). The petitioner did not describe conflicts or 
claim conflicts as evidence for criterion 83.7(c) except with regard to the 
relationship between EP and PEP. BAR field interviews and some documentary 
materials obtained from EP members and the petitioner's files provide some 
evidence which suggests that in the past five years there have been several internal 
conflicts wilthin the EP which mobilized substantial numbers of members in 
support of Dnl~ or another side and which indicated issues of concern to the 
membership. However, under revised internal procedures for processing 
acknowledgment petitions, the available data was given only a limited analysis 
since the topic is nowhere raised by the petitioner. An analysis of this data and 
supplementary research may demonstrate substantial evidence for criterion 83. 7( c) 
in this tinlE' period (EP PF 2000, 145). 

The proposed finding also noted that "The annual meeting is thus identified by the petitioner as a 
setting for signifi,;:ant political discussion. However, none of the minutes of annual meetings 
indicated that this \vas a venue at which significant political decisions were made and there was 
no other evidence submitted which would show significant political processes" (EP PF 2000, 
146). The EP Conments did not focus on activities at annual meetings as showing political 
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processes, except tIlsofar as it noted when they were used for elections or as a venue to gather 
member opinion. 

EP Comments. 111C~ number of arguments made by the EP Comments to demonstrate substantial 
political processes :from 1973 to the present is very large. These are summarized here, with the 
focus on the most pertinent arguments. The EP Comments on this part of the proposed finding 
consist of at least :fivle different reports, written by a number of different individuals and not 
particularly coordi nated as to arguments and data. Of these, Report IIIH presents the most 
coherent and thorough statement of argument about post-1973 political processes. It is focused 
on here, with addi-:ional arguments presented elsewhere in the EP Comments reports integrated 
into the text as appropriate. 

EP argues that political influence in the present is shown by internal and external conflict. "The 
internal conflict is thle conflict between the major family lines that comprise the Eastern Pequot 
Indians ofConne,:.:ticut (the 'EP') and those families who choose to follow Helen LeGault in the 
formation of the Paucatuck Eastern Pequot group (the 'PEP')" (IIIH, 335; EP Comments 
8/2/200 I). EP then limits its definition of external conflict: "The external conflict is the conflict 
between the EP and the State of Connecticut (the 'State') over the EP's right to determine its own 
membership requi~ements and select its leaders as well as its right to control the uses of the 
Lantern Hill Rese'rvation" (IIIH, 335; EP Comments 8/2/2001). The Comments assert: "The 
Council encouragcclthe members to come together and maintain a clear and consistent approach 
toward resolving t !leir differences between the members and the PEP group and between the 
members and the State" (IIIH, 338; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

EP asserts further that: 

To survive thiis period, the members of the EP have bonded together socially, 
shared the labor necessary to raise funds, and fought collectively against the 
discrimination they faced from the Connecticut Indian Affairs Council (the 
"CIAC"), the State and the PEP. This discrimination was unique-the EP were the 
only Indians in Connecticut whose blood quantum and Indian identity was 
questioned by the State and the CIAC (IIIH, 335; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

This statement is actually a general argument for political process, which covers a number of the 
topic areas noted below. 

EP points out tha1 the administration of the Lantern Hill reservation involves the allocation of 
signi ficant resources, which falls into the evidentiary category 83.7 (c )(2)(1 ) :gg 

88(2) A petitioning group shall be considered to have provided sufficient evidence to demonstrate the 
exercise of political influence or authority at a given point in time by demonstrating that group leaders and/or other 
mechanisms exist or existed which: 

(i) Alloc2.te group resources such as land, residence rights and the like on a consistent basis" (83.7(c)(2) 

168 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement EPI-V001-D006 Page 179 of 208 



Final Determination-- EllStem Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

Members of this political entity have joined together to maintain the reservation 
and protec': its resources. To the full extent allowed, the Council controlled who 
could live ,)n the Reservation, who could hunt and fish on tribal lands and who 
could use the Reservation for group purposes. It also worked to insure that the 
reservatior. was properly maintained. These Council actions were respected and 
supported by the membership through their applications for residency rights and 
hunting and fishing permits and their participation in reservation clean-up projects 
(IIIH, 338; 13]> Comments 8/2/2001). 

One ofEP's core arguments, to which much of the data presented is directed, is that members 
were aware of and approved of council actions: 

With the IK~rmission of the EP membership, the EP leaders managed and allocated 
the EP's m~ager financial resources and fought to protect the Tribe's collective 
monies held by the State. They and the other members of the EP also fought to 
control the use of Reservation lands. 

As each pwbllem developed, the Tribal leaders, in consultation with the 
membershi p, established the plan of action the EP would follow and worked to 
insure that the members of their community avoided violent confrontation with the 
PEP and state officials (IIIH, 335-336; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

EP also argues that significant political communication existed within the membership (evidence 
under 83.7(c)(l)(lii)), stating that, "[t]hroughout this period, the EP membership remained 
knowledgeable of what their leaders were doing _ . _ This knowledge came through regular 
membership meetings, newsletters, telephone calls and attendance at court proceedings and CIAC 
hearings" (IIIH, 3:15; EP Comments 8/2/2001). It also asserts that the knowledge was 
accompanied by support: "The membership was aware of the actions taken by the leadership 
through meetings ;md newsletters and supported those actions through the payment of dues, 
participation in fund raisers and attendance at tribal meetings and social gatherings" (IIIH, 337; 
EP Comments 8/2 /200 I). 

EP also maintains that the members considered these activities important (IIIH, 335, EP 
Comments 8/212001, though it did not present direct evidence in support of this. Issues of 
importance are spt!ci:fic evidence under 83.7(c)(l)(ii). 

EP also cited 83.7<c)(l)(i), which refers to mobilization significant numbers of members and 
significant resources from its members for group purposes. Most of the data here was directed 

. toward evidence of banding "together to raise the funds necessary to keep their fight going" (IIIH, 
335: EP Commenls 8/2/2001). Only limited infonnation was presented concerning mobilization 

and 83.7(c)(2)(i)). 
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of members for group projects, such as working on the reservation lands, putting on the annual 
meeting, and the like.. To the extent such data was provided, the names were placed by the BIA 
researcher into the da.tabase concerning individual participation (see below). 

Towns' Commentli. The Towns cite a memorandum in the record which contains the results of a 
review of EP minvtes stating there was little evidence for political processes (Towns August 2001, 
305). This memorandum was prepared for the proposed finding by extracting data from the 
available EP minutt~s. The work was performed by a BIA staff anthropologist under the direction 
of the staff anthropologist assigned to the petition (not by the BlA historian as the Towns' 
comments assumc~). The proposed finding utilized this work as part of the basis for its 
conclusions. The :~(:view for this final determination considered the data extracts created for that 
study but conducted additional review of the minutes and as well as of other documents. Thus the 
results discussed ben: supercede the previous analysis. 

The Towns' comments compare the Eastern Pequot and Paucatuck proposed findings with the 
final determination on the Indiana Miami petition, which contained a lengthy discussion which 
concluded that the evidence did not show that the Miami met criterion 83.7(c), political influence, 
from 1940 until 1990 (the date of the proposed finding) (Towns August 2001, 242-246). The 
Town notes the comparatively brief discussion of the parallel time period in the Pequot findings. 
The report notes that the Miami finding concluded that, although the Miami had an active formal 
organization for rr:llch of this period, it had not shown that the issues pursued were significant to 
the membership m; a whole or that a bilateral political relationship was maintained between the 
council and the membership. The Towns also conclude that there was more evidence of political 
activity in Miami ':han in the Pequot cases (Towns August 2001,243), but that the EP and PEP 
proposed findings nonetheless concluded that criterion 83.7(c) had been met. 

Analysis of Comll1ents and Responses. EP has presented an very large volume of documentation 
and description to support its claim to show tribal political authority since the organization of a 
formalized structure in late 1975. The largest and most important part are two reports, of 91 and 
111 pages in length, each of which review council and organization activities and some other 
political information, more or less year by year from the early 1970's, at the beginning of the 
CIAC period, to :nproximately 2000 (IIIG and IIIH; EP Comments 8/2/200 I). The reports are 
accompanied by two separate boxes of chronologically organized documents, totaling about six 
feet in length. Mus:t of this material, consisting of minutes, correspondence, court briefs and the 
like, was already in the record. Though report IIIH stated that it was integrating information from 
these documents with interviews of leaders, it did so only in a few places. 

While the response to the final determination identified this information, presenting it as part of 
the two long and detailed reviews of the political activities of the EP from 1973 to the present, it 
did not pull the pertinent information together into sections focusing on particular topics most 
relevant to demonstrating political processes and influence. The data is presented chronologically 
in the reports witt much other data which, for reasons discussed, do not differentiate the EP 
activities from thCls.e of a voluntary organization whose members might not otherwise have any 
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connection with each other. Discussed below is data which does differentiate the EP from a 
voluntary organization. 

Some arguments made do not in themselves show significant political processes, and as such have 
not been evaluated for the final determination. Thus, the use of newsletters per se is not evidence 
of significant political communication, especially in circumstances where a group is lacking in 
communication fmm members to leaders. Similarly, the attempt to show allocation of group 
resources, 83.7(c)(2)(i), is not shown by using tribal funds to pay for lawyers, renting meeting 
space, and preparing; newsletters. 

The Indiana Miami and other findings established precedents that a high level organizational 
activity does not in itself demonstrate that a tribe exists within the meaning of the regulations, as 
opposed to a vigorous voluntary association of individuals not otherwise associated with each 
other. The EP argument in IIIG and IIIH must demonstrate that this is more than a voluntary 
organization. Consequently the evidence focused on here is not the organization'S activities per 
se. 

The EP Comments clo not clearly draw the link between the detailed summarizations and extracts 
of data in their n~pOIts, which are chronologically organized, and the specific kinds of behavior 
and phenomena that the petitioner is trying to present as evidence for significant political 
processes. Nor, fJr the most part, are these integrated with interview data, such as an attempt to 
reconstruct what "vent on at key meetings on key issues, though there is some pertinent interview 
data in the record. The discussion below is based on extracting data from the reports and 
accompanying records concerning certain specific areas which provide evidence for political 
processes. Material which does not in this case provide useful evidence, such as drafting a 
constitution, help mg needy members, applying for grants, and the like is not analyzed here. 

Issues of Import.nce to the Membership. and Political Communication. As a general matter, the 
EP and its represe:ntatives conducted actions, such as attending CIAC and presenting arguments 
and evidence at CIAC, filing lawsuits against actions of the CIAC, as well as establishing 
membership rule~ and a governing process. The EP generally held membership meetings to 
inform the members and to get votes from members ratifying these decisions. The minutes are 
unfortunately sparse in these matters, beyond the fact of a vote or the presentation of an issue. 
Nonetheless, these are numerous and consistent from 1976 on. 

Access to the reservation and status as Eastern Pequot Indians was an issue of importance to the 
membership at Ia-ge. Consequently the actions of the CIAC to recognize or not recognize the 
PEP or EP as parI of or representing the state-recognized entity, CIAC hearings to determine 
\vhether Tamar Brushell was Pequot, and the ability to control the reservation and the associated 
funds were issues of importance. By definition, because they affected access to significant 
material resource 5., the various lawsuits brought by the EP against the CIAC and against PEP, and 
PEP's lawsuits and reaction became political issues of consequence within the meaning of 
83.7(c)(2). 
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The EP narrative and documentation boils down to an argument that EP held frequent and 
consistent membemh~p meetings (not just tribal council meetings and not just taking actions at the 
instigation of the eouncil members themselves) on these issues and that the meetings resulted in 
decisions on how to deal with the issues and actions to implement the decisions. What is missing 
is a centralized des(~ription of this process and direct evidence of how members presented their 
concerns and intere:sts at such meetings. -

The best contextuilll c:vidence for reservation control as a significant political issue is that it has 
been shown that illl the past a broadly distributed number of members visited relatives on the 
reservation, attende:d meetings and gatherings and, perhaps hunted and fished there. These 
descriptions appe:ar per se to be generally valid, because they are so numerous and particularistic, 
even though no doubt embellished somewhat. Certainly this evidence fits the interpretive rule 
that a claim, to bl! assumed of political significance without further evidence, must be for 
something lost in ":he lifetime of much of the group itself, as opposed to something centuries old 
(see Miami FD, Snoqualmie FD). In this case, the claim is to something that has not yet been 
lost, but for whicb there is a threat of loss. This, combined with the historical pattern of 
involvement with the: reservation, is evidence that the issues were and are of importance. 

Survey Data. The EP survey of its membership, and the analysis presented in its Comments on 
the Proposed finding, produced only a small amount of useful data. The survey data on 
community and political processes is discussed above under criterion b. There was some data to 
indicate that the ":;plit" with PEP (as the question was phrased) was an important political issue to 
about half of the respondents, constituting approximately 20 percent of the adult membership. 
There was some data.. concerning attendance at CIAC meetings which provide some support for 
the conclusion that the actions of the CIAC were important issues. 

Fund-raising andJ2'onations as Evidence of Mobilization of Members. Participation. and 
Membership Interest in Council Actions. An additional argument contained within the body of 
the reports is that members consistently donated small sums of money to pay for all these legal 
actions, beyond t~e payment of dues, although the dues are characterized as being pushed for in 
the context of suppo11ing the numerous lawsuits and actions. The reports contain descriptions, 
numbers, examplE'S and the like of members donating funds to support the EP council's efforts, 
with examples from almost all years from 1976 to 2000. 

Control of the Rc~~~vation. EP effectively asserted control of the reservation from 1982 on, in 
spite of continuing controversies with PEP over the competing claims, and such incidents as the 
1992 effort of PEP to get the Town of North Stonington to revoke the tax exemption of the 
personal property of EP residents on Lantern Hill. EP exerted control by passing ordinances 
covering hunting :md fishing and land use, requiring approval to reside on the reservation, 
attempting to prevent or limit state police and town jurisdiction on the reservation, adopting rules 
for residence, trash control, and letting contracts to cut trees Examples of this control appear in 
every year after :I 982. Also, EP physically established a beachhead, building on the several who 
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were resident in ] 970, with the advent first of Larry Sebastian (in 1973-1974), and Mark 
Sebastian, taking ()ve:r the area previously occupied by Annie Carpenter [Anna Geneva 
(Sebastian) Carpenlter, widow of Al Carpenter] "Up top_" Vice Chairman Mark Sebastian 
characterized the ~;itUiation on the reservation in 1999 as EP controlling 190 acres and PEP about 
30 -- apparently de/acto rather than by agreement (Mark Sebastian 1999). 

The evidence is that the members have generally followed the council's ordinances, although 
there are relatively fe:w specific instances. However, there is no direct data in interviews or the 
survey to show that the membership supports this. 

Behavior ControI...:!lnd Settlement of Disputes among Members. The EP Comments present a few 
examples of council actions to control the behavior of members and/or settle disputes, such as a 
complaint that om: individual on the reservation had taken the property of another because of 
failure to pay a de,t (IIIH, 388,393; EP Comments 8/2/2001). The council heard testimony on 
the dispute, and ordered the individual banished from the reservation and tribal activities for a 
year. As noted by the proposed finding, there are too few examples of such actions to be 
significant evidence. 

EP also argues that the council exercised such control by convincing some of the dissident 
"hotheads" from taking physical action in 1982 after the PEP chairman had sent letters to EP 
members resident on the reservation, ordering them evicted (Report IIIH, 374; EP Comments 
8/2/2001). Howeve:r, this example fits better under the heading of members communicating with 
and accepting the action of the council. 

Attendance and F~m1icipation. The proposed finding stated: 

The petitioner did not present a specific description or position concerning the 
extent to v,hich individual members outside the leadership participated in the 
government or in political meetings, nominated candidates, or voted. While some 
records whch contain information about participation were obtained from the 
Eastern Pequot office, BIA staff cannot be responsible for conducting research on 
behalf of the petitioner. EP should analyze these records and the participation 
reflected therein to interpret its own political processes (EP PF 2000, 145). 

The proposed finding further stated that, "[a] detailed study of participation of individuals in the 
political process was not made for this decision as a means of showing criterion 83. 7( c) was met," 
adding that "[s]uch a study is one approach to demonstrating that criterion 83.7(c) is met (see 
Mohegan FD)" (EF' PF 2001, 145). 

The EP Comments did not make such an analysis, but presented a sampling of lists of voters, 
petitioners, workers on community projects and the like, sometimes analyzing them to indicate 
breadth of family line and subline participation. The reports cited a substantial number of 
documents, in some instances providing an analysis of the number of individuals participating in 
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a variety of activities and analyzing the family line and subline backgrounds of the individuals. It 
identified circumstances where members did not merely attend meetings, but voted on issues 
which can be conHidlered of significance. 

The BlA researcher constructed an approximate gauge for the amount of political participation 
by compiling the information presented in the lists and reviewing some additional documents to 
clarify patterns. Participating individuals were divided into two groups. The first group, the 
"actives" were deti.ned as any individual who had actually held an office in the EP governing 
structure, including I;ommittees. A total of 60 such individuals fit this definition between late 
1975 and 2000. About two thirds of these were active in this manner for at least 10 years. 

The family line (Estribution of these included at least a few individuals from most of the 
Francisco Sebastian" Jr., sub line, from the Solomon Sebastian line, and from the Mary Marilla 
(Sebastian) Wilscn line - the three main largest sectors of Sebastians in the current membership. 
In the earlier years of this span of time, the Sarah (Sebastian) Williams line was also represented. 
These individuals have since enrolled with the Mashantucket (Western Pequot) tribe. Proportions 
of those politically active from each line or subline were not calculated, but on inspection, the 
Mary Marilla line and the Francisco Jr. subline of the Francisco line were somewhat 
overrepresented 2mong those politically active. 

The second group were "signers" - individuals who had signed petitions to the Connecticut 
government or to the EP itself (thus including dissident individuals) had nominated someone for 
office, participate:cl in work parties to take care of reservation lands, and similar kinds oflists. 
Only a limi ted pc rtion of the records of this character identified in the two reports or in materials 
on EP elections and other materials collected during the BIA field visit were analyzed. The 
results of this lim ited analysis are thus highly preliminary. The initial data entry provided 
approximately 6: additional names not included with the first group. An estimated minimum of 
an additional 45 names would be added by adding names from other such sources to the database. 

These figures c:ompared with the approximately 555 adults on the present roll indicate 
approximately 30 percent of adults significantly active, a substantial figure. 

Conflicts. The proposed finding indicated, based on a limited review of documentation, that there 
were some politi::al conflicts within the EP and that further data on these might provide 
significant evidelce: for political processes (EP PF 2000, 145). It was noted that such conflicts 
would have particular evidentiary significance if the evidence shows that they involved particular 
political opinion:; among the larger body of the membership, rather than being only personal in 
nature and showmg only differences of opinion between a few active individuals whose views did 
not reflect contending bodies of political opinion within the group. 

In technical assistance meetings, the BlA suggested that the apparent opposition to and issues 
conceming development of a revised EP constitution would be a fruitful area, based on their 
preliminary description by the EP researchers. In addition, BIA interview infomlation indicated 
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that the past chairman had been put forward by supporters of one camp to prevent the election of 
a candidate suppcrted by a different group (Mary Sebastian 1999). The BIA indicated that a 
study of this election might provide information in regard to modem political processes within 
EP. 

EP Comments. The two main reports provide data on some conflicts, as do the reports of 
Bragdon and Siml'lOnS (IIIJ, lYC, EP Comments 8/212001), but for the most part, the EP 
Comments did not address the specific areas recommended by the proposed finding and in 
technical assistanc;(! ,~onceming conflicts. 

Bragdon makes rderence to discontent among the membership with the central role of the family 
of Roy Sebastian, Sr., several of whose members have been active leaders, as well as to conflicts 
within that family sub-subline. She alludes to issues raised by the dissidents such as "tensions 
and concerns about: inappropriate use of power and tribal funds are still visible today, as the 
federal recognition project enters it final stages" (Bragdon IIIJ 462; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
She also suggests tjh(~re has been resentment by the "older hands" who had been in the leadership 
and council at the beginning, against the role of "new" members, outside scholars, and different 
attorneys who haH: "usurped" the role played by the original group of researchers, who claim to 
"know twice as much" as anybody on the current research team." (Bragdon IIIJ, 462; EP 
Comments 8/2/20)1). Finally, she makes oblique reference to objections raised by a "dissident," 
Ashbow Sebastian to several elections (Bragdon IIIJ, 462-463; EP Comments 8/2/2001). 
However, the report does not flesh any of this out, or cite to data to describt> the size, character 
and history ofthe~;(~ conflicts and of the "dissidents." Much of the infonnation, in BIA and EP 
interviews, and dc,cumentation from EP, pertains to more or less personal objections to one or 
another council ae tion, the handling of recent elections, and the like (see Larry Sebastian 1999), 
though there wa.s ~;()me limited evidence that there was broader political interest among the 
membership. 

EP has had several individuals who have been noteworthy "dissidents" since the 1980's, 
especially Larry Sebastian, Ashbow Sebastian, and Ron Jackson. While EP supplied information 
about some of the conflicts involving these individuals, the submissions contained little 
infonnation to indicate how many supporters they had, nor did EP present an event analysis of the 
conflicts. Two Ii sts of "dissidents" were included in the submissions - signatories to a protest 
petition to the EP ~ouncil and to a letter to the BIA. The names on these have been included in 
the participation database noted above (Ashbow Sebastian 1994, Strong et aI., 1998; EP 
Comments 8/2/20(1). Together with interview data, they indicate as many as 30 individuals had 
supported at least one protest. A major portion of these was drawn from the Catherine Harris 
sub-subline of the Francisco Sebastian, Jr. subline (see Eccleston 1999), along with several from 
the Solomon Sebastian line and two leaders from among the children of Roy Sebastian, Sr., 
Ashbow and Larry S,ebastian. 

PEP stated that the EP "dissidents" are a group of self-appointed individuals, with no connection 
with the EP leaclershlip (get cite; PEP Comments or Response). 
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The Warrior SoC'j~b~. Bragdon's report references the "Warrior Society" as a body with influence 
in EP politics and which also performed services for older individuals, protected the reservation 
and performed otber functions (Bragdon III1; EP Comments 8/2/2001). There is little evidence 
that such a group has functioned continuously or been active consistently. To the extent 
information on the membership was available, the active members of the "Warrior Society" 
appeared to correspond now and to have corresponded loosely in the past to the dissidents. Both 
have been somewhat focused around Ashbow Sebastian. EP minutes confirm that an actual 
organization, as kind of a service organization, was approved by the council in 1983, to be under 
the council's din:~(:ti()n (EP Minutes 3/9/1983). However, the minutes record no activities after 
1983. 

EP Report IIIH (EP Comments 8/2/2001) and interview materials from vice-chairman Mark 
Sebastian and Ashbow Sebastian quoted in the report suggest that the 1983 council action was a 
formalization of something which had existed historically, i.e., before 1983. There is no evidence 
that the organizatlon existed before 1983 or that it is as large as the descriptions imply. During 
the BIA fieldwork visit, it was characterized as a "men's group"(Mary Sebastian 1999). While 
the dissidents w~:re: mentioned frequently in BIA interviews, little or no mention was made of a 
"Warrior's group." 

Ashbow Sebastia:l's descriptions of the "Warriors" was that the purpose of the group was to 
defend the reseml1:ion against the PEP and stop PEP attempts to push the EP off of it (Ashbow 
Sebastian, 2001, Int(~rview by Patricia Marks). This fits with the several physical confrontations 
with PEP membe~s on the reservation that have occurred between 1980 and the present, which in 
tum suggest it was part of a strategy that fit with EP's efforts to control the reservation. It is 
unknown wheth~~r the EP council exercised influence to dampen some of the violent tendencies 
attributed to this group as Report IIIH suggests (lIIH 376-377; EP Comments 8/2/2001). Another 
interview, with M ark Sebastian, described it more as a kind of service group (Mark Sebastian 
Interview by Patr.c:ia Marks 200 1). There is insufficient information to adequately describe this 
group or to demonstrate a significant political role for it. 

"Factions." With regard to whether the two petitioners are factions within the same group. EP's 
theoretical discus ;:ions about the nature of factionalism per se and citations to various definitions 
in the professiona I literature (Bragdon IVA, Simmons IVC; EP Comments 8/2/200 1) are not 
directly relevant. The primary focus of inquiry is a purely descriptive one -- is there a single 
political system, which implies also a single community, within which a conflict is occurring. In 
the present instan::e, the EP Comments did not focus on the issue of whether there are political 
and social contael s between members of the two sides, or any institutional framework uniting 
them. Those que!;tions are addressed generally in the review of the formation of the two present 
petitioners, past and present community and political processes in the two petitioners and their 
antecedent familil~s and the history of the conflicts between the two groups. 

EP presented little direct evidence, data, and description to show a single political system, in the 
sense of a single ~;()cial community and social and political relationships between the leaders, 

176 

United States Department of the Interior, Office of Federal Acknowledgement EPI-V001-D006 Page 187 of 208 



Final Determination-- Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 

rather than being an argument between two separate groups contending for the same prize, other 
than the conflict itself, the common issues and the actions in response. There was little data to 
show any present I~()mmunity connection between the members of the two groups or to 
demonstrate that the dispute takes place within a framework in which there are relationships 
between the members and/or leaders of the two memberships. 

PEP limited its Ccmments to providing instances where events, gatherings or meetings were held 
in which EP mernbl~rs did not participate and from which they were perhaps deliberately 
excluded, although the latter wasn't definitely shown. They also commented frequently that there 
had never been a poliitical relationship between the two groups. 

Analysis of Comments and Responses. The proposed finding concluded that consistent with 
precedent and using I~vidence acceptable to the Secretary, the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, 
which included th,: antecedents of both current petitioners, met criterion 83.7(c) from the colonial 
period through the third quarter of the 19th century. Much of the argumentation presented by the 
Towns for the find determination reiterated issues which had already been considered in the 
proposed finding (nature of an aboriginal tribe; whether more than one modern tribe may have 
evolved from an aboriginal tribe, etc.). No significant new evidence in regard to this early period 
was presented fc)J" th~~ final determination. 

From 1873 through 1973, the proposed finding concluded that consistent with precedent and 
using evidence acceptable to the Secretary, the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, which included the 
antecedents of both current petitioners, met criterion 83.7(c). Petitioner #35 accepts the 
hypothesis of a single historical tribe of which its antecedents were a part, but also in its response 
submitted evidence to strengthen the evidence for political influence and authority among its own 
subgroup. The evidence for the entire tribe is stronger for the final detennination, since much of 
the additional evidence, such as the response to the State's 1953 detribalization effort, showed 
cooperative undertakings between the Hoxie/Jackson lineage, now a part of petitioner # 113, and 
the direct antecedents of petitioner #35. 

From 1973 to the:lresent, EP has maintained a distinct organization. As with PEP, the major 
focus of the distin~t political organization has been rivalry with the other petitioner. From 1982 
to the present, EP has exercised effective control over and allocation of the majority of the 
Lantern Hill resources. 

Conclusion. See tile conc1usory section of this document. 
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83.7(d) A copy of the group's present governing document, 
including its membership criteria. In the absence 
of a written document, the petitioner must provide 
a statement describing in full its membership 
criteria and current governing procedures. 

The proposed finding stated: 

On April], 1996, the petitioner provided copies of the current revised and 
amended by-laws, which include a statement of membership qualifications and 
enrollment procedures. On February 3,1998, the petition stated that a new 
governing document was in the drafting process. However it has not been 
submitted to the BIA. Having a new governing document under preparation is not 
a disqualiJkation for 83.7(d). For the final determination, the petitioner should 
either recertify the 1996 document or provide a copy of the new constitution 
and/or by-laws certified by the governing body (EP PF 2000, 121). 

For the final dete:rmination, EP, petitioner #35, neither submitted an updated/revised governing 
document nor provided separate certification of the governing document submitted for use in the 
proposed finding. Petitioner # 113 submitted a letter dated August 19, 1998, from Mary E. 
Sebastian to "All Tribal Members" on Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut letterhead which 
stated that EP had "'drafted a new Constitution and By-laws" and that "[0 Jur legal counsel is now 
reviewing them bdore we distribute them for final Tribal ratification this fall" (PEP Response to 
Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 24). This letter contained proposed standards for membership 
eligibility.89 AdcHionally, it included procedures for "Clarifying/Approving Tribal Enrollment 

89TRlBAL E\'ROLLMENT 

We have bef:n asked to clarify how we handle enrollment in the Tribe. As we know, our By-laws 
define a member of the Tribe as someone of direct lineal decent [sic] of a full-blooded Pequot. 
The BlA is comfortable with this definition but wishes an explanation as to how we actually 
measure di 'ecl lineal decent [sic]. The Tribal Council, on the advice of our legal counsel, 
proposes tre following: 

(a) ()';erseers' Reports prior to 1935 identify and therefore define the indiyiduals who are members 
of the historic Eastern Pequot Tribe, Therefore, to qualify for membership in the contemporary 
[<lstern Pequot Tribe, an individual must be able to trace his/her IlIleage to one or more of these 
hi ;tonc tribal members, 

(b) N.) members of the Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut shall be a member of any other 
Federal, State or Canadian recognized tribe. Therefore, there shall be no dual enrollment. 
Further, while an individual is applying to the Eastern Pequot Tribe for membership, he/she will 
be permitted to maintain membership in another tribe, However, should the Eastern Pequot Tribe 
accept said application, the applicant MUST drop hislher enrollment in any other Federal State or 
CaIladian recognized tribe, 
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Procedure" (PEP R(~sponse to Comments 9/4/2001, Ex. 24)90. The BIA has no indication from 
petitioner #35 that thl;:se proposed procedures were adopted. 

The Towns asserted! that in the proposed rmding the BIA did not provide a summation of the 
petitioner's eligibility requirements in either the Summary under the Criteria for the proposed 
finding or in the Fedf~ral Register notice (Towns August 2001,314,372). The Summary and the 
Federal Register notice contained only the information that these documents had been submitted 
in accordance witt the requirements of criterion 83.7(d) (EP PF 2000,121; 65 FR 17298). 
However, the charts for criterion 83.7(d) that accompanied the proposed finding contained the 
information on the current eligibility requirements (EP PF Chart 83.7(d), 2). Additionally, the 
Towns were furnished with a copy of the draft technical report on EP prepared by a BIA staff 
member, of which "'Section VIII, #35 EASTERN PEQUOT GOVERNING DOCUMENTS, 
ENROLLMENT ORDINANCES, AND MEMBERSHIP LISTS," occupied pages 111-131, and 
the specific subsection "B. Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut Enrollment Provisions, 1973-
Present" comprised pages 115-120, with a summary of the current requirements on pages 119-
120. Thus, the Tc)'.\'ns had the information itself and the BIA's analysis of it. 

The information provided in the draft technical report on petitioner #35 was as follows: 

2. Membership Provisions of Prior Governing Documents. #35. 

a. 1976 By:lll:ws. The by-laws adopted by the Eastern Pequot Indians of 
Connecticut in January or February, 1976 (Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut 
By-laws 1 S 76) contained the following provisions: 

90 

MJ;~llBERSHIP An authentic descendant of the Eastern Pequot Tribe of 
Ind: ans is a person who can prove through a birth certificate or other legal 
record that he or she is directly related to an Indian who is geneologically 
[sic] recorded as an Eastern Pequot Indian. An authentic descendant of 
Eastern Pequot Tribe of Indians contributing annually at least five dollars a 
year may become a member upon the approval of the Tribal Council. 

c. The Tribal Membership Committee comprising five Tribal elders as appointed by the 
Tri );11 Council shall make enrollment decisions. In the case of a dispute 
bet" een the committee and the applicant, an appeal may be filed with the Tribal 
Co JI1cil. The decision of the Tribal Council shall then be final. 

d. I f an adult member of the Eastern Pequot Tribe is removed from the membership roll 
at hi ~Iher request or by way of action by the Tribal Council, said member may 
not apply for reinstatement for a period of five years. 

e. T1w five-year prohibition defined in part (d) above shall not apply to any minor member 
wi, J was removed or refused at the behest of his/her parent or guardian. Said 
miJlor may apply for membership in the Tribe upon hislher 18 th birthday. 
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TRJBAL MEMBERSHIP The Tribal Membership shall consist of the 
following persons: members who are authentic descendant [sic] of the 
Easltern Pequot Tribe and over (18) years of age. 

A~.sOCIATES MEMBERS [sic] An associate member is a spouse of an 
authentic descendant of the Eastern Pequot Indians. He or she shall have 
the full right to participate in all the meetings of the Tribe but without the 
right Ito vote. 

b. 1988 f1[!1e~ndments. These amendments made no changes in the above 
membership provisions. 

c. 1995 Amendments. The version of the "By-Laws of the Eastern Pequot 
Nation" he.nd-dated 1995 and received by the BIA on April 3, 1996,91 modified the 
membership provisions to read: 

3. TRIBAL MEMBERSHIP All persons who can document through a 
birdl certificate or other legal record that he or she is a direct lineal 
descendant of a member of the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe are eligible 
for membership in the Eastern Pequot Tribe as a full citizen of the Eastern 
Pequot Nation. The tribal membership shall consist of all persons who 
have provided to the Tribal Council documentation or other ~vidence 
establishing that they are eligible for tribal membership and full citizenship 
in the Eastern Pequot Nation. 

The provision concerning associate members remained unchanged. 

3. Currem Enrollment Provisions. #35. The BIA has not received copies of any 
enrollment ordinances formally adopted by #35 that would supplement the above 
provisions in the by-laws. 

The EP pelition narrative states that: 

"All of the current membership is traceable to the: 

1870 census: "Indians in North Stonington." 
1900 census: "Indian Population" of "North Stonington Town" 
1910 census: "special Federal census of the Indian 
population, as 'Pequot'" 

91 Another version of this document, with different formatting but identical content, was included as an 
attachment to the co\er letter on the petitioner'S May 2, 1995, Response. 
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Indians of the "Indian Reservation: in North 
Stonington town (#35 Pet. Narr. 7/1998, 3) 

There is no ,explanation of why these omit 1880 census and 1920 census.92 The 
petition nan'ative states that the above qualifications are "specified in the tribe's 
membership rules" (#35 Pet. Narr. 7/1998, 166). Petitioner #35 has not submitted 
any 'membe:rship rules' which contain these provisions (EP Draft TR 2000, 119-
120). 

The proposed finding found that EP met criterion 83.7(d). As of the issuance of the proposed 
finding, all of the petitioner's membership (100%) met the membership requirements as 
referenced in the above documents. 

For the final determination, the petitioner submitted additional enrollment materials (EP 
Comments 2001, Itlem G). These were certified by a signed resolution of the Tribal Council of 
the Eastern PeqU(L Indians of Connecticut dated July 17, 2001 (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Item G). 
They included a ten-page Tribal Enrollment Ordinance [no number, although containing a blank 
space for a number in the heading] certified as having been adopted at a council meeting held 
April 14, 1999 (7.n favor, 0 opposed, 2 absent, and 0 abstentions), the certification of adoption 
signed by Mary S(:bastian, Chairperson, and Dawn Rocha. The basic eligibility requirements are 
as follow: 

Section 2. ])ersons Entitled to Membership 

2..01 An individual is eligible for membership in the Tribe, if that 
individual: 

(a) Provides documentation, through birth certificate(s) or other 
legal records, that he/she is a direct lineal descendant of a member 
of the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe as defined below: 

(1) a member of the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe is 
any person whose name appeared on one or more of the 
Indians of North Stonington overseer's reports to the State 
of Connecticut dated 1935 or earlier; or 

(2) a person who is designated as an Eastern Pequot 
Indian in North Stonington on the 1870. 1900 or 
1910 census; and 

921n the Jighl a f the discussion of census records above. 1880 and 1920 may have been omitted because 
they did not identify the reservation residents as an Indian group. Submissions by #35 to the BIA do not make this 
explanation. 
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(b) Is not currently enrolled in any other state or federally 
recognized Indian Tribe, band, or group (EP Comments 8/2/2001, 

Item G, Triba.l Enrollment Ordinance 4114/1999, 1). 

The remainder of the content of the ordinance is procedural, including an appeals procedure (EP 
Response 2001, It<!Jm G, Tribal Enrollment Ordinance 411411999, 2-3) and detailed provisions for 
disenrollment (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Item G, Tribal Enrollment Ordinance 411411999,3-5). It 
also provides for voluntary relinquishment of membership (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Item G, 
Tribal Enrollment Ordinance 4114/1999,5). Section 11 provides that, "Nothing in this Ordinance 
shall modify or invalidate enrollment decisions made or approved by the Tribal Councilor Tribal 
Geneologist [sic] of the Tribe prior to the effective date of this Ordinance" (EP Comments 
8/212001, Item G, Tribal Enrollment Ordinance 411411999, 10). 

Conclusion. The: peltitioner has submitted a copy of its governing document, which includes a 
description of its membership eligibility. The conclusion of the proposed finding that the 
petitioner meets criterion 83.7(d) is affirmed. 

See also the conchsory section of this document. 

83.7(e) The petitioner's membership consists of individuals 
who descend from a historical Indian tribe or from 
historical Indian tribes which combined and 
functioned as a single autonomous political entity. 

Descent/rom the Historical Tribe. The proposed finding noted that: 

In the case of the two Eastern Pequot petitions, ... Eastern Pequot Indians of 
Connecticut #35 and Paucatuck Eastern Pequot Indians #113, much controversy 
has arisen ITl regard to the genealogical claims of certain key ancestors. Since 
petitioner Ii 113 has specifically challenged the accuracy of the above official 
records in ~egard to petitioner #35, the BIA was required to go behind the lists of 
the late 191h and early 20th century to examine the underlying documentation in 
detail. Additionally, the third parties have challenged the existence of descent 
from the h storic tribe for both petitioners (Lynch 2998a, Lynch 1998b, Lynch 
1999) (EP PF 2000,121-122). 

After eva I uation ,11d analysis of the evidence, the proposed finding concl uded that: 

Extensivesenealogical material submitted by the petitioner, by petitioner # 113, 
and by the third parties indicates that the petitioner's current members are 
descendarrs of Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian and of Laura (F agins) Watson. As 
those incli\ iduals were, during their lives, members of the Eastern Pequot tribe as 
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ascertained. by evidence acceptable to the Secretary, the descendants of these 
individuals, as well as the descendants of any descendants of Abby (Fagins) 
Randall now included on the petitioner's membership list, descend from the 
historical tJihe. 

The lines of descent for individual families have been venfied through Federal 
census records from 1850 through 1920; public vital records of births, marriages, 
and deaths: .. and to a lesser extent through church records of baptisms, marriages, 
and burials, as well as through use of state [sic] records concerning the Lantern 
Hill reservation. These are the same types of records which have been used to 
verify descent for prior Federal acknowledgment decisions. 

Therefore, th(! petitioner meets criterion 83.7(e) (EP PF 2000, 133). 

Position of PEP. ~~he Comments from PEP, petitioner #113, continue to challenge the descent of 
the EP BrushelllSebastian lineage from the historical Eastern Pequot tribe, reiterating PEP's prior 
assertion that Tamar Brushell was either non-Indian or non-Eastern Pequot. PEP also asserts that, 
"there was only one marriage between a Sebastian descendant and a member of the historical 
Eastern Pequot Indian Tribe, and that was in the late 1800s; that is, Mary Eliza Watson (an 
Eastern Pequot Indian) married Calvin Sebastian" (Austin II 8/2/2001, 15; PEP Response 
8/2/2001). 

Position of the St~te of Connecticut. The State did not directly address the issue of descent from 
the historical tribe in its Comments (State of Connecticut August 2001). 

The State submitt~:cl an affidavit, dated July 27, 2001, from Edward A. Danielczuk (State of 
Connecticut Augu:,t 2001, Ex. 60). The document is retrospective rather than being contemporary 
evidence. In it, Danielczuk states that in the 1960's and early 1970's, he worked for the 
Connecticut WelfHre Department as a superVisor in the Resource Department, with one of his 
responsibilities being "to oversee the State's four Indian Reservations" (Danielczuk 7/27/2001, 

1). Danielczuk made the following points: 

6. The State's main function with respect to the four Indian reservations and 
those residing thereon was to oversee the reservations, to provide the Indians 
living there \\'ith assistance and ensure that the reservations were preserved for and 
used by only qualifying Indians who could demonstrate at least one-eighth (l/8) 
Indian blood of the tribe for which the reservation was maintained. 

7. When determining whether a person was qualified Indian under this 
requirement, we used a genealogical chart maintained by our office. We did not 
require or :Tlake any investigation into whether the person maintained any sort of 
social or pl)litical relationship with the other Indians but rather based our 
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detennination solely on the basis of the office's genealogical chart (Danielczuk 
7/27/2001,2). 

Position of the Towns. The Towns' Comments continue to challenge the petitioner's descent 
from the historica.l Eastern Pequot tribe within the meaning of the 25 CFR Part 83 regulations in 
detail (Towns August 2001,286-287,308-313). The Towns would establish a requirement that 
petitioners show individual genealogical descent from a historical tribe as it existed at the time of 
first sustained contact with non-Indians for petitioners #35 and #113 (Lynch 1998a, 3; Towns 
August 2001,286-287,308-310). 

The Towns also ass(!rt that to meet the standard of descent from a historical tribe under 25 CFR 
Part 83, current members must descend through individuals who themselves "maintained 
consistent 'tribal relations.' It is not enough for those individuals to have made momentary or 
periodic appeararc:es on the reservation or as part of the tribal community" (Towns August 2001, 
311; see also TOV,'1U August 2001, 366). 

The Towns also stat'e that the, "BIA must apply the 'one family rule.' This principle is based on 
the fundamental concept that a 'tribe,' as a political and social entity, cannot be derived from only 
one family. That problem exists clearly here for the Eastern Pequot group, as it depends for 93 
percent of its mernb'~rship exclusively on the Brushelllink" (Towns August 2001, 313). 

Analysis of Comments and Responses. Both the Fagins/Watson and the Brushell/Sebastian lines 
are antecedent to EP, petitioner #35 - PEP's argument in regard to the Watson/Sebastian marriage 
rests only upon t~.e its hypothesis that the Sebastian family did not descend from the historical 
Eastern Pequot tr!be. The proposed finding concluded that the Sebastian family does descend 
from the historic21 Eastern Pequot tribe, for reasons explained in the handling of the evidence 
there (EP PF 200!), Criterion 8.7(e); see also accompanying chart for criterion 83.7(e». PEP has 
not submitted any new evidence on this matter. The extensive report (Austin 18/2/2001; PEP 
Comments 8/2/2(101) merely restated PEP's prior arguments, while McMullen rejects the validity 
of the "suggested indusion of Tamer Brushel Sebastian on the 1873 petition" (McMullen 
9/4/2001,8; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The Danielczuk statements presented by the State are in accordance with the conclusions reached 
by the proposed findings in regard to EP and PEP, so have not been further analyzed in this 
section. 

The State's argument that, H[i]t follows from the requirements of substantially continuous 
community and political authority that even petitioners with common tribal ancestry, 'but whose 
families have not been associated with the tribe or each other for many generations' are ineligible 
for acknowledgment. 59 Fed. Reg. 9282 (stated in the context of prior Federal acknowledgment, 
but applicable with I~ven greater force here)" (Stale of Connecticut August 2001, 9) was aimed not 
at the issue of de~:c:ent. as such, but rather at the nature of the petitioning group under criterion 
83.7(b). 
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The BIA used the Towns' submissions for the proposed fmding (Lynch 1998, Lynch 1998 Ex.; 
Lynch 1998a, Lynch 1999). The Towns submitted additional material after April 5, 1999, 
received by the BIA between April 19, 1999, and August 2, 1999, which was held by the BIA and 
which has considen~d for the final determinations.93 

The Towns are aware (Towns August 2001,315) that prior Federal acknowledgment 
determinations have used 19th and early 20th century rolls as a basis for establishing descent from 
a historical tribe lndc:r 25 CFR Part 83, rather than attempting to trace lineages from the date of 
first sustained contact. The BIA previously responded to the Towns' argument in the proposed 
finding (EP PF 2(1)0, 119). 

It has never been z, re:quirement or standard for showing descent under criterion 83.7(e) that 
intervening generations of ancestors have maintained tribal relations. The regulations are not 
applied in the manner advocated by the Towns. Criterion 83.7(e) looks at descent from a strictly 
genealogical point of view. Maintenance of tribal relations is an issue that arises under criteria 
83.7(b) and 83.7(c), The Towns' interpretation (Towns August 2001,311-312,321,326) 
conflates the two. This aspect of the Towns' argument was already addressed in the proposed 
finding (EP PF 2(})O, 119). 

The issue regarding "one family" in GHP was not the proportion of the membership of a tribe 
descending through a single ancestor, but whether it is acceptable for the total membership of a 
tribe to trace descent through a single ancestor. The Towns misstate a policy set forth in previous 
Department decisions (GHP PF, GHP FD, and Munsee-Thames). The Departmental policy is that 
"ancestry from a single Indian individual does not meet the requirement of criterion 83. 7( e) 
because the secticl:1 specifically requires descent from a historical Indian tribe. The plain 
language of the n!gulation requires tribal descent, not merely Indian descent" (Deer to Miller and 
F aleomavaega 10/18/1995). This principle is not violated by the conclusion of the proposed 
finding in regard t) EP, as it has at least three Eastern Pequot ancestral lines that trace to the 
historical 19th century Eastern Pequot tribe. 

Apparently also in regard to the "one family rule" raised by the Towns, petitioner # 113 stated: 

... that the' addition of Abby Fagins Randall and Laura Fagins Watson as 
ancestors clf Petitioner #35 postdates the publication of the negative Proposed 
Finding (June 1995) for the Golden Hill Paugussett, which made obvious the fact 
that a tribe could not consist solely of the descendants of a single individual 
(McMullen 9/4/200 I, 14; PEP Response to Comments 9/4/2001). 

The BIA presume:; that the subsequent reference to "Laura Watson Randall" (McMullen 
9/4/2001, 15n5; P:::P Response to Comments 9/4/2001) was intended as a reference to Laura 

93 See listing above in the Administrative Chronology section of this final determination, 
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(Fagins) Watson. :Pc~titioner #113 compared the "Sebastian roll of 1975" and a 1991 EP 
membership list t:> the 1996 and 2001 EP membership lists (McMullen 9/4/2001, 15n5; PEP 
Response to Commc:~nts 9/4/2001). 94 For further discussion of the circwnstances under which 
this family line was included in EP enrollment, see under criterion 83.7(b). 

Handling of the Evidence. PEP accepts the validity of the 19th century petitions and overseers' 
reports as showing Eastern Pequot membership for the ancestors of its own members, but does 
not accept the validity of the same reports as showing Eastern Pequot membership for EP 
ancestors (Austin II:12, II:40; PEP Comments 8/2/2001). This is the case even when the names 
of the ancestors of both petitioners appear in the same docwnent. BlA does not accept this 
methodologicallnproach as valid. As the proposed findings indicated, the evidentiary material 
for the Eastern Pe:quot ancestry of both petitioners is essentially equivalent.95 

Prior to issuance .)flthe proposed findings, the third parties challenged the existence of descent 
from the historic:ribe for both petitioners (Lynch 1998a, Lynch 1998b, Lynch 1999). The 

94For purp,)ses of comparison, the BIA notes that #113's membership lists for many years excluded the 
Hoxie/Jackson descendlants (see PEP PF 2000, 126-127). 

95 As a technical correction, in regard to the June 27, 1873, document, the proposed finding read as foHows: 

... another document, dated June 27, 1873, "A list of the names of those belonging to the Pequot 
tribe of Inclians of North Stonington. On file in Superior Court Records, New London County, 
located in lhe State Library, Hartford" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports) ... contained the following 
names: 

Fran(;is _. Watson, Mary C. Watson [?], Edgar Ross, Mary A. Potter, Harriet 
Merriman, Jesse I. [L.] Potter, Amman Potter, Wm. Merriman, John Brushel, 
C~lvin Nedson, Lucy [?urey E., Percy?] Williams, Harriet Williams, Wm 
Williams, Emily Brushel, John Randall, Charity Fagins, Hannah Brushel, 
JC1seph Nedson, Caroline Nedson, Fanny Sherley, Lucy George, Lucy A. 
George, Harriet Simon, Eunice Gardner, Marlboro Gardner, Dwight Gardner, 
Nartin Nedson, Lucy Hill, Thomas S. Skesux, [Gusey?] Skesux. "These are the 
name:s and there is others may the Lord have mercy and healp us and give for 
Jesus, Sake" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports; Lynch 1998a 5:83-84). 

This second document from the summer of 1873 included representatives of both the Brushell and 
the Gardner families. as well as several collateral relatives of Calvin Williams (EP PF 2000. (07). 

A better copy of this document submitted in the petitioner's response (EP Comments 8/2:200 I, Items ACDE) 
allows transcriptlOn of the names as follows: "Frances P. Watson, Mary E. Watson, Edgar Watson [not Ross, with 
an illegible two-word name or remark beginning with B next to it], Emily Ross, Mary A. Potter, Harriett E. 
Merriman, Jesse L. Poner, Ammon Potter, Wm. Merriman, John Brushel, Calvin Nedson, Mercy E. Williams, 
Harriett Williams, Wm. Williams, Emely Brushel, Hannah Brushiel, Joseph Nedson, Caroline Nedson, Fanny 
Sherley, Lucy George, Lucy A. George, Harriett Simon, Emer [?, with something written above the name] Gardner, 
Malbrow Gardm:r. Dwight Gardner, Martin Nedson, Lucy Hill. Thomas S. Skesux, Gracy Skesux." The following 
page. before the concluding sentence, contained the names of John Randall and Charity Fagain (EP Comments 
8 '22001, Items AC DE). 
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Towns' Comments continue to repudiate the validity of the overseers' lists and accounts compiled 
under the supervision of the State and of the New London County Superior Count (Towns 2001, 
124,130,139-140,316-317,321),96 of the 19th century tribal census records compiled by the 
overseers (Towns 2001,310-311), of the Federal census records including the special Indian 
Population Schedules of 1900 and 1910 (Towns August 2001,325), and of petitions submitted to 
the State and to th~ New London County Superior Court (TownsAugust 2001, 117-118, 147), as 
well as of 20th century membership lists accepted by the New London County Superior Court and 
by the Connecticut State Park and Forest Commission (Towns August 2001, 317)97 as being 
acceptable docum~lI1tation for showing a connection between the petitioner's current members, 
their 19th century HIlcestors, and the historical Eastern Pequot Tribe. The final determination 
affirms the conclusion of the proposed finding that such documents do constitute evidence 
acceptable to the Secretary under 25 CFR Part 83 (EP PF 2000, 7, 62, 121). 

The Towns assert at length that the reliance upon the overseers' reports in the proposed findings 
was inappropriat~: (Ti~wns August 2001, 121, 124,286-287,321) and that previous cases had not 
relied upon them to ,m equivalent degree. In the evaluation of any petition for federal 
acknowledgment, the handling of the evidence is to a great extent dependent upon what evidence 
is available. More overseers' reports were available for the historical Eastern Pequot tribe than 
existed for other petitioners (some successful petitioners had none at all, never having had 
overseers). Overseers' reports have also been utilized heavily in the proposed findings on 
petitioners #69A and #69B, The Nipmuc Nation and the Chaubunagungamaug Band ofNipmuc 
Indians, because such documents were in the record. The regulations state explicitly that the 
evaluation will take historical circumstances into account. The nature of the available evidence is 
one of those circulTlstances. 

It should also be not~:d that the above evidence was not used instead of "certified vital documents 
such as birth, marTiage, and death records" (Towns August 2001, 317) but in addition to them, as 
noted in the proposed finding (EP PF 2000, 133). The evidence for Tamar (Brushell) Sebastian 
and Laura (Fagins) Watson was outlined both in the Summary under the Criteria for the proposed 
finding (EP PF 2000, 125-129) and in the accompanying charts. The Towns have not presented 
any new evidence pertaining to these lines that documents that they were not of Eastern Pequot 
ancestry (Siefer Report May 1999,2-3; "Discussion ofthe Brushel Surname," 3-5; Siefer Report 
May 1999,5-9, "[hscussion of Tamer Sebastian nee Brushell"; followed by a discussion of each 
of her children, 8-16; Towns August 2001,327-340 for BrushelllSebastian; Towns August 2001, 
340-343 for Laur:; (Fagins) Watson; see also Siefer Report May 1999, 17-18, under topic, 

9U"The overseers' reports and lists in this case did not list 'descendants,' were not based on descendancy. 
and were never inter.ded to be inclusive of 'tribal membership.' Rather, they were lists of welfare recipients whose 
composition was influenced in large part at any time by the desire of town governments to minimize its 
responsibility for tlw poor" (Towns August 2001,317). 

97"Those in the :20'h century that claimed to be a genealogical record only established linkage to the 
pre\'ious unreliable links and records" (Towlls August 2001,317). 
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"Discussion of the Watson Surname"; Lynch Report June 1999,29-30, "Discussion of Laura 
FaginsJWatson.,).911 In regard to the Brushell/Sebastian lineage, the petitioner responded to third 
party comments (EP' Response to Comments 9/4/2001; Grant-Costa and Glaza 2-6, Ex. 1, Ex. 2). 

The Towns' desire to require documentation equivalent to the detribalization lists used in the 
Narragansett, Mohegan, and Gay Head determinations (Towns August 2001, 319-324) is 
impracticable, sinc:e in this case the historical Eastern Pequot tribe was never detribalized and the 
reservation land was never allotted to individual families. 

The Towns' COITUTlents pose numerous rhetorical questions, as, for example: "Why was there no 
Brushel signatory on the May 1788 petition to the Connecticut General Assembly if the family 
name was 'old core proprietary' as BIA maintained? How does BIA explain Lucy Brushel as 
being a Mohegan tribal member in 1804? Were the Brushels 'old core proprietary' Mohegan as 
well?" (Towns 2['01, 331).99 While the Mohegan aspect ofthis passage is basically irrelevant, it 
may be briefly explained by saying that the Brushell family name entered the Mohegan tribe 
through a Brushell/Cooper marriage that took place at Brothertown,IOO when the wife, carrying 

98Lynch's argumentation that Albert Watson was Narragansett rather than Pequot (Lynch Report June 
1999,29), is irrelevant, since the petitioner's current members do not claim EP descent through him but rather 
through his wife, the Eastern Pequot Laura Fagins. Similarly, the Towns' question: "But, if Calvin Williams was an 
Eastern Pequot, then why do none of the petitioner's current membership trace their Indian descent from him?" 
(Towns August 200[" 338) is best answered by saying that the man has no known living descendants. Of his two 
children by Eunice Wheeler (through whom they would also have the option of tracing EP ancestry, see Williams 
Notebook Typescri)tS c. 1941), one died childless; his daughter was listed with a grandchild in her household in the 
1910 Federal census (NARA T-624, Roll 142, ED 525, Sheet 9A, # [illegible], 1910 Census, North Stonington, CT. 
#220/246: Congdon., Irving, Head, m, illegible, Wd, CT/CT/CT; Simmons, Elizabeth A., servant. f, Mu. 48, Wd, 
borne 2/2 living, R1/CT/CT; Simmons, Edna, Granddaughter. f, Mu, 3, NYINYINY; #113 Pet. 1996, GEN DOCS 
I), but there is no subsequent mention of this child in the records. The grandchild was not in the Congdon/Simmons 
household in the 1920 census (NARA T-625, Roll 196. ED 269, Sheet II, 1920 Census, North Stonington. CT, 
#273/290: Congdon, Irving. head. m, In, 54, Wd, RI/CT/CT; Simmons. Elizabeth, housekeeper, f. In, 59, Wd, 
RI/CTlMaine; Congdon, Osmar, Brother, m, In, 58, Wd, RI/CTICT). 

99The Towns also state that, "there were known Brushell families among both the Mohegan and 
Narragansett during this period •.... " (Towns August 200],327; see also Austin II: 13ff; PEP Comments 8/2/200 I). 
This is not strictly correct. There were known Brushell families among the Mohegan after 1800, There were 
Brushell families ic.entified as Indian in the Rhode Island census records prior to 1800, but the surname does not 
appear on any lists of Narragansett Indians in the BIA's records. 

IUoThe To.\ ns ha\'e reiterated their previous assertion that the Eastern Pequot tribe ceased to exist as a 
result ofemigratiolllO Brothertown (To\l'l1s Augus/JOOI. 99-100,135; see also 120). This issue \\as considered in 
the proposed flndlrg (EP PF 2000.45). The BIA did not deny the Towns' assertion that some Eastern Pequob 
removed to Brothe:1own. That is a historical fact. The BIA did not and does not agree with the Towns' assertion 
that, "it appears th 2 t most of the Eastern Pequot historic tribe was no longer in Connecticut and no longer part of an 
Eastern Pequot cOr.1lTIunity" as of 1850 (Towns Augusl 200[, 135). This is particularly the case because the third 
parties rely entirel) upon the appearance of certain surnames in both the 18th century Eastern Pequot tribe and 
subsequently at Brothertown, rather than on a genealogical study of the specific families bearing those surnames. 

Oral testinor.y given at the 1977 CIAC hearing does not represent primary evidence pertaining to events in 
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her new surname and bringing children, returned to Connecticut - a sequence of events explained 
in the proposed finding (EP PF 2000, 124). The BlA did not state in the proposed finding that the 
Brushell family name was "old core proprietary," on the Lantern Hill reservation, but concluded 
that Moses Brushell, who bore that surname, must have descended from a historical Eastern 
Pequot proprietary family in order to have rights to collect rent from the lease of a field on the 
Lantern Hill reservation (EP PF 2000, 126).101 The Towns disagree with this conclusion (Towns 
August 2001, 328) 

Evidence in Regard to Abby (Fagins) Randall. The EP PF stated: 

The FaginslRandall Family. The data pertaining to Abby (Fagins) Randall has not 
been detail~d on the charts, since the 1998 membership lists did not indicate which 
of the petitioner's members were her descendants. For the data in detail, see the 
year-by-yc!H llistings on the overseer's reports, continuing to the 1920's for her 
sons John and! Alexander Randall, and the genealogical data in the background 
genealoginl file and draft technical report compiled by the BIA. For the final 
determinat :on, if the petitioner provides a membership list including those persons 
who trace descent through her, the documentation will be incorporated into the 
summary under the criteria (EP PF 129-130). 

The Towns misint;::rpret the above passage by saying that, "the BAR did not have information 
that would allow a quantification of this family complex at the time of the proposed finding" 
(Towns August 2001,342; citing "BIA, Summary Under the Criteria, EP, pp. 129-l32-33"). The 
issue was not quantification, but the identification of who descended from this individual. For the 
Final Determination, EP, petitioner #35 submitted a membership list which included members 
who were identifit:c\ as descendants of this family line. The evidence which indicates its 
connection to the hilstorical Eastern Pequot tribe is as follows. 

According to her death record (see below), Abby (Fag ins) Randall 102 died October 23, 1902, at 
age 79. According to her obituary (see below), she was born on March 23, 1823, on the Eastern 
Pequot Reservation in North Stonington, Connecticut, and entered domestic service at age nine, 

1776 (Towns August 2001, 100). The basic standards of genealogical, historical, and anthropological research 
methodology as cOll:;istently applied by the BIA do not place it in that category. 

IOIThe To'.'> ns challenge to the appearance of "new" surnames such as Brushell and Fagins in EP records is 
without merit. as ewry child born has a maternal as well as a paternal lineage and it was customary in the 18'h and 
19'h centuries for women who married to take the surname of the husband. 

I02See discllssion in Lynch Report June 1999, 10,21-23,30-32. Lynch's basic assertions are that any 
identifications of a flmi Iy as "Black" in census and vital records indicate that it was not Indian, and that residence 
of a family off the reservation indicates that it did not maintain tribal relations. The BlA does not accept either of 
these propositions. t\Jthougb a designation as "Black" does not establish Indian ancestry, it does not preclude it. 
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which would have be:en about the year 1832.103 She was first named in the documentation 
submitted for this, petition on the 1850 census of North Stonington, Connecticut, age 27, f, B, in 
the household of Mary Hewitt, age 51, white (NARA M-432, household #1711188). This was the 
family named as her employer in her obituary. On November 27, 1851, she married John Jack 
Randall. 104 The OV(~rseer's reports occasionally carried her as "Abby John Jack," her husband, 
John 1. Randall, being a son of Jack Randall. The Lynch Report's speculation that she might have 
had a prior mama.s'e (Lynch Report June 1999,30) is unfounded -- it doesn't track the variations 
of her husband's name. 105 

On September 9, 1857, Isaac W. Miner, as overseer, compiled the first census of the tribe that is 
found in the material submitted to the BIA. He headed it: "The following names are the present 
members of the Pequot Tribe in North Stonington and are of said tribe so far as I have been 
ascertaining to the b($t of my knowledge." (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). The names that he 
listed included, "Abby Fagins & two children" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). She continued to be 
carried on the August 28, 1858, overseer's report as Abby Fagans (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports), 

Her marital fami]" was listed on the 1860 Federal census: John Randall, 27, m, B, $200, b. CT, 
Laborer; Abbie, :il, f, M; John Jr., 6', m, B; Joseph R., 6, m, B; Florence N., 2, f, B; Alexander, 1, 
m, B (NARA M-t 53, 1870 U.S. Census, North Stonington, New London County, Connecticut, 
246 #264/290). 

I03The Eastern Pequot overseer's report covering the period from June 22, 183 I, to June 19, 1832, headed: 
"Pequot Indians To Silas Chesebrough" did not name the child Abby Fagins, but did name people with the Fagins 
surname: "Tyre, Shllntaup, Polly Shelly, Isaac Fagins, Cyrus Shelly, Else Ned, Thos. Ned, Tyre Ned. Tyre Nedson, 
Richd Ned, Prude Fagins. S. Shuntauk, Nancy Pawheag, R Ned. Prude Pauheag, Polly Ned. Prude Fagins. Esther 
Waughs while sick. Betsey Wheeler for care ofFilena, E. Unding[?]" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

The same was true for the report covering the period from June 20, I 832, through April I. I 833. "Indians 
ofN Stonington in ... with Silas Chesebrough. P. Fagins, Tyre Ned, Cyrus Shelly, Polly Shelly, Saml Shantauk, 
repairing Betsey Ty:,ins house, Elsa Ned, Sary Pomp, grave clothes and coffin for Isaac Fagins, Prude Fagins, 
Margaret Fagins, HHnnah Shelly, Peggy Fagins, Nancy Pauheag, Prude Pauheag, Else Ned, Polly Ned, Samuel 
Shentauk, Rich Ned, Sary Pompus [sic], Nancy Ned, 1833 Jany 20, 4 Y:z pork & peck potatoes for Moses Brushels 
wife, 1833 March 4. grave clothes for Betsey Hill, Polly Shelly, Hannah Shelly, Margaret Fagins, Peggy Fagins, 
Nancy Ned, my services for two years ending April I 1834. Due Pequot Indians Nov. 19 1833,6.97" (#35 Pet. 
Overseers Reports; .~ 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS Doc. 41). 

I04Novemter :27. 1851, Marriage, John Randall to Abby Phagins. North Stonington, CT. Lynch recorded 
this marri<Jge as N()':ember 7.7. 1857 [sic J. North Stonington Vital Records 1758-1864:256. "This certifies that I 
have this day umted in marriage John Randall and Abby Fagins (col. Persons) both ofJ\orth Stonington ... " 
(Lynch 199~L 5:66): 11/2711851 Marriage record John Randall to Abby Phagins (Col'd persons) by M.t\:. Morris. 
North Stonington, CT (#35 EP Photocopy 1997; another photocopy EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 6. Randall 
Folder). 

I05Lynch's spl~culations on the relevance of a possible "Jack" family ancestry for her are thus unfounded. 
Lynch also asked 'what happened" to the five children of "Abby John Jack" on the 1854/55 EP Overseer's Report. 
They are the Rand.!.1 family. 
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She appeared on one version of the 1861 overseer's report as Abby Fagins (#35 Pet. Overseers 
Reports) and on a. s'ec;ond 1861 list as "Abby J Jack 5 Children" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). An 
undated list, possibly 1862 or 1863, had "Aby jack or Fagins 4 children" (#35 Pet. Overseers 
Reports). The 1864 overseer's report, list of names, Pequot Tribe of Indians of North Stonington, 
included "Abby Fagans" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports), while the 1865 list of names from Isaac 
Miner's overseer's report, North Stonington Superior Court Records, State Library, Hartford, 
Connecticut, "Names of the Pequot Tribe oflndians of North Stonington as far as I can 
ascertain," showed "Abby Fagans or Randall 5 Children" (#35 Pet. Overseers Reports). 

The 1870 Federal :::<ensus showed the family in North Stonington: Randall, John, 48, m, B, 
occupation "none," $500 personal property, b. CT; Abby, 43, f, M, keeping house, b. CT; John, 
17, m, M; Joseph, 16, m, M; Florence, 12, f, M; Alexander, 9, m, M (1870 U.S. Census, North 
Stonington, New London Co., CT, 37, #315/3345). 

On June 26, 1873, th~~ "members of the Pequot tribe oflndians of North Stonington" remonstrated 
against the sale oflands and requested removal of Leonard C. Williams as overseer (Lynch 1998, 
5:81-82; Grabows:<i 1996, 114). The names of signers on the photocopy submitted to the BIA for 
the proposed findi 19 (#35 Pet. Petitions) were nearly illegible. Combining the transcriptions in 
petition #35, petition #113, and by the BIA researchers, comparing the old copy to the new one 
submitted in 200 1, the names now appear to be: 

Calvin Wilhams, Amanda Williams, E. Cottrell, Rachel M. Jackson, Fanny J, 
Irean J, Phl!be J, Lucy A J, Wm. H J, Jane[y?] M J, Leanard Brown[e?], Tamar S 
and HTR nin cheldren [takes up two lines], James M Watson, Sarah J Watson; 
[next page: Mercy Williams her x mark, [illegible] H x, [illegible] x, George W 
Hill x, [illegihle]san Randall, A. B. RAndle ("Errata and Addendum for Comments 
on the PF 'Being an Indian in Connecticut' submitted August 2,2001 "; EP 
Response to Comments 9/4/2001, Item 3; #35 Pet. Petitions; Lynch 1998.5:81-82; 
Grabowski 1996, 114). 

The name of Abby Randall, with those of three of her children, was much more legible on the 
March 31, 1874, "Remonstrance to Superior Court, New London, against sale of land" which 
stated: "We the ulllde:rsigned most respectfully state that we are members of and belong to the 
Pequot tribe oflnclians of North Stonington" and again requested the removal of Leonard O. 
Williams as overseer: Abby Randall, Florance Randall, Ellice Randall, John Randall, Jr. (#35 
Pet. Petitions; Lynch 1998, 5 :82-83). 

For the report covering the period from August 2,1876 to April 1,1877. C. P. Chipman as 
Overseer for the j\ onh Stonington Tribe of Pequot Indians, ". " report makes that the following 
is a list or scheduk of the members of said Tribe, as nearly as can be ascertained, viz: . .. Abby 
Randall & two Children 3 ... " (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, Folder 9). 
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On the 1880 census, now widowed, she appeared as the head of a household in North Stonington 
that included both her children and boarders: Randall, Abbie J., I, f, 55, housekeeping, b. CT, 
parents b. CT; Randall, Elexander, I, m, 21, son, works on fann, b. CT, parents b. CT; Swan, 
Brueston, B, m, 86, boarder, b. CT, parents b. CT (NARA T-9, Roll 109, 1880 U.S. Census, 
North Stonington, Ne:w London Co., CT, p. 767B, #32/33). The following family was sharing the 
same dwelling, but were not part of her immediate household: #32/34: Robinson, Palmer, B, m, 
42, fanning, b. RI, parents b. RI; Mary E., B, f, 38, wife, b. RI, father b. Unk, mother b. RI; 
William, B, m, 13, JIlephew, b. RI, parents b. RI. 

She signed the DeG(~rnber 8, 1883 petition, "To the Hon John D. Park Chief Justice of the 
Supreme and Superior Courts of Connecticut. We the undersigned inhabitants of and belonging to 
the Pequot Tribe of IJildians in the Town of North Stonington would respectfully represent to your 
honor that Mr. Chipman our fonner overseer being dead We would request your honor to appoint 
Charles H. Brown of North Stonington for overseer .... " as Mrs. Abby X Randall (#35 Pet. 
Petitions; Lynch 1998,5:91-92). 

Between 1884 and 1891, there is data concerning a series of payments made to her for various 
services, by the N0l1h Stonington selectmen (Lynch Report June 1999,21-23). Lynch interpreted 
these payments to mean that she was not living in tribal relations. However, for an Indian to have 
earned money, receiving payment for services rendered, does not lead to a conclusion that the 
individual has aba ndoned tribal relations. Other documents, such as the overseers' reports, 
indicate that she ,nd her children were maintaining tribal relations. 

On the overseer's report covering the period from April 1888 to April 1889, Gilbert Billings 
Overseer, the "List of Tribal members" began with the names: Abby Randall, John J. Randall, 
Flora (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 1, Folder 9, "Systematic Survey"). The Eastern Pequot 
account covering tbe period from July 2, 1889, through 1890, Gilbert Billing, overseer: Members 
of Tribe: Abby Randall, John J. Randall, Alexander Randall, Flora Randall (# 113 Pet. 1996, 
HIST DOCS II Doc. 41; #35 Pet. Overseers Reports). Abby Randall continued to be listed on: 
Overseers Reports Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut, Overseer Gilbert Bi !lings, from 
1891-92 through 1901-02 (#35 EP Comments 8/212001, Box 1, Folder 9). 

The 1900 U.S. Census for the Town of North Stonington, New London County, Connecticut, 
showed her living in her son's household: Randall, John J., Head, Black, male, DOB. August 
1852. age 47, POB. Connecticut, widower, married 6 years, farm laborer; Randall, Abby, Mother 
of, Black, female. DOB. March 1823, age 77, POB. Connecticut, Widow, married 26 years, 
laundress (Lynch Report June 1999,23; abstract). 

The Eastern Peqw)'t overseer's reports for 1901-1902 listed as "Members of Tribe": Abby 
Randall, John J. Randall, and Alexander Randall (Eastern Tribe Pequots Indians :"lorth Stonington 
In account with Gilbert Billings overseer 1901-1902,27 June 1902; EP Comments 8/2/2001, Box 
1 Folder 9). 
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Abby (F agins) Randal died October 23, 1902, in North Stonington, Connecticut (Grabowski 
1996,94; citing Brown and Rose 1980,335; North Stonington Vital Records 1852-1920, Death, 
Abby Randall, 79, Black, POBIPOD North Stonington; Lynch 1998,5:98). Her obituary reads as 
follows: 

Oceanica. 106 [unidentified]. Oossaduck Hill. Death of Mrs. Abbie Randall. 
Mrs. Abbj~: Randall, widow of John J. Randall, died Thursday afternoon at her 
home in North Stonington in the eightieth year of her age. Mrs. Randall's maiden 
name was Abbie Phagan. She was born on the Pequot reservation, March 23, 
1823. When nine years old she was employed as a domestic in the family of Col. 
Stanton Hewitt, where she remained twenty years. In 1851 she married John J. 
Randall, who was employed by General Williams as coachman for many years. 
Mrs. Randall is survived by two sons--John and Alexander. She was an estimable 
woman, and a. member of the Congregational church of Milltown. Her oldest son, 
John administered to her wants in her declining years and is worthy of much praise 
for his kind and affectionate care. Alex is in the employ of Mrs. Henry Bill. She 
was one of the last lineal descendants of the Pequot race (EP Comments 8/2/2001). 

The names of John Randall and Alexander Randall, were on the Eastern Pequot overseer's report 
of June 13, 1919 (:¥ 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I, Doc. 41; #35 Pet. Overseers Reports) and the 
one covering the period from June 9, 1922, through June 8, 1923 (# 113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I, 
Doc. 41). As Abby Fagins's son Alexander had died in 1917, the Alexander Randall on these 
lists was possibly:! carry-over, or possibly his son, Frederick Alexander Grovers Randall. Abby 
Fagins's son John 1. Randall, Jr., died in 1926. After his death, the family was not mentioned on 
the subsequent Ea:;te:m Pequot overseer's reports (June 14, 1929; June 24, 1930; June 10, 1932; 
May 22, 1934; #3~; Pet. Overseers Reports; #113 Pet. 1996, HIST DOCS I, Doc. 41), or on the 
1933 Superior COUl1 membership list (In re Ledyard Tribe of Pequot Indians 6/9/1933). 

There is evidence acceptable to the Secretary on the basis of precedent which shows that Abby 
(Fagins) Randall was. a member of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe and that her descendants 
meet the standard of descent from a historical tribe under criterion 83.7(e). 

Membership Lists. 

Prior Membershi:2JjstS. The first membership list was begun at a meeting held November 16, 
1975, at the home of Benjamin Sebastian on Lantern Hill Reservation (EP Comments 8/2/2001, 
lIIH,347). For the final determination, the petitioner sent a copy of this, with some additions, 
labeled on the fronl as the 1976 membership list - which was referenced in documents available 
at the time of the proposed finding (EP PF 2000, 5, 145), but was not submitted. This document 
contained 70 naIT\l~S, all adults who signed at the meeting (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Report llIH 
Ex. 12), with a ccntinuation sheet containing ten additional names (EP Comments 8/2/2001, 
Report lIIH Ex. 1 X). For the final determination, the BIA staff added this list to the EP 
membership infonlation in the Family Tree Maker data base. 
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Additionally, for the final determination, the BIA received a numbered list ofEP members 
headed, "The Geneallogy of the Members of the Eastern Pequot Tribe" with a CIAC "Received" 
stamp of August ;,0, 1976 (PEP Comments 8/2/2001, Ex. 118) containing 98 names. The BIA 
also entered this into the Family Tree Maker data base, since it was slightly variant from the 
handwritten list s,ubmitted by EP and contained data enabling identification of a couple of the 
married names on the other (EP Comments 8/2/2001, Report IIIH Ex. 12) list for that year. 

Third Party Asser:t!Q][l§. The Towns stated that the increase in EP membership between 1978 and 
1998, "is not attributable to a high birth rate, but rather to a high recruitment rate. The BIA 
described this gr<Hvth as being a significant fluctuation in size, when it should more accurately be 
termed an excessi ve escalation to meet a goal defined under the acknowledgment regulations" 
(Towns August 21901,285). There is no size goal defined under the 25 CFR Part 83 regulations. 

EP Membership Ust for the Proposed Finding. The EP membership list used for the proposed 
finding, submittec in 1998, contained 647 members (#35 Pet. NaIT. 1998a, 90), ending with #703. 

EP Membership' Iist for the Final Determination (Current Membership List). For the final 
determination, pel itioner #35 submitted a revised membership list containing 1,004 persons 
(diskette and hard copy),106 separately certified by the Tribal Enrollment Committee (EP 
Comments 8/2/2001" Item G, "Certification of the Base Roll of the Eastern Pequot Tribe by the 
Eastern Pequot Tribal Enrollment Committee, 7112/2001) with supplementary items as follow: a 
separate list of all members added since 1998; ancestry charts for members added since 1998; a 
membership checklist; a list of members who had died since 1998 (11 persons); a list of persons 
whose names had been removed from the membership list; a list of members who have had legal 
name changes; a I ist of all people removed from the membership list for reasons other than death 
(one child whose parent had not filed documentation; 16 persons at various dates between 
September 29, 1997, and February 6, 2001, for dual enrollment); a list of pending applicants (nine 
persons); a list of minors whose files are missing birth certificates or other vital information; and 
a list of persons"" bo have submitted evidence or requested an application for EP membership but 
whose files are not complete (55 numbers, which would represent more individuals since one 
number was follo'Ned by two names and another read "and family") (EP Comments 8/2/200 I, 
Item G). The membership list and other documents in Item G were certified by resolution of the 
Tribal Council of th(~ Eastern Pequot Indians of Connecticut dated July 17, 200 I (EP Comments 
8/2/2001, Item G; signatures only of the EP chairperson and secretary). 

The section headed "New Members" began with #740 (EP Comments 8/2/200 I, Membership 
List). On Decemher 4,2001, a BIA staff member sent a query to the EP office (DeMarce to 
Flowers 12/4/200 I) asking when #704 through #739 had been added to the EP membership list 
and indicating that there were no printed ancestry charts for #704 through #739 in the folder of 

I06Lisl # I i 1 Name Sequence; List #2 in Name Sequence; Index Checkoff List in Numerical sequence 8-
999; thereafter 77 more individuals listed in no apparent sequence. 
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ancestry charts (EF' Comments 8/2/2001, Ancestry Charts). 107 Petitioner #35 responded with 
clarifications and the additional ancestry charts on December 6, 2001. Of the 36 membership 
numbers in questkm, 23 were minors; the date of addition for #704 - #715 was October 7, 1998 
(Flowers to DeMaree 12/6/2001; received by BIA 12/11/2001). A BIA staff member entered all 
the new data into a Family Tree Maker data base, correlating it with the data in the membership 
list used at the time the proposed findings were issued. .--

The ancestral calcl.:.lations presented by EP were as follow. Of the nine surviving children of 
Tamar (BrusheU) ~e:bastian, five left descendants who are EP members. Other EP members 
descend either from Laura (Fagins) Watson or Abby (Fagins) Randall, as follow: 

"Total Number and Percentage of Tribal 
Members by Family and Subline Groups as of July 18,2001" 

BrushelllSebastian (85% of total) 

Francisco I (broken into sublines) (57% of total) 
Francisco II 178 18% 
Phebe 119 12% 
Calvin (some also 118 12% 

via Benjamin) 
Katherine 78 8% 
Charles 40 4% 
Ella 28 3% 

Alb(:rt 141 14% 
Solcmon 72 7% 
Moses 61 6% 
Mary 29 3% 

Fagins/Randall 98 10% 

Fagins/Watson 49 5% 
(EP Comments 8/2/2001, Item G; restructured by BIA for greater clarity).lOs 

All descendants of the Fagins/Randallline were added to the EP membership list between 1998 
and 2001 (see further discussion under criterion 83 _ 7(b)). By evidence acceptable to the 
Secretary, they are ~.hown to be descendants of the historical Eastern Pequot tribe. 

107 The BIA memorandum (DeMaree to Flowers 12/4/200 I) also requested technical clarification as to the 
relationship between #7::7 and #771. 

IUSSubtota!:; ruunded upwards in the percentages; results in a total of greater than 100%_ 
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PEP asserts that th(~ membership of petitioner #35 consists solely of those Sebastian family 
members who did not qualify for membership in the Mashantucket Pequot Tribe (Austin I 
8/2/2001, 37n27). This argument is not material to criterion 83.7(e). Of note, since a number of 
persons who appea:red on prior PEP lists are now enrolled with either Mashantucket or 
Narragansett, the :mme could be said in regard to petitioner #113: This assertion by PEP is not 
persuasive. 

Conclusion. All pe:rsons on the current membership list ofEP, petitioner #35, on the basis of 
evidence acceptabll~ to the Secretary, descend from persons who were members of the historical 
Eastern Pequot tri be in the 19th century. Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that 
the petitioner meets 83.7(e) is affirmed. 

See also the conclusory section of this document. 

83.7(1) The membership of the petitioning group is 
composed principally of persons who are not 
members of any acknowledged North American 
Indian tribe. However, under certain conditions a 
petitioning group may be acknowledged even if its 
membership is composed principally of persons 
whose names have appeared on rolls of, or who 
have been otherwise associated with, an 
acknowledged Indian tribe. The conditions are that 
the group must establish that it has functioned 
throughout history until the present as a separate 
and autonomous Indian tribal entity, that its 
members do not maintain a bilateral political 
relationship with the acknowledged tribe, and that 
its members have provided written confirmation of 
their membership in the petitioning group. 

The proposed finding concluded that the petitioner met criterion 83.7(f) (EP PF 2000, 134). 

No comments we"e received or new evidence was submitted pertaining to criterion 83.7(f). 

Therefore, the conclusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets 83.7(f) is affirmed. 

See also the cone: llSOry section of this document. 
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83.7(g) Neither the petitioner nor its members are the 
subject of congressional legislation that has 
expressly terminated or forbidden the Federal 
relationship. 

Under criterion 83 7(g), the proposed Finding concluded that neither the petitioner nor its 
members were th~~ subject of congressional legislation that had expressly terminated or forbidden 
the Federal relationship (EP PF 2000, 134). 

No comments were f(!ceived or new evidence submitted in connection with criterion 83.7(g). 

Therefore, the condusion of the proposed finding that the petitioner meets criterion 83.78(g) is 
affirmed. 

See also the conclusory section of this document. 
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